

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC

(incorporated with limited liability under the laws of Scotland with company number SC173198)

£2,000,000,000 Euro Note Programme

Tesco Personal Finance Group PLC (the "Issuer" or "TPFG") may from time to time issue notes (the "Notes") denominated in any currency as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as defined below) under this £2,000,000,000 Euro Note Programme (the "Programme"). The Notes issued under the Programme may comprise (i) unsubordinated Notes of the Issuer which rank as senior obligations of the Issuer ("Senior Notes") and (ii) subordinated Notes as described herein and have terms capable of qualifying as Tier 2 capital ("Dated Subordinated Notes"). This Offering Circular (the "Offering Circular") is valid for a period of 12 months from the date hereof. Any Notes issued under the Programme by the completion of the Final Terms or, in the case of Exempt Notes (as defined below), the Pricing Supplement, on or after the date of this Offering Circular are issued subject to the provisions hereof. "Final Terms" means the terms set out in a Final Terms document substantially in the form set out in this Offering Circular and "Pricing Supplement" means the terms set out in a Pricing Supplement document substantially in the form set out in this Offering Circular. Accordingly, in the case of Exempt Notes, each reference in this Prospectus to information being specified or identified in the applicable Pricing Supplement unless the context requires otherwise.

An investment in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. For a description of these risks, see "Risk Factors" below.

Application has been made to the Financial Conduct Authority (the "FCA") in its capacity as competent authority for Notes issued under the Programme during the period of 12 months from the date of this Offering Circular to be admitted to the official list of the FCA (the "Official List") and to the London Stock Exchange plc (the "London Stock Exchange") for such Notes to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's regulated market.

References in this Offering Circular to Notes being "listed" (and all related references) shall mean that such Notes have been admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's regulated market and have been admitted to the Official List. The expression "EEA State" when used in this Offering Circular has the meaning given to such term in the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the "FSMA"). The London Stock Exchange's regulated market is a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II").

The requirement to publish a prospectus under the Prospectus Directive (as defined below) only applies to Notes which are to be admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European Economic Area (the "EEA") and/or offered to the public in the EEA other than in circumstances where an exemption is available under Article 3.2 of the Prospectus Directive. References in this Offering Circular to "Exempt Notes" are to Notes for which no prospectus is required to be published under the Prospectus Directive. The FCA has neither approved nor reviewed information contained in this Offering Circular in connection with Exempt Notes.

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes and certain other information which is applicable to each Tranche (as defined under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" on page 58) of Notes will (other than in the case of Exempt Notes, as defined above) be set forth in the applicable Final Terms which will be delivered to the FCA and, where listed, to the London Stock Exchange on or before the date of issue of the Notes of such Tranche or such later date as the FCA and the London Stock Exchange may agree. Copies of Final Terms in relation to Notes to be listed on the London Stock Exchange will also be published on the website of the London Stock Exchange through a regulatory information service and will be available from the registered office of the Issuer and the specified office of each of the Paying Agents (as defined on page 57). In the case of Exempt Notes, notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue price of Notes and certain other information which is applicable to each Tranche will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Copies of Pricing Supplements in relation to Exempt Notes will only be obtainable by a holder of such Notes and such holder must produce evidence satisfactory to the Issuer or, as the case may be, the relevant Paying Agent as to its holding of such Notes and identity.

The Programme provides that Exempt Notes may be admitted to trading on such other or further stock exchanges or markets (provided that such exchange or market is not a regulated market for the purposes of MiFID II) as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer. The Issuer may also issue unlisted Exempt Notes and/or Exempt Notes not admitted to trading on any market.

The Programme has been assigned a long-term rating of BBB and a short-term rating of F3 by Fitch Ratings Limited ("Fitch") and a rating of (P)Baa2 by Moody's Investors Service Limited ("Moody's"). In addition, the Issuer has a long-term issuer default rating of BBB and a short-term issuer default rating of F3 by Fitch and a long-term issuer rating of BAA2 and a short-term issuer rating of P-2 by Moody's. Each of Fitch and Moody's is established in the European Union and is registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (as amended) (the "CRA Regulation").

Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated by any one or more of the rating agencies referred to above. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will be disclosed in the Final Terms (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) and will not necessarily be the same as the rating assigned to the Programme by Fitch and Moody's. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Arranger BARCLAYS Dealers

BARCLAYS
LLOYDS BANK CORPORATE MARKETS

BNP PARIBAS
SANTANDER CORPORATE AND INVESTMENT
BANKING

The date of this Offering Circular is 11 July, 2019.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION

This Offering Circular comprises a base prospectus in respect of all Notes other than Exempt Notes issued under the Programme for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive. When used in this Offering Circular, "Prospectus Directive" means 2003/71/EC (as amended or superseded), and includes any relevant implementing measure in a relevant Member State of the European Economic Area.

The Notes may be issued on a continuing basis to one or more of the Dealers specified on page 9 and any additional Dealer appointed under the Programme from time to time, which appointment may be for a specific issue or on an ongoing basis (each a "Dealer" and together the "Dealers"). References in this Offering Circular to the "relevant Dealer" shall, in the case of an issue of Notes being (or intended to be) subscribed by more than one Dealer, be to all Dealers agreeing to purchase such Notes.

The Notes of each Tranche will initially be represented by a temporary global Note which will be deposited on the issue date thereof with a common safekeeper or common depositary for Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") and Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and/or any other agreed clearing system and which will be exchangeable, as specified in the applicable Final Terms or the applicable Pricing Supplement (in the case of Exempt Notes), for either a permanent global Note or Notes in definitive form, in each case upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership as required by U.S. Treasury regulations. A permanent global Note will be exchangeable for Notes in definitive form upon request (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Final Terms or the applicable Pricing Supplement (in the case of Exempt Notes)), all as further described in "Form of the Notes" below.

The Issuer may agree with any Dealer and the Trustee (as defined on page 57) that Notes may be issued in a form not contemplated by the Terms and Conditions of the Notes herein, in which event, other than where such Notes are Exempt Notes, a new Offering Circular, if appropriate, will be made available which will describe the effect of the agreement reached in relation to such Notes. In the case of Exempt Notes, the relevant provisions will be included in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Offering Circular and the Final Terms and Pricing Supplements, as the case may be, for each Tranche of Notes issued under the Programme. To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the information contained in this Offering Circular is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

Save for the Issuer, no other party has separately verified (i) the information contained herein or (ii) any statement, representation, or warranty, or compliance with any covenant, of the Issuer contained in any Notes or any other agreement or document relating to any Notes or made in connection with the Programme, or any other agreement or document relating to the Programme. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility or liability is accepted by any Dealer, the Arranger or the Trustee as to (a) the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Offering Circular or any other information provided by the Issuer in connection with the Programme or the Notes or their distribution or (b) the execution, legality, effectiveness, adequacy, genuineness, validity, enforceability or admissibility in evidence of any Notes or any other agreement or document relating to any Notes or the Programme. The statements made in this paragraph are made without prejudice to the responsibility of the Issuer under the Programme. No person is or has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Offering Circular or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer, any Dealer, the Arranger or the Trustee.

Neither this Offering Circular nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes (i) is intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation or (ii) should be considered as a recommendation or as constituting an invitation or offer by the Issuer, any Dealer, the Arranger or the Trustee that any recipient of this Offering Circular or any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or any Notes should purchase any Notes. Each investor contemplating purchasing any Notes should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Issuer. Neither this Offering Circular nor any other information supplied in connection with the Programme or the issue of any Notes constitutes an offer or invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of the Dealers or the Arranger or the Trustee to any person to subscribe for or to purchase any Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Offering Circular nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall at any time imply that the information contained herein concerning the Issuer is correct at any time subsequent to the date hereof or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as at any time subsequent to the date indicated in the document containing the same. The Dealers, the Arranger and the Trustee expressly do not undertake to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer during the life of the Programme or to advise any investor in the Notes of any information coming to their attention. When deciding whether or not to purchase Notes of any Tranche, investors should review, *inter alia*, any supplement to this Offering Circular (including the Final Terms, or Pricing Supplement, as the case may be, relating to such Tranche, but not including any other Final Terms or Pricing Supplement).

This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any Notes in any jurisdiction to any person to whom it is unlawful to make the offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction. The distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer or sale of Notes may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Each of the Issuer, the Dealers, the Arranger and the Trustee do not represent that this Offering Circular may be lawfully distributed, or that any Notes may be lawfully offered, in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assume any responsibility for facilitating any such distribution or offering. In particular, no action has been taken by any of the Issuer, the Dealers, the Arranger or the Trustee which is intended to permit a public offering of any Notes or distribution of this Offering Circular in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Accordingly, no Notes may be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Offering Circular nor any advertisement or other offering material may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction except under circumstances that will result in compliance with any applicable laws and regulations, and the Dealers have represented or, as the case may be, will be required to represent that all offers and sales by them will be made on the same terms. Persons into whose possession this Offering Circular or any Notes come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions. In particular, there are restrictions on the distribution of this Offering Circular and the offer or sale of Notes in the United States of America, EEA States (including the United Kingdom and Belgium), Singapore and Japan (see "Subscription and Sale" below).

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (the "Securities Act") and are subject to certain U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to U.S. persons (see "Subscription and Sale" below).

IMPORTANT - EEA RETAIL INVESTORS

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) includes a legend entitled "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors", the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the EEA. For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC (as amended or superseded, the "Insurance Mediation Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended, the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

MIFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE AND TARGET MARKET

The Final Terms in respect of any Notes (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) may include a legend entitled "MiFID II product governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the "MiFID Product Governance Rules"),

any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance Rules.

SUITABILITY OF INVESTMENT

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors. Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor may wish to consider, either on its own or with the help of its financial and other professional advisers, whether it:

- has sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained in this Offering Circular or any applicable supplement;
- (ii) has access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact such investment will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- (iii) has sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the currency in which such investor's financial activities are principally denominated;
- (iv) thoroughly understands the terms of the Notes and is familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices and financial markets; and
- (v) is able to evaluate possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments. The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (1) Notes are legal investments for it, (2) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

The maximum aggregate nominal amount of all Notes outstanding at any one time under the Programme will not exceed £2,000,000,000 (and for this purpose, any Notes denominated in a currency other than Sterling shall be converted into Sterling in accordance with the provisions of the Dealer Agreement (as such term is defined under "Subscription and Sale" below)). The maximum aggregate nominal amount of Notes which may be outstanding at any one time under the Programme may be increased from time to time, subject to compliance with the relevant provisions of the Dealer Agreement.

All references in this Offering Circular to "TPF" are to Tesco Personal Finance PLC, to "Banking Group" are to TPFG and its subsidiaries, to "Tesco" are to Tesco PLC, and to "Tesco Group" are to Tesco and its subsidiaries.

All references in this Offering Circular to "Sterling" and "£" refer to the currency of the United Kingdom, to "U.S. dollars", "U.S.\$" and "\$" refer to the currency of the United States of America, and to "euro" and "€" refer to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.

STABILISATION

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, one or more relevant Dealers (the "Stabilisation Manager(s)") (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be

conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

BENCHMARKS REGULATION

Amounts payable on Floating Rate Notes issued under the Programme may be calculated by reference to either LIBOR and/or EURIBOR as specified in the applicable Final Terms or applicable Pricing Supplement (in the case of Exempt Notes). As at the date of this Offering Circular, ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (as administrator of LIBOR) and European Money Markets Institute (as administrator of EURIBOR) are included in ESMA's register of administrators under Article 36 of the Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 (the "Benchmarks Regulation").

NOTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 309B(1)(c) OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT (CHAPTER 289) OF SINGAPORE (the "SFA")

Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms or Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes, all Notes issued or to be issued under the Programme shall be "prescribed capital markets products" (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in the Monetary Authority of Singapore (the "MAS") Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The Issuer considers that the following metrics referenced in or in connection with this Offering Circular constitute Alternative Performance Measures ("**APMs**") as defined in the European Securities and Markets Authority Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures:

APM	Definition of APM	Reconciliation ¹	Rationale for inclusion
Underlying profit	Underlying profit represents profit before tax on a statutory basis with items which are not reflective of ongoing trading performance excluded.	Profit before tax on a statutory basis less gains or losses related to restructuring costs, customer redress charges, regulatory charges and financial instruments.	Measure of financial performance which is reflective of ongoing trading performance.
Underlying income	Underlying income represents total income on a statutory basis with items which are not reflective of ongoing trading performance excluded.	Total income on a statutory basis less gains or losses related to financial instruments.	Measure of financial performance which is reflective of ongoing trading performance.

Reconciliations are made to the Issuer's audited consolidated and non-consolidated annual financial statements (including the auditors' report thereon and the notes thereto) for the financial years ended 28 February, 2019 and 28 February, 2018, as set out in this Offering Circular.

A summary of the Issuer's financial performance on an underlying basis, excluding items which are not reflective of ongoing trading performance, for the financial year ended 28 February, 2019 is as follows:²

	Statutory basis £m	Restructuring Costs ¹ £m	Customer redress ² £m	Regulatory Charge ³ £m	Financial Instruments⁴ £m	Underlying basis £m
Year ended 28 February 2019						
Net interest income	548.9	-	-	-	-	548.9
Other income	337.4	-	-	-	4.2	341.6
Total income	886.3	-	-	-	4.2	890.5
Total operating expenses	(531.2)	(1.6)	16.0	16.4	-	(500.4)
Impairment	(164.1)	-	-	-	-	(164.1)
Operating profit	191.0	(1.6)	16.0	16.4	4.2	226.0
Share of profit of joint venture	7.9	-	<u>-</u>	-	-	7.9
Profit before tax	198.9	(1.6)	16.0	16.4	4.2	233.9

A summary of the Issuer's financial performance on an underlying basis, excluding items which are not reflective of ongoing trading performance, for the financial year ended 28 February, 2018 is as follows:³

	Statutory basis Restated ⁵ £m	Restructuring Costs ¹ £m	Customer redress ² £m	Regulatory Provision ³ £m	Financial Instruments ⁴ £m	Underlying basis Restated⁵ £m
Year ended 28 February 2018						
Net interest income	493.1	-	-	-	-	493.1
Other income	362.9	-	-	-	(11.0)	351.9
Total income	856.0	-	-	-	(11.0)	845.0
Total operating expenses	(529.5)	(0.9)	23.8	-	-	(506.6)
Impairment _	(137.4)	0.9			-	(136.5)
Operating profit	189.1	-	23.8	-	(11.0)	201.9
Share of profit of joint venture	10.0	-	-	-	-	10.0
Profit before tax	199.1	-	23.8	-	(11.0)	211.9

¹ Comprising:

- depreciation and amortisation charge of £nil (2018: charge of £0.3m) presented within depreciation and amortisation on page F-86 (Consolidated income statement for the year ended 28 February 2019);
- a restructuring credit of £1.6m (2018: credit of £1.2m), reflecting a reduction in dilapidations and onerous lease provisions, presented within administrative expenses on page F-86 (Consolidated income statement for the year ended 28 February 2019); and
- impairment on loans and advances to customers following agreement to sell the Irish Credit Card book, of £nil (2018: £0.9m) presented within impairment on loans and advances to customers on page F-86 (Consolidated income statement for the year ended 28 February 2019).

These charges and credits are in relation to business restructuring and not considered part of the Group's underlying results.

a PPI charge of £16.0m (2018: £35.0m) recognised during the year. The PPI charge recognised during the prior year
was partially offset by a provision release in the prior year of £1.5m from the Group's CCA customer redress provision
and a credit of £9.7m received in the prior year following the conclusion of negotiations with a third party in respect of

² Comprising:

Source: Issuer's audited consolidated and non-consolidated annual financial statements for the financial year ended 28 February, 2019.

Source: Issuer's audited consolidated and non-consolidated annual financial statements for the financial year ended 28 February, 2019.

previously recognised customer redress. There was no such provision release or credit in the current year. All of these charges and credits are presented within operating expenses on page F-86 (Consolidated income statement for the year ended 28 February 2019). These charges and credits are historical in nature and not reflective of the Group's underlying trading performance.

³ Comprising:

a charge of £16.4m (2018: £nil) in respect of the November 2016 fraud incident, presented within operating expenses
on page F-86 (Consolidated income statement for the year ended 28 February 2019). This charge relates to the
financial penalty imposed by the FCA in relation to this incident and is not reflective of the Group's underlying trading
performance.

⁴ Comprising:

Losses on financial instruments at FVPL of £4.2m (2018: gains of £11.0m) presented within total income on page F-86 (Consolidated income statement for the year ended 28 February 2019). Fair value movements on financial instruments reflect hedge ineffectiveness arising from hedge accounting and fair value movements on derivatives in economic hedges that do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting. Where these derivatives are held to maturity, fair value movements represent timing differences that will reverse over the life of the derivatives. Therefore, excluding these movements from underlying profit more accurately represents the underlying performance of the Group. Where derivatives are terminated prior to maturity, this may give rise to fair value movements that do not reverse.

⁵ The prior period has been restated following the retrospective adoption of IFRS 15 in the period. Refer to note 2 for further details.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME	9
RISK FACTORS	15
SUPPLEMENTS AND NEW OFFERING CIRCULARS	
FORM OF THE NOTES	36
FORM OF FINAL TERMS	38
FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT	47
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES	57
USE OF PROCEEDS	90
DESCRIPTION OF TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC	91
TAXATION	99
SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE	101
GENERAL INFORMATION	
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	F-1

OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by, the remainder of this Offering Circular and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any particular Tranche of Notes, the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement). The Issuer and any relevant Dealer and the Trustee may agree that Notes shall be issued in a form other than that contemplated in the Terms and Conditions, in which event, in the case of Notes other than Exempt Notes and, if appropriate, a supplement to the Offering Circular or a new Offering Circular will be published.

This Overview constitutes a general description of the Programme for the purposes of Article 22.5(3) of Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 implementing Directive 2003/71/EC (the "Prospectus Regulation").

Words and expressions defined in "Form of the Notes" and "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below shall have the same meanings in this Overview.

Issuer: Tesco Personal Finance Group PLC (the "Issuer")

The Issuer is a public limited company incorporated under the laws of Scotland. The Issuer is a subsidiary of Tesco PLC and operates as a holding company, conducting substantially all of its operations through its subsidiary, Tesco Personal Finance PLC.

Issuer Legal Entity Identifier (LEI): 213800IZX26LIAH44T95

Risk Factors: There are certain factors that may affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil

its obligations under Notes issued under the Programme. In addition, there are certain factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme and risks relating to the structure of a particular Series of Notes issued under the Programme. These

are set out under "Risk Factors".

Description: Euro Note Programme
Arranger: Barclays Bank PLC

Dealers: Banco Santander, S.A.

Barclays Bank PLC BNP Paribas

Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets plc

The Issuer may, from time to time, terminate the appointment of any Dealer under the Programme or appoint Dealers either in relation to the Programme as a whole or in relation to specific

issues under the Programme.

Certain Restrictions: Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which

particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which comply with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements from time to time (see "Subscription and

Sale").

Trustee: Apex Corporate Trustees (UK) Limited

Issuing and Principal Paying

Agent:

HSBC Bank plc

Size: Up to £2,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies

calculated as described in the Dealer Agreement) outstanding at any time. The Issuer may increase the amount of the Programme

in accordance with the terms of the Dealer Agreement.

Distribution: Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement

and in each case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis in

accordance with the terms of the Dealer Agreement.

Currencies:

Subject to any applicable legal or regulatory restrictions, such currencies as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement).

Maturities:

Issue Price:

Form of Notes:

Such maturities as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer and as indicated in the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement), subject to such minimum or maximum maturities as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the Issuer or the relevant Specified Currency.

At the date of this Offering Circular, the minimum maturity of all Notes (other than Dated Subordinated Notes) is one month. Unless otherwise permitted by the prevailing Capital Rules, Dated Subordinated Notes will have a minimum maturity of five years.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year from their date of issue will constitute deposits for the purposes of the prohibition on accepting deposits contained in section 19 of the FSMA unless they are issued to a limited class of investment professionals and have a denomination of at least £100,000 or its equivalent (see "Subscription and Sale" on pages 101 to 104).

Notes will be issued on a fully-paid basis and at an issue price which is at par or at a discount to, or premium over, par.

Each Tranche of Notes will be in bearer form and will initially be represented by a temporary global Note. If the Global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note ("NGN") form, as stated in the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement), the temporary global Note will be delivered on the original issue date of the Tranche to a common safekeeper (the "Common Safekeeper") for Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg"); and if the global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN form, the temporary global Note will be delivered on the original issue date of the Tranche to a common depositary (the "Common Depositary") for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other agreed clearing system and be exchangeable, upon request, as described therein for either a permanent global Note or definitive Notes (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement) and subject, in the case of definitive Notes, to such notice period as is specified in the applicable Final Terms) in each case not earlier than 40 days after the Issue Date upon certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership as required by U.S. Treasury regulations. The applicable Final Terms will specify that a permanent global Note either (i) is exchangeable (in whole but not in part) for definitive Notes upon not less than 60 days' notice or (ii) is exchangeable (in whole but not in part) for definitive Notes only upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event, as described in "Form of the Notes" below. Any interest in a global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear and/or any other agreed clearing system, as appropriate.

Fixed Rate Notes:

Interest on Fixed Rate Notes will be payable on such date or dates as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement) and on redemption, and will be calculated on the basis of such Fixed Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Fixed Rate Reset Notes:

Fixed Rate Reset Notes will, in respect of an initial period, bear interest at the initial fixed rate of interest specified in the applicable Final Terms. Thereafter, the fixed rate of interest will be reset on one or more date(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement) by reference to a Mid-Swap Rate, a Benchmark Gilt Rate or a Reference Bond Rate and for a period equal to the reset period, as adjusted for any applicable margin, in each case as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement). Interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in each year specified in the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement).

Floating Rate Notes:

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined:

- (i) on the same basis as the floating rate under an interest rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc., and as amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series); or
- (ii) on the basis of the reference rate set out in the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement).

The Margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer for each Series of Floating Rate Notes.

Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate or both.

Interest on Floating Rate Notes in respect of each Interest Period, as agreed prior to issue by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, will be payable on such Interest Payment Dates, and will be calculated on the basis of such Floating Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Zero Coupon Notes:

Zero Coupon Notes will be offered and sold at a discount to their nominal amount and will not bear interest.

Benchmark discontinuation:

On the occurrence of a Benchmark Event the Issuer may (subject to certain conditions and following consultation with an Independent Adviser (as defined in Condition 3(d))) determine a Successor Rate, failing which an Alternative Rate and, in either case, the applicable Adjustment Spread, and any Benchmark Amendments in accordance with Condition 3(d).

Exempt Notes:

The Issuer may agree with any Dealer and the Trustee that Exempt Notes may be issued in a form not contemplated by the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, in which event the relevant provisions will be included in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Redemption:

The applicable Final Terms relating to each Tranche of Notes (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement) will indicate either that the relevant Notes of such Tranche cannot be redeemed prior to their stated maturity (other than for taxation reasons or following an Event of Default or, in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes, upon the occurrence of a Regulatory Capital Event) or that such Notes will be redeemable at the option of the

Issuer (including, in the case of Senior Notes, due to a Loss Absorption Disqualification Event and upon satisfaction of any applicable conditions to redemption, as described below) and/or the Noteholders (other than the case of Dated Subordinated Notes) upon giving notice to the Noteholders or the Issuer, as the case may be, on a date or dates specified prior to such stated maturity and at a price or prices and on such other terms as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year from their date of issue are subject to restrictions on their distribution and denomination (see "Maturities" above).

Conditions to redemption of the Dated Subordinated Notes and, if applicable, Senior Notes:

Any optional redemption or purchase by the Issuer of Senior Notes (if applicable pursuant to any Loss Absorption Regulations) and/or Dated Subordinated Notes is subject to the Issuer having obtained Regulatory Approval and being in compliance with the Regulatory Preconditions.

Substitution or Variation:

In respect of any Series of Senior Notes where "Substitution and Variation" is specified to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement), following the occurrence of a Loss Absorption Disqualification Event in respect of such Series of Senior Notes, the Issuer may, subject to the provisions of Condition 5(I) (without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders, the Couponholders or the Trustee (but subject to the notice requirements specified in Condition 5(I)), either substitute all (but not some only) of such Series for, or vary the terms of all (but not some only) of such Series so that they remain or, as appropriate, become, Compliant Securities (as defined in Condition 5(I)) and, subject to the provisions of Condition 5(I), the Trustee shall agree to such substitution or variation.

Denomination of Notes:

Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer and as indicated in the applicable Final Terms save that the minimum denomination of each Note will be such amount as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the relevant Specified Currency (see "Maturities" above) and save that the minimum denomination of each Note (other than an Exempt Note) will be €100,000 (or, if the Notes are denominated in a currency other than euro, the equivalent amount in such currency).

Taxation:

All payments in respect of Notes will be made without deduction for or on account of withholding taxes imposed within the United Kingdom, subject as provided in Condition 6. In the event that any such deduction is required, the Issuer will, save in the circumstances provided in Condition 6, be required to pay additional amounts to cover the amount so deducted.

Cross Default:

The Non-Restrictive Events of Default which, if specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, apply to Senior Notes contain a cross-default provision, as described in Condition 8(a). The Restrictive Events of Default which apply to Dated Subordinated Notes and, if specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, Senior Notes do not contain a cross-default provision, as described in Condition 8(b).

Status of the Notes:

The Senior Notes will constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and will rank *pari passu* among themselves and (save for certain debts preferred by law) at least equally with all other present and future

unsecured obligations (other than subordinated obligations, if any) of the Issuer, from time to time outstanding. The Dated Subordinated Notes will constitute direct, subordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and will rank without preference among themselves.

Waiver of set-off:

Subject to applicable law, no holder of Dated Subordinated Notes and/or, if specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, Senior Notes and the related Coupons (if any) may exercise, claim or plead any right of set-off, compensation or retention in respect of any amount owed to it by the Issuer arising under or in connection with such Notes or related Coupons (if any), and each such Noteholder or Couponholder shall, by virtue of being the holder of any Note or the holder of the related Coupon (if any), be deemed to have waived all such rights of set-off, compensation or retention.

Rating:

The Programme has been assigned a long-term rating of BBB and a short-term rating of F3 by Fitch and a rating of (P)Baa2 by Moody's. Series of Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. Where a Series of Notes is rated, such rating will be disclosed in the applicable Final Terms (or applicable Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) and will not necessarily be the same as the ratings assigned to the Programme. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Listing:

Application has been made for Notes issued under the Programme to be listed on the London Stock Exchange.

Exempt Notes may also be admitted to trading on such other or further stock exchanges or markets as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer in relation to each Series (provided that such exchange or market is not a regulated market for the purposes of MiFID II).

Exempt Notes which are neither listed nor admitted to trading on any market may be issued (but see "*United Kingdom Taxation*" for certain important taxation implications of such Notes).

The applicable Final Terms relating to each Tranche of Notes will state when the relevant Notes are to be listed and admitted to trading.

The applicable Pricing Supplement (in the case of Exempt Notes) relating to each Tranche of Exempt Notes will state whether or not the relevant Notes are to be admitted to trading and, if so, on which stock exchanges and/or markets (provided that such exchange or market is not a regulated market for the purposes of MiFID II).

Governing Law:

The Programme documentation (including the Notes) and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Programme documentation will be governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law.

Selling Restrictions:

There are restrictions on the offer, sale and transfer of the Notes in the United States of America, EEA States (including the United Kingdom and Belgium), Singapore and Japan and such other restrictions as may be required in connection with the offering and sale of a particular Tranche of Notes; see "Subscription and Sale" on pages 101 to 104.

United States Selling Restrictions:

Regulation S, Category 2. TEFRA D/TEFRA not applicable, as specified in the applicable Final Terms (or the applicable Pricing

Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes).

Neither the Trust Deed constituting the Notes nor the Terms and Conditions of the Notes will contain any negative pledge covenant by the Issuer or any events of default other than those set out in Condition 8.

RISK FACTORS

The Issuer believes that the following factors might affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes issued under the Programme. All of these factors are contingencies which might or might not occur and the Issuer is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

In addition, factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in Notes issued under the Programme, but the inability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in connection with any Notes might occur for other reasons and the Issuer does not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding any Notes are exhaustive. Prospective investors should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Offering Circular and reach their own views prior to making any investment decision.

Factors that might affect the Issuer's ability to fulfil its obligations under the Notes issued under the Programme

TPFG is a holding company.

The Notes issued by TPFG are the obligation of TPFG only. TPFG is a holding company and conducts substantially all of its operations through its subsidiaries, and accordingly the claims of the Noteholders under the Notes issued by TPFG will be structurally subordinated to the claims of creditors of TPFG's subsidiaries. TPFG's rights to participate in the assets of any subsidiary if such subsidiary is liquidated will be subject to the prior claims of its subsidiary's creditors and any preference shareholders, except in the limited circumstances where TPFG is a creditor of such subsidiary with claims that are recognised to rank ahead of or *pari passu* with such claims. TPFG's subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities, and have no obligation to pay any amounts due or to provide TPFG with funds to meet any of TPFG's payment obligations under the Notes.

As well as the risk of losses in the event of a subsidiary's insolvency, TPFG might suffer losses if any of its loans to, and investments in, subsidiaries (including TPF) are subject to statutory write-down and conversion powers or if the subsidiary is otherwise subject to bank resolution proceedings. TPFG might make loans to any TPFG subsidiary, with the proceeds received from TPFG's issuance of debt instruments (including Notes issued under this Programme). Such loans to, and investments in, any such subsidiary by TPFG using the proceeds received from TPFG's issue of Dated Subordinated Notes are expected to be in the form of Tier 2 capital. With respect to TPFG's Senior Notes that are intended to constitute MREL eligible liabilities (as described below), the loans to, and or investments in such subsidiary by TPFG using the proceeds received by the issuance of such Senior Notes by TPFG might be in the form of senior notes/loans or subordinated capital.

TPFG retains its absolute discretion to restructure such loans to, and any other investments in, any of its subsidiaries, including TPF, at any time and for any purpose including, without limitation, in order to provide different amounts or types of capital or funding to such subsidiary, as part of wider changes made to the Banking Group's corporate structure or otherwise as part of meeting regulatory requirements, such as the implementation of MREL in respect of the relevant subsidiaries. A restructuring of a loan or investment made by TPFG in a subsidiary could include changes to any or all of the features of such loan or investment, including its legal or regulatory form, how it would rank in the event of resolution and/or insolvency proceedings in relation to the subsidiary, and the inclusion of a mechanism that provides for an automatic write-down and/or conversion into equity upon specified triggers. Any restructuring of TPFG's loans to, and investments in, any of TPFG's subsidiaries might be implemented by TPFG without prior notification to, or consent of, the Noteholders.

The regulatory capital treatment, and otherwise the ranking in the ordinary insolvency hierarchy, of TPFG's claims against a TPFG subsidiary will affect the extent to which TPFG is exposed to losses if such subsidiary enters into resolution proceedings or is subject to mandatory write-down or conversion of its capital instruments. In particular, the Banking Act 2009 specifies that the resolution powers should

be applied in a manner such that losses are transferred to shareholders and creditors in an order which reflects the hierarchy of claims in an ordinary insolvency. See also the risk factor entitled "The Banking Act confers substantial powers on a number of UK authorities designed to enable them to take a range of actions in relation to UK banks, UK building societies, UK investment firms and UK recognised central counterparties which are considered to be at risk of failing. In certain circumstances, such actions may also be taken against a UK banking group company. The exercise of any of these actions in relation to the Issuer could materially adversely affect the value of any Notes." In general terms, the more junior in the capital structure the investments in, and loans made to, any TPFG subsidiary are, relative to third party investors, the greater the losses likely to be suffered by TPFG in the event any TPFG subsidiary enters into resolution proceedings or is subject to mandatory write-down or conversion of its capital instruments.

If one of TPFG's subsidiaries were to be wound up, liquidated or dissolved, (i) the holders of Notes issued by TPFG would have no right to proceed against the assets of such subsidiary, and (ii) the liquidator of such subsidiary would first apply the assets of such subsidiary to settle the claims of the creditors (and holders of preference shares or other tier 1 capital instruments ranking ahead of any such entity's ordinary shares) of such subsidiary (such creditors and holders of preference shares might include TPFG) ranking ahead of the holders of ordinary shares of such subsidiary. Similarly, if TPF or any other of TPFG's subsidiaries were subject to resolution proceedings (i) the holders of the Notes issued by TPFG would have no direct recourse against TPF or such other subsidiary, and (ii) holders of the Notes themselves might also be exposed to losses pursuant to the exercise by the relevant resolution authority of the stabilisation powers.

TPF operates in a highly regulated industry and is subject to significant legislative and regulatory oversight and scrutiny.

TPF is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority (the "PRA") and regulated and supervised by the PRA and the FCA. TPF has obligations under a wide variety of laws and regulations, including the FSMA, the EU Capital Requirements Regulation, the Consumer Credit Act 1974 ("CCA") and the EU General Data Protection Regulation ("GDPR") as well as under PRA and FCA rules which among other things require TPF to have adequate financial and other resources to operate its business. There is a risk that TPF might fail to comply with an applicable law, regulation or rule which could expose TPF to substantial regulatory intervention, financial or other regulatory penalties and/or litigation, including, in extreme cases, TPF losing its banking licence and ability to do business, each of which could have a material adverse effect on TPF's and, therefore, the Banking Group's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

There is a significant regulatory focus on the fairness of contract terms, sales practices and reward structures that financial institutions have used when selling financial products. Financial institutions (including TPF) might incur liability for past actions which are determined to have been inappropriate and any such liability incurred could be significant and have a material adverse effect on TPF's reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations and/or prospects. Any alleged mis-selling of financial products, including as a result of having sales practices and/or reward structures in place that are determined to have been inappropriate might: (i) result in disciplinary action (including significant fines) or requirements to amend sales processes, withdraw products or provide restitution to affected customers, all or any of which could result in the incurrence of significant costs; (ii) require provisions to be recorded in TPF's financial statements; and (iii) materially adversely affect future revenues from affected products.

Entering into, and exercising rights under, certain types of contract relating to unsecured (and some secured) consumer credit is regulated in the UK. The CCA, secondary legislation made under the CCA and the FCA's Consumer Credit sourcebook ("CONC") contain conduct of business rules for regulated credit agreements which offer significant protection for those consumers who borrow money or otherwise contract with firms which carry on credit-related regulated activities. CONC regulates the promotion of consumer credit and requires lenders, for example, to perform credit-worthiness assessments and to provide to customers adequate explanations of certain matters relating to a loan agreement. The CCA and related secondary legislation prescribe the circumstances in which a regulated agreement is properly executed and if such requirements are not complied with, the

regulated agreement might be unenforceable. In such circumstances, as a result, these agreements might only be enforceable at the discretion of the courts (and in relation to pre 6 April 2007 agreements might be entirely unenforceable) or in certain circumstances customers might have the right to cancel their agreement. The CCA and related secondary legislation also specify requirements relating to post-contractual documentation including for example periodic statements and breach of these requirements may, for so long as the default continues, render the credit agreement unenforceable and have the effect that the borrower is not liable for interest or default charges. Of TPF's total customer redress provision balance at 28 February 2019, £34.2 million relates to a provision for customer redress in respect of potential customer claims arising from historic sales of payment protection insurance and £0.5 million relates to a provision for customer redress in respect of a number of historic operational issues that resulted in instances where the CCA's requirements in respect of post-contract documentation were not fully complied with. With respect to any such provisions, it should be noted, however, that a number of significant uncertainties exist in relation to the eventual level of redress costs that TPF might incur.

The entering into, and administration of, residential mortgages is subject to regulation under FSMA and to rules made by the FCA. Mortgage lending has been, and continues to be, subject to regulatory scrutiny, including in respect of arrears and repossessions. Mortgage lenders are required to comply with a number of legal and regulatory rules and requirements prior to enforcing a mortgage. In addition, it is possible, in certain circumstances that TPF's mortgage contracts might also be subject to the requirements of the CCA and therefore wholly or partly regulated as credit agreements under the CCA. As a result, it is possible that these agreements might also be unenforceable where TPF has failed to comply with the requirements of the CCA.

Further, accepting deposits is also regulated by the FCA, primarily through its 'Banking: Conduct of Business' sourcebook ("BCOBS"). BCOBS sets out conduct of business rules which apply to TPF's retail banking business.

Under the Consumer Credit (Earlier Intervention and Persistent Debt) Instrument 2018, TPF is required to contact customers when the amount the customer has paid towards the credit card balance over the immediately preceding 18 month period comprises a lower amount in principal than in interest, fees and charges to encourage them to increase their repayments. Customers who continue to make minimum or low payments for a second consecutive 18 month period must then be provided with faster repayment options, including forbearance for those who cannot afford higher repayments, along with account suspensions for those who do not engage, are able but unwilling to increase their repayments, and those who require forbearance. Although the second consecutive 18 month period has not been reached, early reporting has shown these risks starting to materialise, with some customers increasing their payments voluntarily, and some others defaulting earlier.

There is a risk that account suspensions and increased repayments result in accelerated balance attrition, income loss, and impairments from customers who are subject to these treatments, whether on TPF's credit cards, or credit cards customers hold with other providers.

If TPF has not complied with applicable regulatory requirements, this might result in disciplinary action (including significant fines), credit which has been extended to borrowers might be unenforceable, interest might have to be refunded and/or borrowers might be entitled or seek to exercise rights of set-off (or analogous rights in Scotland) against amounts owing under their loans or claim damages against TPF for breach of a regulatory rule. TPF might also be required to amend its processes.

All of the foregoing paragraphs could be significant and have a material adverse effect on TPF's reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations and/or prospects and therefore the business, financial condition, results of operations and/or prospects of the Banking Group.

TPF is required to pay levies under the Financial Services Compensation Scheme and is exposed to future increases of such levies, which might impact its profits.

The Financial Services Compensation Scheme ("FSCS") imposes levies on authorised financial services firms and pays compensation to eligible customers of those firms which are unable, or are

likely to be unable, to pay claims against them. While it is anticipated that the substantial majority of claims will be repaid wholly from recoveries from the institutions concerned, there is the risk of a shortfall, such that the FSCS might place additional levies on all FSCS participants. Any such FSCS levies might be significant amounts that might, as a result, have a material effect on TPF's (and therefore, the Banking Group's) profits. In common with other financial institutions which are subject to the FSCS, TPF also has a potential exposure to future levies resulting from the failure of other financial institutions and claims which arise against the FSCS as a result of such failure.

Historically, compensation scheme levies similar to the FSCS have tended to increase over time (especially during and in the aftermath of periods of economic crisis), and there can also be no assurance that there will not be any further claims against the FSCS and subsequent increased FSCS levies payable by TPF. Any increase in TPF's costs and liabilities related to the FSCS levy might have a material adverse effect on its results of operations.

The legal and regulatory environment in which TPF operates is subject to significant change and regulators can apply a wide range of sanctions to firms (and individuals working for firms) found to be operating in breach of relevant regulations.

Significant new regulatory requirements have been, and continue to be, imposed on financial institutions which might impact TPF, as well as the third parties which are relevant for TPF's business (such as the underwriters for certain parts of TPF's insurance business). TPF is subject to various risks associated with the provision of financial services, including the risk of increasing regulation and supervision by the PRA and FCA. There remains significant regulatory focus in relation to conduct risk, with continued industry-wide focus on provision for customer redress. The FCA also took over regulation of consumer credit firms in 2014 and, as a result, there have been relatively significant changes in the applicable regulatory regime and approach to enforcement, and this scrutiny is expected to continue.

Legal and regulatory developments could adversely impact the businesses of TPF and, therefore, the Banking Group in various ways, including:

- limiting the ability of TPF to provide certain of its current or planned services;
- limiting the ability of TPF to retain and/or attract retail deposits;
- limiting the ability of TPF to outsource certain of its activities;
- placing further financial and corporate governance restrictions on TPF;
- significantly increasing compliance and associated costs of TPF, for instance by requiring the business of TPF to devote substantial time and cost to the implementation of new rules and related changes in its operations;
- changing prudential regulatory rules relating to capital adequacy and liquidity requirements;
- changing interpretation of guidance relating to payment protection insurance redress;
- external authorities applying or interpreting standards or laws differently from those applied by TPF historically;
- changing competition and pricing environments; and
- further developments in requirements relating to financial reporting, corporate governance, conduct of business and employee compensation.

In January 2018, the Second Payment Services Directive came into force. The changes required as a result of this new legislation will have effects on banking operations across the industry and have the potential to increase costs for banks as the new legislation is embedded.

In May 2018, the GDPR came into force. Compliance with GDPR may involve greater compliance costs for the Banking Group, and there is a risk that failure to comply with GDPR could expose TPF to reputational risk and sanctions, each of which could have a material adverse effect on TPF's and, therefore the Banking Group's, business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

TPF might in future be affected by the Banking Reform Act's retail banking "ring-fence".

Under the Financial Services (Banking Reform) Act 2013 (the "Banking Reform Act"), large UK banks (broadly banks with retail/SME deposits exceeding £25 billion) must separate out their retail banking business from investment banking business and related activities by way of a so-called retail banking "ring-fence". The ring-fencing requirement might apply to TPF if in the future it holds sufficient retail/SME deposits which might in turn impact its business and capital requirements.

As a United Kingdom bank, TPF is exposed to certain financial risks that are inherent to financial institutions, including liquidity and funding risks and credit risk.

- Liquidity and funding risk Liquidity risk is the risk that TPF, although solvent, either does not have sufficient financial resources available to enable it to meet its obligations as they fall due or can secure such resources only at excessive cost. This includes the risk that a given security cannot be liquidated in a timely manner. Although Tesco considers it has sufficient working capital to meet the Banking Group's requirements (including those of TPF) for the next 12 months following the date of this Offering Circular, there is a risk that, in the longer term, TPF will be unable to maintain sufficiently stable and diverse sources of funding (including through retail deposits and/or wholesale funding markets) or that it will be unable to attract sufficient financial resources to enable it to meet its obligations as they fall due (or be able to secure such resources only at excessive cost), which could have a material adverse effect on its ability to do business. Funding risk is the risk that the Banking Group does not have sufficiently stable and diverse sources of funding.
- Credit risk Credit risk is the risk that a borrower or counterparty will default on a debt or obligation by failing to make contractually obligated payments or that TPF will incur losses as a result of any of its counterparties failing to meet its financial obligations. TPF's credit risk principally arises from its lending to retail customers. TPF is also subject to wholesale credit risk in respect of its treasury counterparties as a result of cash management, liquidity, and market risk management, with the inherent risk that these counterparties could fail to meet their obligations. TPF's current account, credit card, personal loan and mortgage loan portfolios might be subject to changes in credit quality, due to a general deterioration in economic conditions or by failures in its credit assessment process, which could adversely impact its ability to recover amounts due. There is a risk that TPF's management and control of these activities could be ineffective, which could expose TPF to unforeseen levels of bad debt. This in turn could have a material negative impact on the business, results of operations, financial condition, or prospects of TPF and the Banking Group.

Regulatory capital risk.

Regulatory capital risk is the risk that the Banking Group does not have the minimum level and quality of capital which it is required by law and regulation to have or that such capital requirements increase.

Any changes to the regulatory capital requirements applicable to TPF and the Banking Group, and the obligation to maintain a certain level of MREL, might result in an increase in the levels of capital or MREL eligible debt TPF and the Banking Group must maintain. TPF and the Banking Group might be required to raise further capital or MREL eligible debt in order to ensure compliance with applicable regulatory requirements. Any failure to do so might lead to TPF being subject to regulatory sanctions or other restrictive measures, including the revocation of its authorisation under the FSMA.

Any one or more of these factors could have a material adverse impact on the business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects of TPF and the Banking Group.

In common with other UK banks and building societies, TPF has availed itself of certain funding sources made available by the UK Government and the Bank of England in recent years, including the Term Funding Scheme ("TFS").

Under the TFS, liquidity is provided to banks and building societies for an extended period, at below current market rates, with both the price and quantity of liquidity being linked to the relevant financial institution's lending to the UK retail and SME sectors.

There can be no assurance that the large number of UK banks and building societies seeking to refinance TFS obligations in the same period will not have a material adverse impact on TPF's ability to obtain liquidity or on its cost of funding.

In addition, the TFS is a collateralised scheme, meaning that TPF pledges eligible assets, which might include certain of its personal loans and mortgages and securitised notes backed by certain of its credit card receivables, as collateral for borrowings. In the event of insolvency, pledged assets will typically not form part of the property available for distribution to the general creditors of TPF and accordingly, might not be available to meet the claims of unsecured creditors, including Noteholders.

The Banking Group is exposed to general United Kingdom economic conditions and the risk that a general economic slowdown might have a negative effect on customers' ability to repay their debts.

A worsening of general economic conditions and market trends could lead to a decline in customer demand for the Banking Group's services as well as changing the Banking Group's exposure to interest rate and other changes. For example, an economic slowdown affecting employment levels, wages, interest rates, inflation rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates, and other economic factors or interest rate changes could lead to an increase in bad debts and/or a decline in customer demand for debt which could adversely affect the Banking Group's profitability. As with other financial institutions, the Banking Group is also exposed to the risk of contagion in the event of a deterioration (or perceived deterioration) in the soundness of, or a failure of, another financial institution, whether in the United Kingdom or abroad. Any one or more of these factors could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations, financial condition, or prospects of the Banking Group.

The Banking Group's business is subject to inherent risks concerning market fluctuations.

The Banking Group's business is subject to inherent risks concerning market fluctuations including changes in, and increased volatility of, interest rates, inflation rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates, bond and real estate prices and the risk that its customers and counterparties act in a manner which is inconsistent with business, pricing and hedging assumptions. For example, changes in interest rate levels, interbank margins over official rates, yield curves and spreads affect the interest rate margin realised between lending and borrowing costs.

The insurance portfolio assets of TU (as defined below) are invested with a number of counterparties. These investments are predominantly comprised of government securities, corporate bonds and short term cash investments and, as such, are subject to interest rate, credit and market risk.

The Banking Group might suffer loss as a result of operational risk, including human error, ineffective or inadequately designed processes, failure of IT or other systems, improper conduct by employees, failures by outsourced providers or criminal activity including fraud, theft and cybercrime.

The Banking Group's information technology systems might experience operational failures due to technological malfunctions, system failures, fraud, cyber-attacks, inadequate controls, human error, or other similar events. The Banking Group develops and maintains systems and processes to detect and manage operational failures, however, despite these efforts, the possibility of failures cannot be eliminated entirely.

In November 2016, TPF's debit cards were the subject of an online fraudulent attack (the "2016 Incident"), which was referred to the FCA's Enforcement Division for investigation.

If the Banking Group's information technology systems experience operational failures, it could lead to regulatory intervention, operational losses, increased litigation, remediation costs, and reputational damage, which could have an adverse impact on the business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects of the Banking Group.

As a significant portion of the Banking Group's services and processes are provided by third-party service providers, a key operational risk to the business is a failure by an outsourced provider. Increased market demand for specialist personnel could result in increased costs of recruitment and retention or reduced organisational effectiveness if a sufficient number of skilled staff cannot be employed or retained.

The market for retail banking in the United Kingdom is highly competitive. Failure to compete with competitors on areas including price, product range, quality service and reputation could have a material adverse effect on the Banking Group's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

The Banking Group faces strong competitive pressures in the markets in which it operates, including from the traditional "Big Four" retail banks, building societies, banks associated with competing retailers, a very broad range of "challenger banks" and other potential new entrants. If the Banking Group is unable to compete successfully against existing and new competitors, or if it fails to effectively anticipate and respond to customer trends in a timely way, it could lose market share to competitors or fail to grow its profitability in line with its business strategies, which could have a material and adverse effect on TPF's and the Banking Group's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

Political uncertainty.

On 23 June 2016, the UK held a referendum on whether the UK should remain a member of the European Union. The UK voted to leave the European Union and on 29 March 2017 the UK Government invoked Article 50 of the Lisbon Treaty relating to withdrawal. Under Article 50, the Treaty on the European Union and the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union cease to apply in the relevant state from the date of entry into force of a withdrawal agreement or, failing that, two years after the notification of intention to withdraw, although this period can be extended in certain circumstances and has most recently been extended to 31 October 2019.

Until the terms and timing of the UK's exit from the European Union are confirmed and until the nature of the new relationship between the UK and the European Union is known, it is not possible to determine the impact that the referendum, the UK's departure from the European Union and/or any related matters might have on general economic conditions in the UK (including on the performance of the UK housing market) and/or on the business of the Banking Group.

Furthermore, any uncertainty in the UK arising from the UK leaving the EU could be exacerbated by the re-emergence of the possibility of a further Scottish independence referendum. Any changes to Scotland's relationship with the UK or the EU (as an indirect result of the UK leaving the EU or other developments) would impact the environment in which the Banking Group operates, which could cause further uncertainty and risk to the Banking Group, especially as each of TPFG and TPF is incorporated in Scotland. As a result further changes to the Banking Group (including to its structure) may be required, independently or in conjunction with other mandatory or strategic structural and organisational changes which could adversely impact the Banking Group.

Although the Banking Group operates entirely within the UK and has no material un-hedged exposure to the foreign exchange markets or to the Eurozone, future UK political developments, including but not limited to: the UK's departure from the EU; an early general election ahead of 2022 and a change of government; and/or any changes in government structure and policies (including more direct intervention by the UK Government in financial markets, their regulation and the ownership of public companies were there to be a change of government), could cause significant market and economic disruption and affect the fiscal, monetary and regulatory landscape to which the Banking Group is subject, and also therefore its financing availability and terms. Consequently no assurance can be given that the Banking Group's operating results, financial condition and prospects would not be

adversely impacted as a result.

No assurance can be given that any of the matters outlined above would not adversely affect the ability of TPFG to satisfy its obligations under the Notes and/or the market value or liquidity of the Notes.

The Banking Group is exposed to insurance risk through its insurance joint venture, Tesco Underwriting Limited.

The Banking Group is exposed to insurance risk through Tesco Underwriting Limited ("TU"), which is an insurance joint venture with Ageas (UK) Limited. Insurance risk is the risk of fluctuations in the timing, frequency or severity of insured events relative to the expectations at the time of underwriting. For example, extreme weather conditions can result in high property damage claims and higher levels of theft can increase claims on home insurance. Actual claims might differ from business assumptions and/or exceed reserves. In addition, it might not be possible to purchase reinsurance on satisfactory terms. Negative developments in respect of any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on the Banking Group's results of operations, financial condition or prospects. The Banking Group is also exposed to the insurance cycle through its distribution arrangements with underwriters. Periods of increased competition and/or falling rates might have a material adverse effect on the Banking Group's results of operations, financial condition or prospects.

The Banking Group is also exposed to insurance regulatory risk in relation to TU, including risks arising from changes in or breaches of insurance law and regulation. In September 2017, the Government announced its plans on discount rate reform. The changes impact TU's results, which are sensitive to changes in the insurance reserves it recognises in respect to insurance policies written, net of reinsurance. Material changes in these reserves could have an impact on the carrying value of the Banking Group's investment in TU. The Banking Group continues to monitor any further developments in the discount rate consultation and review process, which is expected to conclude in August 2019.

The Banking Group's business is subject to inherent reputational risk, including in respect of the Tesco Group.

Failure to protect the Banking Group's reputation, or damage to the reputation of the Tesco Group, could lead to a loss of trust or confidence in the Banking Group. Issues which could impact the reputation of the Banking Group and/or the Tesco Group include, but are not limited to, media speculation and negative publicity, customer service issues, legal and regulatory issues, compliance failures, ethical issues, privacy issues, sales and trading practices and general company performance. A loss of trust or confidence in the Banking Group could result in a decline in the customer base, notably the withdrawal of savings, and could have a material adverse effect on the Banking Group's results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

In addition, the modification or withdrawal of the "Clubcard" reward points incentive scheme operated by Tesco, or a change in how it is perceived relative to other such schemes, may have a detrimental impact on the Banking Group's ability to attract new customers and retain existing customers.

The Banking Act confers substantial powers on a number of UK authorities designed to enable them to take a range of actions in relation to UK banks, UK building societies, UK investment firms and UK recognised central counterparties which are considered to be at risk of failing. In certain circumstances, such actions may also be taken against a UK banking group company. The exercise of any of these actions in relation to the Issuer could materially adversely affect the value of any Notes.

Under the Banking Act 2009 (the "Banking Act"), substantial powers are granted to HM Treasury, the Bank of England, the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority (together, the "Authorities") as part of a special resolution regime (the "SRR"). These powers can be exercised, as applicable, by the Authorities in respect of a UK bank, UK building society, UK investment firm or UK recognised central counterparty (each a "relevant entity") in circumstances in which the Authorities consider its failure has become likely and if certain other conditions are satisfied (depending on the relevant power) for example, to protect and enhance the stability of the financial system of the UK. Certain of these powers may also be used in respect of a UK incorporated company which meets

certain conditions and is in the same group as a relevant entity, an EU incorporated credit institution or investment firm or a third country incorporated credit institution or investment firm (a "UK banking group company") (such as the Issuer).

The SRR consists of five stabilisation options and two special insolvency procedures. The stabilisation options provide for: (i) private sector transfer of all or part of the business of the relevant entity; (ii) transfer of all or part of the business of the relevant entity to a bridge bank wholly owned by the Bank of England; (iii) transfer of all or part of the business of the relevant entity to an asset management vehicle owned and controlled by the Bank of England; (iv) writing down certain claims of unsecured creditors of the relevant entity (including Notes) and/or converting certain unsecured debt claims (including Notes) to equity, (the "bail-in option"), which equity could also be subject to any future cancellation, transfer or dilution; and (v) temporary public ownership (nationalisation) of all or part of the relevant entity or its UK holding company. In each case, the Authorities have wide powers under the Banking Act including powers to modify contractual arrangements in certain circumstances and powers for HM Treasury to disapply or modify laws (with possible retroactive effect) to enable the stabilisation powers under the Banking Act to be used effectively.

In addition, the Banking Act provides the Authorities with the power to permanently write-down or convert capital instruments, such as Dated Subordinated Notes, into equity at the point of non-viability and before any other resolution action is taken. Any shares issued to holders of Dated Subordinated Notes upon any such conversion into equity may also be subject to any future cancellation, transfer or dilution.

The point of non-viability under the Banking Act is the point at which the relevant Authority determines that the relevant entity or UK banking group company meets certain conditions (but no resolution action has yet been taken) or that the relevant entity or, in certain circumstances, group will no longer be viable unless the relevant capital instruments (such as Dated Subordinated Notes) are written-down or converted.

The paragraphs below set out some of the possible consequences of the exercise of the powers under the SRR.

The SRR may be triggered prior to insolvency of a relevant entity, an EEA institution or third country institution in the same group as the Issuer.

The purpose of the stabilising options is to address the situation where all or part of a business of a relevant entity has encountered, or is likely to encounter, financial difficulties, giving rise to wider public interest concerns. Accordingly, the relevant stabilisation options may be exercised if (a) the relevant Authority is satisfied that a relevant entity is failing, or is likely to fail, (b) following consultation with the other Authorities, the relevant Authority determines that it is not reasonably likely that (ignoring the stabilising options) action will be taken that will result in the condition referred to in (a) ceasing to be met and (c) the Authorities consider the exercise of the stabilisation options to be necessary, having regard to certain public interest considerations (such as the stability of the UK financial system, public confidence in the UK banking system and the protection of depositors). It is therefore possible that one of the stabilisation options could be exercised prior to the point at which any insolvency proceedings with respect to the relevant entity could be initiated. In relation to a UK banking group company (such as the Issuer), the stabilisation options may be exercised against such UK banking group company if the stabilisation conditions referred to in (a) and (b) above are satisfied in relation to a relevant entity within the same group and the condition referred to in (c) is satisfied in relation to the UK banking group company.

Various actions may be taken in relation to the Notes without the consent of the Noteholders.

If the stabilisation options were exercised under the SRR in respect of the Issuer, HM Treasury or the Bank of England may exercise extensive powers, including share transfer powers (applying to a wide range of securities), property transfer powers (including powers for partial transfers of property, rights and liabilities subject to certain protections in respect of the Issuer) and resolution instrument powers (including powers to make special bail-in provisions). Exercise of these powers could involve taking various actions in relation to any securities issued by the Issuer (including Notes) without the consent of the Noteholders, including (among other things):

 transferring Notes notwithstanding any restrictions on transfer and free from any trust, liability or encumbrance;

- · delisting Notes;
- writing down the principal amount of Notes and/or converting Notes into another form or class (which may include, for example, conversion of Notes into equity securities);
- modifying any interest payable in respect of the Notes, the maturity date or the dates on which
 any payments are due, including by suspending payment for a temporary period;
- disapplying certain terms of Notes, including disregarding any termination or acceleration rights or events of default under the terms of Notes which would be triggered by the exercise of the powers and certain related events; and/or
- where property is held on trust, removing or altering the terms of such trust.

The taking of any such actions could adversely affect the rights of Noteholders, the price or value of their investment in the Notes and/or the ability of the Issuer to satisfy its obligations under the Notes. In such circumstances, Noteholders may have a claim for compensation under one of the compensation schemes existing under, or contemplated by, the Banking Act, but there can be no assurance that Noteholders would thereby recover compensation promptly or equal to any loss actually incurred.

A partial transfer of the Issuer's business may result in a deterioration of its creditworthiness.

If the Issuer were made subject to the SRR and a partial transfer of its business to another entity were effected, the quality of the assets and the quantum of the liabilities not transferred and remaining with the Issuer (which may include the Notes) will result in a deterioration in the creditworthiness of the Issuer and, as a result, increase the risk that it will be unable to meet its obligations in respect of the Notes and/or eventually become subject to administration proceedings pursuant to the Banking Act. In such circumstances, Noteholders may have a claim for compensation under one of the compensation schemes existing under, or contemplated by, the Banking Act, but there can be no assurance that Noteholders would thereby recover compensation promptly or equal to any loss actually incurred.

As at the date of this Offering Circular, the relevant Authorities have not made an instrument or order under the Banking Act in respect of the Issuer and there has been no indication that they will make any such instrument or order. However, there can be no assurance that this will not change and/or that Noteholders will not be adversely affected by any such order or instrument if made.

Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under the Programme

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

A range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of such Notes may have features which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common such features, distinguishing between factors which may occur in relation to any Notes and those which might occur in relation to certain types of Exempt Notes:

Risks applicable to all Notes

If the Issuer has the right to redeem any Notes at its option, or if the Notes are otherwise subject to mandatory redemption, this may limit the market value of the Notes concerned and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a manner which achieves a similar effective return.

If the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement) specify that the Notes are redeemable at the option of the Issuer (including, if applicable, following a Loss Absorption Disqualification Event or Regulatory Capital Event (if specified in the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement)) or a Tax Event), or are otherwise subject to mandatory redemption, the Issuer may (in the case of optional redemption) or must (in the case of mandatory redemption) choose to redeem such Notes at times when prevailing interest rates may be relatively low. In addition, during any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of those Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and

may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

The yield to maturity of the Notes may be adversely affected by redemptions by the Issuer.

The yield to maturity of each class of Notes will depend mostly on: (i) the amount and timing of the repayment of principal on the Notes; and (ii) the price paid by the Noteholders of each class. The yield to maturity of the Notes may be adversely affected by a higher or lower than anticipated rate of redemptions on the Notes (including, if applicable, in the case of redemption following a Loss Absorption Disqualification Event, Regulatory Capital Event or Tax Event).

If the Notes include a feature to convert the interest basis from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or vice versa, this may affect the secondary market and the market value of the Notes concerned.

Fixed/Floating Rate Notes are Notes which bear interest at a rate that the Issuer may elect to convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, or from a floating rate to a fixed rate. Such a feature to convert the interest basis, and any conversion of the interest basis, may affect the secondary market in, and the market value of, such Notes as the change of interest basis may result in a lower interest return for Noteholders. Where the Notes convert from a fixed rate to a floating rate, the spread on the Fixed/Floating Rate Notes may be less favourable than then prevailing spreads on comparable Floating Rate Notes tied to the same reference rate. In addition, the new floating rate at any time may be lower than the rates on other Notes. Where the Notes convert from a floating rate to a fixed rate, the fixed rate may be lower than then prevailing rates on those Notes and could affect the market value of an investment in the relevant Notes.

The Subsequent Reset Rate in respect of a Fixed Rate Reset Note could be less that the Initial Rate of Interest or the Subsequent Reset Rate for prior Reset Periods and this may affect the market value of the Notes concerned.

Fixed Rate Reset Notes will initially bear interest at the Initial Rate of Interest until (but excluding) the First Reset Date. On the First Reset Date, the Second Reset Date (if applicable) and each Subsequent Reset Date (if any) thereafter, the interest rate will be reset to the sum of (i) the applicable Mid-Swap Rate, Benchmark Gilt Rate or Reference Bond Rate and (ii) the First Margin or Subsequent Margin (as applicable) as determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Reset Determination Date (each such interest rate, a "Subsequent Reset Rate"). The Subsequent Reset Rate for any Reset Period could be less than the Initial Rate of Interest or the Subsequent Reset Rate for prior Reset Periods and could affect the market value of an investment in the Reset Notes.

Notes which are issued at a substantial discount or premium may experience price volatility in response to changes in market interest rates.

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount (such as Zero Coupon Notes) or premium to their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for more conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of such securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to more conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

The regulation and reform of "benchmarks" may adversely affect the value of Notes linked to or referencing such "benchmarks".

Interest rates and indices which are deemed to be "benchmarks" (including the London interbank offered rate ("LIBOR") and the euro interbank offered rate ("EURIBOR")) are the subject of recent national and international regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst others are still to be implemented. These reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform differently than in the past, to disappear entirely, or have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on any Notes linked to or referencing such a "benchmark".

The Benchmarks Regulation was published in the Official Journal of the EU on 29 June, 2016 and applied from 1 January, 2018. The Benchmarks Regulation applies to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark within the EU. It will, among other things, (i) require benchmark administrators to be authorised or registered (or, if non-EU-based, to be subject to an equivalent regime or otherwise recognised or endorsed) and (ii) prevent certain

uses by EU supervised entities of "benchmarks" of administrators that are not authorised or registered (or, if non-EU based, not deemed equivalent or recognised or endorsed).

The Benchmarks Regulation could have a material impact on any Notes linked to or referencing a "benchmark", in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the "benchmark" are changed in order to comply with the requirements of the Benchmarks Regulation. Such changes could, among other things, have the effect of reducing, increasing or otherwise affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the "benchmark".

More broadly, any of the international or national reforms, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of "benchmarks", could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a "benchmark" and complying with any such regulations or requirements.

Specifically, the sustainability of LIBOR has been questioned as a result of the absence of relevant active underlying markets and possible disincentives (including possibly as a result of benchmark reforms) for market participants to continue contributing to such benchmarks. On 27 July, 2017, and in a subsequent speech by its Chief Executive on 12 July, 2018, the FCA confirmed that it will no longer persuade or compel banks to submit rates for the calculation of the LIBOR benchmark after 2021 (the "FCA Announcements"). The FCA Announcements indicated that the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed after 2021.

In addition, on 29 November, 2017, the Bank of England and the FCA announced that, from January 2018, its Working Group on Sterling Risk-Free Rates has been mandated with implementing a broad-based transition to the Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") over the next four years across sterling bond, loan and derivative markets, so that SONIA is established as the primary sterling interest rate benchmark by the end of 2021.

Separate workstreams are also underway in Europe to reform EURIBOR using a hybrid methodology and to provide a fallback by reference to a euro risk-free rate (based on a euro overnight risk-free rate as adjusted by a methodology to create a term rate). On 13 September, 2018, the working group on euro risk-free rates recommended Euro Short-term Rate ("€STR") as the new risk free rate. €STR is expected to be published by the ECB by October 2019. In addition, on 21 January, 2019, the euro risk free-rate working group published a set of guiding principles for fallback provisions in new euro denominated cash products (including bonds). The guiding principles indicate, among other things, that continuing to reference EURIBOR in relevant contracts may increase the risk to the euro area financial system.

It is not possible to predict with certainty whether, and to what extent, LIBOR and EURIBOR will continue to be supported going forwards. This may cause LIBOR and EURIBOR to perform differently than they have done in the past, and may have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Such factors may have (without limitation) the following effects on certain "benchmarks": (i) discouraging market participants from continuing to administer or contribute to a "benchmark"; (ii) triggering changes in the rules or methodologies used in the "benchmark" and/or (iii) leading to the disappearance of the "benchmark". Any of the above changes or any other consequential changes as a result of international or national reforms or other initiatives or investigations, could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any Notes linked to, or referencing, or otherwise dependent (in whole or in part) upon, a "benchmark".

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes provide for certain fallback arrangements in the event that a published benchmark, including an inter-bank offered rate such as LIBOR, EURIBOR or other relevant reference rates, ceases to be published or a Benchmark Event (as defined in the Condition 3(d)) otherwise occurs, including the possibility that the Rate of Interest or other amounts payable under the Notes could be set by reference to a Successor Rate or an Alternative Rate (both as defined in the Terms and Conditions) determined by the Issuer following consultation with an Independent Adviser (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes), and that, if a Successor Rate or an Alternative Rate (as the case may be) is determined, an Adjustment Spread (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes) shall also be determined by the Issuer following consultation with an Independent Adviser and may also include amendments to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and the Trust Deed (without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders (as such terms are defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes)) to ensure the proper operation of the Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or Adjustment Spread, as applicable. An Adjustment Spread could be positive, negative or zero and may not be effective in reducing or eliminating any economic prejudice to investors arising out of the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be). The use of a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (including with the application of an

Adjustment Spread) will still result in any Notes referencing an Original Reference Rate performing differently (which may include payment of a lower Rate of Interest) than they would if the Original Reference Rate were to continue to apply in its current form. No consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders shall be required in connection with effecting any relevant Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable) or any other related adjustments and/or amendments described above. Any such adjustment or amendment could have unexpected commercial consequences and there can be no assurance that, due to the particular circumstances of each Noteholder or Couponholder, any such adjustment will be favourable to each Noteholder or Couponholder.

If, following the occurrence of a Benchmark Event, no Successor Rate or Alternative Rate or, in either case, the applicable Adjustment Spread is determined, the ultimate fallback for the purposes of the calculation of the Rate of Interest for a particular Interest Period may result in the Rate of Interest for the last preceding Interest Period being used. This may result in the effective application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate Notes based on the rate which was last observed on the Relevant Screen Page. Due to the uncertainty concerning the availability of Successor Rates and Alternative Rates, the involvement of an Independent Adviser and the potential for further regulatory developments, there is a risk that the relevant fallback provisions may not operate as intended at the relevant time.

Any such consequences could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any such Notes. Moreover, any of the above matters or any other significant change to the setting or existence of any relevant rate could affect the ability of the relevant Issuer to meet its obligations under the Floating Rate Notes or could have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and the amount payable under, the Floating Rate Notes.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential risks imposed by the Benchmarks Regulation or any of the international or national reforms and the possible application of the benchmark replacement provisions in respect of the Notes in making any investment decision with respect to any Notes referencing a "benchmark".

Risks applicable to Senior Notes

(i) The Senior Notes may be subject to statutory bail-in or write down powers under the Banking Act.

The UK bail-in power is an additional power available to the Authorities under the special resolution regime provided for in the Banking Act to enable them to recapitalise a failed institution by allocating losses to such institution's shareholders and unsecured creditors subject to the rights of such shareholders and unsecured creditors to be compensated under a bail-in compensation order, which is based on the principle that such creditors should receive no less favourable treatment than they would have received had the bank entered into insolvency immediately before the coming into effect of the bail-in power. The bail-in power includes the power to cancel or write down (in whole or in part) certain liabilities or to modify the terms of certain contracts for the purposes of reducing or deferring the liabilities of a relevant institution under resolution and the power to convert certain liabilities into shares (or other instruments of ownership) of the relevant institution. See also the risk factor entitled "The Banking Act confers substantial powers on a number of UK authorities designed to enable them to take a range of actions in relation to UK banks, UK building societies, UK investment firms and UK recognised central counterparties which are considered to be at risk of failing. In certain circumstances, such actions may also be taken against a UK banking group company. The exercise of any of these actions in relation to the Issuer could materially adversely affect the value of any Notes" above. The Senior Notes are a liability which could be cancelled, written down (in whole or in part) or converted pursuant to the exercise of the bail-in power. The exercise of the bail-in power, or any suggestion of such exercise could, therefore, materially adversely affect the rights of Noteholders, the price or value of their investment in the Senior Notes and/or the ability of the relevant Issuer to satisfy its obligations under the Senior Notes.

(ii) Early redemption of the Senior Notes is at all times at the discretion of the Issuer, and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at as effective a rate of return as that in respect of the Senior Notes.

The Senior Notes may, subject as provided in Condition 5, be redeemed before the Maturity Date at the sole discretion of the Issuer if an optional redemption right is specified in the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement), following a Tax Event or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement) following a Loss Absorption Disqualification Event.

During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem the Senior Notes, or during which there is an actual or perceived increased likelihood that the Issuer may elect to redeem the Senior Notes, the market value of the Senior Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

An investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Senior Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

With respect to a Loss Absorption Disqualification Event, as the Loss Absorption Regulations continue to be implemented in the UK and may be subject to potential future amendments, the Issuer is currently unable to predict whether the Senior Notes are likely to be, fully or partially, excluded from the Issuer's or the Banking Group's minimum requirements for (A) own funds and eligible liabilities and/or (B) loss absorbing capacity instruments, in each case as such minimum requirements are applicable to the Issuer or to the Banking Group. If such Senior Notes are to be so redeemed or there is a perception that the Senior Notes may be so redeemed, this may impact the market price of the Senior Notes. Such legislative and regulatory uncertainty could also affect the value the Senior Notes and therefore affect the trading price of the Senior Notes given the extent and impact on the Senior Notes that one or more regulatory or legislative changes could have on the Senior Notes.

(iii) Where Restrictive Events of Default are specified in the Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the Pricing Supplement) then the Senior Notes will be subject to limited events of default and the remedies available thereunder are limited.

In accordance with the Regulator's requirements for the Minimum Requirement for Eligible Liabilities ("MREL") and/or Total Loss-Absorbing Capital ("TLAC"), the only events of default under the Terms and Conditions of the Senior Notes where Restrictive Events of Default (see Condition 8(b)) are specified to apply in the applicable Final Terms (or, the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement) are (i) where there is a failure to pay principal for a period of seven days or more or a failure to pay interest for a period of 14 days or more when it otherwise becomes due and payable, or (ii) an order is made or a resolution is passed for the winding-up of the Issuer (other than an Approved Winding-up).

The sole remedy against the Issuer available to the Trustee or (where the Trustee has failed to proceed against the Issuer as provided in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes") any Noteholder for recovery of amounts which have become due in respect of the Senior Notes where Restrictive Events of Default apply will be the institution of proceedings for the winding-up of the Issuer and/or proving in such winding-up and/or claiming in the liquidation of the Issuer. Otherwise, the Trustee and the Noteholders may not take any further or other action to enforce, prove or claim any such payment (which may otherwise by available in respect of Senior Notes where Non-Restrictive Events of Default (see Condition 8(a)) apply by virtue of Restrictive Events of Default not being specified in the applicable Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement)) to apply, including, in the case of a failure to pay interest, any action to accelerate a repayment of the principal amount of such Senior Notes.

If an order is made by the competent court or resolution passed for the winding-up of the Issuer (other than an Approved Winding-up), the Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested by Noteholders of at least one-quarter in nominal amount of the Senior Notes issued by the Issuer where Restrictive Events of Default apply then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall (subject in each case to Condition 8(b)(iv)), give notice to the Issuer (or, as applicable, the liquidator) that such Senior Notes are, and they shall accordingly forthwith become, immediately due and repayable at the amount equal to their principal amount and any accrued and unpaid interest.

(iv) The substitution or variation of certain Series of Senior Notes may negatively affect the holders of such Senior Notes or may adversely affect the market value of such Senior Notes.

In the case of Senior Notes where "Substitution or Variation" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms (or in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement), then following the occurrence of a Loss Absorption Disqualification Event in respect of such Series of Senior Notes, the Issuer may, subject to the provisions of Condition 5(I) (without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders, the Couponholders or the Trustee (but subject to the notice requirements specified in Condition 5(I)), either substitute all (but not some only) of such Series for, or vary the terms of all (but not some only) of such Series so that they remain or, as appropriate, become, Compliant

Securities (as defined in Condition 5(I)) and, subject to the provisions of Condition 5(I), the Trustee shall agree to such substitution or variation.

No assurance can be given as to whether or not any of these changes will negatively affect any particular Noteholder or Couponholder, and the market value of any Notes subject to such substitution or variation may be adversely affected.

Risks applicable to Dated Subordinated Notes

(i) The Dated Subordinated Notes are unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer. On a winding-up of the Issuer, investors in the Dated Subordinated Notes may lose their entire investment in the Dated Subordinated Notes.

The Issuer's payment obligations under the Dated Subordinated Notes will be unsecured and will be subordinated in the event of the winding-up of the Issuer (other than an Approved Winding-up) or the appointment of an administrator of the Issuer where the administrator has given notice that it intends to declare and distribute a dividend and, in each case, will rank junior to the claims of creditors of the Issuer (a) who are unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer; or (b) who are subordinated creditors of the Issuer (other than those whose claims constitute, or would but for any applicable limitation on the amount of any such capital constitute, Tier 1 capital or Tier 2 capital or whose claims rank, or are expressed to rank, pari passu with, or junior to, the claims of the holders of the Dated Subordinated Notes), and claims in respect of any subordinated indebtedness of the Issuer (other than indebtedness which ranks, or is expressed to rank, pari passu with or junior to the Dated Subordinated Notes). Accordingly, the assets of the Issuer would be applied first in satisfying all senior-ranking claims in full, and payments would be made to holders of the Dated Subordinated Notes, pro rata and proportionately with payments made to holders of any other pari passu instruments (if any), only if and to the extent that there are any assets remaining after satisfaction in full of all such senior-ranking claims. If the Issuer's assets are insufficient to meet all its obligations to senior-ranking and pari passu creditors, the holders of the Dated Subordinated Notes will lose all or some of their investment in the Dated Subordinated Notes.

There is no restriction on the amount of securities which the Issuer may issue and which rank senior to, or *pari passu* with, the Dated Subordinated Notes and accordingly, the Issuer may at any time incur, issue further debt or securities which rank senior to, or *pari passu* with, the Dated Subordinated Notes. Consequently there can be no assurance that the current level of senior or *pari passu* debt of the Issuer will not change. The issue of any such securities may reduce the amount (if any) recoverable by Noteholders on a winding-up or administration of the Issuer.

If the Issuer's financial condition deteriorates such that there is an increased risk that the Issuer may be wound up or enter into administration, such circumstances can be expected to have a material adverse effect on the market price of the Dated Subordinated Notes. Investors in the Dated Subordinated Notes may find it difficult to sell their Dated Subordinated Notes in such circumstances, or may only be able to sell their Dated Subordinated Notes at a price which may be significantly lower than the price at which they purchased their Dated Subordinated Notes. In such a sale, investors may lose some or substantially all of their investment in the Dated Subordinated Notes, whether or not the Issuer is wound up or enters into administration.

Although the Dated Subordinated Notes may pay a higher rate of interest than comparable notes which are not subordinated, there is a real risk that an investor in the Dated Subordinated Notes will lose all or some of his investment should the Issuer become insolvent.

(ii) Early redemption of the Dated Subordinated Notes is at all times at the discretion of the Issuer, and an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at as effective a rate of return as that in respect of the Dated Subordinated Notes.

The Dated Subordinated Notes may, subject as provided in Condition 5 (*Redemption and Purchase*), be redeemed before the Maturity Date at the sole discretion of the Issuer if an optional redemption right is specified in the applicable Final Terms (or the applicable Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes), following a Tax Event or, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms (or the applicable Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes), following a Regulatory Capital Event.

During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem the Dated Subordinated Notes, the market value of the Dated Subordinated Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

An investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Dated Subordinated Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments available at that time.

(iii) The Dated Subordinated Notes contain limited events of default and the remedies available thereunder are limited.

In accordance with the Regulator's requirements for Tier 2 capital, the only events of default under the Terms and Conditions of the Dated Subordinated Notes are (i) where there is a failure to pay principal or interest for a period of 14 days or more when it otherwise becomes due and payable or (ii) an order is made or a resolution is passed for the winding-up of the Issuer (other than an Approved Winding-up).

The sole remedy against the Issuer available to the Trustee or (where the Trustee has failed to proceed against the Issuer as provided in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes") any Noteholder for recovery of amounts which have become due in respect of the Dated Subordinated Notes will be the institution of proceedings for the winding-up of the Issuer and/or proving in such winding-up and/or claiming in the liquidation of the Issuer. Otherwise, the Trustee and the Noteholders may not take any further or other action to enforce, prove or claim any such payment, including, in the case of a failure to pay interest, any action to accelerate a repayment of the principal amount of the Dated Subordinated Notes.

If an order is made by the competent court or resolution passed for the winding-up of the Issuer (other than an Approved Winding-up), the Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested by Noteholders of at least one-quarter in nominal amount of the Dated Subordinated Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall (subject in each case to Condition 8(b)(iv)), give notice to the Issuer (or, as applicable, the liquidator) that the Dated Subordinated Notes are, and they shall accordingly forthwith become, immediately due and repayable at the amount equal to their principal amount and any accrued and unpaid interest, and the claim in respect thereof will be subject to the subordination provided for in Condition 2(b).

(iv) The Dated Subordinated Notes may be subject to statutory bail-in or write down powers under the Banking Act and the BRRD.

The UK bail-in power is an additional power available to the Authorities under the special resolution regime provided for in the Banking Act to enable them to recapitalise a failed institution by allocating losses to such institution's shareholders and unsecured creditors subject to the rights of such shareholders and unsecured creditors to be compensated under a bail-in compensation order, which is based on the principle that such creditors should receive no less favourable treatment than they would have received had the bank entered into insolvency immediately before the coming into effect of the bail-in power. The bail-in power includes the power to cancel or write down (in whole or in part) certain liabilities or to modify the terms of certain contracts for the purposes of reducing or deferring the liabilities of a relevant institution under resolution and the power to convert certain liabilities into shares (or other instruments of ownership) of the relevant institution. See also the risk factor entitled "The Banking Act confers substantial powers on a number of UK authorities designed to enable them to take a range of actions in relation to UK banks, UK building societies, UK investment firms and UK recognised central counterparties which are considered to be at risk of failing. In certain circumstances, such actions may also be taken against a UK banking group company. The exercise of any of these actions in relation to the Issuer could materially adversely affect the value of any Notes" above.

The Dated Subordinated Notes are a liability which could be cancelled, written down (in whole or in part) or converted pursuant to the exercise of the bail-in power. The Dated Subordinated Notes would be amongst the first of the Issuer's obligations to bear losses through write-down or conversion to equity pursuant to the exercise of the bail-in power because in the event of the insolvency of the Issuer, the claims in respect of the Dated Subordinated Notes would rank behind all other claims other than claims in respect of Junior Securities (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes).

The EU Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive (the "BRRD") also contains a mandatory write down power which requires EU Member States to grant powers to resolution authorities to recapitalise institutions and/or their EEA parent holding companies that are at the point of non-viability by permanently writing down, *inter alia*, capital instruments such as the Dated Subordinated Notes, or converting those capital instruments into shares. The mandatory write down provision has been implemented in the UK through the Banking Act, and would apply to the Dated Subordinated Notes. Before, or simultaneously with, taking any form of resolution action or applying any resolution power set out in the BRRD, the Authorities have the power (and are obliged when specified conditions are

determined to have been met) to write down, or convert capital instruments such as the Dated Subordinated Notes into common equity tier 1 capital instruments. These measures could be applied to the Dated Subordinated Notes.

In contrast to the creditor protections afforded in the event of the bail-in powers being exercised, holders of the Dated Subordinated Notes would not be entitled to the "no creditor worse off" protections under the Banking Act in the event that the Dated Subordinated Notes are written down or converted to equity under the mandatory write-down tool (unless the mandatory write-down tool were to be used alongside a bail-in).

Furthermore, if the Dated Subordinated Notes were to be converted into equity securities by application of the mandatory write-down tool, those equity securities may be subjected to the bail-in powers in resolution, resulting in their cancellation, significant dilution or transfer away from the investors therein. The exercise of such bail-in or write down powers, or any suggestion of such exercise could, therefore, materially adversely affect the rights of Noteholders, the price or value of their investment in any Dated Subordinated Notes and/or the ability of the Issuer to satisfy its obligations under the Dated Subordinated Notes.

(v) The gross-up obligation under the Dated Subordinated Notes is limited only to payments of interest and not to payments of principal.

The Issuer's obligation to pay additional amounts in respect of any withholding or deduction in respect of taxes under the terms of the Dated Subordinated Notes applies only to payments of interest due and paid under the Dated Subordinated Notes and not to payments of principal. As such the Issuer would not be required to pay any additional amounts under the terms of the Dated Subordinated Notes to the extent any withholding or deduction applied to payments of principal. Accordingly, if any such withholding or deduction were to apply to any payments of principal under the Dated Subordinated Notes, holders of Dated Subordinated Notes may receive less than the full amount due under the Dated Subordinated Notes, and the market value of the Dated Subordinated Notes may be adversely affected. Holders of Dated Subordinated Notes should note that principal for these purposes will include any payments of premium.

Risks applicable to certain types of Exempt Notes

There are particular risks associated with an investment in certain types of Exempt Notes. In particular, an investor might receive less interest than expected or no interest in respect of such Notes and may lose some or all of the principal amount invested by it.

The Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest determined by reference to an index or formula, to changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to movements in currency exchange rates or other factors (each, a "Relevant Factor"). In addition, the Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are denominated. Potential investors should be aware that:

- (i) the market price of such Notes may be volatile;
- (ii) movements in a Relevant Factor may adversely affect the amount of principal and/or interest to be paid to the Noteholder and may also affect the market value of the Notes;
- (iii) they may receive no interest;
- (iv) payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than expected;
- (v) they may lose all or a substantial portion of their principal;
- (vi) a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in interest rates, currencies or other indices;
- (vii) if a Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or contains some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on principal or interest payable is likely to be magnified; and
- (viii) the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the Relevant Factor, the greater the effect on yield.

The historical experience of an index or other Relevant Factor should not be viewed as an indication of future performance of such Relevant Factor during the term of any Notes. Accordingly, each potential investor should consult its own financial and legal advisers about the risk entailed by an investment in any Notes linked to a Relevant Factor and the suitability of such Notes in light of its particular circumstances.

Notes which are issued with variable interest rates or which are structured to include a multiplier or other leverage factor are likely to have more volatile market values than more standard securities.

Notes with variable interest rates can be volatile investments. If they are structured to include multipliers or other leverage factors, or caps or floors, or any combination of those features or other similar related features, their market values may be even more volatile than those for securities that do not include those features.

Inverse Floating Rate Notes will have more volatile market values than conventional Floating Rate Notes.

Inverse Floating Rate Notes have an interest rate equal to a fixed rate minus a rate based upon a reference rate such as LIBOR. The market values of those Notes typically are more volatile than market values of other conventional floating rate debt securities based on the same reference rate (and with otherwise comparable terms). Inverse Floating Rate Notes are more volatile because an increase in the reference rate not only decreases the interest rate of the Notes, but may also reflect an increase in prevailing interest rates, which further adversely affects the market value of these Notes.

Risks related to Notes generally

Set out below is a description of material risks relating to the Notes generally:

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions which may permit their modification without the consent of all investors and confer significant discretions on the Trustee which may be exercised without the consent of the Noteholders and without regard to the individual interests of particular Noteholders.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes also provide that the Trustee may, without the consent of Noteholders and without regard to the interests of particular Noteholders, (i) agree to any modification of, or to the waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of the conditions of the Notes or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed or (ii) determine that any condition, event or act which, but for such determination, would constitute an Event of Default, shall not be treated as such, in the circumstances described in Condition 13 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes. In addition, the Trustee shall be obliged to concur with the Issuer in effecting any Benchmark Amendments in the circumstances and as otherwise set out in Condition 3(d) without the consent of Noteholders or Couponholders.

Waiver of set-off

Holders of Dated Subordinated Notes and, if specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement), Senior Notes waive any rights of set-off, compensation and retention in relation to such Notes insofar as permitted by applicable law.

Investors who hold less than the minimum Specified Denomination may be unable to sell their Notes and may be adversely affected if definitive Notes are subsequently required to be issued

In relation to any issue of Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified Denomination plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount, it is possible that such Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case a holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system would not be able to sell the remainder of such holding without first purchasing a principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination. Further, a holder who, as a

result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified Denomination in his account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time may not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes at or in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.

If such Notes in definitive form are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which have a denomination that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

The value of the Notes could be adversely affected by a change in English law or administrative practice.

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes are governed by English law. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or administrative practice after the date of this Offering Circular and any such change could materially adversely impact the value of any Notes affected by it.

Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a description of material market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and credit risk:

An active secondary market in respect of the Notes may never be established or may be illiquid and this would adversely affect the value at which an investor could sell his Notes.

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities.

If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor's home currency, he will be exposed to movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of his holding. In addition, the imposition of exchange controls in relation to any Notes could result in an investor not receiving payments on those Notes.

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (1) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor's Currency equivalent value of the Principal payable on the Notes and (3) the Investor's Currency equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability of the Issuer to make payments in respect of the Notes. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

The value of Fixed Rate Notes may be adversely affected by movements in market interest rates.

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that if market interest rates subsequently increase above the rate paid on the Fixed Rate Notes, this will adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

Credit ratings assigned to the Issuer or any Notes may not reflect all the risks associated with an investment in those Notes.

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Issuer or the Notes. The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised, suspended or withdrawn by the rating agency at any time.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted under the CRA Regulation from using credit ratings for regulatory purposes, unless such ratings are issued by a credit rating agency established in the EU and registered under the CRA Regulation (and such registration has not been withdrawn or suspended, subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances). Such general restriction will also apply in the case of credit ratings issued by non-EU credit rating agencies, unless the relevant credit ratings are endorsed by an EU-registered credit rating agency or the relevant non-EU rating agency is certified in accordance with the CRA Regulation (and such endorsement action or certification, as the case may be, has not been withdrawn or suspended, subject to transitional provisions that apply in certain circumstances). Certain information with respect to the credit rating agencies and ratings is set out on the cover of this Offering Circular.

SUPPLEMENTS AND NEW OFFERING CIRCULARS

In the event of any significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to information included in this Offering Circular which is capable of affecting the assessment of any Notes arising or being noted between the approval of this Offering Circular by the FCA and the commencement of trading of such Notes on any EEA State stock exchange or the final closing of the offer of such Notes to the public in any EEA State, as the case may be, the Issuer will prepare a supplement to this Offering Circular or publish a new Offering Circular for use in connection with such Notes and any subsequent issue of Notes.

FORM OF THE NOTES

Any reference in this section to "applicable Final Terms" shall be deemed to include a reference to "applicable Pricing Supplement" where relevant.

Each Tranche of Notes will initially be represented by a temporary global Note without interest coupons or talons. If the global Notes are intended to be issued in new global note (NGN) form, as stated in the applicable Final Terms, the temporary global Note will be delivered on the original issue date of the Tranche to a common safekeeper (the "Common Safekeeper") for Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg"); and if the global Notes are not intended to be issued in NGN form, the temporary global Note will be delivered on the original issue date of the Tranche to a common depositary (the "Common Depositary") for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other agreed clearing system.

Where the global Notes issued in respect of any Tranche are in NGN form, the applicable Final Terms will also indicate whether or not such global Notes are intended to be held in a manner which would allow Eurosystem eligibility. Any indication that the global Notes are to be so held does not necessarily mean that the Notes of the relevant Tranche will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any times during their life as such recognition depends upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria. The Common Safekeeper for NGNs will either be Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or another entity approved by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, as indicated in the applicable Final Terms.

Whilst any Note is represented by a temporary global Note, payments of principal and interest (if any) due prior to the Exchange Date (as defined below) will be made (against presentation of the temporary global Note if the temporary global Note is not intended to be issued in NGN form) only to the extent that certification (in a form to be provided) to the effect that the beneficial owners of interests in such Note are not U.S. persons or persons who have purchased for resale to any U.S. person, as required by U.S. Treasury regulations, has been received by Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Euroclear, as applicable, has given a like certification (based on the certifications it has received) to the Agent (as defined on page 57). Any reference in this section "Form of the Notes" to Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Euroclear shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system approved by the Issuer, the Agent and the Trustee.

On and after the date (the "Exchange Date") which is 40 days after the date on which any temporary global Note is issued, interests in such temporary global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge) upon a request as described therein either for interests in a permanent global Note of the same Series without interest coupons or talons or for definitive Notes of the same Series with, where applicable, interest coupons and talons attached (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms and subject, in the case of definitive Notes, to such notice period as is specified in the applicable Final Terms) in each case against certification of beneficial ownership as described in the second sentence of the immediately preceding paragraph unless such certification has already been given. If any further Notes to be consolidated and form a single Series with any series of outstanding Notes are issued prior to the exchange of interests in the temporary global Note for interests in the permanent global Note representing such outstanding Notes, then the Exchange Date may be extended, without the consent of the holders, to a date which is not earlier than 40 days after the date of issue of such further Notes provided that the Exchange Date would not thereby fall on or after the first interest payment date for such outstanding Notes. The holder of a temporary global Note will not be entitled to collect any payment of interest or principal due on or after the Exchange Date unless upon due certification exchange of the temporary global Note is improperly withheld or refused. Pursuant to the Agency Agreement (as defined on page 57) the Agent shall arrange that, where a further Tranche of Notes is issued which is intended to form a single Series with an existing Tranche of Notes as at a point after the Issue Date of the further Tranche, the Notes of such Tranche shall be assigned a common code and ISIN by Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear which are different from the common code and ISIN assigned to Notes of any other Tranche of the same Series until such time as the Tranches are consolidated and form a single Series, which shall not be prior to the expiry of 40 days (as notified by the Agent to the relevant Dealer or, in the case of a syndicated issue, the lead manager) after the completion of the distribution of the Notes of such Tranche.

Payments of principal and interest (if any) on a permanent global Note will be made through Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Euroclear (against presentation or surrender (as the case may be) of such permanent global Note if the permanent global Note is not intended to be issued in NGN form)

without any requirement for certification. The applicable Final Terms will specify that either (i) a permanent global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge), in whole but not in part, for definitive Notes with, where applicable, interest coupons and talons attached upon not less than 60 days' written notice from Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Euroclear (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such permanent global Note) to the Agent as described therein or (ii) a permanent global Note will be exchangeable (free of charge), in whole but not in part, for definitive Notes with, where applicable, interest coupons and talons attached upon the occurrence of an Exchange Event. "Exchange Event" means (i) an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, (ii) the Issuer has been notified by the Agent that either Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear has been closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holiday, statutory or otherwise) or has announced an intention permanently to cease business or has in fact done so and no alternative clearing system satisfactory to the Trustee is available or (iii) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided for or referred to in Condition 6 which would not be required were the Notes represented by such permanent global Note in definitive form. The Issuer will promptly give notice to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12 if an Exchange Event occurs. In the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Euroclear (acting on the instructions of any holder of an interest in such permanent global Note) or the Trustee may give notice to the Agent requesting exchange and, in the event of the occurrence of an Exchange Event as described in (iii) above, the Issuer may also give notice to the Agent requesting exchange. Any such exchange shall occur not later than 60 days after the date of receipt of the first relevant notice by the Agent.

Tranches of Notes shall not be physically delivered in Belgium, except to a clearing system, a depository or other institution for the purpose of their immobilisation in accordance with article 4 of the Belgian Law of 14 December, 2005.

Global Notes and definitive Notes will be constituted by, or pursuant to, the Trust Deed (as defined on page 57) and issued in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement.

The exchange of a permanent global Note for definitive Notes upon notice from Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (acting on the instructions of any holder) or at any time at the request of the Issuer should not be expressed to be applicable in the applicable Final Terms if the Notes are issued with a minimum Specified Denomination such as €100,000 (or its equivalent in another currency) plus one or more higher integral multiples of another smaller amount such as €1,000 (or its equivalent in another currency). Furthermore, such Specified Denomination construction is not permitted in relation to any issue of Notes which is to be represented on issue by a temporary global Note exchangeable for definitive Notes.

The following legend will appear on all global Notes, definitive Notes, interest coupons and talons relating to such Notes:

"Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code."

The Sections referred to provide that United States holders, with certain exceptions, will not be entitled to deduct any loss on Notes or interest coupons and will not be entitled to capital gains treatment in respect of any gain on any sale, disposition, redemption or payment of principal in respect of Notes or interest coupons.

No Noteholder or Couponholder shall be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer unless the Trustee, having become bound so to proceed, fails or is unable or neglects to do so within 60 days and such failure or inability or neglect is continuing.

The Issuer may agree with any Dealer and the Trustee that Notes may be issued in a form not contemplated by the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, in which event, other than where such Notes are Exempt Notes, a new Offering Circular, or a supplement to the Offering Circular, if appropriate, will be made available which will describe the effect of the agreement reached in relation to such Notes.

FORM OF FINAL TERMS

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (the "EEA"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC (as amended or superseded, the "Insurance Mediation Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive (where "Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended or superseded), and includes any relevant implementing measure in a relevant Member State of the EEA). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]

[MIFID II product governance / Professional investors and eligible counterparties only target market – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II")][MiFID II]; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[NOTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 309B(1)(c) OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT (CHAPTER 289) OF SINGAPORE (the "SFA") - [Insert notice if classification of the Notes is not "prescribed capital market products", pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA or Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products)].]²

[Date]

Tesco Personal Finance Group PLC

Legal entity identifier (LEI): 213800IZX26LIAH44T95

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] under the £2,000,000,000 Euro Note Programme

PART A — CONTRACTUAL TERMS

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes set forth in the Offering Circular dated 11 July, 2019 which[, as modified by the supplement[s] to the Offering Circular dated [] together,] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive (the "Offering Circular"). This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Offering Circular. The Offering Circular has been published on the website of the Regulatory News Service operated by the London Stock Exchange at www.londonstockexchange.com/exchange/news/market-news/market-news/market-news-home.html.

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Terms and Conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the Offering Circular dated [] and which are incorporated by reference in the Offering Circular dated []. This document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes

Legend to be included on front of the Final Terms if the Notes potentially constitute "packaged" products and no key information document will be prepared or the Issuer wishes to prohibit offers to EEA retail investors for any other reason, in which case the selling restriction should be specified to be "Applicable".

² Relevant Manager(s)/Dealer(s) to consider whether it / they have received the necessary product classification from the Issuer prior to the launch of the offer, pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA.

described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular dated [] [as modified by the supplement to the Offering Circular dated [],] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive (the "Offering Circular"), including the Conditions incorporated by reference in the Offering Circular. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Offering Circular. The Offering Circular has been published on the website of the Regulatory News Service operated by the London Stock Exchange at www.londonstockexchange.com/exchange/news/market-news/market-news-home.html.]

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable". Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs. Italics denote directions for completing the Final Terms.]

[If the Notes have a maturity of less than one year from the date of their issue, the minimum denomination must be £100,000 or its equivalent in any other currency.]

1.	. Issuer:		Tesco Personal Finance Group PLC				
2.	(i)	Series Number:	[1			
	(ii)	Tranche Number:	[1			
	(iii)	Date on which the Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series:	Seri Issu Note as r exp	e Notes will be consolidated and form a single es with [identify earlier Tranches] on [the e Date/exchange of the Temporary Global e for interests in the Permanent Global Note, eferred to in paragraph 26 below, which is ected to occur on or about [date]]] [Not licable]			
3.	Spec	cified Currency or Currencies:	[1			
4.	Aggı	regate Nominal Amount:					
	(i)	Tranche:	[]			
	(ii)	Series:	[]			
5.	Issu	e Price:] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount is accrued interest from [insert date]] (if licable)			
6.	(i)	Specified Denominations:	[€19]/[[€100,000] and integral multiples of 000] in excess thereof up to and including 19,000]. No Notes in definitive form will be ed with a denomination above [€199,000].]			
	(ii)	Calculation Amount (in relation to calculation of interest in global form see Conditions):	[1			
				nly one Specified Denomination, insert the cified Denomination.			
			the con	ore than one Specified Denomination, insert highest common factor. Note: There must be a amon factor in the case of two or more cified Denominations.)			
7.	(i)	Issue Date:	[1			
	(ii)	Interest Commencement Date:	[spe	ecify /Issue Date/Not Applicable]			
			rele	B. An Interest Commencement Date will not be vant for certain Notes, for example Zero upon Notes.)			

8.	Matu	rity Date ³ :	[Specify date or for Floating Rate Notes — Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to [specify month and year]]			
9.	Interest Basis:		[Fixed Rate] [Fixed Rate Reset] [Floating Rate] [Zero Coupon] (see paragraph [14]/[15]/[16]/[17] below)			
10.	Rede	emption[/Payment] Basis:	Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early redemption, the Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity Date at [] per cent. of their nominal amount			
11.	Char	nge of Interest Basis:	[For the period from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date, up to (but excluding) [] paragraph [14/16] applies and for the period from (and including) [], up to (and including) the Maturity Date, paragraph [16/16] applies][Not Applicable]			
12.	Put/C	Call Options:	[Investor Put] [Issuer Call] [Regulatory Capital Event Call] [Loss Absorption Disqualification Event Call] [Not Applicable] [(see paragraph[s] [19]/[20]/[21]/[and] [22] below)]			
13.	(i)	Status of the Notes:	[Senior/Dated Subordinated]			
	(ii)	Condition 2(d) (Set-off, etc. (Senior Notes)):	[Applicable/Not Applicable]			
	(iii)	Restrictive Events of Default:	[Applicable/Not Applicable]			
	(iii)	Date of [Board] approval for issuance of Notes obtained:	[[]/Not Applicable]			
PRO	VISIO	NS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY)	PAYABLE			
14.	Fixed	d Rate Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]			
			(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)			
	(i)	Rate[(s)] of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date			
	(ii)	Interest Payment Date(s):	[[] in each year up to and including the Maturity Date (Amend appropriately in the case of irregular coupons)			
	(iii)	Fixed Coupon Amount(s) for Notes in definitive form (and in relation to Notes in global form see Conditions):	[] per Calculation Amount			
	(iv) Broken Amount(s) for Notes in definitive form (and in relation to Notes in global form see Conditions):		[] per Calculation Amount payable on th Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [] [No Applicable]			
	(v)	Fixed Day Count Fraction:	[Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360]			
	(vi)	Determination Date(s):	[[] in each year] [Not Applicable]			
			(Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA). In such a case, insert			

 $^{^{3}}$ The Maturity Date for Dated Subordinated Notes will be at least five (5) years from the specified Issue Date.

date or maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon) 15. Fixed Rate Reset Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] [Applicable in respect of the period from [the Interest Commencement Date]/ []to[]] (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph) (i) Initial Rate of Interest:] per cent. per annum (ii) First Margin:] per cent. per annum (iii) Subsequent Margin:] per cent. per annum] in each year [commencing on [] and (iv) Interest Payment Date(s): on the Maturity Date[, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention specified in paragraph 15(xviii) below]] (v) Fixed Coupon Amount(s) in respect ſ] per Calculation Amount of definitive Fixed Rate Reset Notes in respect of the period from (and including) [the Interest Commencement Date]/[] to (but excluding) the First Reset Date: (vi) Broken Amount(s) in respect of] per Calculation Amount payable on the definitive Fixed Rate Reset Notes: Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [Applicable] First Reset Date: (vii) (viii) Second Reset Date:] /[Not Applicable] Subsequent Reset Date[(s)]:] /[Not Applicable] (ix) Reset Rate: [Mid-Swap Rate/Benchmark Gilt Rate/Reference (x) Bond Rate] (xi) Reset Determination Date: [Condition 3(b)(viii) applies]/[specify other] (xii) Relevant Screen Page:]/[Not Applicable] [Single Mid-Swap Rate][Not (xiii) Mid-Swap Rate: Applicable] (xiv) Mid-Swap Maturity:]/[Not Applicable] (xv) Benchmark Frequency: 1 Fixed Day Count Fraction: [Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360] (xvi)]/[Not Applicable] (xvii) Determination Time: (xviii) Business Day Convention: [Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention] (xix) Relevant Currency:]/[Not Applicable]] Business Day(s): (xx) (xxi) Additional Business Centre(s): 1 16. Floating Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)

regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue

][, subject to adjustment in accordance with

Specified Period(s)/Specified Interest

(i)

		Payment Dates:	the Business Day Convention set out in (ii) below/, not subject to any adjustment, as the Business Day Convention in (ii) below is specified to be Not Applicable]			
	(ii)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention] [Not Applicable]			
	(iii)	Additional Business Centre(s):	[]			
	(iv)	Manner in which the Rate of Interest and Interest Amount is to be determined:	[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination]			
	(v)	Party responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and Interest Amount (if not the Agent):	[] (the "Calculation Agent")			
	(vi)	Screen Rate Determination:				
		— Reference Rate:	[] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR]			
		Interest Determination Date(s):	[]			
			(Second London business day prior to the start of each Interest Period if LIBOR (other than Sterling or euro LIBOR), first day of each Interest Period if Sterling LIBOR and the second day on which the TARGET2 System is open prior to the start of each Interest Period if EURIBOR or euro LIBOR)			
		— Relevant Screen Page:	[]			
			(In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBOR01 ensure it is a page which shows a composite rate or amend the fall back provisions appropriately)			
	(vii)	ISDA Determination:				
	, ,	— Floating Rate Option:	[]			
		Designated Maturity:				
		Reset Date:				
			(In the case of a LIBOR or EURIBOR based option, the first day of the Interest Period)			
	(viii) Linear Interpolation:		[Not Applicable/Applicable – the Rate of Interest for the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated using Linear Interpolation]			
	(ix)	Margin(s):	[+/-] [] per cent. per annum			
	(x)	Minimum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum			
	(xi)	Maximum Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum			
	(xii)	Floating Day Count Fraction:	[Actual/Actual (ISDA)][Actual/Actual] Actual/365 (Fixed) Actual/365 (Sterling) Actual/360 [30/360][360/360][Bond Basis] [30E/360][Eurobond Basis] 30E/360 (ISDA)			
17.	Zero	Coupon Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]			

				sub	paragraphs of this paragraph)		
	(i)	Accr	ual Yield:	[] per cent. per annum		
	(ii)	Refe	rence Price:	[1		
	(iii)		Count Fraction in relation to Redemption Amounts:		[360][Actual/360] [ual/365]		
PRO	VISIO	NS RE	LATING TO REDEMPTION				
18.	Notic	e perio	ods for Condition 5(b)	Min	imum period: [30] days		
				Max	kimum period: [60] days		
19.	Issue	r Call		[Ap	plicable/Not Applicable]		
				•	(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)		
	(i)	Optio	onal Redemption Date(s):	[1		
	(ii)	Optio	onal Redemption Amount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount		
	(iii)	If rec	deemable in part:				
		(a)	Minimum Redemption Amount:	[1		
		(b)	Higher Redemption Amount:	[1		
	(iv) Notice periods:		Min	Minimum period: [10] days			
				Max	Maximum period: [30] days		
				adv of exa min not othe	B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is ised to consider the practicalities of distribution information through intermediaries, for mple, clearing systems (which require a imum of 5 clearing system business days ice for a call) and custodians as well as any er notice requirements which may apply, for mple, as between the Issuer and the Agent or stee)		
20.	Regulatory Capital Event Call				[Applicable/Not Applicable ⁴]		
	(i)	Notic	ce periods:	Min	Minimum period: [30] days		
				Max	kimum period: [60] days		
21.	Inves	tor Pu	t	[Ap	[Applicable/Not Applicable]		
					(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)		
	(i)	Optio	onal Redemption Date(s):	[1		
	(ii)	Optio	onal Redemption Amount:	[] per Calculation Amount		
	(iii)	Notic	ce periods:	Min	imum period: [15] days		
				Max	kimum period: [30] days		
					B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is ised to consider the practicalities of distribution information through intermediaries, for		

(If not applicable, delete the remaining

⁴ Regulatory Capital Event will be specified as "Not Applicable" in the case of Senior Notes.

example, clearing systems (which require a minimum of 15 clearing system business days' notice for a put)and custodians as well as any other notice requirements which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent or Trustee)

22.	Loss Absorption Disqualification Event Call:			[Applicable/Not Applicable ⁵]		
	(i)	Notice periods:	Mir	nimum period: [30] days		
			Ма	ximum period: [60] days		
	(ii)	Loss Absorption Disqualification Redemption Amount(s):	[] per Calculation Amount		
	(iii)	Basis of exclusion on amendment or change in Loss Absorption Regulation:	[Fu	lly excluded/Fully or partially excluded]		
23.	Fina	Redemption Amount:	[] per Calculation Amount		
24.	rede	y Redemption Amount(s) payable on mption for taxation reasons or on event efault:	[] per Calculation Amount		
25.	Subs	stitution or Variation:	[Ap	plicable/Not Applicable ⁶]		
	(i)	Notice periods:	Mir	nimum period: [30] days		
			Ма	ximum period: [60] days		
GEN	ERAL	PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE N	OTE	S		
26.	(i)	Form of Notes:	Per Def	mporary Global Note exchangeable for a rmanent Global Note which is exchangeable for finitive Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any e/only upon an Exchange Event].]		
				mporary Global Note exchangeable for finitive Notes on and after the Exchange Date.]		
	(ii)	New Global Note:	[Ye	s][No]		
27.	Addi	tional Financial Centre(s):	[No	ot Applicable/[]]		
28.		ns for future Coupons to be attached to nitive Notes:	pay exc	s, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon ments, Talons may be required if, on change into definitive form, more than 27 upon payments are still to be made /No]		
THIR	D PA	RTY INFORMATION				
repro	duced	d and that, so far as it is aware and is abl	e to a	ms that such information has been accurately ascertain from information published by [], no ced information inaccurate or misleading.]		
Sign	ed on l	behalf of Tesco Personal Finance Group	PLC			
Ву:						
	Duly a	authorised				

⁵ Loss Absorption Disqualification Event Call will be specified as "Not Applicable" in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes.
⁶ Substitution or Variation will be specified as "Not Applicable" in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes.

		PART B — OTHE	R INI	FORMATION				
1.	LIST	ING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING						
	(i)	Listing and Admission to trading:	its to on mar	plication has been made by the Issuer (or on behalf] for the Notes to be admitted to trading the London Stock Exchange's regulated rket and listing on the Official List of the ancial Conduct Authority with effect from].]				
			(or trad regi	plication is expected to be made by the Issuer on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to ling on the London Stock Exchange's ulated market and listing on the Official List of Financial Conduct Authority with effect from].]				
	(ii)	Estimate of total expenses related to admission to trading:	[1				
2.	RATI	NGS						
	Ratin	gs:	exp refle	e Notes to be issued [have been]/[are ected to be] rated]/[The following ratings ect ratings assigned to Notes of this type ued under the Programme generally]:				
			[[] by Moody's Investors Service Limited] [and]				
			[[] by Fitch Ratings Limited].				
3.	INTE	INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE						
	["Mar Note: enga trans	nagers"/"Dealers"]), so far as the Issue s has an interest material to the offer ged, and may in the future engage, i	r is a The n inv ervice	ee disclosure]] payable to [specify] (the aware, no person involved in the issue of the [Managers/Dealers] and their affiliates have restment banking and/or commercial banking as for, the Issuer and [its/their] affiliates in the riate if there are other interests]				
4.	YIEL	D (Fixed Rate Notes only)						
		ation of yield:	[1				
			bas	e yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the is of the Issue Price. It is not an indication of the yield.				
5.	OPE	RATIONAL INFORMATION						
	(i)	ISIN:	[1				
	(ii)	Common Code:	[1				
	(iii)	CFI:		ee/[[], as updated, as set out on] the osite of the Association of National Numbering				

(iv)

FISN:

Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the responsible National Numbering Agency that assigned the ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available]

[[See/[[], as updated, as set out on] the website of the Association of National Numbering Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the responsible National Numbering Agency that assigned the ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available]

 (v) Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and the relevant identification number(s): [Not Applicable]/[]

(vi) Delivery:

Delivery [against/free of] payment

(vii) Names and addresses of additional Paying Agent(s) (if any):

[]

(viii) Calculation Agent:

[Not Applicable]/[]

(ix) Intended to be held in a manner which would allow Eurosystem eligibility

[Yes. Note that the designation "yes" simply means that the Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper and does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.]/

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at the date of these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that the Notes are capable of meeting them the Notes may then be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper. Note that this does not necessarily mean that the Notes will then be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem at any time during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.]]

(x) Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute "packaged" products or the Notes do constitute "packaged products" and a key information document will be prepared, "Not Applicable" should be specified. If the Notes may constitute "packaged" products and no key information document will be prepared, "Applicable" should be specified.)

(xi) Prohibition of Sales to Belgian Consumers:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(N.B. advice should be taken from Belgian counsel before disapplying this selling restriction.)

6. U.S. SELLING RESTRICTIONS

U.S. selling restrictions:

[Reg. S Compliance Category 2; TEFRA D/ TEFRA not applicable]

FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT

Set out below is the form of Pricing Supplement which will be completed for each Tranche of Exempt Notes

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area (the "EEA"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC (as amended or superseded, the "Insurance Mediation Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive (where "Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended or superseded), and includes any relevant implementing measure in a relevant Member State of the EEA). Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the "PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.]

[MIFID II product governance / Professional investors and eligible counterparties only target market – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II")][MiFID II]; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.]

[NOTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 309B(1)(c) OF THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES ACT (CHAPTER 289) OF SINGAPORE (the "SFA") - [Insert notice if classification of the Notes is not "prescribed capital market products", pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA or Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products)].]²

NO PROSPECTUS IS REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH DIRECTIVE 2003/71/EC FOR THE ISSUE OF NOTES DESCRIBED BELOW. ACCORDINGLY, SUCH NOTES ARE NOT ISSUED IN COMPLIANCE WITH DIRECTIVE 2003/71/EC. THE FINANCIAL CONDUCT AUTHORITY HAS NEITHER APPROVED NOR REVIEWED THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS PRICING SUPPLEMENT.

[Date]

Tesco Personal Finance Group PLC

Legal entity identifier (LEI): 213800IZX26LIAH44T95

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes] under the £2,000,000,000 Euro Note Programme

PART A — CONTRACTUAL TERMS

[Any person making or intending to make an offer of the Notes may only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of

¹ Legend to be included on front of the Pricing Supplement if the Notes potentially constitute "packaged" products and no key information document will be prepared or the Issuer wishes to prohibit offers to EEA retail investors for any other reason, in which case the selling restriction should be specified to be "Applicable".

^{2 ...} Relevant Manager(s)/Dealer(s) to consider whether it / they have received the necessary product classification from the Issuer prior to the launch of the offer, pursuant to Section 309B of the SFA.

the Prospectus Directive or to supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer.]³

This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement for the Notes described herein. This document must be read in conjunction with the Offering Circular dated 11 July, 2019 [as supplemented by the supplement[s] dated [date[s]]] (the "Offering Circular"). Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available on the basis of the combination of this Pricing Supplement and the Offering Circular. Copies of the Offering Circular may be obtained from the registered office of the Issuer and the specified office of each of the Paying Agents.

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the Offering Circular [dated [*original date*] which are [incorporated by reference in the Offering Circular][attached hereto]].⁴

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable". Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs or subparagraphs. Italics denote directions for completing the Pricing Supplement.]

[If the Notes have a maturity of less than one year from the date of their issue, the minimum denomination must be £100,000 or its equivalent in any other currency.]

1.	Issu	uer:	Tes	co Personal Finance Group PLC
2.	(i)	Series Number:	[1
	(ii)	Tranche Number:	[1
	(iii)	Date on which the Notes will be consolidated and form a single Series:	Seri Issu Note as r	e Notes will be consolidated and form a single les with [identify earlier Tranches] on [the le Date/exchange of the Temporary Global e for interests in the Permanent Global Note, eferred to in paragraph 26 below, which is ected to occur on or about [date]]] [Not licable]
3.	Spe	ecified Currency or Currencies:	[1
4.	Agg	regate Nominal Amount:		
	(i)	Tranche:	[1
	(ii)	Series:	[1
5.	Issu	ue Price:	[] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount
				s accrued interest from [<i>insert date</i>]] (<i>if</i> licable)
6.	(i)	Specified Denominations:	[1
	(ii)	Calculation Amount (in relation to calculation of interest in global form see Conditions):	[1
				only one Specified Denomination, insert the ecified Denomination.
			the com	ore than one Specified Denomination, insert highest common factor. Note: There must be a nmon factor in the case of two or more pocified Denominations.)
7.	(i)	Issue Date:	[1
	(ii)	Interest Commencement Date:	[spe	ecify/Issue Date/Not Applicable]
				B. An Interest Commencement Date will not be vant for certain Notes, for example Zero

³ Do not include if the "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" legend is included (because the Notes potentially constitute "packaged" products and no key information document will be prepared) and the related selling restriction is specified to be "Applicable".

⁴ Only include this language where it is a fungible issue and the original Tranche was issued under an Offering Circular with a different date.

Coupon Notes.) Maturity Date⁵: 8. [Specify date or for Floating Rate Notes -Interest Payment Date falling in or nearest to [specify month and year]] 9. Interest Basis: [] per cent. Fixed Rate] [Fixed Rate Reset] [[specify Reference Rate] +/- [] per cent. Floating Ratel [Zero Coupon] [specify other] (further particulars specified below) 10. Redemption/Payment Basis: [Redemption at par] [specify other] 11. Change of Interest Basis or [For the period from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date, up to (but excluding) [insert Redemption/Payment Basis: date] paragraph [] applies and for the period from (and including) [insert date], up to (and including) the Maturity Date, paragraph [applies] / [Specify details of any provision for change of Notes into another Interest Basis or Redemption/Payment Basis] / [Not Applicable] 12. Put/Call Options: [Investor Put] [Issuer Call] [Regulatory Capital Event Call] [Loss Absorption Disqualification Event Call] [Not Applicable] [(further particulars specified below)] 13. Status of the Notes: [Senior/Dated Subordinated] (i) Condition 2(d) (Set-off, etc. [Applicable/Not Applicable] (Senior Notes)): Restrictive Events of Default: [Applicable/Not Applicable] (iii) Date of [Board] approval for issuance of Notes obtained:]/Not Applicable] [[PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE 14. **Fixed Rate Note Provisions** [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph) (i) Rate[(s)] of Interest:] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date (ii) Interest Payment Date(s):] in each year up to and including the Maturity Date (Amend appropriately in the case of irregular coupons) (iii) Fixed Coupon Amount(s) for Notes] per Calculation Amount in definitive form (and in relation to

⁵ The Maturity Date for Dated Subordinated Notes will be at least five (5) years from the specified Issue Date.

	Notes in global form see Conditions):	
(iv)	Broken Amount(s) for Notes in definitive form (and in relation to Notes in global form see Conditions):	[] per Calculation Amount payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [] [Not Applicable]
(v)	Fixed Day Count Fraction:	[Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360] [specify other]
(vi)	Determination Date(s):	[[] in each year] [Not Applicable]
		(Only relevant where Day Count Fraction is Actual/Actual (ICMA). In such a case, insert regular interest payment dates, ignoring issue date or maturity date in the case of a long or short first or last coupon)
(vii)	Other terms relating to the method of calculating interest for Fixed Rate Notes which are Exempt Notes:	[None/Give details]
15. F	Fixed Rate Reset Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable] [Applicable in respect of the period from [the Interest Commencement Date]/ [] to []]
		(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)
(i)	Initial Rate of Interest:	[] per cent. per annum
(ii)	First Margin:	[] per cent. per annum
(iii)	Subsequent Margin:	[] per cent. per annum
(iv)	Interest Payment Date(s):	[] in each year [commencing on [] and ending on the Maturity Date[, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention specified in paragraph 15(xviii) below]]
(v)	Fixed Coupon Amount(s) in respect of definitive Fixed Rate Reset Notes in respect of the period from (and including) [the Interest Commencement Date]/[] to (but excluding) the First Reset Date:	[] per Calculation Amount
(vi)	Broken Amount(s) in respect of definitive Fixed Rate Reset Notes:	[] per Calculation Amount payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [] [Not Applicable]
(vii)	First Reset Date:	[]
(viii)	Second Reset Date:	[] /[Not Applicable]
(ix)	Subsequent Reset Date[(s)]:	[] /[Not Applicable]
(x)	Reset Rate:	[Mid-Swap Rate/Benchmark Gilt Rate/Reference Bond Rate]
(xi)	Reset Determination Date:	[Condition 3(b)(viii) applies]/[specify other]
(xii)	Relevant Screen Page:	[]/[Not Applicable]
(xiii)	Mid-Swap Rate:	[Single Mid-Swap Rate/Mean Mid-Swap Rate][Not Applicable]
(xiv)	Mid-Swap Maturity:	[]/[Not Applicable]
(xv)	Benchmark Frequency:	[]
(xvi)	Fixed Day Count Fraction:	[Actual/Actual (ICMA)] [30/360]
(xvii)	Determination Time:	[]/[Not Applicable]

(xviii)	Business Day Convention:	[Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention]
(xix)	Relevant Currency:	[]/[Not Applicable]
(xx)	Business Day(s):	[]
(xxi)	Additional Business Centre(s):	[]
16. F	Floating Rate Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
		(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)
(i)	Specified Period(s)/Specified Interest Payment Dates:	[][, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in (ii) below /, not subject to any adjustment, as the Business Day Convention in (ii) below is specified to be Not Applicable]
(ii)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/Modified Following Business Day Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/[specify other]] [Not Applicable]
(iii)	Additional Business Centre(s):	[]
(iv)	Manner in which the Rate of Interest and Interest Amount is to be determined:	[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination/specify other]
(v)	Party responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and Interest Amount (if not the Agent):	[] (the "Calculation Agent")
(vi)	Screen Rate Determination:	
	— Reference Rate:	[] month [LIBOR/EURIBOR/specify other Reference Rate]
		(Either LIBOR, EURIBOR or other, although additional information is required if other, including fall back provisions in the Agency Agreement)
	— Interest Determination Date(s):	[]
		(Second London business day prior to the start of each Interest Period if LIBOR (other than Sterling or euro LIBOR), first day of each Interest Period if Sterling LIBOR and the second day on which the TARGET2 System is open prior to the start of each Interest Period if EURIBOR or euro LIBOR)
	— Relevant Screen Page:	[]
		(In the case of EURIBOR, if not Reuters EURIBOR01 ensure it is a page which shows a composite rate or amend the fall back provisions appropriately)
(vii)	ISDA Determination:	
	— Floating Rate Option:	[]
	— Designated Maturity:	[]
	— Reset Date:	[] (In the case of a LIBOR or EURIBOR based option, the first day of the Interest Period)

(viii)	Linear Interp	polation	for the	[Not Applicable/Applicable – the Rate of Interest for the [long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated using Linear Interpolation (specify for each short or long interest period)]		
(ix)	Margin(s):		[+/-]		per cent. per annum	
(x)	Minimum Ra	ate of Interest:	[] per	cent. per annum	
(xi)	Maximum R	ate of Interest:	[] per	cent. per annum	
(xii)	Floating Day	y Count Fraction:	[Actual/Actual (ISDA)][Actual/Actual] Actual/365 (Fixed) Actual/365 (Sterling) Actual/360 [30/360][360/360][Bond Basis] [30E/360][Eurobond Basis] 30E/360 (ISDA) [Other] (See Condition 3 for alternatives)			
(xiii)	provisions a relating to th interest on F which are E	ovisions, rounding and any other terms he method of calculating Floating Rate Notes empt Notes, if different set out in the Conditions:	[]			
17.	Zero Coupon	Note Provisions	[Appl	icable	e/Not Applicable]	
			•		licable, delete the remaining aphs of this paragraph)	
(i)	Accrual Yiel	d:	[] per	cent. per annum	
(ii)	Reference F	Price:	[]		
(iii)		er formula/basis of amount payable for Zero otes which are Exempt	[]		
(iv)	•	Fraction in relation to mption Amounts:	[30/360] [Actual/360] [Actual/365]			
PROVISIO	NS RELATIN	G TO REDEMPTION				
18.	•	s for Condition	Minimum period: [30] days			
	[5(b)]:		Maximum period: [60] days		period: [60] days	
19.	Issuer Call		[Applicable/Not Applicable]		e/Not Applicable]	
			(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)			
(i)	Optional Re	demption Date(s):	[]		
(ii)		edemption Amount and any, of calculation of such	[[Appe		Calculation Amount][specify other/see	
(iii)	If redeemab	le in part:				
	(a) Minim Amou	num Redemption unt:	[]		
	(b) Highe	er Redemption Amount:	[]		
(iv)	Notice perio	ds:	Minir	num p	period: [10] days	

		,
		(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of distribution of information through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems (which require a minimum of 5 clearing system business days' notice for a call) and custodians as well as any other notice requirements which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent or Trustee)
20.	Regulatory Capital Event Call:	[Applicable/Not Applicable ⁶]
21.	Investor Put	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
		(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of this paragraph)
(i)	Optional Redemption Date(s):	[]
(ii)	Optional Redemption Amount and	[[] per Calculation Amount/specify other/see

amount(s): Notice periods: (iii)

Minimum period: [15] days Maximum period: [30] days

Maximum period: [30] days

(N.B. When setting notice periods, the Issuer is advised to consider the practicalities of distribution of information through intermediaries, for example, clearing systems (which require a minimum of 15 clearing system business days' notice for a put)and custodians as well as any other notice requirements which may apply, for example, as between the Issuer and the Agent or Trustee)

22. Loss Absorption Disqualification Event Call:

[Applicable/Not Applicable⁷]

(i) Notice periods: Minimum period: [] days Maximum period: [1 days] per Calculation Amount

Loss Absorption Disqualification (ii) Redemption Amount(s):

Basis of exclusion on amendment or (iii) change in Loss Absorption Regulation:

[Fully excluded/Fully or partially excluded]

23. **Final Redemption Amount**

per Calculation Amount/specify other/See Appendix]

24. Early Redemption Amount(s) payable on redemption for taxation reasons or on event of default and/or the method of calculating the same (if required):

] per Calculation Amount/specify other/See Appendix]

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is 100 per cent. of the nominal value (i.e. par), the Early Redemption Amount is likely to be par (but consider). If, however, the Final Redemption Amount is other than 100 per cent. of the nominal value, consideration should be given as to what the Early Redemption Amount should be.)

⁶ Regulatory Capital Event will be specified as "Not Applicable" in the case of Senior Notes.

⁷ Loss Absorption Disqualification Event Call will be specified as "Not Applicable" in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes.

Substitution or Variation: [Applicable/Not Applicable⁸]
 Notice periods: Minimum period: [30] days
 Maximum period: [60] days

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

26. (i) Form of Notes: [Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for

Definitive Notes [on 60 days' notice given at any

time/only upon an Exchange Event].]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes on and after the Exchange Date.]

Notes shall not be physically delivered in Belgium, except to a clearing system, a depository or other institution for the purpose of their immobilisation in accordance with article 4 of the Belgian Law of 14

December, 2005.

(ii) New Global Note: [Yes] [No]

27. Additional Financial Centre(s): [Not Applicable/give details]

(Note that this paragraph relates to the date of payment and not the end dates of Interest Periods for the purposes of calculating the amount of interest, to which subparagraph 16(iii) relate)

28. Talons for future Coupons to be attached to Definitive Notes:

[Yes, as the Notes have more than 27 coupon payments, Talons may be required if, on exchange into definitive form, more than 27

coupon payments are still to be made/No]

29. Other terms or special conditions: [Not Applicable/give details]

RESPONSIBILITY

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Pricing Supplement. [[Relevant third party information] has been extracted from [specify source]. The Issuer confirms that such information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by [specify source], no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.]

Signed on behalf of Tesco Personal Finance Group PLC
3y:
Duly authorised

⁸ Substitution or Variation will be specified as "Not Applicable" in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes.

PART B— OTHER INFORMATION

1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING [Application [has been made/is expected to be Listing and Admission to trading: made] by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be listed on [specify market - note this must not be a regulated market with effect from [].] [Not Applicable] 2. **RATINGS** [The Notes to be issued [[have been]/[are Ratings: expected to be]] rated [insert details] by [insert the legal name of the relevant credit rating agency entity(ies)] (The above disclosure is only required if the ratings of the Notes are different to those stated in the Offering Circular) INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE 3. [Save for [any/the] fees [of [insert relevant fee disclosure]] payable to the [Managers/Dealers], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. The [Managers/Dealers] and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer and [ts affiliates in the ordinary course of business — Amend as appropriate if there are other interests] **OPERATIONAL INFORMATION** 4. (i) ISIN: ſ] (ii) Common Code: 1 CFI: (iii) [[See/[[], as updated, as set out on] the website of the Association of National Numbering Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the responsible National Numbering Agency that assigned the ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available] (iv) FISN:], as updated, as set out on] the website of the Association of National Numbering Agencies (ANNA) or alternatively sourced from the responsible National Numbering Agency that assigned the ISIN/Not Applicable/Not Available] (v) Any clearing system(s) other [Not Applicable/give name(s) and number(s)] than Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and the relevant identification number(s): (vi) Delivery: Delivery [against/free of] payment (vii) Names and addresses of 1 additional Paying Agent(s) (if any): (viii) Calculation Agent: [Not Applicable]/[Intended to be held in a [Yes. Note that the designation "yes" simply (ix)

means that the Notes are intended upon issue to

be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper and does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day

manner which would allow

Eurosystem eligibility:

credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.]

[No. Whilst the designation is specified as "no" at the date of these Final Terms, should the Eurosystem eligibility criteria be amended in the future such that the Notes are capable of meeting them the Notes may then be deposited with one of the ICSDs as common safekeeper. Note that this does not necessarily mean that the Notes will then be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra day credit operations by the Eurosystem at any time during their life. Such recognition will depend upon the ECB being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met.]

(x) Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute "packaged" products or the Notes do constitute "packaged products" and a key information document will be prepared, "Not Applicable" should be specified. If the Notes may constitute "packaged" products and no key information document will be prepared, "Applicable" should be specified.)

(xi) Prohibition of Sales to Belgian Consumers:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(N.B. advice should be taken from Belgian counsel before disapplying this selling restriction.)

5. DISTRIBUTION

(i) Method of distribution: [Syndicated/Non-syndicated]
 (ii) If syndicated, names of Managers: [Not Applicable/give names]

(iii) Stabilisation Manager(s) (if any):

[Not Applicable/give name]

(iv) If non-syndicated, name of relevant Dealer:

[Not Applicable/give name]

(v) U.S. selling restrictions: [R

[Reg. S Compliance Category 2; TEFRA D/ TEFRA not applicable]

(vi) Additional selling restrictions:

[Not Applicable/give details]

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes which will be incorporated by reference into each global Note and each definitive Note, in the latter case only if permitted by the relevant stock exchange or other relevant authority (if any) and agreed by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer at the time of issue but, if not so permitted and agreed, such definitive Note will have endorsed thereon or attached thereto such Terms and Conditions. The applicable Pricing Supplement in relation to any Tranche of Exempt Notes may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with the following Terms and Conditions, replace or modify the following Terms and Conditions for the purpose of such Notes. The applicable Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) will be endorsed upon, or attached to, each temporary global Note, permanent global Note and definitive Note. Reference should be made to "Form of Final Terms" above for the form of Final Terms which will include the meaning of certain terms used in the following Terms and Conditions or specify which of such terms are to apply in relation to the relevant Notes.

This Note is one of a Series (as defined below) of Notes issued by Tesco Personal Finance Group plc (the "Issuer") constituted by a Trust Deed (as modified and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Trust Deed") dated 11 July, 2019 made between the Issuer and Apex Corporate Trustees (UK) Limited (the "Trustee", which expression shall include any successor as trustee).

References herein to the "Notes" shall be references to the Notes of this Series and shall mean:

- (i) in relation to any Notes represented by a global Note, units of each Specified Denomination in the Specified Currency;
- (ii) definitive Notes issued in exchange for a global Note; and
- (iii) any global Note.

References herein to (i) "Senior Notes" means Notes with a status which is expressed to be "Senior" and (ii) "Dated Subordinated Notes" means Notes with a status which is expressed to be "Dated Subordinated", in each case in the applicable Final Terms (as defined below).

The Notes and the Coupons (as defined below) also have the benefit of an Agency Agreement (as modified and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Agency Agreement") dated 11 July, 2019 and made among the Issuer, HSBC Bank plc, as issuing and principal paying agent (the "Agent", which expression shall include any successor agent specified in the applicable Final Terms), the other paying agent named therein (together with the Agent, the "Paying Agents", which expression shall include any additional or successor paying agents) and the Trustee.

The final terms for this Note (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in Part A of the Final Terms attached to or endorsed on this Note and which supplement these Terms and Conditions (the "Conditions") or, if this Note is a Note which is neither admitted to trading on a regulated market in the European Economic Area nor offered in the European Economic Area in circumstances where a prospectus is required to be published under the Prospectus Directive (an "Exempt Note"), the final terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) are set out in Part A of the Pricing Supplement and may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with these Conditions, replace or modify these Conditions for the purposes of this Note. References to the "applicable Final Terms" are, unless otherwise stated, to Part A of the Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) attached to or endorsed on this Note. Any reference in the Conditions to "applicable Final Terms" shall be deemed to be a reference to "applicable Pricing Supplement" in the case of Exempt Notes.

The expression "Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended or superseded), and includes any relevant implementing measure in a relevant Member State of the European Economic Area.

Interest bearing definitive Notes have interest coupons ("Coupons") and, in the case of Notes which, when issued in definitive form, have more than 27 interest payments remaining, if indicated in the applicable Final Terms, talons for further Coupons ("Talons") attached on issue. Any reference herein to Coupons or coupons shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be deemed to include a reference to Talons or talons. Global Notes do not have Coupons or Talons attached on issue.

The Trustee acts for the benefit of the holders of the Notes (the "Noteholders", which expression shall, in relation to any Notes represented by a global Note, be construed as provided below) and the holders

of the Coupons (the "Couponholders", which expression shall, unless the context otherwise requires, include the holders of the Talons), all in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed.

As used herein, "Tranche" means Notes which are identical in all respects (including as to listing and admission to trading) and "Series" means a Tranche of Notes together with any further Tranche or Tranches of Notes which (i) are expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and (ii) have the same terms and conditions or terms and conditions which are the same in all respects save for the amount and date of the first payment of interest thereon and the date from which interest starts to accrue.

The statements in these Conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Trust Deed and the applicable Final Terms.

Copies of the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement are available for inspection during normal business hours at the principal office of the Trustee, being at 11 July, 2019 at 6th Floor, 65 Gresham Street, London EC2V 7NQ, and at the specified office of each of the Paying Agents. If the Notes are to be admitted to trading on the regulated market of the London Stock Exchange the applicable Final Terms will be published on the website of the London Stock Exchange through a regulatory information service. If this Note is an Exempt Note, the applicable Pricing Supplement will only be obtainable by a Noteholder holding one or more Notes and such Noteholder must produce evidence satisfactory to the Issuer or, as the case may be, the relevant Paying Agent as to its holding of such Notes and identity.

The Noteholders and the Couponholders are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions of the Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement and the applicable Final Terms which are binding on them.

Words and expressions defined in the Trust Deed or the Agency Agreement or used in the applicable Final Terms shall have the same meanings where used in these Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or unless otherwise stated and provided that, in the event of any inconsistency between the Agency Agreement and the Trust Deed, the Trust Deed will prevail and, in the event of any inconsistency between the Agency Agreement or the Trust Deed and the applicable Final Terms, the applicable Final Terms will prevail.

In these Conditions, "euro" means the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended.

1. Form, Denomination and Title

The Notes are in bearer form and, in the case of definitive Notes, serially numbered, in the currency (the "Specified Currency") and the denominations (the "Specified Denomination(s)") specified in the applicable Final Terms. Notes of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Notes of another Specified Denomination.

Unless this Note is an Exempt Note, this Note may be a Fixed Rate Note, a Fixed Rate Reset Note, a Floating Rate Note or a Zero Coupon Note, or a combination of any of the foregoing, depending upon the Interest Basis shown in the applicable Final Terms.

If this Note is an Exempt Note, this Note may be a Fixed Rate Note, a Fixed Rate Reset Note, a Floating Rate Note, a Zero Coupon Note or a combination of any of the foregoing, depending upon the Interest Basis shown in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Definitive Notes are issued with Coupons attached, unless they are Zero Coupon Notes in which case references to Coupons and Couponholders in these Conditions are not applicable.

Subject as set out below, title to the Notes and Coupons will pass by delivery. The Issuer, the Trustee, the Agent and any Paying Agent may deem and treat the bearer of any Note or Coupon as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) for all purposes but, in the case of any global Note, without prejudice to the provisions set out in the next succeeding paragraph.

For so long as any of the Notes is represented by a global Note held on behalf of Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") and/or Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") each person (other than Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear) who is for the time being shown in the records of Clearstream, Luxembourg or of Euroclear as the holder of a particular nominal amount of such Notes (in which regard any certificate or other document issued by Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear as to the nominal amount of such Notes standing to the account of any person shall be conclusive and binding

for all purposes save in the case of manifest error) shall be treated by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Agent and any other Paying Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes for all purposes other than with respect to the payment of principal or interest on such nominal amount of such Notes, for which purpose the bearer of the relevant global Note shall be treated by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Agent and any other Paying Agent as the holder of such nominal amount of such Notes in accordance with and subject to the terms of the relevant global Note and the expressions "Noteholder" and "holder of Notes" and related expressions shall be construed accordingly.

Notes which are represented by a global Note will be transferable only in accordance with the rules and procedures for the time being of Clearstream, Luxembourg or of Euroclear, as the case may be. In determining whether a particular person is entitled to a particular nominal amount of Notes as aforesaid, the Trustee may rely on such evidence and/or information and/or certification as it shall, in its absolute discretion, think fit and, if it does so rely, such evidence and/or information and/or certification shall, in the absence of manifest or proven error, be conclusive and binding on all concerned.

References to Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Euroclear shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a reference to any additional or alternative clearing system approved by the Issuer, the Trustee and the Agent.

2. Status of the Notes

(a) Status of the Senior Notes

The Senior Notes and the relative Coupons (if any) are direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* among themselves and (save for certain debts preferred by law) at least equally with all other unsecured obligations (other than subordinated obligations, if any) of the Issuer, from time to time outstanding.

(b) Status of the Dated Subordinated Notes

The Dated Subordinated Notes and the relative Coupons (if any) are direct, subordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank *pari passu* among themselves. In the event of the winding-up of the Issuer (other than an Approved Winding-up) or the appointment of an administrator of the Issuer where the administrator has given notice that it intends to declare and distribute a dividend, the payment obligations of the Issuer under or arising from the Dated Subordinated Notes and the Trust Deed, including any damages awarded for breach of any obligations in respect of the Dated Subordinated Notes, shall be subordinated in the manner provided in the Trust Deed to the claims of all Senior Creditors of the Issuer, but shall rank:

- (i) at least *pari passu* with all other subordinated obligations or preference shares of the Issuer which constitute (or which, upon issue, constituted or were intended to constitute), or would but for any applicable limitation on the amount of such capital constitute, Tier 2 Capital ("Pari Passu Securities"); and
- (ii) in priority to the claims of holders of: (A) all subordinated obligations of the Issuer the claims in respect of which rank, or are expressed to rank, junior to the Dated Subordinated Notes; (B) all obligations of the Issuer which constitute (or which, upon issue, constituted or were intended to constitute), or would but for any applicable limitation on the amount of such capital constitute, Tier 1 Capital; and (C) all classes of share capital of the Issuer other than preference shares which are Pari Passu Securities (together, the "Junior Securities").

(c) Set-off, etc. (Dated Subordinated Notes)

This Condition 2(c) is only applicable to Dated Subordinated Notes.

Subject to applicable law, no holder of the Dated Subordinated Notes and the relative Coupons (if any) may exercise, claim or plead any right of set-off, compensation or retention in respect of any amount owed to it by the Issuer arising under or in connection with the Dated Subordinated Notes and each holder of the Dated Subordinated Notes and the relative Coupons (if any) shall, by virtue of being the holder of any Dated Subordinated Note and the relative Coupons (if any), be deemed to have waived all such rights of set-off, compensation or retention. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, if any of the amounts owing to any holder of the Dated Subordinated Notes and the relative Coupons (if any) by the Issuer is discharged by set-off, such holder shall, unless such payment is prohibited by law, immediately pay an amount equal to the amount of such discharge to the Issuer or, in the event of its winding-up or administration, the liquidator or administrator, as appropriate of the Issuer for payment to the Senior Creditors in respect of amounts owing to them by the Issuer, and, until such time as payment is made, shall hold an amount equal to such amount in trust for the Issuer, or the liquidator or

administrator, as appropriate of the Issuer, for payment to the Senior Creditors in respect of amounts owing to them by the Issuer and accordingly any such discharge shall be deemed not to have taken place.

(d) Set-off, etc. (Senior Notes)

This Condition 2(d) is only applicable to Senior Notes.

If the applicable Final Terms specify that this Condition 2(d) is applicable, then, subject to applicable law, no holder of the Senior Notes and the relative Coupons (if any) may exercise, claim or plead any right of set-off, compensation or retention in respect of any amount owed to it by the Issuer arising under or in connection with the Senior Notes and each holder of the Senior Notes and the relative Coupons (if any) shall, by virtue of being the holder of any Senior Note and the relative Coupons (if any), be deemed to have waived all such rights of set-off, compensation or retention. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, if any of the amounts owing to any holder of the Senior Notes and the relative Coupons (if any) by the Issuer is discharged by set-off, such holder shall, unless such payment is prohibited by law, immediately pay an amount equal to the amount of such discharge to the Issuer or, in the event of its winding-up or administration, the liquidator or administrator, as appropriate of the Issuer, and, until such time as payment is made, shall hold an amount equal to such amount in trust for the Issuer, or the liquidator or administrator, as appropriate of the Issuer and accordingly any such discharge shall be deemed not to have taken place.

In these Conditions:

"Approved Winding-up" means a solvent winding-up of the Issuer solely for the purposes of a reconstruction or amalgamation or the substitution in place of the Issuer of a successor in business of the Issuer, the terms of which reconstruction, amalgamation or substitution (i) have previously been approved in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) and (ii) do not provide that the Dated Subordinated Notes or, where applicable, the Senior Notes, shall thereby become payable;

"Capital Rules" means at any time the regulations, requirements, guidelines and policies relating to capital resources requirements or capital adequacy then in effect and applicable to the Group (including, without limitation, any regulations, requirements, guidelines and policies of the Regulator as may from time to time be applicable to the Group);

"Group" means, as the context admits, the Issuer and each other entity which is part of the UK prudential consolidation group (as that term, or its successor, is used in the Capital Rules) or the UK resolution group (as that term, or its successor, is used in the Loss Absorption Regulations (as defined in Condition 5(e))) of which the Issuer is part from time to time;

"Regulator" means, as the context admits, the Prudential Regulation Authority of the United Kingdom, the Bank of England or such successor or other authority having primary responsibility with respect to prudential or resolution matters concerning the Issuer and/or the Group;

"Senior Creditors" means creditors of the Issuer (a) who are unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer; or (b) who are subordinated creditors of the Issuer (other than those whose claims constitute, or would but for any applicable limitation on the amount of any such capital constitute, Tier 1 Capital or Tier 2 Capital or whose claims rank, or are expressed to rank, *pari passu* with, or junior to, the claims of the holders of the Dated Subordinated Notes);

"Tier 1 Capital" has the meaning given to it in the Capital Rules;

"Tier 2 Capital" has the meaning given to it in the Capital Rules; and

the expression "obligations" includes any direct or indirect obligations of the Issuer and whether by way of guarantee, indemnity, other contractual support arrangement or otherwise and regardless of name or designation.

3. Interest

(a) Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

Each Fixed Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the rate(s) per annum equal to the Rate(s) of Interest payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) in each year and on the Maturity Date if that does not fall on an Interest Payment Date.

If the Notes are in definitive form, except as provided in the applicable Final Terms, the amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount specified in

the applicable Final Terms. Payments of interest on any Interest Payment Date in respect of the Fixed Interest Period ending on (but excluding) such date will, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, amount to the Broken Amount(s) so specified.

As used in these Conditions, "Fixed Interest Period" means the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date.

Except in the case of Notes in definitive form where an applicable Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount is specified in the applicable Final Terms, interest shall be calculated in respect of any period by applying the Rate of Interest to:

- (A) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Fixed Rate Notes represented by such Global Note; or
- (B) in the case of Fixed Rate Notes in definitive form, the Calculation Amount;

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Fixed Day Count Fraction.

The resultant figure (including after application of any Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount to the Calculation Amount in the case of Fixed Rate Notes in definitive form) shall be rounded to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention. Where the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Note in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Fixed Rate Note shall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination, without any further rounding.

In these Conditions:

"Fixed Day Count Fraction" means:

- (i) if "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms:
 - (a) in the case of Notes where the number of days in the relevant period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (the "Accrual Period") is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the number of days in such Accrual Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) that would occur in one calendar year; or
 - (b) in the case of Notes where the Accrual Period is longer than the Determination Period during which the Accrual Period ends, the sum of:
 - (1) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the Determination Period in which the Accrual Period begins divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) that would occur in one calendar year; and
 - (2) the number of days in such Accrual Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Dates that would occur in one calendar year; and
- (ii) if "30/360" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the period from (and including) the most recent Interest Payment Date (or, if none, the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the relevant payment date (such number of days being calculated on the basis of 12 30-day months) divided by 360;

"Determination Period" means the period from (and including) a Determination Date to (but excluding) the next Determination Date (including, where either the Interest Commencement Date or the final Interest Payment Date is not a Determination Date, the period commencing on the first Determination Date prior to, and ending on the first Determination Date falling after, such date); and

"sub-unit" means, with respect to any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, with respect to euro, means one cent.

(b) Interest on Fixed Rate Reset Notes

- (i) Each Fixed Rate Reset Note bears interest:
 - (a) from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date to (but excluding) the First Reset Date at the rate per annum equal to the Initial Rate of Interest;
 - (b) from (and including) the First Reset Date to (but excluding) the Second Reset Date or, if no such Second Reset Date is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Maturity Date, at the rate per annum equal to the First Reset Rate of Interest; and
 - (c) for each Subsequent Reset Period thereafter (if any), at the rate per annum equal to the relevant Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest,

in each case, payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Date(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms.

If the Notes are in definitive form, except as provided in the applicable Final Terms, the amount of interest payable on each Interest Payment Date ending on or before the First Reset Date will amount to the Fixed Coupon Amount specified in the applicable Final Terms. Payments of interest on any Interest Payment Date in respect of the Fixed Interest Period ending on (but excluding) such date will, if so specified in the applicable Final Terms, amount to the Broken Amount(s) so specified.

Except in the case of Notes in definitive form where an applicable Fixed Coupon Amount or Broken Amount is specified in the applicable Final Terms, interest shall be calculated in respect of any period by applying the applicable Rate of Interest to:

- (A) in the case of Fixed Rate Reset Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Fixed Rate Reset Notes represented by such Global Note; or
- (B) in the case of Fixed Rate Reset Notes in definitive form, the Calculation Amount;

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Fixed Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention. Where the Specified Denomination of a Fixed Rate Reset Note in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Fixed Rate Reset Note shall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination, without any further rounding.

If Mid-Swap Rate is specified as the Reset Rate in the applicable Final Terms and on (ii) any Reset Determination Date the Relevant Screen Page is not available or the Mid-Swap Rate does not appear on the Relevant Screen Page (other than in the circumstances described in Condition 3(d)), the Calculation Agent shall request each of the Reference Banks (as defined below) to provide the Calculation Agent with its Mid-Market Swap Rate Quotation as at approximately 11.00 a.m. in the principal financial centre of the Relevant Currency on the Reset Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Calculation Agent with Mid-Market Swap Rate Quotations, the First Reset Rate of Interest or the Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest (as applicable) for the relevant Reset Period shall be the sum of the arithmetic mean (rounded, if necessary, to the nearest 0.001 per cent. (0.0005 per cent. being rounded upwards)) of the relevant Mid-Market Swap Rate Quotations and the First Margin or Subsequent Margin (as applicable) (with such sum converted (if necessary) from a basis equivalent to the Benchmark Frequency to a basis equivalent to the frequency with which scheduled interest payments are payable on the relevant Notes during the First Reset Period or the relevant Subsequent Reset Period, as applicable), all as determined by the Calculation Agent. If on any Reset Determination Date only one or none of the Reference Banks provides the Calculation Agent with a Mid-Market Swap Rate Quotation as provided in the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the First Reset Rate of Interest or the Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest (as applicable) shall be determined to be the Rate of Interest as at the last preceding Reset Date or, in the case of the first

Reset Determination Date, the First Reset Rate of Interest shall be the Initial Rate of Interest (though substituting, where the Subsequent Margin to be applied to the relevant Reset Period differs from the First Margin or the Subsequent Margin, as applicable, which applied to the last preceding Reset Period, the Subsequent Margin relating to the relevant Reset Period in place of the First Margin or the Subsequent Margin, as the case may be, relating to that preceding Reset Period).

- (iv) The Agent or, where specified in these Conditions or the applicable Final Terms, the Calculation Agent will at, or as soon as practicable after the Determination Time on each Reset Determination Date, determine the applicable Rate of Interest for the relevant Reset Period. The Calculation Agent will notify the Agent of the Rate of Interest for the relevant Reset Period as soon as practicable after calculating the same.
- (v) The Agent will cause the Rate of Interest for each Reset Period to be notified to the Issuer and, if required by applicable law or regulation, any stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the relevant Notes are for the time being listed or by which they have been admitted to listing and, if applicable, notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 12 as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than the fourth London Business Day thereafter. For the purposes of this paragraph, the expression "London Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in London.
- (vi) All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this Condition 3(b), whether by the Agent or the Calculation Agent or the Trustee or its agent, shall (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee, the Agent and the Calculation Agent, the other Paying Agents and all Noteholders and Couponholders and (in the absence of wilful default, gross negligence or fraud) no liability to the Issuer, the Noteholders or the Couponholders shall attach to the Agent or the Calculation Agent or the Trustee or its agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of any of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions.
- (vii) For the purposes of this Condition 3(b):

"Benchmark Frequency" has the meaning specified in the applicable Final Terms;

"Benchmark Gilt" means, in respect of a Reset Period, such United Kingdom government security having a maturity date on or about the last day of such Reset Period as the Calculation Agent, with the advice of the Reference Banks, may determine to be appropriate;

"Benchmark Gilt Rate" means, in respect of a Reset Period, the gross redemption yield (as calculated by the Calculation Agent in accordance with generally accepted market practice at such time) on a semi-annual compounding basis (rounded up (if necessary) to four decimal places) of the Benchmark Gilt in respect of that Reset Period, with the price of the Benchmark Gilt for this purpose being the arithmetic average (rounded up (if necessary) to the nearest 0.001 per cent. (0.0005 per cent. being rounded upwards)) of the bid and offered prices of such Benchmark Gilt quoted by the Reference Banks at 3.00 p.m. (London time) on the relevant Reset Determination Date on a dealing basis for settlement on the next following dealing day in London. If at least four quotations are provided, the Benchmark Gilt Rate will be the rounded arithmetic mean of the quotations provided, eliminating the highest quotation (or, in the event of equality, one of the highest) and the lowest quotation (or, in the event of equality, one of the lowest). If only two or three quotations are provided, the Benchmark Gilt Rate will be the rounded arithmetic mean of the quotations provided. If only one quotation is provided, the Benchmark Gilt Rate will be the rounded quotation provided. If no quotations are provided, the Benchmark Gilt Rate will be determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion following consultation with the Issuer;

"Calculation Agent" shall have the meaning specified in the applicable Final Terms;

"dealing day" means a day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, on which the London Stock Exchange (or such other stock exchange on which the Benchmark Gilt is at the relevant time listed) is ordinarily open for the trading of securities;

"Determination Agent" means an investment bank or financial institution of international standing selected by the relevant Issuer;

"First Margin" means the margin specified in the applicable Final Terms;

"First Reset Date" means the date specified in the applicable Final Terms, as adjusted (if a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms) in accordance with Condition 3(c)(ii) as if the First Reset Date was an Interest Payment Date;

"First Reset Period" means the period from (and including) the First Reset Date until (but excluding) the Second Reset Date or, if no such Second Reset Date is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Maturity Date;

"First Reset Rate of Interest" means, in respect of the First Reset Period and subject to Conditions 3(b)(ii) and 3(d), the rate of interest determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Reset Determination Date as the sum of the relevant Reset Rate and the First Margin (with such sum converted (if necessary) from a basis equivalent to the Benchmark Frequency to a basis equivalent to the frequency with which scheduled interest payments are payable on the relevant Notes during the First Reset Period (such calculation to be made by the Calculation Agent));

"Initial Rate of Interest" has the meaning specified in the applicable Final Terms;

"Mid-Market Swap Rate" means for any Reset Period the mean of the bid and offered rates for the fixed leg payable with a frequency equivalent to the Benchmark Frequency specified in the applicable Final Terms during the relevant Reset Period (calculated on the day count basis customary for fixed rate payments in the Relevant Currency as determined by the Calculation Agent) of a fixed-for-floating interest rate swap transaction in the Relevant Currency which transaction (i) has a term equal to the relevant Reset Period and commencing on the relevant Reset Date, (ii) is in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in the relevant market at the relevant time with an acknowledged dealer of good credit in the swap market and (iii) has a floating leg based on the Mid-Swap Floating Leg Benchmark Rate for the Mid-Swap Maturity (calculated on the day count basis customary for floating rate payments in the Relevant Currency as determined by the Calculation Agent);

"Mid-Market Swap Rate Quotation" means a quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the relevant Mid-Market Swap Rate;

"Mid-Swap Floating Leg Benchmark Rate" means EURIBOR if the Relevant Currency is euro or LIBOR for the Relevant Currency if the Relevant Currency is not euro;

"Mid-Swap Maturity" has the meaning specified in the applicable Final Terms;

"Mid-Swap Rate" means, in relation to a Reset Determination Date and subject to Conditions 3(b)(ii) and 3(d), either:

- (i) if Single Mid-Swap Rate is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the rate for swaps in the Relevant Currency:
 - (A) with a term equal to the relevant Reset Period; and
 - (B) commencing on the relevant Reset Date,

which appears on the Relevant Screen Page; or

- (ii) if Mean Mid-Swap Rate is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the arithmetic mean (expressed as a percentage rate per annum and rounded, if necessary, to the nearest 0.001 per cent. (0.0005 per cent. being rounded upwards)) of the bid and offered swap rate quotations for swaps in the Relevant Currency:
 - (A) with a term equal to the relevant Reset Period; and
 - (B) commencing on the relevant Reset Date,

which appear on the Relevant Screen Page,

in either case, as at approximately 11.00 a.m. in the principal financial centre of the Relevant Currency on such Reset Determination Date, all as determined by the Calculation Agent;

"Rate of Interest" means the Initial Rate of Interest, the First Reset Rate of Interest or the Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest, as applicable;

"Reference Banks" means:

- (i) for the purposes of Condition 3(b)(ii), five leading swap dealers in the principal interbank market relating to the Relevant Currency selected by the Calculation Agent in its discretion after consultation with the Issuer; or
- (ii) in the case of a Benchmark Gilt Rate, five brokers of gilts and/or gilt-edged market makers selected by the Calculation Agent in its discretion after consultation with the Issuer:

"Reference Bond" for any Reset Period a government security or securities issued by the government of the state responsible for issuing the Relevant Currency (which, if the Relevant Currency is euro, shall be Germany) agreed between the Issuer and the Calculation Agent as having the nearest actual or interpolated maturity comparable with the relevant Reset Period and that (in the opinion of the Issuer, after consultation with the Calculation Agent) would be utilised, at the time of selection and in accordance with customary financial practice, in pricing new issuances of corporate debt securities denominated in the Relevant Currency and of a comparable maturity to the relevant Reset Period:

"Reference Bond Dealer" means each of five banks selected by the Issuer (following, where practicable, consultation with the Determination Agent, if applicable), or their affiliates, which are (i) primary government securities dealers, and their respective successors, or (ii) market makers in pricing corporate bond issues;

"Reference Bond Dealer Quotations" means, with respect to each Reference Bond Dealer and the Reset Determination Date, the arithmetic mean, as determined by the Calculation Agent, of the bid and offered prices for the Reference Bond (expressed in each case as a percentage of its nominal amount) as at approximately 11.00 a.m. in the principal financial centre of the Relevant Currency on the Reset Determination Date and quoted in writing to the Calculation Agent by such Reference Bond Dealer;

"Reference Bond Price" means, with respect to a Reset Determination Date, (a) the arithmetic mean of the Reference Bond Dealer Quotations for that Reset Determination Date, after excluding the highest and lowest such Reference Bond Dealer Quotations, or (b) if the Calculation Agent obtains fewer than five (but more than one) such Reference Bond Dealer Quotations, the arithmetic mean of all such quotations or (c) if the Calculation Agent obtains only one Reference Bond Dealer Quotation or if the Calculation Agent obtains no Reference Bond Dealer Quotations, the First Reset Rate of Interest or Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest, as applicable, shall be determined by the Calculation Agent in its sole discretion following consultation with the Issuer;

"Reference Bond Rate" means, in respect of a Reset Period, the annual yield to maturity or interpolated yield to maturity (on the relevant day count basis) of the Reference Bond, assuming a price for such Reference Bond (expressed as a percentage of its nominal amount) equal to the Reference Bond Price;

"Relevant Currency" means the currency specified in the applicable Final Terms or, if none is specified, the currency in which the Notes are denominated;

"Relevant Screen Page" has the meaning specified in the applicable Final Terms;

"Reset Date" means the First Reset Date, the Second Reset Date (if any) and each Subsequent Reset Date (if any), as applicable:

"Reset Determination Date" means, unless otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms, in respect of the First Reset Period, the second Business Day prior to the First Reset Date, in respect of the first Subsequent Reset Period, the second Business Day prior to the Second Reset Date and, in respect of each Subsequent Reset Period thereafter, the second Business Day prior to the first day of each such Subsequent Reset Period:

"Reset Period" means the First Reset Period or a Subsequent Reset Period, as the case may be;

"Reset Rate" means:

- (i) if Mid-Swap Rate is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Mid-Swap Rate;
- (ii) if Benchmark Gilt Rate is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Benchmark Gilt Rate; or
- (iii) if Reference Bond Rate is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the relevant Reference Bond Rate:

"Second Reset Date" means the date specified in the applicable Final Terms, as adjusted (if a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms) in accordance with Condition 3(c)(ii) as if the Second Reset Date was an Interest Payment Date;

"Subsequent Margin" means the margin specified in the applicable Final Terms;

"Subsequent Reset Date" means the date or dates specified in the applicable Final Terms, as adjusted (if a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms) in accordance with Condition 3(c)(ii) as if the relevant Subsequent Reset Date was an Interest Payment Date;

"Subsequent Reset Period" means the period from (and including) the Second Reset Date to (but excluding) the next Subsequent Reset Date (or, if no such Subsequent Reset Date is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Maturity Date), and each successive period (if any) from (and including) a Subsequent Reset Date to (but excluding) the next succeeding Subsequent Reset Date (or, if no such Subsequent Reset Date is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Maturity Date); and

"Subsequent Reset Rate of Interest" means, in respect of any Subsequent Reset Period and subject to Conditions 3(b)(ii) and 3(d), the rate of interest determined by the Calculation Agent on the relevant Reset Determination Date as the sum of the relevant Reset Rate and the relevant Subsequent Margin (with such sum converted (if necessary) from a basis equivalent to the Benchmark Frequency to a basis equivalent to the frequency with which scheduled interest payments are payable on the relevant Notes during the relevant Subsequent Reset Period (such calculation to be made by the Calculation Agent)).

(c) Interest on Floating Rate Notes

(i) Interest Payment Dates

Each Floating Rate Note bears interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date and such interest will be payable in arrear on either:

- (A) the Specified Interest Payment Date(s) in each year specified in the applicable Final Terms: or
- (B) if no Specified Interest Payment Date(s) is/are specified in the applicable Final Terms, each date (each such date, together with each Specified Interest Payment Date, an "Interest Payment Date") which falls the number of months or other period specified as the Specified Period in the applicable Final Terms after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date.

Such interest will be payable in respect of each Interest Period. In these Conditions "Interest Period" means the period from (and including) an Interest Payment Date (or the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the next (or first) Interest Payment Date or the relevant payment date if the Notes become payable on a date other than an Interest Payment Date.

(ii) Business Day Convention

If a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Final Terms and (x) if there is no numerically corresponding day on the calendar month in which an Interest Payment Date should occur or (y) if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then, if the Business Day Convention specified is:

(1) in any case where Specified Periods are specified in accordance with Condition 3(c)(i)(B) above, the Floating Rate Convention, such Interest Payment Date (i) in the case of (x)

above, shall be the last day that is a Business Day in the relevant month and the provisions of (B) below shall apply *mutatis mutandis* or (ii) in the case of (y) above, shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event (A) such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day and (B) each subsequent Interest Payment Date shall be the last Business Day in the month which falls the Specified Period after the preceding Interest Payment Date occurred; or

- (2) the Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day; or
- (3) the Modified Following Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be postponed to the next day which is a Business Day unless it would thereby fall into the next calendar month, in which event such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day; or
- (4) the Preceding Business Day Convention, such Interest Payment Date shall be brought forward to the immediately preceding Business Day.

In these Conditions, "Business Day" means:

- (B) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London and each Additional Business Centre (other than TARGET2 System) specified in the applicable Final Terms;
- (C) if TARGET2 System is specified as an Additional Business Centre in the applicable Final Terms, a day on which the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET2 System) (the "TARGET2 System") is open; and
- (D) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified Currency (which, if the Specified Currency is New Zealand dollars or Australian dollars, shall be Auckland and Sydney, respectively) or (2) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day on which the TARGET2 System is open.
- (iii) Rate of Interest

The Rate of Interest payable from time to time in respect of Floating Rate Notes will be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Final Terms.

(A) ISDA Determination for Floating Rate Notes

Where ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be the relevant ISDA Rate plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any). For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), "ISDA Rate" for an Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate that would be determined by the Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Agent were acting as Calculation Agent for that swap transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes and as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (the "ISDA Definitions") and under which: (1) the Floating Rate Option is as specified in the applicable Final Terms; (2) the Designated Maturity is a period specified in the applicable Final Terms; and (3) the relevant Reset Date is the day specified in the applicable Final Terms.

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (A), "Floating Rate", "Calculation Agent", "Floating Rate Option", "Designated Maturity" and "Reset Date" have the meanings given to those terms in the ISDA Definitions.

- (B) Screen Rate Determination for Floating Rate Notes
- (1) Where Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Final Terms as the manner in which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below and subject to Condition 3(d), be either:

- (I) the offered quotation; or
- (II) the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards) of the offered quotations,

(expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for the Reference Rate (being either LIBOR or EURIBOR, as specified in the applicable Final Terms) which appears or appear, as the case may be, on the Relevant Screen Page (or such replacement page on that service which displays the information) as at 11.00 a.m. (London time, in the case of LIBOR, or Brussels time, in the case of EURIBOR) on the Interest Determination Date in question plus or minus (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Agent. If five or more of such offered quotations are available on the Relevant Screen Page, the highest (or, if there is more than one such highest quotation, one only of such quotations) and the lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, one only of such quotations) shall be disregarded by the Agent for the purpose of determining the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of such offered quotations.

- If, other than in the circumstances described in Condition 3(d), the Relevant Screen Page is not available or the quotation or quotations are unavailable the Agent shall request the principal London office (in the case of LIBOR), or the principal Euro-zone office (in the case of EURIBOR), of each of the Reference Banks (as defined below) to provide the Agent with its offered quotation (expressed as a percentage rate per annum) for deposits in the Specified Currency for the relevant Interest Period at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time in the case of LIBOR, or Brussels time, in the case of EURIBOR) on the Interest Determination Date in question. If two or more of the Reference Banks provide the Agent with such offered quotations, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fourth decimal place with 0.00005 being rounded upwards) of such offered quotations plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any), all as determined by the Agent.
- (3)If on any Interest Determination Date one only or none of the Reference Banks provides the Agent with such offered quotations as provided in the preceding paragraph, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period shall be the rate per annum which the Agent determines as being the arithmetic mean (rounded if necessary to the fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 being rounded upwards) of the rates, as communicated to (and at the request of) the Agent by the Reference Banks or any two or more of them, at which such banks were offered, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time in the case of LIBOR, or Brussels time, in the case of EURIBOR) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, deposits in the Specified Currency for the relevant Interest Period by leading banks in the London interbank market (if the Reference Rate is LIBOR), or the Euro-zone interbank market (if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR), plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any) or, if fewer than two of the Reference Banks provide the Agent with such offered rates, the offered rate for deposits in the Specified Currency for the relevant Interest Period, or the arithmetic mean (rounded as provided above) of the offered rates for deposits in the Specified Currency for the relevant Interest Period, at which, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (London time in the case of LIBOR, or Brussels time, in the case of EURIBOR) on the relevant Interest Determination Date, any one or more banks (which bank or banks is or are in the opinion of the Relevant Issuer suitable for such purpose) informs the Agent it is quoting to leading banks in the London interbank market (if the Reference Rate is LIBOR), or the Euro-zone inter-bank market (if the Reference Rate is EURIBOR) plus or minus (as appropriate) the Margin (if any), provided that, if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this paragraph, the Rate of Interest shall be that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period).

(4) The expression "Reference Banks" means, in the case of paragraph (2) above, those banks whose offered rates were used to determine such quotation when such quotation last appeared on the Relevant Screen Page and, in the case of paragraph (3) above, those banks whose offered quotations last appeared on the Relevant Screen Page when no fewer than three such offered quotations appeared.

(iv) Minimum and/or Maximum Interest Rate

If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Minimum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period determined in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (iii) above is less than such Minimum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be such Minimum Rate of Interest. If the applicable Final Terms specifies a Maximum Rate of Interest for any Interest Period, then, in the event that the Rate of Interest in respect of such Interest Period determined in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (iii) above is greater than such Maximum Rate of Interest, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be such Maximum Rate of Interest.

(v) Determination of Rate of Interest and calculation of Interest Amounts

The Agent will at or as soon as practicable after each time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined, determine the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period.

The Agent will calculate the amount of interest (the "Interest Amount") payable on the Floating Rate Notes for the relevant Interest Period by applying the Rate of Interest to:

- (A) in the case of Floating Rate Notes which are represented by a Global Note, the aggregate outstanding nominal amount of the Notes represented by such Global Note; or
- (B) in the case of Floating Rate Notes in definitive form, the Calculation Amount;

and, in each case, multiplying such sum by the applicable Floating Day Count Fraction, and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the relevant Specified Currency, half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards or otherwise in accordance with applicable market convention. Where the Specified Denomination of a Floating Rate Note in definitive form is a multiple of the Calculation Amount, the Interest Amount payable in respect of such Note shall be the product of the amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination, without any further rounding.

"Floating Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount of interest for any Interest Period in accordance with this Condition 3(c):

- (ii) if "Actual/Actual" or "Actual/Actual (ISDA)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of that Interest Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Interest Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
- (iii) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 365;
- (iv) if "Actual/360" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the actual number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360;
- (v) if "30/360", "360/360" or "Bond Basis" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_27 Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_27 M_1)] + (D_27 D_1)}{360}$$

where:

- "Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;
- "Y₂" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;
- "M₁" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls:
- "M₂" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;
- " D_1 " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number is 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and
- " D_2 " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31 and D_1 is greater than 29, in which case D_2 will be 30:
- (vi) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_27 Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_27 M_1)] + (D_27 D_1)}{360}$$

where:

- "Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;
- "Y₂" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls:
- "M₁" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;
- "M₂" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;
- " D_1 " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and
- " D_2 " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D_2 will be 30;
- (vii) if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the number of days in the Interest Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction =
$$\frac{[360 \times (Y_2 7 Y_1)] + [30 \times (M_2 7 M_1)] + (D_2 7 D_1)}{360}$$

where:

- "Y₁" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls;
- "Y2" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;
- "M₁" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Interest Period falls:
- "M₂" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day of the Interest Period falls;
- " D_1 " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Interest Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D_1 will be 30; and

"D₂" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Interest Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D₂ will be 30.

(vi) Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts

The Agent will cause the Rate of Interest and each Interest Amount for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer and any stock exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being listed and notice thereof to be published in accordance with Condition 12 as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than the fourth London Business Day thereafter. Each Interest Amount and Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. Any such amendment will promptly be notified to each stock exchange on which the relevant Floating Rate Notes are for the time being listed and to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12. For the purposes of this paragraph, the expression "London Business Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general business in London.

(vii) Linear Interpolation

Where Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period in the applicable Final Terms, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be calculated by the Agent by straight line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based on the relevant Reference Rate (where Screen Rate Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms) or the relevant Floating Rate Option (where ISDA Determination is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms), one of which shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Period and the other of which rates are available next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period provided however that if there is no rate available for the period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer, then the Agent shall determine such rate at such time and by reference to such sources as it determines appropriate.

"Designated Maturity" means, in relation to Screen Rate Determination, the period of time designated in the Reference Rate.

(viii) Certificates to be Final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions of this Condition 3(c), by the Agent or the Trustee shall (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Agent, the Trustee, the other Paying Agents and all Noteholders and Couponholders and (in the absence of wilful default, gross negligence or fraud) no liability to the Issuer, the Noteholders or the Couponholders shall attach to the Agent or the Trustee in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions.

(d) Benchmark Discontinuation

Notwithstanding the provisions above in Conditions 3(b) or 3(c), if a Benchmark Event occurs in relation to an Original Reference Rate when any required Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) remains to be determined by reference to such Original Reference Rate, then the following provisions of this Condition 3(d) shall apply.

(i) Independent Adviser

The Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint and consult with an Independent Adviser, as soon as reasonably practicable, with a view to the Issuer determining a Successor Rate, failing which an Alternative Rate (in accordance with Condition 3(d)(ii)) and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread (in accordance with Condition 3(d)(iii)) and any Benchmark Amendments (in accordance with Condition 3(d)(iv)).

An Independent Adviser appointed pursuant to this Condition 3(d) shall act in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner and (in the absence of bad faith or fraud) shall have no liability whatsoever to the Trustee, the Agent, the Calculation Agent, the other Paying

Agents or the Noteholders for any determination made by it or for any advice given to the Issuer in connection with any determination made by the Issuer, pursuant to this Condition 3(d).

(ii) Successor Rate or Alternative Rate

If the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, determines that:

- (A) there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate (as adjusted by the applicable Adjustment Spread as provided in Condition 3(d)(iii)) shall subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the relevant Rate(s) of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for all relevant future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the further operation of this Condition 3(d)); or
- (B) there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative Rate (as adjusted by the applicable Adjustment Spread as provided in Condition 3(d)(iii)) shall subsequently be used in place of the Original Reference Rate to determine the relevant Rate(s) of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for all relevant future payments of interest on the Notes (subject to the further operation of this Condition 3(d)).

(iii) Adjustment Spread

If a Successor Rate or Alternative Rate is determined in accordance with Condition 3(d)(ii), the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and a commercially reasonable manner, shall determine an Adjustment Spread (which may be expressed as a specified quantum or a formula or methodology for determining the applicable Adjustment Spread (and, for the avoidance of doubt, an Adjustment Spread may be positive, negative or zero)), which Adjustment Spread shall be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) for each subsequent determination of a relevant Rate of Interest (or a component part thereof) by reference to such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable).

(iv) Benchmark Amendments

If any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread is determined in accordance with this Condition 3(d) and the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, determines (A) that amendments to these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and/or (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread (such amendments, the "Benchmark Amendments") and (B) the terms of the Benchmark Amendments, then the Issuer shall, subject to giving notice thereof in accordance with Condition 3(d)(v), without any requirement for the consent or approval of Noteholders or Couponholders, vary these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed to give effect to such Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date specified in such notice.

At the request of the Issuer, but subject to receipt by the Trustee of a certificate signed by two directors of the Issuer pursuant to Condition 3(d)(v), the Trustee shall (at the expense of the Issuer), without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders or Couponholders, be obliged to concur with the Issuer in effecting any Benchmark Amendments (including, *inter alia*, by the execution of a deed supplemental to or amending the Trust Deed) and the Trustee shall not be liable to any party for any consequences thereof, provided that the Trustee shall not be obliged so to concur if in the sole opinion of the Trustee doing so would impose more onerous obligations upon it or expose it to any additional duties, responsibilities or liabilities or reduce or amend rights and/or the protective provisions afforded to the Trustee in these Conditions or the Trust Deed (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any supplemental trust deed) in any way.

In connection with any such variation in accordance with this Condition 3(d)(iv), the Issuer shall comply with the rules of any stock exchange on which the Notes are for the time being listed or admitted to trading.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Condition 3(d), no Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or Adjustment Spread will be adopted, nor will any other amendment to these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed be made to effect the Benchmark Amendments, if and to the extent that, in the

determination of the Issuer, the same could reasonably be expected to prejudice the qualification of the Notes as (A) in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes, Tier 2 Capital (as defined in Condition 2(d)) and/or (B) in any case, eligible liabilities or loss absorbing capacity instruments for the purposes of the Loss Absorption Regulations (as defined in Condition 5(e)).

(v) Notices, etc.

Any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any Benchmark Amendments determined under this Condition 3(d) will be notified promptly by the Issuer to the Trustee, the Calculation Agent, the Agent, the other Paying Agents and, in accordance with Condition 12, the Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of the Benchmark Amendments, if any.

No later than notifying the Trustee of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two directors of the Issuer:

- (A) confirming (x) that a Benchmark Event has occurred, (y) the Successor Rate or, as the case may be, the Alternative Rate and (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread and (z) the specific terms of any Benchmark Amendments, in each case as determined in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 3(d);
- (B) certifying that the Benchmark Amendments are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and/or (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread; and
- (C) certifying that (i) the Issuer has duly consulted with an Independent Adviser with respect to each of the matters above or, if that is not the case, (ii) explaining, in reasonable detail, why the Issuer has not done so.

The Trustee shall be entitled to rely on such certificate (without further enquiry and liability to any person) as sufficient evidence thereof. The Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread and the Benchmark Amendments (if any) specified in such certificate will (in the absence of manifest error in the determination of the Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and the Adjustment Spread and the Benchmark Amendments (if any) and without prejudice to the Trustee's ability to rely on such certificate as aforesaid) be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee, the Calculation Agent, the Agent, the other Paying Agents, the Noteholders and the Couponholders as of their effective date.

(vi) Survival of Original Reference Rate

Without prejudice to the obligations of the Issuer under Condition 3(d)(i) to (iv), the Original Reference Rate and the fallback provisions provided for in Condition 3(b), Condition 3(c)(iii)(A) or Condition 3(c)(iii)(B)(3) as applicable will continue to apply unless and until the Calculation Agent has been notified of the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be), and (in either case) the applicable Adjustment Spread and any Benchmark Amendments, in accordance with Condition 3(d)(iv).

(vii) Fallbacks

If, following the occurrence of a Benchmark Event and in relation to the determination of an applicable Rate of Interest on the relevant Interest Determination Date or an applicable Reset Rate on the relevant Reset Determination Date, as the case may be, no Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as applicable) or (in either case) applicable Adjustment Spread is determined and notified to the Calculation Agent, in each case pursuant to this Condition 3(d), prior to such Interest Determination Date or Reset Determination Date (as applicable), the Original Reference Rate will continue to apply for the purposes of determining such Rate of Interest on such Interest Determination Date or such Reset Rate on the relevant Reset Determination Date (as applicable), with the effect that the fallback provisions provided for in Condition 3(b), Condition 3(c)(iii)(A) or Condition 3(c)(iii)(B) will (if applicable) continue to apply to such determination.

For the avoidance of doubt, this Condition 3(d)(vii) shall apply to the determination of the Rate of Interest on the relevant Interest Determination Date or of the Reset Rate on the relevant Determination Date (as applicable) only, and the Rate of Interest applicable to any subsequent Interest Period(s) or Reset Period(s) is subject to the subsequent operation of, and to adjustment as provided in, this Condition 3(d).

(viii) Definitions

In this Condition 3(d), unless the context otherwise requires, the following defined terms shall have the meanings set out below:

"Adjustment Spread" means either (x) a spread (which may be positive, negative or zero), or (y) the formula or methodology for calculating a spread, in either case, which is to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and is the spread, formula or methodology which:

- (i) in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended in relation to the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or
- (ii) in the case of an Alternative Rate or (where (i) above does not apply) in the case of a Successor Rate, is in customary market usage in the international debt capital market for transactions which reference the Original Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be); or
- (iii) if neither (i) nor (ii) above applies, the Issuer determines, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, is recognised or acknowledged as being the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions which reference the Original Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be); or
- (iv) if none of (i), (ii) or (iii) above applies, the Issuer, in its discretion, following consultation with the Independent Adviser and acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner, determines to be appropriate to reduce or eliminate, to the fullest extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as the case may be) to Noteholders and Couponholders as a result of the replacement of the Original Reference Rate with the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be).

"Alternative Rate" means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser, determines in accordance with Condition 3(d)(ii) has replaced the Original Reference Rate in customary market usage in the international debt capital markets for the purposes of determining rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for debt securities in the same Specified Currency as the Notes and (i) in the case of Notes which are Floating Rate Notes, with an interest period of comparable duration to the relevant Interest Period or (ii) in the case of Notes which are Fixed Reset Notes, with a tenor or interest period of comparable duration to the relevant Mid-Swap Maturity, or if the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser, determines that there is no such rate, such other rate as the Issuer, following consultation with the Independent Adviser, determines in its discretion is most comparable to the Original Reference Rate;

"Benchmark Amendments" has the meaning given to it in Condition 3(d)(iv);

"Benchmark Event" means, with respect to an Original Reference Rate:

- (i) the Original Reference Rate ceasing to be published for at least five Business Days or ceasing to exist or be administered; or
- (ii) the later of (a) the making of a public statement by the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that it will, by a specified date, cease publishing the Original Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely (in circumstances where no successor administrator has been appointed that will continue publication of the Original Reference Rate) and (b) the date falling six months prior to the specified date referred to in (ii)(a); or
- (iii) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that the Original Reference Rate has been permanently or indefinitely discontinued; or
- (iv) the later of (a) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that the Original Reference Rate will, by a specified date, be permanently or indefinitely discontinued and (b) the date falling six months prior to the specified date referred to in (iv)(a); or

- (v) the later of (a) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the Original Reference Rate that means the Original Reference Rate will be prohibited from being used or that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse consequences, in each case on or before a specified date, and (b) the date falling six months prior to the specified date referred to in (v)(a); or
- (vi) it has or will prior to the next Interest Determination Date or Reset Determination Date, as applicable, become unlawful for the Agent, any other Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent or the Issuer to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder or Couponholder using the Original Reference Rate (including, without limitation, under the Benchmark Regulation (EU) 2016/1011, if applicable); or
- (vii) the making of a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of such Original Reference Rate announcing that such Original Reference Rate is no longer representative or may no longer be used;

"Independent Adviser" means an independent financial institution of international repute or an independent adviser of recognised standing with appropriate expertise in the international debt capital markets appointed by the Issuer at its own expense under Condition 3(d)(i);

"Original Reference Rate" means the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) originally specified for the purpose of determining the relevant Rate of Interest (or any relevant component part(s) thereof) in respect of any Interest Period(s) or Reset Period(s) (provided that if, following one or more Benchmark Events, such originally specified benchmark or screen rate (or any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate which has replaced it) has been replaced by a (or a further) Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and a Benchmark Event subsequently occurs in respect of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate, the term "Original Reference Rate" shall include any such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate);

"Relevant Nominating Body" means, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate (as applicable):

- (ii) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable); or
- (iii) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the request of (a) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates, (b) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable), (c) a group of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory authorities or (d) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof; and

"Successor Rate" means a successor to or replacement of the Original Reference Rate which is formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body.

(e) Exempt Notes

In the case of Exempt Notes which are also Floating Rate Notes where the applicable Pricing Supplement identifies that Screen Rate Determination applies to the calculation of interest, if the Reference Rate from time to time is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being other than LIBOR or EURIBOR, the Rate of Interest in respect of such Exempt Notes will be determined as provided in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The rate or amount of interest payable in respect of Exempt Notes which are not also Fixed Rate Notes, Fixed Rate Reset Notes or Floating Rate Notes shall be determined in the manner specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

(f) Accrual of Interest

Each Note (or in the case of the redemption of part only of a Note, that part only of such Note) will cease to bear interest (if any) from the date for its redemption unless payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event, interest will continue to accrue as provided in the Trust Deed.

4. Payments

(a) Method of Payment

Subject as provided below:

- (i) payments in a Specified Currency other than euro will be made by transfer to an account in the relevant Specified Currency maintained by the payee with, or by a cheque in such Specified Currency drawn on, a bank in the principal financial centre of the country of such Specified Currency (which, if the Specified Currency is New Zealand dollars or Australian dollars, shall be Auckland and Sydney, respectively); and
- (ii) payments in euro will be made by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) specified by the payee or by a euro cheque.

Payments will be subject in all cases to (i) any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 6 and (ii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code") or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, or (without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 6) any law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto.

(b) Presentation of Notes and Coupons

Payments of principal in respect of definitive Notes will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner provided in paragraph (a) above only against surrender of definitive Notes, and payments of interest in respect of definitive Notes will (subject as provided below) be made as aforesaid only against surrender of Coupons, in each case at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (which expression, as used herein, means the United States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia and its possessions)).

Fixed Rate Notes in definitive form should be presented for payment together with all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto (which expression shall for this purpose include Coupons falling to be issued on exchange of matured Talons), failing which the amount of any missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, the same proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon as the sum so paid bears to the sum due) will be deducted from the sum due for payment. Each amount of principal so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of the relative missing Coupon at any time before the expiry of 10 years after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 6) in respect of such principal (whether or not such Coupon would otherwise have become void under Condition 7) or, if later, five years from the date on which such Coupon would otherwise have become due, but in no event thereafter.

Upon any Fixed Rate Note becoming due and repayable prior to its Maturity Date, all unmatured Talons (if any) appertaining thereto will become void and no further Coupons will be issued in respect thereof.

Upon the date on which any Floating Rate Note, Fixed Rate Reset Note or Long Maturity Note in definitive form becomes due and repayable, unmatured Coupons and Talons (if any) relating thereto (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment or, as the case may be, exchange for further Coupons shall be made in respect thereof.

A "Long Maturity Note" is a Fixed Rate Note (other than a Fixed Rate Note which on issue had a Talon attached) whose nominal amount on issue is less than the aggregate interest payable thereon provided that such Note shall cease to be a Long Maturity Note on the Interest Payment Date on which the aggregate amount of interest remaining to be paid after that date is less than the nominal amount of such Note.

If the due date for redemption of any definitive Note is not an Interest Payment Date, interest (if any) accrued in respect of such Note from (and including) the preceding Interest Payment Date or, as the case may be, the Interest Commencement Date shall be payable only against surrender of the relevant definitive Note.

(c) Payments in respect of global Notes

Payments of principal and interest (if any) in respect of Notes represented by any global Note will (subject as provided below) be made in the manner specified above in relation to definitive Notes or otherwise in the manner specified in the relevant global Note, where applicable against presentation or surrender, as the case may be, of such global Note at the specified office of any Paying Agent. A record of each payment made distinguishing between any payment of principal and any payment of interest, will be made on such global Note either by such Paying Agent or in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, as applicable.

(d) General provisions applicable to payments

The holder of a global Note shall be the only person entitled to receive payments in respect of Notes represented by such global Note and the Issuer will be discharged by payment to, or to the order of, the holder of such global Note in respect of each amount so paid. Each of the persons shown in the records of Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear as the beneficial holder of a particular nominal amount of Notes represented by such global Note must look solely to Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear, as the case may be, for his share of each payment so made by the Issuer to, or to the order of, the holder of such global Note.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any amount of principal and/or interest in respect of this Note is payable in U.S. dollars, such U.S. dollar payments of principal and/or interest in respect of this Note will be made at the specified office of a Paying Agent in the United States if:

- (i) the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment in U.S. dollars at such specified offices outside the United States of the full amount of principal and interest on the Notes in the manner provided above when due;
- (ii) payment of the full amount of such principal and interest at all such specified offices outside the United States is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on the full payment or receipt of principal and interest in U.S. dollars; and
- (iii) such payment is then permitted under United States law without involving, in the opinion of the Issuer, adverse tax consequences to the Issuer.

(e) Payment Day

If the date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note or Coupon is not a Payment Day, the holder thereof shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Payment Day in the relevant place and shall not be entitled to further interest or other payment in respect of such delay. For these purposes, "Payment Day" means any day which (subject to Condition 7) is:

- (i) a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits): (A) in the case of Notes in definitive form only, in the relevant place of presentation; and (B) in each Additional Financial Centre (other than TARGET2 System) specified in the applicable Final Terms;
- (ii) if TARGET2 System is specified as an Additional Financial Centre in the applicable Final Terms, as day on which the TARGET2 System is open; and
- (iii) either (1) in relation to any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments in the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant Specified Currency (which, if the Specified Currency is New Zealand dollars or Australian dollars, shall be Auckland and Sydney, respectively) or (2) in relation to any sum payable in euro a day on which the TARGET2 system is open.
- (f) Interpretation of Principal and Interest

Any reference in these Conditions to principal in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable:

- (i) any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to principal under Condition 6 or pursuant to any undertaking given in addition thereto or in substitution therefor pursuant to the Trust Deed;
- (ii) the Final Redemption Amount of the Notes;
- (iii) the Early Redemption Amount of the Notes;
- (iv) the Optional Redemption Amount(s) (if any) of the Notes; and
- (v) any premium and any other amounts (other than interest) which may be payable by the Issuer under or in respect of the Notes.

Any reference in these Conditions to interest in respect of the Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable, any additional amounts which may be payable with respect to interest under Condition 6 or pursuant to any undertakings given in addition thereto or in substitution therefor pursuant to the Trust Deed.

5. Redemption and Purchase; Substitution or Variation

(a) At Maturity

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and surrendered for cancellation as specified below, each Note will be redeemed by the Issuer at its Final Redemption Amount specified in the applicable Final Terms in the relevant Specified Currency on the Maturity Date specified in the applicable Final Terms.

(b) Redemption for Tax Reasons

The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any time (in the case of Notes other than Floating Rate Notes) or on any Interest Payment Date (in the case of Floating Rate Notes), on not giving less than the minimum period and not more than the maximum period of notice specified in the applicable Final Terms to the Trustee, the Agent and, in accordance with Condition 12, the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), if the Issuer satisfies the Trustee immediately before the giving of the aforementioned notice that:

(a) in the case of all Notes:

- (i) on the occasion of the next payment due under the Notes, the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 6 as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of the United Kingdom or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change or in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes; and
- (ii) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it; or
- (b) in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes only:
 - the Issuer is no longer, or will no longer be, entitled to claim a deduction in respect of any payments of interest under the Dated Subordinated Notes in computing its taxation liabilities or the amount of such deduction is materially reduced; and
 - (ii) the consequences of such change in tax treatment cannot be avoided by the Issuer by taking reasonable measures available to it,

(the circumstances set out in subparagraphs (a) and (b) each being a "Tax Event") provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which:

- (c) (in the case of subparagraph (a) above), the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes then due; or
- (d) (in the case of subparagraph (b) above), the change in tax treatment takes effect.

Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption in relation to a Tax Event pursuant to this Condition, the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee (i) a certificate signed by two directors of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption in relation to a Tax Event and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred and (ii) an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the circumstances in subparagraphs (a)(i) or (b)(i) above exist, and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept the certificate as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set out above, in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on the Noteholders and the Couponholders.

Notes redeemed pursuant to this Condition 5(b) will be redeemed at their Early Redemption Amount referred to in paragraph (g) below together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

(c) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)

If Issuer Call is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer may (subject to Condition 5(j)), having given not less than the minimum period nor more than the maximum period of

notice specified in applicable Final Terms to the Trustee, the Agent and, in accordance with Condition 12, the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem all or (if so specified in the applicable Final Terms) some only of the Notes then outstanding on any Optional Redemption Date and at the Optional Redemption Amount(s) specified in the applicable Final Terms together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the relevant Optional Redemption Date. Any such redemption must be of a nominal amount not less than the Minimum Redemption Amount or not more than the Higher Redemption Amount, in each case as may be specified in the applicable Final Terms.

In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, the Notes to be redeemed ("Redeemed Notes") will (i) in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by definitive Notes, be selected individually by lot, not more than 30 days prior to the date fixed for redemption and (ii) in the case of Redeemed Notes represented by a global Note, be selected in accordance with the rules of Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Euroclear (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion). In the case of Redeemed Notes represented by definitive Notes, a list of the serial numbers of such Redeemed Notes will be published in accordance with Condition 12 not less than 10 days prior to the date fixed for redemption.

(d) Redemption of Dated Subordinated Notes at the option of the Issuer due to Regulatory Capital Event

This Condition 5(d) is only applicable to Dated Subordinated Notes.

If Regulatory Capital Event Call is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms relating to Dated Subordinated Notes and a Regulatory Capital Event has occurred and is continuing, the Issuer may (subject to Condition 5(j)), having given not less than the minimum period nor more than the maximum period of notice specified in the applicable Final Terms to the Trustee, the Agent and, in accordance with Condition 12, the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed for redemption), redeem all, but not some only, of such Dated Subordinated Notes at any time (in the case Notes other than Floating Rate Notes) or on the next Interest Payment Date (in the case of Floating Rate Notes). Upon the expiry of such notice the Issuer shall be bound to redeem such Dated Subordinated Notes accordingly. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 5(d), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two directors of the Issuer stating that the relevant requirement or circumstance referred to in this Condition 5(d) applies. Such certificate shall, in the absence of manifest error, be treated and accepted by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders and all other interested parties as correct, conclusive and sufficient evidence thereof and the Trustee is entitled to rely on such certificate without further enquiry and liability to any person.

Dated Subordinated Notes redeemed pursuant to this Condition 5(d) will be redeemed at their Early Redemption Amount referred to in paragraph (g) below together (if appropriate) with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

In these Conditions, a "Regulatory Capital Event" will occur if at any time there is a change in the regulatory classification of the Dated Subordinated Notes occurring after the Issue Date of the first Tranche of Notes of the relevant Series that does, or will, result in the Dated Subordinated Notes being fully or partially excluded from the Tier 2 Capital of the Group and, for the avoidance of doubt, any amortisation of such Dated Subordinated Notes pursuant to Article 64 of the Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms amending Regulation (EU) No. 648/2012 (or any equivalent or successor provision) shall not comprise a Regulatory Capital Event.

(e) Redemption of Senior Notes at the option of the Issuer due to Loss Absorption Disqualification Event (Loss Absorption Disqualification Event Call)

This Condition 5(e) is only applicable to Senior Notes.

If Loss Absorption Disqualification Event Call is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms relating to Senior Notes and a Loss Absorption Disqualification Event has occurred and is continuing, the Issuer may (subject to Condition 5(j)), having given not less than the minimum period nor more than the maximum period of notice specified in the applicable Final Terms to the Trustee, the Agent and, in accordance with Condition 12, the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed for redemption (the "Loss Absorption Disqualification Redemption Date")) redeem all, but not some only, of such Senior Notes at any time (in the case of Notes other than Floating Rate Notes) or on the next Interest Payment Date (in the case of Floating Rate Notes) and at the Loss Absorption Disqualification Redemption Amount(s) specified in, or determined in the manner

specified in, the applicable Final Terms together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the Loss Absorption Disqualification Redemption Date. Upon the expiry of such notice the Issuer shall be bound to redeem such Senior Notes accordingly. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 5(e), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two directors of the Issuer stating that the relevant requirement or circumstance referred to in this Condition 5(e) applies and any preconditions to the exercise of the Loss Absorption Disqualification Event Call specified in any Loss Absorption Regulation are satisfied. Such certificate shall, in the absence of manifest error, be treated and accepted by the Issuer, the Trustee, the Noteholders and all other interested parties as correct, conclusive and sufficient evidence thereof and the Trustee is entitled to rely on such certificate without further enquiry and liability to any person.

In these Conditions:

a "Loss Absorption Disqualification Event" will occur if:

- (i) at the time that any Loss Absorption Regulation becomes effective after the Issue Date of the first Tranche of Senior Notes, and as a result of such Loss Absorption Regulation becoming so effective, in each case with respect to the Issuer and/or the Group, such Senior Notes are not or will not be eligible to qualify in full towards the Issuer's and/or the Group's minimum requirements for (A) own funds and eligible liabilities and/or (B) loss absorbing capacity instruments; or
- (ii) as a result of any amendment to, or change in, any Loss Absorption Regulation, or any change in the application or official interpretation of any Loss Absorption Regulation, in any such case becoming effective on or after the Issue Date of the Senior Notes, such Senior Notes are or will be either (x) fully excluded or (y) fully or partially excluded (as specified in the applicable Final Terms relating to such Senior Notes) from the Issuer's and/or the Group's minimum requirements for (A) own funds and eligible liabilities and/or (B) loss absorbing capacity instruments.

in each case as such minimum requirements are applicable to the Issuer and/or the Group and determined in accordance with, and pursuant to, the relevant Loss Absorption Regulations; provided that in the case of (i) and (ii) above, a Loss Absorption Disqualification Event shall not occur where the exclusion of such Senior Notes from the relevant minimum requirement(s) is due to the remaining maturity of such Senior Notes being less than any period prescribed by any applicable eligibility criteria for such minimum requirements under the relevant Loss Absorption Regulations effective with respect to the Issuer and/or the Group on the Issue Date of the first Tranche of such Senior Notes.

"Loss Absorption Regulations" means, at any time, the laws, regulations, requirements, guidelines, rules, standards and policies relating to minimum requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities and/or loss absorbing capacity instruments of the United Kingdom, the Prudential Regulation Authority of the United Kingdom, the United Kingdom resolution authority, the Financial Stability Board and/or of the European Parliament or of the Council of the European Union then in effect in the United Kingdom including, without limitation to the generality of the foregoing, any delegated or implementing acts (such as regulatory technical standards) adopted by the European Commission which are applicable to the United Kingdom and any regulations, requirements, guidelines, rules, standards and policies relating to minimum requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities and/or loss absorbing capacity instruments adopted by the Prudential Regulation Authority of the United Kingdom and/or the United Kingdom resolution authority from time to time (whether or not such regulations, requirements, guidelines, rules, standards or policies are applied generally or specifically to the Issuer or to the Group).

(f) Redemption at the Option of the Noteholders other than holders of Dated Subordinated Notes This Condition 5(f) is only applicable to Senior Notes.

If Investor Put is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, upon the holder of any Note giving to the Issuer in accordance with Condition 12 not less than the minimum period nor more than the maximum period of notice specified in the applicable Final Terms, (which notice shall be irrevocable) the Issuer will, upon the expiry of such notice, redeem such Note on the Optional Redemption Date and at the Optional Redemption Amount together, if appropriate, with interest accrued to (but excluding) the Optional Redemption Date.

If this Note is in definitive form and held outside Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, to exercise the right to require redemption of this Note the holder of this Note must deliver, at the specified office of any Paying Agent at any time during normal business hours of such Paying Agent falling within the notice period, a duly completed and signed notice of exercise in the form (for the time being current)

obtainable from any specified office of any Paying Agent (a "Put Notice") and in which the holder must specify a bank account (or, if payment is by cheque, an address) to which payment is to be made under this Condition accompanied by this Note or evidence satisfactory to the Paying Agent concerned that this Note will, following delivery of the Put Notice, be held to its order or under its control. If this Note is represented by a global Note or is in definitive form and held through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, to exercise the right to require redemption of this Note the holder of this Note must, within the notice period, give notice to the Agent of such exercise in accordance with the standard procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (which may include notice being given on his instruction by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any common depositary or common safekeeper, as the case may be, for them to the Agent by electronic means) in a form acceptable to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg from time to time.

Any Put Notice given by a holder of any Note pursuant to this paragraph shall be irrevocable unless the Issuer otherwise agrees.

(g) Early Redemption Amounts

For the purpose of Conditions 5(b) and 5(d) above and Condition 8:

- (i) each Note (other than a Zero Coupon Note) will be redeemed at its Early Redemption Amount; and
- (ii) each Zero Coupon Note will be redeemed at its Early Redemption Amount, being an amount calculated in accordance with the following formula:

Early Redemption Amount = RP x $(1 + AY)^y$

where:

"RP" means the Reference Price;

"AY" means the Accrual Yield expressed as a decimal; and

"y" is the Day Count Fraction specified in the applicable Final Terms which will be either (i) 30/360 (in which case the numerator will be equal to the number of days (calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of 12 months of 30 days each in the case of any currency other than Sterling and euro and on the basis of a year of 365 days, or 366 days in the case of a leap year, in the case of Sterling and euro) from (and including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes due and repayable and the denominator will be 360 in the case of any currency other than Sterling and euro and 365, or 366 in the case of a leap year, in the case of Sterling and euro, or (ii) Actual/360 (in which case the numerator will be equal to the actual number of days from (and including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes due and repayable and the denominator will be 360) or (iii) Actual/365 (in which case the numerator will be equal to the actual number of days from (and including) the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which such Note becomes due and repayable and the denominator will be 365).

(h) Purchases

The Issuer or any Subsidiary of the Issuer may (subject to Condition 5(j)) at any time purchase Notes (provided that, in the case of definitive Notes, all unmatured Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto are purchased therewith) at any price in the open market or otherwise. Such Notes may be held, reissued, resold or, at the option of the Issuer, surrendered to any Paying Agent for cancellation.

(i) Cancellation

All Notes which are redeemed will forthwith be cancelled (together with all unmatured Coupons and Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith at the time of redemption). All Notes so cancelled and Notes purchased and surrendered for cancellation pursuant to Condition 5(h) above (together with all unmatured Coupons and Talons cancelled therewith) shall be forwarded to the Agent and cannot be reissued or resold.

(i) Conditions to redemption and purchase

Any redemption or purchase of Senior Notes (if applicable pursuant to any Loss Absorption Regulations) and/or Dated Subordinated Notes pursuant to Conditions 5(b), 5(c), 5(d), 5(e) or 5(h) is subject to:

- (1) the Issuer having obtained Regulatory Approval; and
- (2) the Issuer being in compliance with the Regulatory Pre-conditions.

For the purposes of these Conditions:

"Regulatory Approval" means, at any time, such approval, consent or prior permission by, or notification required within prescribed periods to, the Regulator, or such waiver of the then prevailing Capital Rules in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes, or the then prevailing Loss Absorption Regulations in the case of Senior Notes, from the Regulator, as is required under the then prevailing Capital Rules in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes, or the then prevailing Loss Absorption Regulations in the case of Senior Notes, at such time; and

"Regulatory Pre-conditions" means:

- (1) if, at the time of such redemption or purchase, the prevailing Capital Rules in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes, or the prevailing Loss Absorption Regulations in the case of Senior Notes, permit the redemption or purchase after compliance with any pre-conditions, the Issuer having complied with such pre-conditions; and
- (2) in the case of a redemption pursuant to Conditions 5(b) or 5(d) occurring prior to the fifth anniversary of the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the relevant Series of the Dated Subordinated Notes only,
 - (x) the Regulator being satisfied (such satisfaction to be evidenced by the granting of Regulatory Approval) that the Issuer has demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Regulator that the circumstance that entitles the Issuer to exercise its right of redemption was not reasonably foreseeable, judged at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the relevant Series of the Dated Subordinated Notes, and is (in the case of a redemption pursuant to Condition 5(d)) sufficiently certain or (in the case of a redemption pursuant to Condition 5(b)) material; or
 - (y) if, at the time of such redemption, the prevailing Capital Rules permit the redemption after compliance with an alternative pre-condition, the Issuer having complied with such other pre-condition.

(k) Late payment on Zero Coupon Notes

If the amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note upon redemption of such Zero Coupon Note pursuant to this Condition 5 or upon its becoming due and repayable as provided in Condition 8 is improperly withheld or refused, the amount due and repayable in respect of such Zero Coupon Note shall be the amount calculated as provided in Condition 5(g)(ii) above as though the references therein to the date fixed for the redemption or the date upon which such Zero Coupon Note becomes due and repayable were replaced by references to the date which is the earlier of:

- (i) the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Zero Coupon Note have been paid; and
- (ii) five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable has been received by the Agent or the Trustee and notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12.
- (I) Substitution or Variation

This Condition 5(I) is only applicable to Senior Notes.

If Substitution or Variation is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms, then following the occurrence of a Loss Absorption Disqualification Event in relation to the Notes, the Issuer may, subject to the other provisions of this Condition 5(I) (without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders, the Couponholders or the Trustee (but subject to the notice requirements below)), either:

- (i) substitute all (but not some only) of the Notes for; or
- (ii) vary the terms of all (but not some only) of the Notes,

so that they remain or, as appropriate, become, Compliant Securities.

Upon the expiry of the notice required by this Condition 5(I), the Issuer shall either substitute or vary the terms of the Notes in accordance with this Condition 5(I) and, subject as set out below, the Trustee shall agree to such substitution or variation.

In connection with any substitution or variation in accordance with this Condition 5(I), the Issuer shall comply with the rules of any listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system on which the Notes are for the time being admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation.

Any substitution or variation in accordance with this Condition 5(I) is subject to the Issuer (i) obtaining any Regulatory Approval (as defined in Condition 5(j) above) and (ii) giving not less than the minimum period nor more than the maximum period of notice specified in the applicable Final Terms to the Trustee, the Agent and, in accordance with Condition 12, the Noteholders (which notice shall be irrevocable).

Any substitution or variation in accordance with this Condition 5(I) shall not otherwise give the Issuer an option to redeem the Notes under the Conditions.

Prior to the publication of any notice of substitution or variation pursuant to this Condition 5(I), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate signed by two directors of the Issuer stating that the Loss Absorption Disqualification Event giving rise to the right to substitute or vary has occurred and is continuing as at the date of the certificate, and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept such certificate without any further inquiry or liability as sufficient evidence of the same and it shall be conclusive and binding on the Noteholders and the Couponholders.

The Trustee shall concur in the substitution of the Notes for Compliant Securities, or the variation of the terms of the Notes so that they remain or become Compliant Securities, as the case may be, provided that the Trustee shall not be obliged to concur in any such substitution or variation if the terms of the proposed Compliant Securities or the concurring in such substitution or variation would impose, in the Trustee's opinion, more onerous obligations upon it or require the Trustee to incur any liability for which it is not indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction.

For the purposes of this Condition 5(I):

- (1) "Compliant Securities" means securities:
 - (i) that are issued directly by the Issuer:
 - (ii) that have a ranking at least equal to that of the Notes immediately prior to the relevant substitution or variation:
 - (iii) that are listed on a recognised stock exchange within the meaning of Section 1005 of the Income Tax Act 2007 (as the same may be amended, supplemented or replaced from time to time) and/or are admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any other listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system, in each case to the extent, and on the same such other listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system, that the Notes were so listed or admitted to listing, trading, and/or quotation (as the case may be) immediately prior to the relevant substitution or variation; and
 - (iv) where the Notes had a published credit rating from one or more Rating Agencies immediately prior to their substitution or variation, to which each such Rating Agency has assigned, or has announced its intention to assign, an equal or higher published rating;

provided that such securities:

- (a) contain terms such that they comply with the then prevailing Loss Absorption Regulations;
- (b) include terms which provide for (i) at least the same Rate of Interest and amounts payable on redemption and (ii) the same Interest Payment Dates and Maturity Date as apply from time to time to the Notes immediately prior to such substitution or variation;
- (c) shall preserve any existing rights under the Conditions and the Trust Deed to any accrued interest, principal and/or premium which have not been satisfied;
- (d) do not contain terms providing for the mandatory or voluntary deferral of payments of principal and/or interest;

- (e) do not contain contractual terms providing for loss absorption through principal writedown, write-off or conversion into ordinary shares; and
- (f) otherwise have terms not materially less favourable to Noteholders than the terms of the Notes immediately prior to the relevant substitution or variation (as reasonably determined by the Issuer in consultation with an Independent Adviser, and provided that a certification to such effect of two directors of the Issuer shall have been delivered to the Trustee prior to the issue of the relevant securities);
- (2) "Independent Adviser" means an independent financial institution of international repute or other independent financial adviser experienced in the international debt capital markets, in each case appointed by the Issuer at the Issuer's expense under this Condition 5(I); and
- (3) "Rating Agency" means Fitch Ratings Limited, Moody's Investors Service Ltd., S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited or any of their respective affiliates or successors.

6. Taxation

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes and Coupons by or on behalf of the Issuer will be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of any present or future taxes or duties of whatever nature imposed or levied by or on behalf of the United Kingdom or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In such event, the Issuer will (a) in the case of Senior Notes, in respect of payments of principal and/or interest (if any) and (b) in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes, in respect of payments of interest (if any) only, pay such additional amounts as shall be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the holders of the Notes or Coupons after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of (in the case of Senior Notes only) principal and (in the case of Senior Notes and Dated Subordinated Notes) interest, if any, which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the Notes or Coupons, as the case may be, in the absence of such withholding or deduction; except that no such additional amount shall be payable with respect to any Note or Coupon:

- (i) the holder of which is liable for such taxes or duties in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with the United Kingdom other than the mere holding of such Note or Coupon; or
- (ii) presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date (as defined below) except to the extent that the holder thereof would have been entitled to such additional amount on presenting the same for payment on such thirtieth day; or
- (iii) presented for payment in the United Kingdom; or
- (iv) where such withholding or deduction would have been avoided by the Noteholder or Couponholder (or a person on behalf of the Noteholder or Couponholder) complying with any statutory requirement or by making a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for exemption to any authority of or in the United Kingdom; or
- (v) where such withholding or deduction is required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the Code or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, or any law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto.

As used herein, the "Relevant Date" means the date on which such payment first becomes due, except that, if the full amount of the moneys payable has not been duly received by the Agent or the Trustee on or prior to such due date, it means the date on which, the full amount of such moneys having been so received, notice to that effect is duly given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 12.

7. Prescription

The Notes and Coupons will become void unless claims in respect of principal and/or interest are made within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest) after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 6) therefor.

There shall not be included in any Coupon sheet issued on exchange of a Talon any Coupon the claim for payment in respect of which would be void pursuant to this Condition or Condition 4(b) or any Talon which would be void pursuant to Condition 4(b).

8. Events of Default

(a) Non-Restrictive Events of Default in respect of Senior Notes

Unless the applicable Final Terms specify Restrictive Events of Default as being applicable (in which case this Condition 8(a) shall not apply), the Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested in writing by the holders of at least one-quarter in nominal amount of the Senior Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders shall, give notice to the Issuer that the Senior Notes are, and they shall accordingly thereby forthwith become, immediately due and payable at the Early Redemption Amount (as defined in Condition 5(g)), together with accrued interest as provided in the Trust Deed, if any of the following events shall occur and be continuing:

- (i) if default is made for a period of seven days or more in the payment of any principal in respect of the Senior Notes or any of them or for a period of 14 days or more in the payment of any interest in respect of the Senior Notes or any of them, provided that it shall not be such a default to refuse or withhold any such payment in order to comply with any fiscal or other law or regulation or with the order of any court of competent jurisdiction; or
- (ii) if an order is made or an effective resolution passed for winding-up the Issuer; or
- (iii) if an encumbrancer takes possession or an administrative or other receiver is appointed of the whole or any material part of the undertaking or assets of the Issuer, or if a distress, execution or any similar proceeding is levied or enforced upon or sued out against any of the chattels or property of the Issuer and is not discharged within 21 days; or
- (iv) if default is made by the Issuer in the performance or observance of any obligation, condition or provision binding on it under the Senior Notes or the Trust Deed (other than any obligation for the payment of any principal or interest in respect of the Senior Notes) and, except where, in the opinion of the Trustee, such default is not capable of remedy (in which case the Senior Notes will become due and repayable subject to, and immediately upon, the Trustee certifying and giving notice as aforesaid), such default continues for 30 days after written notice thereof by the Trustee to the Issuer requiring the same to be remedied.

At any time after the Senior Notes become due and repayable and have not been repaid, the Trustee may at its discretion and without further notice take such proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce the obligations of the Issuer under the Trust Deed and the Senior Notes and the relative Coupons, but it shall not be bound to take any such proceedings or any other action unless (i) it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the holders of the Senior Notes or so requested in writing by holders of at least one-quarter in nominal amount of the Senior Notes then outstanding and (ii) it shall have been indemnified to its satisfaction. No holder of a Senior Note, or of a Coupon appertaining thereto, shall be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer unless the Trustee, having become bound so to do, fails or is unable or neglects to do so within 60 days and such failure or inability or neglect is continuing.

- (b) Restrictive Events of Default
- (i) In the case of (i) Dated Subordinated Notes or (ii) any Series of Senior Notes for which Restrictive Events of Default is specified as being applicable in the applicable Final Terms:
 - (1) if default is made for a period of (A) seven days or more in the payment of any principal in respect of the Dated Subordinated Notes or, if applicable, the Senior Notes, or any of them, or (B) 14 days or more in the payment of any interest in respect of the Dated Subordinated Notes or, if applicable, the Senior Notes, or any of them, the Trustee in its discretion may, and if so requested in writing by Noteholders of at least one-quarter in nominal amount of the Dated Subordinated Notes or, if applicable, the Senior Notes, then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution, shall (subject in each case to Condition 8(b)(iii)) institute steps, actions or proceedings for the winding-up of the Issuer, but may take no further or other action to enforce, prove or claim for any such payment, provided that it shall not be such a default to refuse or withhold any such payment in order to comply with any fiscal or other law or regulation or with the order of any court of competent jurisdiction. Where there is doubt as to the validity or applicability of any such law, regulation or order, it shall not be such a default to refuse or withhold any such payment in accordance with advice as to such validity or applicability provided by independent legal advisers acceptable to the Trustee at any time during such period;
 - (2) if an order is made by the competent court or resolution passed for the winding-up of the Issuer (other than an Approved Winding-up), the Trustee at its discretion may, and if so requested by Noteholders of at least one-quarter in nominal amount of the Dated

Subordinated Notes or, if applicable, the Senior Notes, then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution shall (subject in each case to Condition 8(b)(iii)), give notice to the Issuer (or, as applicable, the liquidator) that the Dated Subordinated Notes or, if applicable, the Senior Notes, are, and they shall accordingly forthwith become, immediately due and repayable at the amount equal to their Early Redemption Amount and any accrued and unpaid interest, and, in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes, the claim in respect thereof will be subject to the subordination provided for in Condition 2(b).

- (ii) Without prejudice to Conditions 8(b)(i)(1) and 8(b)(i)(2), the Trustee may at its discretion and without further notice institute such steps, actions or proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce any obligation, condition or provision binding on the Issuer under the Trust Deed, these Conditions and the Dated Subordinated Notes or, if applicable, the Senior Notes, and the relative Coupons (if any) (other than any payment obligation of the Issuer under or arising from the Dated Subordinated Notes or, if applicable, the Senior Notes, and the relative Coupons (if any) or the Trust Deed including, without limitation, payment of any principal or interest in respect of the Dated Subordinated Notes or, if applicable, the Senior Notes, and the relative Coupons (if any) and any damages awarded for breach of any obligations) provided that in no event shall the Issuer, by virtue of the institution of any such proceedings, be obliged to pay any sum or sums (in cash or otherwise) sooner than the same would otherwise have been payable by it. Nothing in this Condition 8(b)(ii) shall, subject to Condition 8(b)(i)(1), prevent the Trustee instituting steps, actions or proceedings for the winding-up of the Issuer, proving in any winding-up of the Issuer and/or claiming in any liquidation of the Issuer in respect of any payment obligations of the Issuer arising from the Dated Subordinated Notes or, if applicable, the Senior Notes, and the relative Coupons (if any) or the Trust Deed (including without limitation, payment of any principal or interest in respect of the Dated Subordinated Notes or, if applicable, the Senior Notes, and the relative Coupons (if any) and any damages awarded for any breach of any obligations).
- (iii) The Trustee shall not be bound to take any of the actions referred to in Condition 8(b)(i)(1), 8(b)(i)(2) or 8(b)(ii) to enforce the obligations of the Issuer under the Trust Deed or the Dated Subordinated Notes or, if applicable, the Senior Notes, unless (i) it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Noteholders or so requested in writing by the holders of at least one-fifth in nominal amount of the Dated Subordinated Notes or, if applicable, the Senior Notes, then outstanding and (ii) provided in each case it has been indemnified and/or secured and/or prefunded to its satisfaction against all costs, charges, liabilities and expenses which may be incurred by it in connection with such action, including the costs of its management's time and/or other internal resources, calculated in accordance with its normal hourly rates in force from time to time:
- (iv) No Noteholder or Couponholder shall be entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer or to institute steps, actions or proceedings for the winding-up or claim in the liquidation of the Issuer or to prove in such winding-up unless the Trustee, having become so bound to proceed or being able to prove in such winding-up or claim in such winding-up, fails or is unable or neglects to do so within 60 days and such failure or inability or neglect is continuing, in which case the relevant Noteholder or Couponholder shall have only such rights against the Issuer as those which the Trustee is entitled to exercise as set out in this Condition 8(b).
- (v) No remedy against the Issuer, other than as referred to in this Condition 8(b), shall be available to the Trustee, the Noteholders or the Couponholders, whether for the recovery of amounts owing in respect of the Dated Subordinated Notes or, if applicable, the Senior Notes, or under the Trust Deed or in respect of any breach by the Issuer of any of its other obligations under or in respect of the Dated Subordinated Notes or, if applicable, the Senior Notes, or under the Trust Deed.

9. Replacement of Notes, Coupons and Talons

Should any Note, Coupon or Talon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the specified office of the Agent, or any other place approved by the Trustee of which notice shall have been published in accordance with Condition 12, upon payment by the claimant of such costs and expenses as may be incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Coupons or Talons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

10. Agent and Paying Agents

The names of the initial Agent in respect of the Notes and the other initial Paying Agents in respect of the Notes and their initial specified offices are set out below. If any additional Paying Agents are appointed in connection with any Series, the names of such Paying Agents will be specified in Part B of the applicable Final Terms.

The Issuer is, with the prior written approval of the Trustee, entitled to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and/or appoint additional or other Paying Agents and/or approve any change in the specified office through which any Paying Agent acts, provided that:

- (i) so long as the Notes are listed on any stock exchange, there will at all times be a Paying Agent with a specified office in such place as may be required by the rules and regulations of the relevant stock exchange or any other relevant authority;
- (ii) there will at all times be an Agent; and
- (iii) there will at all times be a Paying Agent in a jurisdiction in continental Europe, other than the jurisdiction in which the Issuer is incorporated.

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent having a specified office in New York City in the circumstances described in the final paragraph of Condition 4(d). Notice of any variation, termination, appointment or change in Paying Agents will be given to the Noteholders promptly by the Issuer in accordance with Condition 12.

11. Exchange of Talons

On and after the Interest Payment Date on which the final Coupon comprised in any Coupon sheet matures, the Talon (if any) forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the Agent or any other Paying Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet including (if such further Coupon sheet does not include Coupons to (and including) the final date for the payment of interest due in respect of the Note to which it appertains) a further Talon, subject to the provisions of Condition 7.

12. Notices

All notices regarding the Notes will be valid if published in a leading English language daily newspaper of general circulation in London. It is expected that such publication will be made in the *Financial Times* or any other daily newspaper in London approved by the Trustee or, if this is not possible, in another English language daily newspaper approved by the Trustee with general circulation in Europe. The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly published in a manner which complies with the rules and regulations of any other stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the Notes are for the time being listed or by which they have been admitted to trading including publication on the website of the relevant stock exchange or relevant authority if required by those rules. Any such notice will be deemed to have been given on the date of the first publication or, where required to be published in more than one newspaper, on the first date on which publication has been made in all the required newspapers.

Until such time as any definitive Notes are issued, there may (provided that, in the case of Notes listed on a stock exchange or admitted to trading by any other relevant authority, such stock exchange or other relevant authority permits), so long as the global Note(s) is or are held in its/their entirety on behalf of Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear, be substituted for such publication in such newspaper(s) or such websites the delivery of the relevant notice to Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear for communication by them to the holders of the Notes. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given to the holders of the Notes on the day after the day on which the said notice was given to Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Euroclear.

Notices to be given by any holder of the Notes shall be in writing and given by lodging the same, together with the relative Note or Notes, with the Agent. Whilst any of the Notes are represented by a global Note, such notice may be given by any holder of a Note to the Agent via Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Euroclear, as the case may be, in such manner as the Agent and Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or Euroclear, as the case may be, may approve for this purpose.

13. Meetings of Noteholders, Modification and Waiver

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of the Noteholders to consider any matter affecting their interests, including the sanctioning by Extraordinary Resolution of a modification of any of these Conditions, the Notes, the Coupons or certain provisions of the Trust Deed. Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer or the Trustee or by Noteholders holding not less than 10 per cent. in

nominal amount of the Notes for the time being remaining outstanding. The quorum at any such meeting for passing an Extraordinary Resolution will be one or more persons holding or representing a clear majority in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding, or at any adjourned meeting one or more persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the nominal amount of the Notes so held or represented, except that at any meeting the business of which includes the modification of certain provisions of these Conditions, the Notes or Coupons (including modifying the date of maturity of the Notes or any date for payment of interest thereon, reducing or cancelling the amount of principal or the rate of interest payable in respect of the Notes or altering the currency of payment of the Notes or Coupons) or certain of the provisions of the Trust Deed, the necessary quorum for passing an Extraordinary Resolution will be one or more persons holding or representing not less than two-thirds, or at any adjourned such meeting not less than a clear majority, in nominal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding. An Extraordinary Resolution passed at any meeting of the Noteholders shall be binding on all the Noteholders, whether or not they are present at the meeting, and on all Couponholders.

The Trust Deed provides that the Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders, to any modification of, or to any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of, any of these Conditions or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed, or may determine that any condition, event or act which, but for such determination, would constitute an Event of Default, shall not be treated as such which in any such case, in the opinion of the Trustee, is not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders or to any modification of any of these Conditions, the Notes, the Coupons or any of the provisions of the Trust Deed which is of a formal, minor or technical nature or which is made to correct a manifest error or an error which is, in the opinion of the Trustee, proven. In addition, the Trustee shall be obliged to concur with the Issuer in effecting any Benchmark Amendments in the circumstances and as otherwise set out in Condition 3(d) without the consent of the Noteholders and Couponholders. Any such modification, waiver, authorisation or determination may be made on such terms and subject to such conditions (if any) as the Trustee may determine, shall be binding on the Noteholders and Couponholders and, unless the Trustee agrees otherwise, any such modification shall be notified to the Noteholders as soon as practicable thereafter in accordance with Condition 12. In addition, the Trustee shall be obliged to concur with the Issuer in effecting any Benchmark Amendments in the circumstances and as otherwise set out in Condition 3(d) without the consent or approval of the Noteholders or Couponholders.

In connection with the exercise by it of any of its trusts, powers, authorities or discretions (including, but without limitation, any modification, waiver, authorisation or substitution), the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the Noteholders as a class and, in particular, but without limitation, shall not have regard to the consequences of such exercise for individual Noteholders or Couponholders resulting from their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any particular territory and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Noteholder or Couponholder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer, the Trustee or any other person any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Noteholders or Couponholders except to the extent already provided for in Condition 6 and/or any undertaking given in addition to, or in substitution for, Condition 6 pursuant to the Trust Deed.

No such modification, waiver, authorisation, determination, substitution or addition as aforesaid which relates to any Senior Notes, if applicable pursuant to any Loss Absorption Regulations, and/or any Dated Subordinated Notes shall become effective unless the Issuer shall have received the consent of the Regulator (unless such consent is not then required under the Loss Absorption Regulations in the case of Senior Notes or the Capital Rules in the case of Dated Subordinated Notes).

14. Further Issues

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders to create and issue further notes having terms and conditions the same as the Notes or the same in all respects save for the amount and date of the first payment of interest thereon and the date from which interest starts to accrue and so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single Series with the outstanding Notes.

15. Indemnification

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from responsibility in certain circumstances including provisions relieving it from instituting proceedings to enforce repayment unless indemnified to its satisfaction.

16. Governing Law

The Trust Deed, the Agency Agreement, the Notes, the Coupons, the Talons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with any of them are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law, save that Condition 2(b), 2(c) and 2(d) (and related provisions of the Trust Deed) relating to subordination and set-off are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Scots law.

17. Submission to jurisdiction

- (i) Subject to Condition 17(iii) below, the English courts have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising out of or in connection with the Trust Deed, the Notes and/or the Coupons, including any dispute as to their existence, validity, interpretation, performance, breach or termination or the consequences of their nullity and any dispute relating to any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Trust Deed, the Notes and/or the Coupons (a "Dispute") and accordingly each of the Issuer and the Trustee and any Noteholders or Couponholders in relation to any Dispute submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts.
- (ii) For the purposes of this Condition 17, the Issuer waives any objection to the English courts on the grounds that they are an inconvenient or inappropriate forum to settle any Dispute.
- (iii) To the extent allowed by law, the Trustee, the Noteholders and the Couponholders may, in respect of any Dispute or Disputes, take (i) proceedings in any other court with jurisdiction; and (ii) concurrent proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

18. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No rights are conferred on any person under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this Note, but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available apart from that Act.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from each issue of Notes will be applied by the Issuer for its general corporate purposes in the context of its business and may include, amongst other things, the on-lending of some or all of those proceeds to other members of the Banking Group. If, in respect of any particular issue, there is a particular identified use of proceeds, this will be stated in the applicable Final Terms.

DESCRIPTION OF TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC

Overview

Tesco Personal Finance Group PLC ("TPFG") was established in 1997, originally as a joint venture between Tesco PLC ("Tesco") and NatWest Markets Plc (formerly known as the Royal Bank of Scotland plc ("NatWest")). In December 2008, Tesco acquired NatWest's 50 per cent. shareholding in TPFG to become the owner of all of the shares in TPFG.

TPFG is a subsidiary of Tesco, the holding company of the Tesco group of companies (the "Tesco Group"). TPFG operates as a holding company, conducting substantially all of its operations through its subsidiary, Tesco Personal Finance PLC ("TPF") (a 100 per cent. subsidiary) and a joint venture of TPF, Tesco Underwriting Limited ("TU") (a 49.9 per cent. joint venture of TPF), (together, the "Banking Group").

TPFG was incorporated in Scotland under the name Roboscot (26) Limited on 5 March, 1997, as a private limited company with limited liability. It changed its name to Tesco Personal Finance Group Limited with effect from 25 April, 1997. It was re-registered as a public limited company under the legal name Tesco Personal Finance Group PLC pursuant to the Companies Act 2006 on 12 October, 2018.

The registered office of TPFG is 2 South Gyle Crescent, Edinburgh, United Kingdom EH12 9FQ. The telephone number of TPFG's registered office is +44 (0)131 203 5000. The company number of TPFG is SC173198.

Business Overview and Strategy

The Banking Group is primarily focused on providing financial services and products to personal customers in the United Kingdom ("UK"). TPF is engaged in the provision of banking and general insurance services and operates using the trading name "Tesco Bank".

TPF leverages Tesco's customer base, "Clubcard" insight and strength of the Tesco brand. A significant proportion of TPF's UK customer base consists of existing Tesco Group customers that utilise other retail services offered by Tesco.

The "Clubcard" reward points incentive scheme operated by Tesco is a factor in TPF's ability to attract new customers and retain existing customers.

In the 12 months to 28 February, 2019, the Banking Group continued to deliver growth across its primary products (credit cards, personal loans, mortgages, personal current accounts and savings).

On 21 May, 2019, the Banking Group announced that it had made the strategic decision to cease any new mortgage lending and was actively exploring options to sell its existing mortgage portfolio, including the complete transfer of related balances and ongoing administration of relevant accounts, but only at the appropriate value and to a purchaser who will continue to serve our customers well.

A reduction in automated teller machine transaction volumes, due to the declining use of cash as customers move towards contactless and other digital payments, was partially offset by growth in other products, including travel money. As at 28 February, 2019, TPF had 323 travel money bureaux across the United Kingdom, which provided customers with over £1 billion in currency in the 12 months to 28 February, 2019.

During the financial year ended 28 February, 2018, TPF completed the roll out of Tesco Pay+ to every Tesco store in the UK, offering Tesco's shoppers the ability to pay and collect Clubcard points with a scan of their mobile phone. Tesco Pay+ has continued to grow during the financial year ended 28 February, 2019 and now has over 750,000 registered users.

The Banking Group continues to invest in its digital platform and associated capabilities with the objective of making it easier for Tesco customers to bank and insure with the Banking Group. In addition to offering customers good value across all of the products, this will be achieved through targeted investment in technology, data and the customer and colleague experience to simplify processes and drive efficiency.

TPF's mobile banking app (the "App") continues to expand and has now been downloaded by more than 1.2 million users. Changes to the App in April 2018 simplified the registration journey, by allowing customers to register for the App without having to set up online banking security beforehand.

Business Trends

UK retail banks such as TPF are exposed to general economic conditions in the United Kingdom. Significant risks remain including uncertainty relating to the withdrawal of the UK from the European Union ("EU"), volatility in the UK housing market and risks associated with rising interest rates. See the Risk Factor entitled "Political uncertainty" on pages 21 to 22 of this Offering Circular.

Banking

During the financial year ended 28 February, 2019, TPF's banking products included savings products (including instant access, ISAs and internet and fixed rate saver accounts), lending products (loans, credit cards and mortgages) and personal current accounts.

As at 28 February, 2019, the Banking Group's profit before tax was £198.9 million, a decrease of 0.1 per cent. over the corresponding period in the previous financial year.

Total gross lending as at 28 February, 2019, was £12,913.6 million, comprising retail unsecured lending of £9,146.2 million and retail mortgage lending of £3,767.4 million. As at 28 February, 2019, loans and advances to customers, net of impairment charges, reached £12,425.7 million, an increase of 7.84 per cent. over the corresponding period in the previous financial year. TPF has also seen growth in both credit cards and personal loan balances of 3 per cent. and 6.7 per cent. as at 28 February, 2019, respectively.

As at 28 February, 2019, TPF had £3,767.4 million of gross mortgage balances outstanding, an increase of £757.2 million from £3,010.2 million as at 28 February, 2018. Despite this increase, on 21 May, 2019, the Banking Group announced its decision to cease any new mortgage lending (see "Business Overview and Strategy" above).

General Insurance

TPF owns 49.9 per cent. of TU, an authorised insurance company with the remaining 50.1 per cent. owned by Ageas (UK) Limited. TU is accounted for as a joint venture of the Banking Group. The Banking Group's insurance business provides a wide range of general insurance products to customers in the UK, including motor, home and pet insurance. The business involves the distribution of products underwritten by third-party insurers and TU. TU underwrites household and motor insurance and provides claims management services for these products. TPF has primary responsibility for the sales and servicing of motor and home insurance, whereas other insurance products are distributed under commission-based introducer arrangements.

In the financial year ended 28 February, 2019, a significant and ongoing investment was made in motor insurance pricing, across both new business and renewal policies, in response to competition, supporting the Banking Group's commitment to offering value to its customers. This has driven improved motor insurance retention rates year-on-year, although the total number of in-force policies has fallen, reflecting the impact of competition on motor insurance premiums.

During the financial year ended 28 February, 2019, the Banking Group also made the decision to exit the travel insurance market, withdrawing the product from 31 January, 2019.

Funding and Liquidity

Customer deposits continue to be the Banking Group's primary source of funding. Customer deposits were £10,465.2 million as at 28 February, 2019 (an increase of 13.20% from £9,244.6 million as at 28 February, 2018).

TPF has issued three bonds each aimed at retail investors, two of which remain outstanding. The first bond was a £125 million bond issued in February 2011 (which matured and was fully repaid in August 2018), the second bond was a £60 million bond issued in December 2011 and the third bond was a £200 million bond issued in May 2012.

Additionally, TPF sources a proportion of its funding through its credit card securitisation programme which it principally uses for medium term funding, although retained notes can also be used for short term repurchase transaction funding purposes.

TPF also has access to significant amounts of central bank funding and contingent liquidity. As at 28 February, 2019, TPF had entered into repurchase transactions with an aggregate value of £324.2 million and accessed £1,339.0 million of funds from the Bank of England's ("BoE") Term Funding Scheme ("TFS") in order to support future lending growth. The lower cost of funding provided by the

TFS is reflected in competitive offers for TPF's borrowing customers.

As at 28 February, 2019, the total capital ratio was 18.5 per cent., a decrease from 19.4 per cent. as at 28 February, 2018. The Banking Group's total capital ratio remains above internal targets and regulatory requirements and leaves the Banking Group well placed to support future growth.

As at 28 February, 2019, the Banking Group's net stable funding ratio ("NSFR") was 123.5 per cent., an increase from 118.1 per cent. at 28 February, 2018.

The Banking Group maintains a liquid asset portfolio of high quality securities and additional treasury assets which also offer a high degree of liquidity. These assets can be used as collateral for short-term central bank and market borrowings under repurchase and similar agreements. As at 28 February, 2019, the Banking Group's liquid asset portfolio totalled £2.1 billion (a decrease of £0.1 billion over the corresponding period in the previous financial year).

Governance and Group Policies

The Banking Group has a framework of key policies in place which are approved at Board and Executive level committees. Each policy is owned by a specific individual who is responsible for maintenance and assurance of the policy. Each policy must be reviewed on at least a bi-annual basis, or earlier if there is a trigger for policy review such as a regulatory change, to ensure its continued effectiveness and applicability. The risk management function ("RMFu") provides tracking and oversight of the policy framework and is responsible for undertaking assurance and providing reports to the Board of Directors of TPFG (the "Board") on its effectiveness.

Three Lines of Defence

The Banking Group has adopted the 'three lines of defence' model of governance with clearly defined roles and responsibilities to help drive effective risk management.

First line of defence

Senior Management within each business area is responsible for managing the risks that arise from the activities in which it is engaged in accordance with the Banking Group's risk management framework ("RMF") and policies. The role of the first line of defence is to implement the Banking Group's RMF and policies; identify, assess, own and manage risks that arise from the activities in which it is engaged; design, implement, operate and test management controls; identify and manage risk events, including the delivery of remedial actions and performance of root cause analysis; operate within risk appetite and any and all related limits which the second line establish; comply with risk reporting standards established by the second line; and perform risk aggregation, analysis and reporting within their business line.

Second line of defence

The RMFu operates under the leadership of the Chief Risk Officer (the "CRO"). Risk teams reporting to the CRO are the second line of defence, and are resourced by people with expertise in each of the principal risks faced by the Banking Group.

The role of the second line of defence is to:

- own, develop, communicate and provide advice on the Banking Group's RMF and policies;
- provide risk-based oversight and assurance of the first line's implementation of the RMF and policies;
- provide risk-based oversight and assurance of first line risk management and control, including challenging the completeness of risk identification and assessment, which can take a variety of forms including active involvement in committees and meetings and review and challenge of management information;
- own the risk appetite framework on behalf of the Board;
- · design and deliver standards for risk reporting escalation; and
- perform Group-wide risk aggregation and analysis.

Third line of defence

This comprises the Internal Audit ("IA") function, which is responsible for providing independent assurance to the Board and senior management on the adequacy of the design and operational effectiveness of internal control systems and measures across the business. The IA function has an independent reporting line to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and is resourced by individuals

with relevant experience and professional qualifications. In addition, IA resources are supplemented across a range of audits by external support to provide additional subject matter expertise when required. Independent assessment is provided through the execution of an agreed plan of audits and through attendance at relevant governance committees and through stakeholder management meetings.

The primary role of IA is to provide independent assurance on the effectiveness of governance, risk management and control across the first and second lines. The IA function achieves this through its core responsibilities, which include proposing an annual audit plan based on its assessment (after discussion with management) of the significant potential risks to which the organisation could be exposed; carrying out audits of functions and processes in accordance with the annual audit plan and any additional special investigations requested by management, the Board, the Audit Committee or the regulators; assessing the adequacy and effectiveness of the controls in the functions and processes audited, and issuing recommendations where improvement is required based on the results of work carried out; verifying compliance with those recommendations; reporting to the Audit Committee in relation to internal audit matters; and providing input to the Tesco IA department's reporting to the Tesco audit committee.

Stress Testing

Stress testing is the process by which the Banking Group's business plans are regularly subjected to severe but plausible scenarios to assess the potential impact on the business, including projected capital and liquidity positions. The scenarios adopted are subject to a rigorous selection process and include hypothetical operational failures, macroeconomic stress events and customer behaviour impacts. The results, along with proposed actions, are reported to the Asset and Liability Management Committee (the "ALCo") and the Board Risk Committee (the "BRC"). These are captured in both the Individual Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process ("ICAAP") and the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process ("ICAAP").

Monitoring and Reporting

The Banking Group monitors and tracks current exposures against limits defined in the agreed risk appetite and as set by the regulators. Exceptions are reported on a monthly basis to the ALCo and Executive Risk Committee ("ERC") and to each meeting of the BRC. Adherence to these limits is independently monitored, measured and reported using a suite of key indicators defined by each risk team responsible for managing the major specific risk categories faced by the Banking Group. Decisions made at subordinate risk committees and forums are reported to senior committees as appropriate.

Administrative, Management and Supervisory Bodies

Board of Directors of TPFG (the "Board")

As at the date of this Offering Circular, the Directors of TPFG, the business address of each of whom is 2 South Gyle Crescent, Edinburgh EH12 9FQ, and their functions and principal activities outside TPFG, where these are significant with respect to TPFG, are as follows:

Name of Director	Role	Principal activities outside TPFG		
Graham Pimlott	Non-Executive Chairman	Non-Executive Director of Tesco Personal Finance plc, Grosvenor Limited, and Graham Pimlott Limited.		
John Castagno	Independent Non-Executive Director	Non-Executive Director of Tesco Personal Finance plc, British Gas Insurance Limited, British Gas Services Limited, Simple and Open Limited and Y R Free Labs Limited.		
Robert Endersby	Independent Non-Executive Director	Non-Executive Director of Tesco Personal Finance plc, Credit Suisse		

		International and Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited.
Jacqueline Ferguson	Independent Non-Executive Director	Non-Executive Director of Tesco Personal Finance plc, Wood plc, Croda plc and F & F Holdings Limited.
Richard Henderson	Chief Risk Officer	Executive Director of Tesco Personal Finance plc.
Declan Hourican	Chief Financial Officer	Executive Director of Tesco Personal Finance plc and Non-Executive Director of Tesco Underwriting Limited.
Simon Machell	Independent Non-Executive Director	Non-Executive Director of Tesco Personal Finance plc, Tesco Underwriting Limited, Pacific Life Re Limited, Prudential Corporation Asia and Suncorp.
Gerry Mallon	Chief Executive	Executive Director of Tesco Personal Finance plc and Chairman of Irish Football Association.
James McConville	Independent Non-Executive Director	Non–Executive Director of Tesco Personal Finance plc, Executive Director of Phoenix Group Holdings plc.
Amanda Rendle	Independent Non-Executive Director	Non-Executive Director of Tesco Personal Finance plc and the British Business Bank plc and Executive Director of Jaren Consulting Limited.
Alan Stewart	Non-Executive Director	Executive Director of Tesco PLC and Tesco Corporate Treasury Services PLC and Non–Executive Director of Tesco Personal Finance plc and Diageo plc.
James Willens	Senior Independent Non- Executive Director	Non–Executive Director of Tesco Personal Finance plc and Willis Limited.

Except as described in the next paragraph, there are no potential or actual conflicts of interest between the private interests or other duties of the Directors of TPFG and their duties to TPFG.

Robert Endersby's non-executive appointments at Credit Suisse International and Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited; Declan Hourican's non-executive appointment at Tesco Underwriting Limited; Simon Machell's non-executive appointment at Tesco Underwriting Limited; Amanda Rendle's non-executive appointment at the British Business Bank plc; Alan Stewart's executive appointments at Tesco PLC, Tesco Treasury Services PLC, and Tesco Corporate Treasury Services PLC; James Willens' non-executive appointment at Willis Limited; and Jacqueline Ferguson's non-executive appointments at Wood plc, Croda plc, F & F Holdings Limited, and advisory membership of Docusign International Inc, Engie Regeneration Holdings Limited and The Engineering and Technology Board are all principal activities relating to entities with whom each such Director may have a potential conflict of interest between his or her duty to TPFG and his or her duty to the respective entity in which he or she has a private interest. For example, a potential conflict of interest could arise if such Director is called upon to vote in relation to a transaction between TPFG and a company of which he or she is a Director.

The Board monitors potential and actual conflicts of interest and has processes to deal with them. Directors of TPFG are required to disclose potential and actual conflicts of interest to the Board and the Board addresses potential and actual conflicts in accordance with legal requirements.

As a matter of English law, each Director of TPFG is under a duty to act honestly and in good faith with regard to the best interests of TPFG, regardless of any other private interests such Director may have.

The Board has overall responsibility for determining the Banking Group's strategy and related risk appetite. The risk appetite comprises a suite of risk appetite statements, underpinned by

corresponding measures with agreed triggers and limits. The risk appetite framework defines the type and amount of risk that the Banking Group is prepared to accept to achieve its objectives and forms a key link between the day to day risk management of the business, its strategic objectives, long term plan, capital plan and stress testing. The risk appetite is formally reviewed by the Board on at least an annual basis.

The Board is also responsible for overall corporate governance, which includes overseeing an effective system of risk management and that the level of capital and liquidity held is adequate and consistent with the risk profile of the business. To support this, the RMF has been embedded across the Banking Group, creating an integrated approach to managing risk. The RMF brings together governance, risk appetite, the three lines of defence, the Policy Framework and risk management tools to support the business in managing risk as part of day-to-day activity, and is underpinned by governance, controls, processes, systems and policies within the first line business areas and those of the second line Risk Management Function (RMFu). The Board approves the Banking Group's business plans, budget, long term plan, ICAAP, ILAAP and any material new product lines in line with the approved risk appetite. The Board also monitors the Banking Group's risk profile and capital adequacy position. The Banking Group employs hedging and mitigation techniques defined within the Banking Group's policies to ensure risks are managed within risk appetite.

The Board has delegated responsibility for the day to day running of the business to the Chief Executive who has in turn established the ExCo to assist in the management of the business and to deliver the strategy in an effective and controlled way. The Board has established Board committees and the executive has established senior management committees to:

- oversee the RMF;
- identify the key risks facing the Banking Group; and
- assess the effectiveness of the risk management actions.

The Board has overall responsibility for the management of the business and acts as the main decision-making forum. It sets the risk appetite and strategic aims for the business, in some circumstances subject to shareholder approval, within a control framework which is designed to enable risk to be assessed and managed. The Board satisfies itself that financial controls and systems of risk management are robust through the reporting provided to it and provides feedback where necessary to ensure that reporting remains fit for purpose.

In order to support effective governance and management of the wide range of responsibilities, the Board has established the following five sub-committees:

Audit Committee ("AC")

The AC comprises James McConville (chair), Robert Endersby, Simon Machell and Jacqueline Ferguson.

Board Risk Committee

The Board Risk Committee comprises Robert Endersby (chair), John Castagno, James McConville, Graham Pimlott, Amanda Rendle, Alan Stewart, James Willens, and Jacqueline Ferguson.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises James Willens (chair), Robert Endersby, Graham Pimlott and Amanda Rendle.

Disclosure Committee

The Disclosure Committee comprises Graham Pimlott (chair), Robert Endersby, Richard Henderson, Declan Hourican, James McConville and James Willens.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises Graham Pimlott (chair), Simon Machell, James Willens and Amanda Rendle.

Executive Committee ("ExCo")

The Board has delegated the day to day running of the business to the Chief Executive. The Chief Executive has established the ExCo to assist in the management of the business and to deliver

against strategy in an effective and controlled way. The ExCo provides general executive management of the business. Each ExCo member is accountable to the Chief Executive and to the Board for managing performance in line with the Banking Group's risk appetite, long term plan, strategy and annual budget.

Regulation

Overview of United Kingdom Financial Services Regulation

The cornerstone of the regulatory regime in the United Kingdom is the FSMA and secondary legislation and FCA and PRA rules made under the FSMA. The FCA and the PRA have responsibility under the FSMA for the regulation and oversight of a wide range of financial services activities in the United Kingdom. The FCA and the PRA are responsible for the authorisation and supervision of institutions that perform regulated activities as defined in the FSMA. As part of their authorisation process, the FCA and the PRA review applicants to ensure that they satisfy the necessary criteria, including suitability, competence and financial soundness, to engage in regulated activity. Other laws, including EU regulations, govern particular financial services including for example the CRR and, in relation to consumer lending, the Consumer Credit Act 1974. Provisions of the general law also govern the conduct of financial services business including for example the Consumer Rights Act 2015.

Current Regulatory Themes

Regulatory themes which have a current bearing on the business of TPF include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Payment Services Directive 2 which sets regulatory requirements for firms that provide
 payment services and requires banks to open their payments infrastructure and customer data
 assets to third parties providers that can then develop payments and information services.
- Firms' culture and governance, including extending the Senior Managers and Certification Regime (SMCR) to all firms to promote the embedding of a healthy culture focusing on four drivers of behaviour purpose, leadership, rewards and managing people and governance.
- Operational resilience will play a vital role in protecting the UK's financial system. Both the PRA and FCA will expand its focus on firms' resilience in relation to third-party relationships and change management plans.
- Combating financial crime and improving anti-money laundering practices, by enhancing the use of technology and data. Developments include the introduction of the Contingent Reimbursement Model and the Authorised Push Payment voluntary code.
- Ensuring the fair treatment of firms' existing customers by monitoring firms' practices, in relation to prospective and current customers. All firms are required to assess whether their pricing practices result in their customers being treated fairly. Firms should also be able to demonstrate how they have reached this conclusion.
- Enhanced capital and liquidity requirements under the Capital Requirement Directive, Capital Requirement Regulations, and resolution specific rules. The final implementation of EU rules in the UK may depend on outcomes of Brexit.

Changes in Accounting Policies

The Banking Group adopted and implemented both International Financial Reporting Standard ("IFRS") 9 'Financial Instruments' and IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers' with effect from 1 March 2018.

For the impact of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on the TPF Group, please refer to "Note 2 Transition to IFRS 9 and IFRS 15" of TPFG's Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 28 February, 2019 (the "2019 Annual Report").

In the 2019 Annual Report, IFRS 9 has been applied retrospectively at 1 March, 2018 by adjusting the opening balance sheet at that date, with no requirement to restate comparative periods. IFRS 15 has been applied fully retrospectively and prior period comparatives have been restated. All references to the financial information for the year ended 28 February, 2019 in this Offering Circular are to such numbers from the 2019 Annual Report.

Internal Review of Compliance with Anti-Money Laundering and Sanctions Legislation

TPF has undertaken a thorough review of its compliance with applicable anti-money laundering ("AML")

and sanctions legislation (the "Review"). The Review identified that TPF is compliant with all aspects of applicable sanctions legislation and that the majority of TPF's AML systems and controls are (i) compliant with AML requirements, (ii) effective and (iii) proportionate to the associated risk. TPF is currently working to make further enhancements to its AML systems and controls in line with the Money Laundering, Terrorist Financing and Transfer of Funds (Information on the Payer) Regulations 2017 (the "AML Regulations"). TPF has informed the FCA, as part of its standard regulatory interaction, of the planned enhancements. TPF is not aware of any limitations in its current AML systems and controls having resulted in any actual money laundering, loss or related issues.

TAXATION

UNITED KINGDOM TAXATION

The following applies only to persons who are the beneficial owners of Notes and is a summary of the Issuer's understanding of current United Kingdom law and published HM Revenue & Customs' ("HMRC") practice as at the date of this Offering Circular relating only to United Kingdom withholding tax treatment of payments of interest (as that term is understood for United Kingdom tax purposes) in respect of Notes and does not deal with any other United Kingdom taxation implications of acquiring, holding or disposing of Notes. The United Kingdom tax treatment of prospective Noteholders depends on their individual circumstances and may be subject to change in the future. Prospective Noteholders who are or may be unsure as to their tax position or who may be subject to tax in a jurisdiction other than the United Kingdom should seek their own professional advice.

Payment of Interest on the Notes

Payments of interest on the Notes may be made without deduction or withholding for or on account of United Kingdom income tax provided that the Notes carry a right to interest and are and continue to be listed on a "recognised stock exchange" within the meaning of section 1005 of the Income Tax Act 2007. The London Stock Exchange is a recognised stock exchange. Securities will be treated as listed on the London Stock Exchange if they are included in the Official List within the meaning of and in accordance with the provisions of Part 6 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange. Provided, therefore, that the Notes carry a right to interest and are and remain so listed on a "recognised stock exchange", interest on the Notes will be payable without withholding or deduction on account of United Kingdom income tax.

Payments of interest on Notes may be made without deduction of or withholding on account of United Kingdom tax where the maturity of the Notes is less than 365 days and those Notes do not form part of a scheme or arrangement of borrowing intended to be capable of remaining outstanding for more than 364 days.

Payments of interest on Dated Subordinated Notes may be made without deduction of or withholding on account of United Kingdom income tax if the Notes are "regulatory capital securities". The Dated Subordinated Notes will be "regulatory capital securities" if they qualify, or have qualified, as Additional Tier 1 instruments under Article 52 or Tier 2 instruments under Article 63 of Commission Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 and form, or have formed, a component of Additional Tier 1 capital or Tier 2 capital for those purposes. This is subject to there being no arrangements the main purpose, or one of the main purposes, of which is to obtain a tax advantage (as defined in section 1139 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010) for any person as a result of the application of the Taxation of Regulatory Capital Securities Regulations 2013 in respect of the Dated Subordinated Notes.

In other cases, an amount must generally be withheld from payments of interest on the Notes that has a United Kingdom source on account of United Kingdom income tax at the basic rate (currently 20 per cent.), subject to any available exemptions and reliefs. However, where an applicable double tax treaty provides for a lower rate of withholding tax (or for no tax to be withheld) in relation to a Noteholder, HMRC can issue a notice to the Issuer to pay interest to the Noteholder without deduction of tax (or for interest to be paid with tax deducted at the rate provided for in the relevant double tax treaty).

THE PROPOSED FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS TAX ("FTT")

On 14 February, 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the "Commission's Proposal") for a Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (each, other than Estonia, a "participating Member State"). However, Estonia has since stated that it will not participate.

The Commission's Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances. Primary market transactions referred to in Article (5)(c) of Regulation (EC) No 1287/2006 are expected to be exempt.

Under the Commission's Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in the Notes where at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a participating Member State. A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, "established" in a participating Member State in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a

person established in a participating Member State or (b) where the financial instrument which is subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member State.

However, the FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between the participating Member States. It may therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. Additional Member States may decide to participate.

Prospective Noteholders are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.

FOREIGN ACCOUNT TAX COMPLIANCE ACT

Pursuant to certain provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly known as "FATCA", a foreign financial institution (as defined by FATCA) may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes ("foreign passthru payments") to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting or related requirements. The Issuer may be foreign financial institutions for these purposes. A number of jurisdictions (including the United Kingdom) have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement FATCA ("IGAs"), which modify the way in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions. Under the provisions of IGAs as currently in effect, a foreign financial institution in an IGA jurisdiction would generally not be required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA from payments that it makes. Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments such as Notes, including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as Notes, are uncertain and may be subject to change. Even if withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as Notes, such withholding would not apply prior to the date that is two years after the date on which final regulations defining foreign passthru payments are published in the U.S. Federal Register and Notes characterised as debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes that are issued on or prior to the date that is six months after the date on which final regulations defining foreign passthru payments are filed with the U.S. Federal Register generally would be grandfathered for purposes of FATCA withholding unless materially modified after such date (including by reason of a substitution of the Issuer). However, if additional Notes (as described under "Terms and Conditions—Further Issues") that are not distinguishable from previously issued Notes are issued after the expiration of the grandfathering period and are subject to withholding under FATCA, then withholding agents may treat all Notes, including the Notes offered prior to the expiration of the grandfathering period, as subject to withholding under FATCA. Noteholders should consult their own tax advisers regarding how these rules may apply to their investment in Notes.

SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

The Dealers have, in a dealer agreement dated 11 July, 2019 (as modified and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Dealer Agreement") agreed with the Issuer a basis upon which they or any of them may from time to time agree to purchase Notes. Any such agreement will extend to those matters stated under "Form of the Notes" and "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" above. In the Dealer Agreement, the Issuer has agreed to reimburse the Dealers for certain of their expenses in connection with the establishment and any future update of the Programme and the issue of Notes under the Programme.

United States

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in certain transactions exempt from or not subject to the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that, except as permitted by the Dealer Agreement, it will not offer, sell or deliver Notes, (i) as part of their distribution at any time and (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the distribution, as determined and certified by the relevant Dealer or, in the case of an issue of Notes on a syndicated basis, the relevant lead manager, of all Notes of the Tranche of which such Notes are a part, within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. Each Dealer has further agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree, that it will send to each dealer to which it sells Notes during the distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. Terms used in the preceding paragraph and in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of any Tranche of Notes, an offer or sale of such Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

The Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. Treasury regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder. The applicable Final Terms (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) will identify whether TEFRA D rules apply or whether TEFRA is not applicable.

Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors

Unless the Final Terms in respect of any Notes (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) specifies "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" as "Not Applicable", each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Offering Circular as completed by the Final Terms (or, in the case of Exempt Notes, the Pricing Supplement) in relation thereto to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. For the purposes of this provision:

- (a) the expression "retail investor" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:
 - (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); or
 - (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive 2002/92/EC (as amended or superseded, the "Insurance Mediation Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or
 - (iii) not a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive (where "Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC (as amended or superseded), and includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State); and

(b) the expression "offer" includes the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Notes.

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) specifies "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors" as "Not Applicable", in relation to each Member State of the EEA which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (each a "Relevant Member State"), each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that with effect from and including the date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the "Relevant Implementation Date") it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Offering Circular as completed by the Final Terms (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) in relation thereto to the public in that Relevant Member State except that it may, with effect from and including the Relevant Implementation Date, make an offer of such Notes to the public in that Relevant Member State:

- (a) at any time to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive;
- (b) at any time to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus Directive) subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer or Dealers nominated by the Issuer for any such offer; or
- (c) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive,

provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in (a) to (c) above shall require the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive, or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, (i) the expression an "offer of Notes to the public" in relation to any Notes in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe the Notes, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Member State, (ii) the expression "Prospectus Directive" means Directive 2003/71/EC of 4th November, 2003 of the European Parliament and the Council of the European Union (as amended or superseded), and includes any relevant implementing measure in the Relevant Member State.

United Kingdom

Each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that:

- (i) in relation to any Notes having a maturity of less than one year from the date of their issue, (a) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business and (b) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other than to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or as agent) for the purposes of their businesses or who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses where the issue or sale of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of Section 19 of the FSMA by the Issuer;
- (ii) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and
- (iii) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Belgium

Other than in respect of Notes for which "Prohibition of Sales to Belgian Consumers" is specified as "Not Applicable" in the applicable Final Terms (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes), each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that an offering of Notes may not be advertised to any individual in

Belgium qualifying as a consumer within the meaning of Article I.1 of the Belgian Code of Economic Law, as amended from time to time (a "Belgian Consumer") and that it has not offered, sold or resold, transferred or delivered, and will not offer, sell, resell, transfer or deliver, the Notes, and that it has not distributed, and will not distribute, any prospectus, memorandum, information circular, brochure or any similar documents in relation to the Notes, directly or indirectly, to any Belgian Consumer.

Singapore

Each Dealer has acknowledged, and each further Dealer appointed under this Programme will be required to acknowledge that this Offering Circular has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore (the "MAS"), and the Notes will be offered pursuant to exemptions under the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore (the "Securities and Futures Act" or "SFA"). Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that the Notes have not been offered or sold and will not be offered or sold or made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase nor will this Offering Circular or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale or invitation for subscription or purchase of any Notes be circulated or distributed, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the Securities and Futures Act, (ii) to a relevant person (as defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA) under Section 275(1) of the Securities and Futures Act, or to any person pursuant to Section 275(1A) of the Securities and Futures Act, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the Securities and Futures Act or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with, the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the Securities and Futures Act.

Where the Notes are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the Securities and Futures Act by a relevant person which is:

- (a) a corporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the Securities and Futures Act)) the sole business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or
- (b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor,

securities or securities-based derivatives contracts (each term as defined in Section 2(1) of the Securities and Futures Act) of that corporation or the beneficiaries' rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferable for six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Notes pursuant to an offer under Section 275 of the Securities and Futures Act except:

- (i) to an institutional investor or to a relevant person defined in Section 275(2) of the Securities and Futures Act or to any person arising from an offer referred to in Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(i)(B) of the Securities and Futures Act; or
- (ii) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer; or
- (iii) where the transfer is by operation of law; or
- (iv) as specified in Section 276(7) of the Securities and Futures Act; or
- (v) as specified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Securities and Securities-based Derivatives Contracts) Regulations 2018 of Singapore.

Any reference to the Securities and Futures Act or the SFA is a reference to the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore and a reference to any term as defined in the SFA or any provision in the SFA is a reference to that term as modified or amended from time to time including by such of its subsidiary legislation as may be applicable at the relevant time.

Notification under Section 309B(1)(c) of the SFA – Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Final Terms (or Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes) in respect of any Notes, all Notes issued or to be issued under the Programme shall be "prescribed capital markets products" (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16: Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended, the "FIEA") and each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree that it will not offer or sell any Notes, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (as defined under Item 5, Paragraph 1, Article 6 of the Foreign Exchange and Foreign Trade Act (Act No. 228 of 1949, as amended)), or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, a resident of Japan pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of and otherwise in compliance with, the FIEA and any other applicable laws, regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan.

General

Each Dealer has agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree, that it will (to the best of its knowledge and belief) comply with all applicable securities laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction in which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or possesses or distributes this Offering Circular and will obtain any consent, approval or permission required by it for the purchase, offer, sale or delivery by it of Notes under the laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction to which it is subject or in which it makes such purchases, offers, sales or deliveries and neither the Issuer nor any other Dealer shall have any responsibility therefor.

None of the Issuer and the Dealers represents that Notes may at any time lawfully be sold in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any jurisdiction, or pursuant to any exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating such sale.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Authorisation

The establishment of the Programme and the issue of Notes thereunder have been duly authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer dated 20 September, 2018.

Listing of Notes on the Official List

The admission of Notes to the Official List will be expressed as a percentage of their nominal amount (excluding accrued interest). It is expected that each Tranche of Notes which is to be admitted to the Official List and to trading on the London Stock Exchange's regulated market will be admitted separately as and when issued, subject only to the issue of a temporary global Note initially representing the Notes of such Tranche. Application has been made to the Financial Conduct Authority for Notes issued under the Programme during the period of 12 months from the date of this Offering Circular to be admitted to the Official List and to the London Stock Exchange for such Notes to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's regulated market. Such application is expected to be granted on or around 17 July, 2019.

Clearing Systems

The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear (which are the entities in charge of keeping the records). The appropriate Common Code and ISIN for each Tranche of Notes allocated by Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear will be specified in the applicable Final Terms (or the applicable Pricing Supplement, in the case of Exempt Notes). If the Notes are to be cleared through an additional or alternative clearing system the appropriate information will be specified in the applicable Final Terms or Pricing Supplement.

The address of Euroclear is Euroclear Bank SA/NV, 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels and the address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is Clearstream Banking, 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg.

Conditions for Determining Price

The price and amount of Notes to be issued under the Programme will be determined by the Issuer and each relevant Dealer at the time of issue in accordance with prevailing market conditions.

Significant or Material Change

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer or of the Banking Group since 28 February, 2019 and there has been no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer or of the Banking Group since 28 February, 2019.

Material Contracts

Neither the Issuer nor any of its subsidiaries has entered into any material contracts outside the ordinary course of business which could result in it being under an obligation or entitlement which is, or may be, material to the ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations in respect of the Notes.

Governmental, Legal and Arbitration Proceedings

There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is aware) in the 12 months preceding the date of this Offering Circular which may have, or have had in the recent past, a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer or the Banking Group.

Auditors

Deloitte LLP audited the Issuer's and the Banking Group's accounts for the years ended 28 February, 2019 and 28 February, 2018, in each case in accordance with the generally accepted auditing standards in the United Kingdom and reported thereon without qualification.

Deloitte LLP does not have a material interest in the Issuer.

Trust Deed

The Trust Deed provides that the Trustee may rely on certificates or reports from the Auditors (as defined in the Trust Deed) and/or any other expert in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed whether or not any such certificate or report or any engagement letter or other document entered into by the Trustee and the Auditors or such other expert in connection therewith contains any limit on the liability (monetary or otherwise) of the Auditors or such other expert.

Documents Available

For the period of 12 months following the date of this Offering Circular, copies of the following documents will, when published (if applicable), be available from the registered office of the Issuer and from the specified office of the Paying Agents:

- (i) the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Issuer;
- (ii) the independent auditor's report and audited consolidated and non-consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended 28 February, 2019;
- (iii) the independent auditor's report and audited consolidated and non-consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the year ended 28 February, 2018;
- (iv) the Schedule of Forms (containing the forms of the Temporary Global Notes, the Permanent Global Notes, the Definitive Notes, the Coupons and the Talons);
- (v) this Offering Circular; and
- (vi) any future offering circulars, prospectuses or information memoranda in respect of the Notes, any supplements thereto and any Final Terms and Pricing Supplements (in the case of Exempt Notes) (save that Pricing Supplements will only be available for inspection by a holder of such Note and such holder must produce evidence satisfactory to the Paying Agent as to its holding and identity) and any other documents incorporated therein by reference.

Dealers Transacting with the Issuer

Certain of the Dealers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business. Certain of the Dealers and their affiliates may have positions, deal or make markets in the Notes issued under the Programme, related derivatives and reference obligations, including (but not limited to) entering into hedging strategies on behalf of the Issuer and its affiliates, investor clients, or as principal in order to manage their exposure, their general market risk, or other trading activities.

In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Dealers and their affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments of the Issuer or its affiliates. Certain of the Dealers or their affiliates that have a lending relationship with the Issuer, routinely hedge their credit exposure to the Issuer consistent with their customary risk management policies. Typically, such Dealers and their affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in securities, including potentially the Notes issued under the Programme. Any such positions could adversely affect future trading prices of Notes issued under the Programme. The Dealers and their affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP LIMITED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT For the Year Ended 28 February 2018

		2018	2017
	Note	£m	£m
Interest and circular income	4	672.2	C10.1
Interest and similar income	4	673.2	618.1
Interest expense and similar charges	4	(180.1)	(178.9)
Net interest income		493.1	439.2
Fees and commissions income	5	387.0	394.0
Fees and commissions expense	5	(31.6)	(31.3)
Net fees and commissions income		355.4	362.7
Unrealised gains on financial instruments	6	11.0	6.3
Realised gain on financial instruments	7	0.1	4.2
Net other income		11.1	10.5
Total income		859.6	812.4
Administrative expenses	8	(422.7)	(425.0)
Depreciation and amortisation	23,24	(83.0)	(110.3)
Provision for customer redress	28	(23.8)	(45.0)
Operating expenses		(529.5)	(580.3)
Impairment on loans and advances to customers	9	(137.4)	(106.4)
Operating profit		192.7	125.7
Share of profit/(loss) of joint venture	21	10.0	(15.6)
Profit before tax		202.7	110.1
Income tax (charge)/credit	11	(61.6)	27.3
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent		141.1	137.4

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP LIMITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME For the Year Ended 28 February 2018

	Note	2018 £m	2017 £m
Profit for the year		141.1	137.4
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement			
Unrealised net gains on available-for-sale investment securities before tax	11	1.8	7.1
Net gains arising on cash flow hedges before tax	11	0.4	1.6
Tax relating to items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement	11	(0.4)	(5.6)
Share of other comprehensive (expense)/income of joint venture	21	(6.5)	10.5
Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement		(4.7)	13.6
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of the parent		136.4	151.0

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP LIMITED CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION For the Year Ended 28 February 2018

Company number SC173198

		Group		Company		
		2018	2017	2018	2017	
	Note	£m	£m	£m	£m	
Assets						
Cash and balances with central banks	13	1,318.6	802.9	3.4	3.6	
Loans and advances to customers	14	11,522.4	9,961.2	_	_	
Loans and advances to subsidiary companies	15	_	_	235.0	235.0	
Derivative financial instruments	16	46.1	28.7	-	-	
Investment securities:						
- Available-for-sale	17	925.4	966.1	_	_	
- Loans and receivables	17	34.1	34.1	_	_	
Prepayments and accrued income	18	49.3	42.2	0.7	0.6	
Other assets	19	265.7	299.0	-	-	
Investment in joint venture	21	90.0	71.0	-	-	
Investment in group undertakings	20	_	_	1,219.9	1,219.9	
Intangible assets	23	271.1	300.0	-	-	
Property, plant and equipment	24	68.0	73.3	-	_	
Total assets		14,590.7	12,578.5	1,459.0	1,459.1	
Liabilities						
Deposits from banks	25	1,539.0	499.8	_	_	
Deposits from customers	26	9,244.6	8,463.2	_	_	
Debt securities in issue	27	1,347.6	1,204.3	_	_	
Derivative financial instruments	16	88.4	133.3	_	_	
Provisions for liabilities and charges	28	79.4	83.5	_	_	
Accruals and deferred income	29	109.0	115.1	0.7	0.6	
Current income tax liability		34.9	8.3	_	_	
Other liabilities	30	144.3	148.4	_	0.2	
Deferred income tax liability	22	3.7	13.7	-	-	
Subordinated liabilities and notes	31	235.0	235.0	235.0	235.0	
Total liabilities		12,825.9	10,904.6	235.7	235.8	
Equity and reserves attributable to owners of parent	t					
Share capital	32	122.0	122.0	122.0	122.0	
Share premium account	32	1,098.2	1,098.2	1,098.2	1,098.2	
Retained earnings		500.4	409.3	3.1	3.1	
Other reserves	33	44.2	44.4	_	_	
Total equity		1,764.8	1,673.9	1,223.3	1,223.3	
Total liabilities and equity		14,590.7	12,578.5	1,459.0	1,459.1	

Profit for the year of £50.0m (2017: £50.0m) is attributable to the Company.

The Consolidated and Company Financial Statements on pages 25 to 105 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 26 April 2018 and were signed on its behalf by:

Declan Hourican Director

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP LIMITED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY For the Year Ended 28 February 2018

	Note	Share capital £m	Share premium £m	Retained earnings £m	Available -for-sale reserve £m	Cash flow hedge reserve £m	Share based payment reserve	Total equity £m
			LIII		LIII	EIII	EIII	
Balance at 1 March 2017		122.0	1,098.2	409.3	18.0	(0.6)	27.0	1,673.9
Comprehensive income								
Profit for the year		-	_	141.1	_	_	-	141.1
Net gains on available-for-sale								
investment securities	11	-	-	-	1.5	_	_	1.5
Net gains on cash flow hedges Share of other comprehensive	11	-	-	-	-	0.3	_	0.3
expense of joint venture	21	-	-	-	(6.5)	-	-	(6.5)
Total comprehensive income		_		141.1	(5.0)	0.3		136.4
To a security of the security								_ _
Transactions with owners Dividends to ordinary								
shareholders	12	_	_	(50.0)	_	_	_	(50.0)
Share based payments	33	_	_	(50.0)	_	_	4.5	4.5
Total transactions with owners	33			(50.0)	_	_	4.5	(45.5)
		-	-					
Balance at 28 February 2018		122.0	1,098.2	500.4	13.0	(0.3)	31.5	1,764.8
Balance at 1 March 2016		122.0	1,098.2	321.9	5.4	(1.6)	23.3	1,569.2
Comprehensive income								
Profit for the year		_	_	137.4	_	_	_	137.4
Net gains on available-for-sale					2.4			2.4
investment securities	11	_	_	_	2.1	- 1.0	_	2.1
Net gains on cash flow hedges Share of other comprehensive	11	_	_	_		1.0	_	1.0
income of joint venture	21	_	_	_	10.5	_	_	10.5
income of joint venture	21				10.5			10.5
Total comprehensive income		_	_	137.4	12.6	1.0		151.0
Transactions with owners								
Dividends to ordinary								
shareholders	12	_	_	(50.0)	_	_	_	(50.0)
Share based payments	33	-	_	_	_	_	3.7	3.7
Total transactions with owners		_	_	(50.0)	_	_	3.7	(46.3)
Balance at 28 February 2017		122.0	1,098.2	409.3	18.0	(0.6)	27.0	1,673.9

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP LIMITED COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY For the Year Ended 28 February 2018

	Note	Share capital	Share premium	Retained earnings	Total equity
		£m	£m	£m	£m
Balance at 1 March 2017 Comprehensive income		122.0	1,098.2	3.1	1,223.3
Profit for the year		-	-	50.0	50.0
Total comprehensive income			_	50.0	50.0
Transactions with owners					
Dividends to ordinary shareholders	12	_	_	(50.0)	(50.0)
Total transactions with owners			_	(50.0)	(50.0)
Balance at 28 February 2018		122.0	1,098.2	3.1	1,223.3
Balance at 1 March 2016 Comprehensive income		122.0	1,098.2	3.1	1,223.3
Profit for the year		-	-	50.0	50.0
Total comprehensive income				50.0	50.0
Transactions with owners					
Dividends to ordinary shareholders	12	_	_	(50.0)	(50.0)
Total transactions with owners		_	_	(50.0)	(50.0)
Balance at 28 February 2017		122.0	1,098.2	3.1	1,223.3

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP LIMITED CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENTS For the Year Ended 28 February 2018

Note Operating Activities Profit before tax Adjusted for: Non-cash items included in operating profit before taxation and other adjustments ¹ Changes in operating assets and liabilities 37		ıp	Company	
Operating Activities Profit before tax Adjusted for: Non-cash items included in operating profit before taxation and other adjustments ¹ 37	2018	2017	2018	2017
Profit before tax Adjusted for: Non-cash items included in operating profit before taxation and other adjustments ¹ 37	£m	£m	£m	£m
Profit before tax Adjusted for: Non-cash items included in operating profit before taxation and other adjustments ¹ 37		Restated ¹		
Adjusted for: Non-cash items included in operating profit before taxation and other adjustments ¹ 37				
Non-cash items included in operating profit before taxation and other adjustments ¹ 37	202.7	110.1	50.0	50.0
profit before taxation and other adjustments ¹ 37				
•				
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 37	297.4	308.8	3.9	4.3
changes in operating assets and habilities	46.9	(110.3)	(0.2)	_
Income taxes (paid)/received	(44.5)	17.2	-	_
Cash flows generated from operating activities	502.5	325.8	53.7	54.3
Investing Activities				
Purchase and disposal of intangible assets and				
property, plant and equipment	(53.5)	(46.1)	_	_
Purchase of available-for-sale investment securities	(179.1)	(95.5)	_	
Sale of available-for-sale investment securities	185.4	126.6	_	
Investment in joint venture 21	(15.5)	120.0	_	
investment in joint venture 21	(13.3)	_	_	_
Cash flows (used in) investing activities	(62.7)	(15.0)	-	_
Financing Activities				
Net proceeds received in association with issuance of				
debt securities 27	300.0	_	_	_
Principal repayments on debt securities in issue 27	(150.0)	_	_	_
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders 12	(50.0)	(50.0)	(50.0)	(50.0)
Interest paid on debt securities in issue ¹	(24.6)	(25.2)	_	_
Interest received on assets held to hedge debt	(- /	(-)		
securities in issue ¹	3.6	3.1	_	_
Interest paid on subordinated liabilities and notes	(3.9)	(4.3)	(3.9)	(4.3)
Cash flows generated from/(used in) financing activities	75.1	(76.4)	(53.9)	(54.3)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	514.9	234.4	(0.2)	_
Cash and cash equivalents ² at beginning of year	788.6	554.2	3.6	3.6
Cash and cash equivalents ² at end of year 13	1,303.5	788.6	3.4	3.6

 $^{^{1}\,}$ Refer to note 1 for further details of prior year restatement.

² Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and balances with banks, excluding mandatory reserve deposits (refer to note 13).

1. Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation

The Company and Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as endorsed by the European Union (EU), and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRSs.

In these Financial Statements the 'Company' means Tesco Personal Finance Group Limited and the 'Group' means the Company and its subsidiaries and joint venture. Details of these subsidiaries and joint venture are provided in notes 20 and 21. These Consolidated Financial Statements comprise the Financial Statements of the Group. The Company has elected to take the exemption under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to present the Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income of the Company.

The Company and Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of derivative financial instruments and available-for-sale investment securities held at fair value.

The Company and Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Sterling, which is the functional currency of the Group. The figures shown in the Financial Statements are rounded to the nearest £0.1 million unless otherwise stated.

New and amended accounting standards adopted by the Group in the year are detailed in note 43.

Change in accounting policy

During the year, the Group has reclassified cash flows relating to debt securities in issue, along with related derivatives, from operating to financing activities. This reclassification more appropriately reports these cash flows in the section of the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement in which the principal funding transactions were reported. Prior year comparatives have been restated to align to the current year approach. The impact of this restatement on the prior year Consolidated Cash Flow Statement is as follows:

Line item	Total as previously stated £m	Adjusted £m	Restated total £m
Non-cash items included in operating profit before taxation Interest paid on debt securities in issue	286.7	22.1 (25.2)	308.8 (25.2)
Interest received on assets held to hedge debt securities in issue	-	3.1	3.1
	286.7	_	286.7

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Going concern

The Directors have completed an assessment of the Group's going concern status, taking into account both current and projected performance, including projections for the Group's capital and funding position and having regard to the Group's risk profile. As a result of this assessment, the Directors consider the Group to be in a satisfactory financial position and have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Financial Statements.

Principal accounting policies

A summary of the Group's accounting policies is set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all of the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group comprise the Financial Statements of the Company and all consolidated subsidiaries, including certain securitisation structured entities, and the Group's share of its interest in a joint venture, as at 28 February 2018.

Investment in Group undertakings

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The results of subsidiaries are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The Company's investments in its subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment.

Intragroup balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Securitisation structured entities

The Group enters into securitisation transactions in which it assigns Credit Card receivables to a securitisation structured entity which supports the issuance of securities backed by the cash flows from the securitised Credit Card receivables. Although none of the equity of the securitisation structured entities is owned by the Company, the nature of these entities means that the Group has the rights to variable returns from its involvement with these securitisation structured entities and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over them. As such they are effectively controlled by the Group and are consolidated on a line by line basis in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Investment in joint venture

A joint arrangement is an arrangement over which the Group has joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the Group has rights to a share of the net assets of the joint arrangement.

The Group's share of the results of a joint venture is included in the Consolidated Income Statement using the equity method of accounting. The Group's investment in a joint venture is carried in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of the net assets of the entity, less any impairment.

If the Group's share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its investment in the joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations to do so or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue recognition

Net interest income recognition

Interest income and expense for all financial instruments measured at amortised cost are recognised using the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method.

The EIR method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability (or group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows to the instrument's initial carrying amount. Calculation of the EIR takes into account fees receivable that are an integral part of the instrument's yield, premiums or discounts on acquisition or issue, early redemption fees and transaction costs. All contractual and behavioural terms of a financial instrument are considered when estimating future cash flows.

Net fees and commissions income recognition

Fees in respect of services are recognised on an accruals basis when the service to the customer has been provided. The arrangements are generally contractual and the cost of providing the service is incurred as the service is rendered. The price is usually fixed and always determinable.

The Group generates commission from the sale and service of Motor and Home insurance policies underwritten by Tesco Underwriting Limited (TU) or, in a minority of cases, by a third party underwriter. This is based on commission rates which are independent of the profitability of underlying insurance policies. Similar commission income is also generated from the sale of white label insurance products underwritten by other third party providers. This commission income is recognised as such policies are sold, with a provision being recognised for commission expected to be repayable following the cancellation of policies by customers.

Customer loyalty programmes

The Group participates in the customer loyalty programme operated by Tesco Stores Limited. The programme operates by allowing customers to accumulate Clubcard points on purchases for future redemption against a range of Tesco products. The cost of providing Clubcard points to customers is recharged by Tesco Stores Limited to the Group and is treated as a deduction from net fees and commissions income in the Consolidated Income Statement in the period the costs are incurred.

The Group has no obligation to customers in respect of Clubcard points once the obligation with Tesco Stores Limited is settled.

Dividend income

Dividends are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement when the entity's right to receive payment is established.

Taxation

The tax charge or credit included in the Consolidated Income Statement consists of current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Company and Consolidated Financial Statements. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each other when there is a legally enforceable right to set-off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and it is the intention to settle these on a net basis.

Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction.

Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated at the closing rate as at the reporting date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement, except when deferred in equity as gains or losses from qualifying cash flow hedging instruments. All foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement are presented net in the Consolidated Income Statement within the corresponding item. Foreign exchange gains and losses on other comprehensive income items are presented in other comprehensive income within the corresponding item.

In the case of changes in the fair value of monetary assets denominated in foreign currency classified as available-for-sale, a distinction is made between translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related to the changes in the amortised cost are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement, and other changes in the carrying amount, except impairment, are recognised in equity.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and demand deposits with banks together with short-term highly liquid investments with short term maturities.

Financial instruments

The Group classifies a financial instrument that it issues as a financial asset, financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. An instrument is classified as a liability if it creates a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset, or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities on potentially unfavourable terms. An instrument is classified as equity if it evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after the deduction of liabilities.

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), loans and receivables, and available-for-sale. Management determine the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets held for trading and those designated at FVTPL at inception. Financial assets held at FVTPL are recognised at fair value with any gains or losses included in the Consolidated Income Statement in the period in which they arise. Transaction costs are expensed at the time of initial recognition. Derivative financial assets are classified as held for trading unless they are accounted for as an effective hedging instrument but are not separately categorised in the Statement of Financial Position. The Group does not currently hold any financial assets designated at FVTPL at inception.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs, these assets are carried at amortised cost using the EIR method and adjusted for any impairment losses or adjustments made as part of fair value hedging arrangements.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. Subsequent to initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs, these financial assets are recorded at fair value, with the movements in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income until the financial asset is derecognised or impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. For available-for-sale financial assets in fair value hedge relationships, the element of the fair value movement which relates to the hedged risk is recycled to the Consolidated Income Statement.

Financial liabilities

All of the financial liabilities held by the Group, other than derivative financial liabilities, are measured at amortised cost using the EIR method, after initial recognition at fair value. Fair value is calculated as the issue proceeds, net of premiums, discounts and transaction costs incurred. The Group does not hold any financial liabilities classified as held for trading. For financial liabilities in fair value hedge relationships, the carrying value is adjusted by the hedged item (the fair value of the underlying hedged risk) through the Consolidated Income Statement.

Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows have expired or where substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred and the transfer qualifies for derecognition. Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have been redeemed or otherwise extinguished.

Collateral furnished by the Group under standard repurchase agreements is not derecognised because the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards on the basis of the predetermined repurchase price, therefore the criteria for derecognition are not met. Credit Card receivables assigned by the Group to a securitisation structured entity do not qualify for derecognition, as the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the securitised Credit Card receivables.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Company and Consolidated Statements of Financial Position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise an asset and settle a liability simultaneously.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or portfolio of financial assets is impaired and an impairment loss incurred if there is objective evidence that an event or events since initial recognition of the financial asset or group of financial assets have adversely affected the amount or timing of future cash flows expected from the financial asset or group of financial assets.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a financial asset or group of financial assets classified as loans and receivables has been incurred, the Group measures the amount of the loss as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset or group of financial assets and the present value of estimated future cash flows from the financial asset or group of financial assets discounted at the EIR of the instrument(s) at initial recognition. Impairment losses are assessed individually for financial assets that are individually significant and collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. In making the collective assessment of impairment, financial assets are grouped into portfolios on the basis of similar risk characteristics. Future cash flows from these portfolios are estimated on the basis of the estimated cash recoveries and historical loss experience for financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment losses are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement and the carrying amount of the financial asset or group of financial assets is reduced by establishing an allowance for impairment losses. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the impairment loss reduces and the reduction can be related objectively to an event after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance.

When a loan is deemed uncollectable it is written off against the related provision after all of the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off received from customers or other third parties are recognised directly in the Consolidated Income Statement as a reduction in the loan impairment charge for the year.

Financial assets classified as available-for-sale

In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, the recognition of an impairment loss occurs if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset (a loss event), and that have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset and which can be reliably measured. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement — is removed from equity and recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases, and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was reported in the Consolidated Income Statement, the impairment loss is reversed through the Consolidated Income Statement.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative financial instruments for the purpose of providing an economic hedge to its exposures to interest rate and foreign exchange risks as they arise from operating, financing and investment activities. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the contract date and are remeasured at their fair value at subsequent reporting dates.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain hedging instruments as either fair value hedges or cash flow hedges, where it is efficient to do so and the IAS 39, 'Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement', criteria are met. The Group applies hedge accounting as follows:

Hedge relationships are classified as fair value hedges where the derivative financial instruments hedge the change in the fair value of fixed rate financial assets or financial liabilities due to movements in interest rates.

Hedge relationships are classified as cash flow hedges where the derivative financial instruments hedge the inflation risk on an index linked issued bond or when they hedge the Group's exposure to variability in cash flows that are either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction.

To qualify for hedge accounting, the Group documents, at the inception of the hedge: the hedging risk management strategy; the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item or transaction; and the nature of the risks being hedged. The Group also documents the assessment of the effectiveness of the hedging relationship, to show that the hedge has been and will be highly effective on an ongoing basis.

Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated as fair value hedges are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. The hedged item is also adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to the hedged risk, with the corresponding adjustment made in the Consolidated Income Statement.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item is amortised to the Consolidated Income Statement over the remaining period to maturity.

Cash flow hedges

Changes in the fair value of the derivative financial instruments that are designated as hedges of future cash flows are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement. Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are recycled to the Consolidated Income Statement when equivalent amounts of the hedged item are recognised in profit or loss.

When the hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Derivative financial instruments not in hedge accounting relationships

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement as they arise.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment when there are indications that the carrying value may not be recoverable. In the event that an asset's carrying amount is determined to be greater than its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement and the carrying value of the asset is written down by the amount of the loss. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets for which an impairment loss has been recognised are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent expenditure is included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is charged to the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis so as to allocate the costs less residual values over the lower of the useful life of the related asset and, for leasehold improvements, the expected lease term. Depreciation commences on the date that the assets are brought into use. Work in progress assets are not depreciated until they are brought into use and transferred to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment. Estimated useful lives are:

Plant and equipment 2 to 8 years
 Fixtures and fittings 4 to 14 years
 Computer hardware 3 to 10 years
 Freehold buildings 40 years
 Leasehold improvements 15 to 20 years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in administrative expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement.

During the prior year, the Group reassessed the useful life of certain of its tangible fixed assets, reducing the expected life to a maximum of one year. Refer to note 24 for further detail.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives. The Group's intangible assets are computer software, for which the estimated useful lives are 3 to 10 years.

Internally generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure

Research costs are expensed in the Consolidated Income Statement as incurred.

Development expenditure incurred on an individual project is capitalised only if all of the following criteria are demonstrated:

- an asset is created that can be identified (such as software);
- it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits; and
- the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Following the initial recognition of development expenditure, the cost is amortised over the estimated useful life of the asset created. Amortisation commences on the date that the asset is brought into use. Work in progress assets are not amortised until they are brought into use and transferred to the appropriate category of intangible assets.

During the prior year, the Group reassessed the useful life of certain of its intangible fixed assets, reducing the expected life to a maximum of one year. Refer to note 23 for further detail.

Leases

If a lease agreement, in which the Group is a lessee, does not transfer the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, the lease is recorded as an operating lease.

Operating lease payments are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. Where an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor as compensation is charged to the Consolidated Income Statement in the period in which the termination takes place.

The Group has entered into a number of operating leases for office buildings.

Employee benefits

The Group accounts for pension costs on a contributions basis in line with the requirements of IAS 19 'Employee Benefits'. The Group made contributions in the year to a closed funded defined benefit scheme and a funded defined contribution scheme. Both of these schemes are operated by Tesco Stores Limited.

IAS 19 requires that, where there is no policy or agreement for sharing the cost of a defined benefit scheme across the subsidiaries, the Sponsoring employer recognises the net defined benefit cost of a defined benefit scheme. The Sponsoring employer of the funded defined benefit scheme is Tesco Stores Limited and the principal pension plan is the Tesco PLC pension scheme.

Share based payments

Employees of the Group receive part of their remuneration in the form of share based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for Tesco PLC shares or rights over shares (equity-settled transactions) or in exchange for entitlements to cash based payments based on the value of the shares (cash-settled transactions).

The fair value of employee share option plans is calculated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes model. The resulting cost is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement over the vesting period. The value of the charge is adjusted to reflect expected and actual levels of vesting.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

The grant by Tesco PLC of options over its equity instruments to the employees of the Group is treated as a capital contribution in equity. The social security contribution payable in connection with the grant of the share options is considered an integral part of the grant itself, and the charge is treated as a cash-settled transaction.

Provision for liabilities and charges and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is more likely than not that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation which is dependent on the outcome of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group, or a present obligation where an outflow of economic resources is not likely or the amount cannot be reliably measured.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Company or Consolidated Statement of Financial Position but are disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of economic resources is remote.

Dividends paid

Dividends are recognised in equity in the period they are approved by the Group's Board.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker is the person or group that allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. The Group has determined the Board of Directors as its chief operating decision-maker.

Sale and repurchase agreements

Investment securities sold subject to a commitment to repurchase them at a predetermined price are retained on the Company and Consolidated Statements of Financial Position when substantially all of the risk and rewards of ownership remain with the Group. The counterparty liability is included in deposits from banks.

Encumbered assets

The Group's methodology used to identify encumbered assets is aligned to definitions used in calculating the Group's Pillar 3 encumbrance disclosures.

2. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

In the course of preparing the Financial Statements, no judgements have been made in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, other than those using estimations (which are presented separately below), that have had a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Financial Statements.

The reported results of the Group are sensitive to the accounting policies, assumptions and estimates that underlie the preparation of its Financial Statements. The Group's principal accounting policies are set out in note 1. United Kingdom company law and IFRSs require the Directors, in preparing the Group's Financial Statements, to select suitable accounting policies, apply them consistently and make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent. Where accounting standards are not specific and Management have to choose a policy, IAS 8, 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors', requires them to adopt policies that will result in relevant and reliable information in the light of the requirements and guidance in IFRSs dealing with similar and related issues and the IASB Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements.

The judgements and assumptions involved in the Group's accounting policies that are considered to be the most important to the portrayal of its financial condition are discussed below. The use of estimates, assumptions or models that differ from those adopted by the Group would affect its reported results.

2. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies (continued)

Loan impairment provisions

The Group's loan impairment provisions are established to recognise incurred impairment losses in its portfolio of customer loans classified as loans and receivables and carried at amortised cost. A loan is impaired when there is objective evidence that events since the loan was granted have affected expected cash flows from the loan. The impairment loss is the difference between the carrying value of the loan and the present value of estimated future cash flows at the loan's original EIR.

The Group's loan impairment provisions are established on a portfolio basis using a statistical methodology taking into account the level of arrears, collateral, past loss experience and defaults based on portfolio trends. The most significant factors in establishing these provisions are the expected loss rates. These portfolios include Mortgages, Credit Card receivables, Personal Loans and Personal Current Accounts. The future credit quality of these portfolios is subject to estimation uncertainties that could cause actual credit losses to differ materially from reported loan impairment provisions.

The key assumptions used in the statistical models are the probability of default; the expected cash recoveries included in the loss given default; and the loss emergence period. These key assumptions are monitored throughout the year to ensure the impairment provision takes into account the most recent trends observed in each portfolio.

The table below shows a sensitivity analysis of key assumptions, demonstrating the impact on the unsecured Personal Loan receivables provision and the unsecured Credit Card receivables provision, respectively, of a variation in each.

		Consequential change in provision				
Assumption	Change in	Unsecured Personal Loan receivables		Unsecur	ed Credit	
	assumption			Loan receivables Card receiv		ceivables
		2018	2017	2018	2017	
		£m	£m	£m	£m	
Probability of default	+/- 10%	+/- 5.1	+/- 3.9	+/- 2.5	+/- 2.0	
Expected cash recoveries	+/- 10%	-/+ 2.3	-/+ 2.2	-/+ 3.2	-/+ 2.9	
Loss emergence period	+/- 1 month	+/- 5.6	+/- 4.1	+/- 4.7	+/- 3.5	

Individual impairment losses on secured Mortgages are estimated using an individual valuation of the underlying asset. Although the portfolio is growing, sensitivity to movement in the House Price Index remains relatively low.

The impairment loss on loans and advances is disclosed in further detail in note 9.

Effective interest rate (EIR)

IAS 39 requires the Group to measure the interest earned on its Credit Cards portfolio by applying the EIR methodology. The main area of estimation uncertainty in measuring the EIR on the Group's Credit Card portfolio is the expected attrition of the balances drawn at the reporting date.

Management use a pay rates assumption to determine the expected repayment profile of the balances drawn as at the reporting date to the expected remaining term (capped to a maximum of 5 years from origination).

An increase of the pay rates assumption by 10% will reduce the asset value by £5.0m and a corresponding reduction of the pay rates assumption will increase the asset value by £5.8m.

Provision for customer redress

The Group has a provision for potential customer redress in relation to Payment Protection Insurance (PPI). For further details, including the key assumptions made in arriving at each element of this provision and a sensitivity analysis of key assumptions in the PPI model, refer to note 28.

2. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies (continued)

Investment in joint venture

The Group holds an investment in a joint venture, Tesco Underwriting Limited (TU), an authorised insurance company, and recognises the carrying value of its investment and the Group's share of TU's results using the equity method of accounting (see notes 1 and 21 for further details).

Tu's results are sensitive to changes in the insurance reserves it recognises in respect of insurance policies written, net of reinsurance. Consequently, material increases in these reserves could have an impact on the carrying value of the investment in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

The impact of any increase in reserves is determined by TU's ability to amend its pricing to reflect the increased costs of providing cover under the policies written.

A key element of the reserving calculation is the application of the Ogden tables, which are used to calculate the cost of any claim that involves compensation for loss of future benefits. The tables provide an estimate of the return to be expected from the investment of a lump sum damages award. A discount rate of 2.5% was set in 2001 and was previously used by TU in assessing its reserves for relevant cases.

Following a consultation by the Ministry of Justice (MoJ), which was launched in August 2012, a new rate of -0.75% was set by the MoJ on 27 February 2017 and was effective from 20 March 2017. The impact of this in TU was a post-tax charge of £45.7m, of which the Group recognised £22.8m in the Consolidated Income Statement for the prior year through its share of TU's results as an adjusting event after the reporting date for the prior year. The carrying value of the Group's investment in TU was correspondingly reduced by an equivalent amount. A full reconciliation of the Group's carrying value of TU is set out at note 21.

A reduction in the Ogden rate for 2018 to -1.0% would decrease the carrying value of the Group's investment in TU by £0.2m. An increase in the Ogden rate for 2018 to +1.0% would increase the carrying value of the Group's investment in TU by £1.2m.

3. Segmental Reporting

Following the measurement approach of IFRS 8, 'Operating Segments', the Group's operating segments are reported in accordance with the internal reporting provided to the Board of Directors, which is responsible for allocating resources to the operating segments and assessing their performance.

The Group has one operating segment covering all of the Group's activities, the results of which are set out in the Consolidated Income Statement and Group and Company Statements of Financial Position. The group is primarily focused on providing financial services and products to personal customers in the UK therefore no geographic analysis is presented.

4. Net Interest Income

	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Interest and similar income		
On assets held at amortised cost		
Loans and advances to customers	646.8	592.9
Cash and balances with central banks	2.8	2.4
Investment securities - loans and receivables	1.4	1.4
_	651.0	596.7
On assets held at fair value		
Investment securities - available-for-sale	22.2	21.4
	22.2	21.4
Total	673.2	618.1
-	073.2	010.1
Interest expense and similar charges		
On liabilities held at amortised cost		
Deposits from customers	(114.3)	(111.9)
Deposits from banks	(4.1)	(3.1)
Debt securities in issue	(27.8)	(26.5)
Subordinated liabilities and notes	(4.0)	(4.3)
	(150.2)	(145.8)
On liabilities held at fair value		
Interest rate swap expenses	(29.9)	(33.1)
	(29.9)	(33.1)
Total	(180.1)	(178.9)
•	, ,	
Net interest income	493.1	439.2
		<u>"</u>
5. Net Fees and Commissions Income		
	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Fees and commissions income		
Banking income	252.2	254.2
Insurance income	113.2	123.2
Other income	21.6	16.6
	387.0	394.0
Fees and commissions expense		
	(31.6)	(21.2)
Banking expense		(31.3)
-	(31.6)	(31.3)
Net fees and commissions income	355.4	362.7

6. Unrealised Gains on Financial Instruments

	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Foreign exchange gain on financial assets	1.9	10.5
Net gains/(losses) arising on derivatives not designated as hedging		
instruments under IAS 39	8.0	(8.1)
Fair value hedge ineffectiveness (refer to note 16)	1.1	3.9
	11.0	6.3
7. Realised Gain on Financial Instruments		
	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Financial assets classified as available-for-sale		
Realised gain on disposals	0.1	4.2
	0.1	4.2
8. Administrative Expenses		
	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Staff costs		
Wages and salaries	114.2	107.3
Social security costs	11.8	11.6
Other pension costs	5.4	4.8
Share based payments	9.2	9.9
Other costs including temporary staff	33.6	32.2
Restructuring costs*	<u>-</u>	6.9
	174.2	172.7
Non staff costs		
Premises and equipment	74.8	72.3
Operating leases	3.6	4.2
Marketing	63.8	62.2
Auditor's remuneration (refer below)	0.8	0.6
Outsourcing and professional fees	62.1	66.2
Other administrative expenses	44.6	43.8
Restructuring costs*	(1.2)	3.0
	248.5	252.3
	422.7	425.0

^{*}During the year, the Group recognised organisational restructuring credits within administrative expenses amounting to £(1.2)m (2017: charges of £9.9m), of which £nil (2017: £6.9m) related to staff costs and £(1.2)m (2017: £3.0m) related to property operating lease exit costs.

8. Administrative Expenses (continued)

During the year the Group obtained the following services from the incumbent auditor, Deloitte.

	2018	2017
	£'000	£'000
Audit services		
Audit of the Company and Consolidated Financial Statements	51	50
Audit of the Company's subsidiaries	702	429
	753	479
Non audit services		
Audit related assurance services	83	84
Other non audit services not covered above	52	79
·	135	163
Total auditor's remuneration	888	642

The average monthly number of persons (including Executive Directors) employed by the Group split by employee function during the year, was:

	2018	2017
	Number	Number
Head office and administration	1,323	1,248
Operations	2,625	2,630
	3,948	3,878

9. Impairment on Loans and Advances to Customers

	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Loans and advances to customers		
Increase in impairment allowance, net of recoveries*	133.3	100.9
Impairment charge on Irish Credit Card book	0.9	1.9
Total impairment allowances, net of recoveries (refer to note 14)	134.2	102.8
Insurance premiums written off during the year as uncollectable	3.2	3.6
modulee premiums written on during the year as unconcetable	137.4	106.4
	•	

^{*}Recoveries include £34.6m received through the sale of non-performing debt to third parties (2017: £21.6m).

10. Directors' Emoluments

The remuneration of the Directors paid by the Group during the year was as follows:

	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Aggregate emoluments	5.9	5.2
Aggregate amounts receivable under long-term incentive schemes	2.6	2.1
Loss of office	0.3	0.6
Share based payments	0.9	1.2
Total emoluments	9.7	9.1

10. Directors' Emoluments (continued)

	2018	2017
	Number	Number
Number of Directors to whom retirement benefits are accruing under defined		
benefit schemes	_	_
Number of Directors in respect of whose qualifying services shares were received		
or receivable under long term incentive schemes	5	4
Number of Directors who exercised share options in the year	_	_

The total emoluments of the highest paid Director were £2.3m (2017: £2.1m). During the year the highest paid Director did not exercise any share options (2017: £nil).

At 28 February 2018 the accrued pension and lump sum under a defined benefit scheme for the highest paid Director was £nil (2017: £nil).

During the year to 28 February 2018 two Directors (2017: three Directors) left the company. One Director (2017: one Director) was paid a sum of £0.3m (2017: £0.6m) upon leaving, in line with contractual terms and conditions.

11. Income Tax

Income tax charge/(credit)

	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Current tax charge for the year	70.4	42.0
Adjustments in respect of prior years	0.8	(51.5)
Total current tax charge/(credit) for the year	71.2	(9.5)
Deferred tax credit for the year 22	(8.7)	(15.2)
Tax rate change 22	0.6	(1.3)
Adjustments in respect of prior years 22	(1.5)	(1.3)
Total deferred tax credit for the year	(9.6)	(17.8)
Income tax charge/(credit)	61.6	(27.3)

The standard rate of corporation tax in the UK was changed from 20% to 19% with effect from 1 April 2017. This gives a blended Corporation Tax rate for the Group for the full year of 19.1% (2017: 20.0%). In addition, a banking surcharge of 8% is applied to the Group's results.

11. Income Tax (continued)

The tax assessed for the full year is higher (2017: lower) than that calculated using the overall blended Corporation Tax rate for the Group. The differences are explained below:

	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Profit before taxation	202.7	110.1
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by blended rate in the UK of 19.1% (2017: 20.0%)	38.7	22.0
Factors affecting charge for the year:		
Group relief surrendered without payment	-	(24.0)
Impact of banking surcharge	13.5	17.5
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes*	10.0	8.8
Adjustment in respect of prior years - current tax**	0.8	(51.5)
Adjustment in respect of prior years - deferred tax	(1.5)	(1.3)
Share based payments	1.5	1.1
Other tax adjustments	_	(1.7)
Tax rate change	0.6	(1.3)
Share of profit/(loss) of joint venture	(2.0)	3.1
Income tax charge/(credit)	61.6	(27.3)

^{*}The majority of the adjustment relates to the non deductibility of an additional PPI provision of £35.0m recognised in the year (2017: £45.0m).

The March 2016 Budget Statement included an announcement that the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK would be reduced to 17% from 1 April 2020. This rate reduction was enacted during the year ended 28 February 2017 and is therefore incorporated in these Financial Statements. The rate change is expected to reduce the Group's effective tax rate in the medium term.

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income

	Before tax		Net of tax
	amount	Tax charge	amount
2018	£m	£m	£m
Net gains on available-for-sale investment securities	1.8	(0.3)	1.5
Net gains on cash flow hedges	0.4	(0.1)	0.3
	2.2	(0.4)	1.8
			-
	Before tax		Net of tax
	amount	Tax charge	amount
2017	£m	£m	£m
Net gains on available-for-sale investment securities	7.1	(5.0)	2.1
Net gains on cash flow hedges	1.6	(0.6)	1.0
	8.7	(5.6)	3.1

^{**}The 2017 adjustment in respect of prior years arises largely as a result of group relief being made available to the Company from the Tesco PLC tax group, reducing the tax charge in respect of 2016 by £48.8m.

11. Income Tax (continued)

Deferred tax charged directly to the Statement of Changes in Equity

	Before tax		Net of tax
	amount	Tax credit	amount
2018	£m	£m	£m
Net gains on share based payments	3.6	0.9	4.5
	3.6	0.9	4.5
	Before tax		Net of tax
	amount	Tax credit	amount
2017	£m	£m	£m
Net gains on share based payments	0.9	2.8	3.7
	0.9	2.8	3.7

12. Distributions to Equity Holders

	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Ordinary dividend paid	50.0	50.0

On 22 February 2018 an interim dividend of £50.0m (£0.0410 per ordinary share) was paid. In the prior year, an interim dividend of £50.0m (£0.0410 per ordinary share) was paid on 22 February 2017.

13. Cash and Balances with Central Banks

	Group		Compar	ıy
	2018	2017	2018	2017
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Cash at bank	376.9	156.1	_	_
Cash deposit with Tesco Personal Finance plc	_	_	3.4	3.6
Balances held with the Bank of England other than				
mandatory reserve deposits	926.6	632.5	_	_
Included in cash and cash equivalents	1,303.5	788.6	3.4	3.6
			-	
Mandatory reserves deposits held with the Bank of England	15.1	14.3	_	_
	1,318.6	802.9	3.4	3.6
-				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

Mandatory reserve deposits held with the Bank of England of £15.1m (2017: £14.3m) are not included within cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cash flow statement as these do not have short term maturities. These balances are not available in the Group's day to day operations and are non-interest bearing. Other balances are subject to variable interest rates based on the Bank of England base rate.

14. Loans and Advances to Customers

Group	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Secured Mortgage lending	3,010.2	2,160.7
Unsecured lending	8,766.7	7,970.9
Total secured and unsecured lending	11,776.9	10,131.6
Fair value hedge adjustment	(16.4)	23.4
Gross loans and advances to customers	11,760.5	10,155.0
Less: allowance for impairment	(238.1)	(193.8)
Net loans and advances to customers	11,522.4	9,961.2
Current	4,636.6	4,166.1
Non-current	6,885.8	5,795.1

Fair value hedge adjustments

Fair value hedge adjustments amounting to £(16.4)m (2017: £23.4m) are in respect of fixed rate Loans and Mortgages. These adjustments are largely offset by derivatives, which are used to manage interest rate risk and are designated as fair value hedges within loans and advances to customers.

Allowance for impairment

The following table shows the movement in the provision for impairment on loans and advances to customers:

Group	2018	2017
	£m	£m
At beginning of year	193.8	153.9
Amounts written off	(87.3)	(60.3)
Increase in allowance, net of recoveries*, charged to the income statement (refer		
to note 9)	134.2	102.8
Foreign currency translation	0.1	0.1
Unwind of discount	(2.7)	(2.7)
At end of year	238.1	193.8

^{*}Recoveries include £34.6m received through the sale of non-performing debt to third parties (2017: £21.6m).

15. Loans and Advances to Subsidiary Companies

Company	2018 £m	2017 £m
Floating rate subordinated note maturing 2030	190.0	190.0
Undated floating rate note	45.0	45.0
Gross loans and advances to subsidiary companies	235.0	235.0
Net loans and advances to subsidiary companies	235.0	235.0
Current	_	
Non-current	235.0	235.0

There was no impairment charge recognised in the year on loans and advances to subsidiary companies (2017: no charge).

16. Derivative Financial Instruments

Strategy in using derivative financial instruments

The objective when using a derivative financial instrument is to ensure that the risk to reward profile of a transaction is optimised, allowing the Group to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk. The intention is to only use derivatives to create economically effective hedges. There are specific requirements stipulated under IAS 39 which must be met for a derivative to qualify for hedge accounting. As a result, not all derivatives can be designated as being in an accounting hedge relationship, either because natural accounting offsets are expected or because obtaining hedge accounting would be especially onerous.

For those derivatives where hedge accounting is applied, gains and losses are offset by hedge adjustments in the Consolidated Income Statement. For those derivatives held for economic hedging purposes which cannot be designated as being in an accounting hedge relationship, the gains and losses are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. In the Statement of Financial Position there is no distinction between derivatives where hedge accounting is applied and derivatives which cannot be designated as being in an accounting hedge relationship.

Fair value hedge

The Group's risk management objective of creating economically effective hedges is to use interest rate contracts to swap fixed rate exposures back to a floating rate LIBOR basis where no existing offset is available. This includes the hedging of fixed rate Personal Loans, Mortgages and certain Savings balances, holdings of fixed rate investment securities and issuances of fixed rate debt, which protects the Group against the fair value volatility of these financial assets and financial liabilities due to movements in interest rates. Each swap is defined as hedging one or more fixed rate assets or liabilities.

Cash flow hedge

The Group held five inflation linked interest rate swaps (2017: five) as cash flow hedges to mitigate the variability in cash flows associated with an inflation linked debt security issued by the Bank. The cash flows are expected to occur over the term to maturity in December 2019.

During the year, the Group entered into a series of foreign currency forward contracts which are designated as cash flow hedges and which mitigate the variability in cash flows associated with foreign currency transactions that are attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction. The cash flows are expected to occur over the period to 28 February 2019.

Ineffectiveness recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement in respect of cash flow hedges for the 12 months to 28 February 2018 was £nil (2017: £nil). Amounts are recycled from the cash flow hedge reserve when the underlying hedge item affects the Consolidated Income Statement. Therefore as the carrying value of the asset or liability is adjusted in respect of movements in the hedged risk, recycled amounts directly offset this adjustment within net interest income. Recycled amounts for the 12 months to 28 February 2018 were £1.4m (2017: £2.3m).

16. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

Derivatives not in a hedge relationship

All derivative financial instruments are held for economic hedging purposes, although not all derivatives are designated as hedging instruments under the terms of IAS 39. The Group has the following derivative contracts in economic hedge relationships but not in accounting hedge relationships:

- Foreign exchange forward contracts and, in the prior year, cross currency interest rate swaps, used to hedge the exchange rate risk inherent in cash flows from foreign currency assets; and
- Interest rate swaps that were not previously held in hedge accounting relationships and are viewed as trading derivatives under IAS 39.

The analysis below splits derivatives between those classified in hedge accounting relationships and those not in hedge accounting relationships.

		Asset	Liability
Group	Notional	fair value	fair value
2018	£m	£m	£m
Derivatives in hedge accounting relationships			
Derivatives designated as fair value hedges			
Interest rate swaps	4,086.9	30.5	(86.8)
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges			
Interest rate swaps	60.0	_	(0.7)
RPI basis swaps	60.0	11.5	_
Forward foreign exchange contracts	4.1	0.1	_
Total derivatives in hedge accounting relationships	4,211.0	42.1	(87.5)

Group 2018 Derivatives not in hedge accounting relationships	Notional £m	Asset fair value £m	Liability fair value £m
Interest rate derivatives Interest rate swaps	964.6	3.9	(0.8)
Currency derivatives Forward foreign exchange contracts	35.1	0.1	(0.1)
Cross currency swaps Total derivatives not in hedge accounting relationships	999.7	4.0	(0.9)
Total derivative financial instruments	5,210.7	46.1	(88.4)

16. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

		Asset	Liability
Group	Notional	fair value	fair value
2017	£m	£m	£m
Derivatives in hedge accounting relationships			
Derivatives designated as fair value hedges			
Interest rate swaps	3,528.4	13.2	(116.2)
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges			
Interest rate swaps	60.0	-	(1.7)
RPI basis swaps	60.0	11.2	_
Total derivatives in hedge accounting relationships	3,648.4	24.4	(117.9)
		Asset	Liability
Group	Notional	fair value	fair value
2017	£m	£m	£m
Derivatives not in hedge accounting relationships			
Interest rate derivatives			
Interest rate swaps	1,226.8	3.2	(6.0)
Currency derivatives			
Forward foreign exchange contracts	35.5	0.1	(0.2)
Cross currency swaps	71.4	1.0	(9.2)
Total derivatives not in hedge accounting relationships	1,333.7	4.3	(15.4)
Total derivative financial instruments	4,982.1	28.7	(133.3)

Derivatives, whether designated in hedge accounting relationships or not, are regarded as current where they are expected to mature within one year. All other derivatives are regarded as non-current.

	Assets	Assets	Liabilities	Liabilities
	2018	2017	2018	2017
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Current	1.5	1.3	(3.1)	(17.0)
Non-current	44.6	27.4	(85.3)	(116.3)
	46.1	28.7	(88.4)	(133.3)

The analysis below details the ineffectiveness in the fair value hedge relationships included in the Consolidated Income Statement:

	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Fair value gains on interest rate swaps in designated fair value hedges	67.0	15.4
Losses on fair value hedge adjustments	(65.9)	(11.5)
Net gains in Consolidated Income Statement (refer to note 6)	1.1	3.9

17. Investment Securities

Group	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Available-for-sale		
Government-backed investment securities	101.1	117.4
Gilts	581.5	572.5
Supranational investment securities	85.1	176.1
Other investment securities	155.7	98.4
Equity securities	2.0	1.7
	925.4	966.1
Loans and receivables		
Investment in subordinated debt issued by Tesco Underwriting Limited (TU)	34.1	34.1
	34.1	34.1
Current	102.3	190.4
Non-current	857.2	809.8

There were no impairment charges within the year (2017: £nil).

Available-for-sale

Included in investment securities are fixed-interest investment securities totalling £801.5m (2017: £883.2m) and variable-interest investment securities amounting to £121.9m (2017: £81.2m).

The equity security above relates to the fair value of the Group's interest in VISA Inc. preferred stock. The preferred stock may be convertible into Class A Common Stock of VISA Inc. at certain future dates, the earliest point being June 2020. Conversion is contingent upon future events, principally related to the outcome of interchange litigation against VISA Europe Limited. As such, the valuation reflects both an illiquidity discount and the risk of a reduction in the conversion rate to VISA Inc. common stock. The reduction in the conversion rate is the most significant unobservable input to the valuation.

Loans and receivables

The investment in subordinated debt issued by TU relates to subordinated notes of £34.1m (2017: £34.1m). Interest receivable on these notes is based on a rate of three month LIBOR plus a spread ranging from 350 - 450 basis points (2017: 350 - 450 basis points). No impairment charges were recognised in respect of this investment (2017: £nil).

18. Prepayments and Accrued Income

	Group		Company	
	2018	2017	2018	2017
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Prepayments	10.2	7.9	_	_
Accrued income	39.1	34.3	-	_
Amounts accrued from Tesco Personal Finance Plc	_	_	0.7	0.6
	49.3	42.2	0.7	0.6

All amounts are classified as current at the year end.

19. Other Assets

Group	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Amount due from insurance premiums and commissions receivable	19.6	20.1
Accounts receivable and sundry receivables	236.6	270.0
Amounts due from Tesco Group subsidiaries	9.5	8.9
	265.7	299.0

All amounts are classified as current at the year end.

20. Investment in Group Undertakings

The Company's investment in group undertakings in the year was as follows:

		Place of	Ownership	
Name of company	Nature of business	incorporation	interest	Registered address
Tesco Personal Finance plc	Banking and general	UK	100%	EHQ, 2 South Gyle Crescent,
resco Personal Finance pic	insurance services	UK	100%	Edinburgh, EH12 9FQ
Tesco Personal Finance	Insurance aggregator	Ш	1000/	EHQ, 2 South Gyle Crescent,
Compare Limited	website service	UK	100%	Edinburgh, EH12 9FQ

^{*} Tesco Personal Finance Compare Limited entered into liquidation during the year to 29 February 2016 and was dissolved by way of Members' Voluntary Liquidation on 16 April 2017.

The Company's investment in group undertakings amounted to £1,219.9m (2017: £1,219.9m).

The following companies are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group. These are securitisation structured entities established in connection with the Group's Credit Card securitisation transactions. Although none of the equity of the securitisation structured entities is owned by the Company, the nature of these entities means that the Group has the rights to variable returns from its involvement with these securitisation structured entities and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over them. As such they are effectively controlled by the Group. The Company does not hold any investments in Group undertakings.

	Place of	
Nature of business	incorporation	Registered address
		Asticus Building, 2nd floor,
Securitisation entity	UK	21 Palmer Street, London, SW1H 0AD
Socuritication ontity	LIK	Asticus Building, 2nd floor,
Securitisation entity	UK	21 Palmer Street, London, SW1H 0AD
Conveitiontine entity	LUZ	Asticus Building, 2nd floor,
Securitisation entity	UK	21 Palmer Street, London, SW1H 0AD
Coougitiontion autitus	1.112	Asticus Building, 2nd floor,
Securitisation entity	UK	21 Palmer Street, London, SW1H 0AD
Socuritication ontity	LIV	Asticus Building, 2nd floor,
securitisation entity	UK	21 Palmer Street, London, SW1H 0AD
	Securitisation entity Securitisation entity Securitisation entity Securitisation entity	

All of the above companies have a financial year end of 31 December. The management accounts of these entities are used to consolidate the results to 28 February 2018 within these Consolidated Financial Statements.

20. Investment in Group Undertakings (continued)

Significant restrictions

As is typical for a regulated Group operating in the financial services market there are restrictions on the ability of the Group's subsidiary, Tesco Personal Finance plc, to make distributions of cash or other assets to the parent company for the following reasons:

- Assets pledged as collateral: These assets are not available for transfer to the parent company. Refer to note 35 for further details of encumbered assets.
- Regulatory capital requirements: As a regulated entity, Tesco Personal Finance plc is subject to requirements to
 maintain minimum levels of capital, hence restricting its ability to make distributions of cash or other assets to the
 parent company. Refer to note 39 for further details.

21. Investment in Joint Venture

During the year ended 28 February 2017, the Group's joint venture, Tesco Underwriting Limited (TU), recognised additional insurance reserves following a revision to the Ogden tables, which are used to calculate future losses in personal injury and fatal accident claims. As a result of the recognition of these losses, TU required a capital injection in order to maintain the required level of regulatory capital.

The Board of Tesco Personal Finance Plc approved the capital injection of £15.5m to TU in exchange for ordinary shares in TU, increasing the Group's investment in TU by an equivalent amount. The joint venture partner correspondingly approved an increase in its investment in TU's ordinary share capital. The capital injection was completed in April 2017.

The following table shows the aggregate movement in the Group's investment in its joint venture in the year:

Group	2018	2017
	£m	£m
At beginning of year	71.0	76.1
Share of profit/(loss) of joint venture*	10.0	(15.6)
Acquisition of ordinary share capital	15.5	_
Share of available-for-sale reserve of joint venture **	(6.5)	10.5
At end of year	90.0	71.0

^{*}Including, in the prior year, a charge of £22.8m, representing the Group's share of losses incurred by TU relating to the impact on TU's insurance reserves of a change in the Ogden tables. There is no such charge in the current year as there have been no changes to the Ogden rate during the year.

Details of the Group's joint venture

				Ownership interest	
		Nature of	Place of		
Name of company	Registered address	business	Incorporation	2018	2017
Tesco Underwriting	Ageas House, Hampshire	Insurance	England	49.9% of	49.9% of
Limited	Corporate Park, Templars Way,			Ordinary	Ordinary
	Eastleigh, Hampshire, SO53 3YA			Share Capital	Share Capital

TU is an authorised insurance company which provides the insurance underwriting service for a number of the Group's general insurance products. TU is a private company and there is no quoted market price available for its shares.

^{**}The Group's share of the movement in the available-for-sale reserve represents the recognised portion of other comprehensive (expense)/income of the joint venture.

21. Investment in Joint Venture (continued)

The Group uses the equity method of accounting for its investment in TU, which has a financial year end of 31 December. The accounting year end date for TU differs from that of the Group as it is in line with the other joint venture partner. The management accounts of TU are used to consolidate the results to 28 February 2018 within these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Summarised financial information for the joint venture

This information reflects the amounts presented in the management accounts of the joint venture (and not the Group's share of those amounts):

Group	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Non-current assets	876.7	879.7
Current assets	157.5	148.3
Current liabilities	(791.1)	(823.0)
Non-current liabilities	(68.3)	(68.3)
Net assets	174.8	136.7
Cash and cash equivalents	63.3	42.5
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions)	(10.7)	(12.1)
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions)	(68.3)	(68.3)
Non-current infancial habilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions)	(66.5)	(66.5)
	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Income Statement		
Revenue	366.6	373.6
Expenses including claims costs	(346.6)	(404.8)
Profit/(loss) for the year	20.0	(31.2)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income	(13.0)	21.1
Total comprehensive income/(expense)	7.0	(10.1)
The above profit/(loss) includes the following:		
Depreciation and amortisation	(2.9)	(2.7)
Interest income	13.9	14.4
Interest expense	(2.8)	(2.9)
Income tax (charge)/credit	(1.6)	2.5

21. Investment in Joint Venture (continued)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial position

A reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of the investment in joint venture is as follows.

Group	2018 £m	2017 £m
Net assets of the joint venture	174.8	136.7
Group share at 49.9%	87.2	68.2
Capitalised legal costs included in investment carrying value	2.8	2.8
Carrying value of investment in joint venture at end of year	90.0	71.0

Other information

There are no contingent liabilities or commitments in respect of the joint venture. The investment in the joint venture is classified as non-current.

22. Deferred Income Tax Liability

The deferred income tax liability can be analysed as follows:

2018 Group	Accelerated capital allowances £m	Other £m	Total £m
At beginning of year Credited to the Consolidated Income Statement in the current year Credited to the Consolidated Income Statement for prior years Credited to equity	(15.0) 8.5 0.4	1.3 0.2 1.1 0.4	(13.7) 8.7 1.5 0.4
Change in tax rate At end of year	(0.6) (6.7)	3.0	(0.6) (3.7)
Deferred tax asset to be recovered within one year Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more than one year		_	4.3 2.2 6.5
Deferred tax liability to be recovered within one year Deferred tax liability to be recovered after more than one year		_	(2.0) (8.2) (10.2)
Deferred tax liabilities (net)		_	(3.7)
2017 Group	Accelerated capital allowances £m	Other £m	Total £m
At beginning of year Credited to the Consolidated Income Statement in the current year Credited/(charged) to the Consolidated Income Statement for prior	(32.9) 15.1	1.9 0.1	(31.0) 15.2
years Charged to equity Change in tax rate At end of year	1.6 - 1.2 (15.0)	(0.3) (0.5) 0.1 1.3	1.3 (0.5) 1.3 (13.7)
Deferred tax asset to be recovered within one year Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more than one year	(15.0)		1.4 2.8 4.2
Deferred tax liability to be recovered within one year Deferred tax liability to be recovered after more than one year		_	(3.6) (14.3) (17.9)
Deferred tax liabilities (net)		_	(13.7)

23. Intangible Assets

Group	Work in Progress	Computer software	Total
	£m	£m	£m
Cost			
At 1 March 2017	34.3	608.3	642.6
Additions	37.3	5.5	42.8
Transfers	(43.8)	43.4	(0.4)
Disposals	(0.3)	(0.5)	(0.8)
At 28 February 2018	27.5	656.7	684.2
Accumulated amortisation			
At 1 March 2017	_	(342.6)	(342.6)
Charge for the year	_	(70.7)	(70.7)
Disposals	_	0.2	0.2
At 28 February 2018	_	(413.1)	(413.1)
Net carrying value			
At 28 February 2018	27.5	243.6	271.1
Cost At 1 March 2016	21.7	604.6	626.3
Additions	31.3	3.6	34.9
Transfers	(17.1)	16.9	(0.2)
Disposals	(1.6)	(16.8)	(18.4)
At 28 February 2017	34.3	608.3	642.6
At 20 residuity 2017	34.3	008.3	042.0
Accumulated amortisation			
At 1 March 2016	_	(262.4)	(262.4)
Charge for the year	_	(93.5)	(93.5)
Disposals		13.3	13.3
At 28 February 2017		(342.6)	(342.6)
Net carrying value			
At 28 February 2017	34.3	265.7	300.0

Work in progress relates primarily to the internal development of IT software assets. Intangible asset balances are non-current.

During the prior year, the Group reassessed the useful life of certain of its intangible fixed assets, reducing the expected life to a maximum of one year. This reduction in useful life reflected the impact of business restructuring commenced during the prior year. The impact of this change was to increase the amortisation charge by £19.0m over 2016/17, primarily arising from the residual amortisation of the Group's insurance platform which was replaced in 2017.

24. Property, Plant and Equipment

Cuarra	Work in	Plant and Equipment	Fixtures and	Computer Hardware	Freehold	Leasehold mprovement	Total
Group	Progress £m	Equipment	Fittings £m	naroware £m	Em	mprovement £m	Total £m
Cost	LIII	LIII	£III	EIII	LIII	LIII	EIII
At 1 March 2017	5.5	3.0	14.5	128.9	28.2	24.5	204.6
Additions	3.1	J.0 _	1.6	1.7	0.4	0.3	7.1
Transfers	(5.8)	_	0.7	1.6	3.9	-	0.4
Disposals	(3.0)	_	-	(7.5)	(0.2)	_	(7.7)
At 28 February 2018	2.8	3.0	16.8	124.7	32.3	24.8	204.4
Accumulated depreciation							
At 1 March 2017	_	(3.0)	(9.0)	(101.3)	(4.9)	(13.1)	(131.3)
Charge for the year	_	-	(2.0)	(7.9)	(0.8)	(1.6)	(12.3)
Disposals	_	-	_	7.2	-	_	7.2
At 28 February 2018	_	(3.0)	(11.0)	(102.0)	(5.7)	(14.7)	(136.4)
Net carrying value							
At 28 February 2018	2.8		5.8	22.7	26.6	10.1	68.0
Cost							
At 1 March 2016	4.4	3.0	14.2	129.8	28.2	22.7	202.3
Additions	1.9	_	2.2	6.5	_	1.8	12.4
Transfers	(0.8)	-	0.4	0.6	-	_	0.2
Disposals	_	-	(2.3)	(8.0)	-	_	(10.3)
At 28 February 2017	5.5	3.0	14.5	128.9	28.2	24.5	204.6
Accumulated depreciation							
At 1 March 2016	_	(3.0)	(8.6)	(100.1)	(3.1)	(8.6)	(123.4)
Charge for the year	_	_	(2.0)	(8.5)	(1.8)	(4.5)	(16.8)
Disposals	_	_	1.6	7.3	_	_	8.9
At 28 February 2017	_	(3.0)	(9.0)	(101.3)	(4.9)	(13.1)	(131.3)
Not counted to less							
Net carrying value At 28 February 2017	5.5	_	5.5	27.6	23.3	11.4	73.3
At 20 I colually 2017	5.5		3.5	27.0	23.3	11.4	75.5

Work in progress at 28 February 2018 relates predominantly to the development of IT assets. Property, plant and equipment balances are non-current.

During the prior year, the Group reassessed the useful life of certain of its tangible fixed assets, reducing the expected life to a maximum of one year. This reduction in useful life reflected the impact of business restructuring commenced during the prior year. The impact of this change was to increase the depreciation charge by £4.0m over 2016/17 in respect of property related costs arising due to the early exit from the Group's office in central Edinburgh. The Group recognised an additional charge of £0.3m in the current year, reflecting an updated assessment of a dilapidations provision recognised in respect of those premises.

25. Deposits from Banks

Group	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Deposits from banks	1,539.0	499.8
Current	200.0	99.8
Non-current	1,339.0	400.0

Deposits from banks include balances of £200.0m (2017: £99.8m) which have been sold under sale and repurchase agreements and balances of £1,339.0m (2017: £400.0m) drawn under the Bank of England's Term Funding Scheme (TFS).

26. Deposits from Customers

Group	2018 £m	2017 £m
Retail deposits	9,245.6	8,463.1
Fair value hedge adjustment	(1.0)	0.1
	9,244.6	8,463.2
	<u></u>	
Current	7,611.2	6,587.1
Non-current	1,633.4	1,876.1

Fair value hedge adjustments

Fair value hedge adjustments amounting to $\pounds(1.0)$ m (2017: $\pounds0.1$ m) are in respect of fixed rate Savings products. These adjustments are largely offset by derivatives, which are used to manage interest rate risk and are designated as fair value hedges within deposits from customers.

27. Debt Securities in Issue

	Interest rate	Par value	Term	Maturity	2018	2017
Group		£m	(years)	date	£m	£m
Fixed rate retail bond – issued 24 February 2011	5.2%	125.0	7.5	2018	126.1	129.2
RPI bond – issued 16 December 2011	1.0%	69.9	8	2019	69.9	67.2
Fixed rate retail bond – issued 21 May 2012	5.0%	200.0	8.5	2020	203.9	209.6
Floating rate AAA bond (A1) ¹	1M LIBOR + 0.45%	150.0	5	2019	_	149.7
Floating rate AAA bond (A2) ²	1M LIBOR + 0.65%	350.0	7	2021	349.6	349.2
Floating rate AAA bond (A1) ³	1M LIBOR + 0.65%	300.0	5	2020	299.9	299.4
Floating rate AAA bond (A1) ⁴	1M LIBOR + 0.53%	300.0	5	2022	298.2	-
				_	1,347.6	1,204.3

¹ This Bond was issued on 6 June 2014 and was redeemed on its scheduled redemption date of 19 May 2017.

All Floating Rate Bonds were issued by Delamare Cards MTN Issuer plc and are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange. All retail bonds are listed on the London Stock Exchange. All balances are classified as non-current at the year end with the exception of £300.0m of the floating rate AAA bond (A1), which was redeemed on its scheduled redemption date in April 2018 and the fixed rate retail bond issued in February 2011, which is expected to be redeemed in August 2018. In the prior year, £150.0m of the floating rate AAA bond (A1) was classified as current.

² This Bond was issued on 6 June 2014. The scheduled redemption date of this Bond is May 2019.

 $^{^{3}}$ This Bond was issued on 13 May 2015. The scheduled redemption date of this Bond is April 2018.

⁴ This Bond was issued on 7 November 2017. The scheduled redemption date of this Bond is October 2020.

28. Provisions for Liabilities and Charges

	Customer				
	Redress	Insurance	Restructuring	Other	
Group	Provision	Provisions	Provision	Provisions	Total
2018	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
At beginning of year	68.0	4.2	6.7	4.6	83.5
Provided during the year	35.0	12.8	_	4.9	52.7
Utilised during the year	(33.8)	(13.6)	(4.4)	(2.3)	(54.1)
Released during the year	(1.5)	_	(1.2)	-	(2.7)
At end of year	67.7	3.4	1.1	7.2	79.4

Customer redress provision - Payment protection insurance

Of the total customer redress provision balance at 28 February 2018, £66.8m (2017: £63.8m) has been provided for customer redress in respect of potential customer complaints arising from historic sales of PPI.

In March 2017, the FCA issued a Policy Statement (PS17/3, 'Payment protection insurance complaints: feedback on CP16/20 and final rules and guidance') which confirmed a deadline for PPI claims of August 2019, supported by an FCA led communications campaign.

The policy statement also set out rules and guidance on the handling of PPI complaints in light of the Supreme Court's decision in Plevin v Paragon Personal Finance Limited (Plevin), confirming that both up-front commission arrangements and profit share arrangements should be considered in the calculation of total commission for Plevin complaints.

The Group increased its PPI provision by £35.0m (2017: £45.0m) during the year to reflect:

- the impact on current claim volumes of the confirmation of the time bar and related communications campaign;
- an updated assessment of the current claim rate;
- the impact on the expected cost of redress from new rules in the FCA paper regarding Plevin; and
- additional costs expected to be incurred in respect of the Group's contribution to the FCA's communications campaign.

Although a significant degree of uncertainty remains with regard to the ultimate cost of settling PPI complaints, in particular the volume of complaints arising from customers ahead of the FCA confirmed time bar date of August 2019, the provision balance represents Management's best estimate at the reporting date of that cost. The PPI provision will continue to be monitored as trends in complaint volumes and levels of redress develop.

The table below details for each key assumption, actual data to 28 February 2018, forecast assumptions used in assessing the PPI provision adequacy and a sensitivity assessment demonstrating the impact on the provision of a variation in the future experience.

			Sensit	tivity
	Cumulative	Future	Change in	Consequential
Assumption	actual	expected	assumption	change in provision
				£m
Valid claims settled	123,417	29,536	+/- 1,000 complaints	+/- 1.8
Average redress per valid claim	£1,684	£1,810	+/- £100	+/- 3.0

28. Provisions for Liabilities and Charges (continued)

Customer redress provision - Consumer credit act (CCA)

The Group holds a provision of £0.9m (2017: £4.2m) in respect of customer redress relating to instances where certain requirements of the CCA for post-contract documentation were not fully complied with.

In arriving at the provision required, which was reduced by £1.5m during the year, the Group has considered the legal and regulatory position with respect to these matters and has sought legal advice which it took into account when making its judgement. The provision represents Management's best estimate at the reporting date of the cost of concluding the redress programme for Loan and Credit Card customers, and in making the estimate Management have exercised judgement as to both the timescale for completing the redress campaign and the final scope of any amounts payable.

The Consolidated Income Statement customer redress charge for the year of £23.8m (2017: charge of £45.0m) reflects the £35.0m PPI provision increase (2017: increase of £45.0m), offset by the £1.5m (2017: £nil) reduction in the CCA provision and a credit of £9.7m (2017: £nil) received following the conclusion of negotiations with a third party in respect of previously recognised customer redress relating to historical instances where certain requirements of the CCA for post-contract documentation were not fully complied with.

Insurance provision

The insurance provision relates to potential insurance policy cancellation by customers. This balance is classified as current at the year end.

Restructuring provision

The restructuring provision relates to restructuring costs arising from the Customer 2020 programme. Management expect to utilise this provision during the year ended 28 February 2019.

Other provisions

Other provisions represent:

- a dilapidations provision related to the anticipated costs of restoring leased assets to their original condition.
 Management expect that the provision will be utilised at the end of the lease terms, the longest of which is due to end in 2029; and
- a warranty provision in respect of debt sales. This represents post-determination date customer receipts payable to debt purchasers and provision for any accounts which may need to be bought back in future under the terms of the debt sale agreements. This balance is classified as current at year end.

29. Accruals and Deferred Income

	Group		Company	
	2018	2017	2018	2017
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Amounts accrued to Tesco Group subsidiaries	11.6	10.4	_	_
Amounts accrued to Tesco PLC	0.7	0.6	0.7	0.6
Other accruals	87.5	91.8	_	-
Deferred income	9.2	12.3	_	_
	109.0	115.1	0.7	0.6

All amounts are classified as current at the year end.

30. Other Liabilities

	Grou	р	Compa	ny			
	2018	2018	2018	2017	2017 201	2018	2017
	£m	£m	£m	£m			
Accounts payable and sundry payables	117.9	119.8	_	_			
Amounts owed to Tesco Group subsidiaries	8.0	11.4	_	0.2			
Insurance payables	10.8	11.7	_	_			
Taxation and social security	6.8	5.5	_	_			
	144.3	148.4	-	0.2			

All amounts are classified as current at the year end.

31. Subordinated Liabilities and Notes

Group and Company	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Floating rate subordinated loans maturing 2030	190.0	190.0
Undated floating rate notes	45.0	45.0
	235.0	235.0

Subordinated liabilities and notes comprise loan capital issued to Tesco PLC. This includes £190.0m (2017: £190.0m) of subordinated loans maturing in 2030 and £45.0m (2017: £45.0m) of undated notes with no fixed maturity date. All balances are classified as non-current at the year end.

Interest payable on the subordinated liabilities and notes is based on three month LIBOR plus a spread ranging from 60 to 220 basis points (2017: three month LIBOR plus a spread ranging from 60 to 220 basis points).

32. Share Capital and Share Premium Account

Group and Company	2018	2018	2017	2017
	Number	£m	Number	£m
Authorised				
A Ordinary shares of 10p each	Unlimited		Unlimited	
B Ordinary shares of 10p each	Unlimited		Unlimited	
C Ordinary shares of 10p each	1		1	
Allotted, called up and fully paid				
A Ordinary shares of 10p each	991,090,000	99.1	991,090,000	99.1
B Ordinary shares of 10p each	229,089,000	22.9	229,089,000	22.9
C Ordinary shares of 10p each	1	_	1	_
	_	122.0	_	122.0
	_	<u>, </u>	_	
		2018		2017
		£m		£m
Share premium reserve	_	1,098.2	_	1,098.2

33. Other Reserves

Group	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Cash flow hedge reserve	(0.3)	(0.6)
Available-for-sale reserve	13.0	18.0
Share based payment reserve	31.5	27.0
	44.2	44.4

Cash flow hedge reserve

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is included in the cash flow hedge reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Available-for-sale reserve

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value and measured subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income (except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses which are immediately recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement) until the financial asset is derecognised.

Gains or losses in respect of the interest rate element of the fair value movement are subsequently recycled to the Consolidated Income Statement where hedge accounting is in place.

The consolidated available-for-sale reserve also includes the Group's share of the available-for-sale reserve of its joint venture, Tesco Underwriting Limited.

Share based payment reserve

The fair value of Tesco PLC equity-settled share options granted to employees of the Group is included in the share based payment reserve.

34. Employee Benefit Liability

Defined benefit plans

The Group made contributions in the year to a closed funded defined benefit scheme operated by Tesco Stores Limited (TSL). The principal pension plan is the Tesco PLC pension scheme, a funded defined benefit pension scheme in the UK, the assets of which are held as a segregated fund and administered by the Trustee. TSL has recognised the appropriate net liability of the Tesco PLC pension scheme in accordance with IAS 19 'Employee Benefits'.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution scheme operated by TSL is open to all Group employees in the UK.

Detailed disclosures, in line with the requirements of IAS 19, are included in the Tesco PLC 2018 Financial Statements.

35. Risk Management

There are no differences in the manner in which risks are managed and measured between the Group and the Company. Therefore, the explanations of the management, the control responsibilities and the measurement of risk described in this section are those for the Group. The amounts included in this note are those for the Group unless otherwise stated.

Through its normal operations, the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are credit risk, operational risk, liquidity and funding risk, market risk, insurance risk, residual price risk and legal and regulatory compliance risk. The key risk management processes and tools are described in detail on pages 7 to 17 within the Strategic Report.

Credit Risk

Types of credit risk

Retail credit risk

Retail credit risk is the risk that a borrower, who is a personal customer, will default on a debt or obligation by failing to make contractually obligated payments. Regular management reports are submitted to the Board and appropriate Committees.

Controls and risk mitigants

To minimise the potential for the Group to be exposed to levels of bad debt that are outside Risk Appetite, a robust infrastructure of processes and systems has been established that cover the end to end retail credit risk customer life cycle, the key components of which are outlined below:

Credit scoring: The quality of new lending is tightly controlled using appropriate credit scoring and associated rules. Judgemental analysis is used for more complex cases.

Affordability: In being a responsible lender, the Group employs affordability models, including minimum free income thresholds based on customers' income and outgoings, to confirm that they have the ability to repay the advances they are seeking.

Valuations: Independent property valuations are undertaken at Mortgage inception. The Group's Mortgage assets are revalued quarterly using a regional house price valuation index model.

Credit policies and guides: A suite of retail credit risk policies and supporting guides are maintained by the Credit Risk function. These policies define the minimum requirements for the management of credit activities across the credit life cycle. The guides also comprise specific product and customer related thresholds that in turn seek to ensure that the Group is operating within agreed retail credit Risk Appetite parameters.

Monitoring and reporting: Management information is produced covering all lending portfolios which is tailored to meet the requirements of different audiences within the overall governance framework. Risk Appetite Measures (RAMs) with supporting limits and tolerances allow the Group to track performance against Risk Appetite and identify any emerging trends that could act as an early warning that performance could move outside approved Risk Appetite thresholds, thereby allowing mitigating actions to be taken to address such trends.

35. Risk Management (continued)

Wholesale credit risk

Wholesale credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a transaction will default before the final settlement of the transaction's cash flows. Such transactions relate to contracts for financial derivative instruments, securities financing transactions and long-dated settlement transactions.

The Group does not operate in the mainstream commercial or corporate lending market. However, the Group is exposed to wholesale credit risk primarily through Treasury activities, as a result of cash management, liquidity and market risk management, with the inherent risk that these counterparties could fail to meet their obligations.

Controls and risk mitigants

Daily monitoring of exposures is undertaken, with oversight from the Market and Liquidity Risk team. Monthly reporting of RAMs is provided to the Executive Risk Committee (ERC). Escalation processes are in place for the reporting of any breached limits directly to the ERC.

The RAM limits are set out in the Wholesale Credit Risk policy which is approved by the ERC. The limits contained in the policy are approved by the ERC or Board as appropriate. The Treasury Director is responsible for ensuring that Treasury complies with counterparty credit risk limits. The Market and Liquidity Risk team reports to the Financial and Credit Risk Director, providing independent oversight that these limits are adhered to.

The Group's approach to investing funds focuses on counterparties with strong capacity to meet financial commitments and requires approved counterparties to have investment grade ratings. Counterparty types include financial institutions, sovereigns and supranationals, with approved instrument types including cash, certificates of deposit, bonds, treasury bills, gilts, repurchase agreements and interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives. Ratings issued by external credit assessment institutions are taken into account as part of the process to set limits.

The Wholesale Credit Risk Limit framework sets limits on the amounts that can be invested based on counterparty credit-worthiness by country, instrument type and remaining tenor. As part of the credit assessment process for wholesale credit risk exposures, the Group uses the external credit ratings issued by Fitch (as the nominated external credit assessment institution) to help determine the appropriate risk weighting to apply under the Standardised Approach (SA) to credit risk exposures. The Group has a Wholesale Credit Risk Forum where current ratings and exposures are discussed on a monthly basis by colleagues from Treasury and the Market and Liquidity Risk team. Counterparty credit reviews and proposals for new limits are also discussed at the Wholesale Credit Risk Forum as well as current market events and their possible impact on the Group. All material limits are approved by the Chief Financial Officer within parameters set by the Board and any exceptions or overrides to the policy must be explicitly agreed by the Chief Executive Officer and approved by the Board.

The Wholesale Credit Risk policy also provides that credit risk mitigation techniques are applied to reduce wholesale credit risk exposures. International Swaps Derivatives Association (ISDA) master agreements are in place with all derivative counterparties, Global Master Repurchase Agreements are in place for all repurchase counterparties and ISDA Credit Support Annexes have been executed with all of the Group's derivative counterparties. The Group uses central counterparties in order to clear specified derivative transactions (predominantly interest rate swaps) thereby mitigating counterparty risk. Positions are continuously marked to market and margin in the form of collateral is exchanged on at least a daily basis. As at 28 February 2018, no additional credit risk mitigation was deemed necessary.

35. Risk Management (continued)

Credit risk exposures

The table below relates to credit risk exposures of both on and off balance sheet assets. This represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure at the year end. For on balance sheet assets, the balances set out below are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

	2018	2017
Credit risk exposures relating to on balance sheet items	£m	£m
Cash and balances with central banks*	1,318.6	802.9
Loans and advances to customers	11,522.4	9,961.2
Derivative financial instruments	46.1	28.7
Investment securities:		
- Available-for-sale	925.4	966.1
- Loans and receivables	34.1	34.1
Other assets*	265.7	299.0
Total credit risk exposures relating to on balance sheet items	14,112.3	12,092.0
Credit risk exposures relating to off balance sheet items		
Customer lending commitments ¹	12,400.0	12,132.0
Bank of England Funding for Lending Scheme (FLS)	_	270.0
Total credit risk exposures relating to off balance sheet items	12,400.0	12,402.0
Total credit risk exposures	26,512.3	24,494.0

^{*} On a Company basis, credit risk exposures arise only from cash and balances with central banks of £3.4m (2017: £3.6m) and loans and advances to subsidiary companies of £235.0m (2017: £235.0m).

As shown above, 81.6% of the total maximum exposure to on balance sheet assets for the Group is derived from loans and advances to customers (2017: 82.4%) and 6.6% represents investments in financial assets classified as available-for-sale (2017: 8.0%).

¹ The Group has a potential exposure to total unused customer lending commitments. However, the likely exposure, which is impacted by factors such as customer behaviour and the regular assessment of the creditworthiness of customers, is less than the total unused commitments.

35. Risk Management (continued)

• Credit risk: Collateral

The Group is exposed to potential bad debts as a result of Mortgage lending, with the inherent risk that customers default on their obligations.

Controls and risk mitigants

To mitigate this risk all Mortgages are secured by a first charge over the property being purchased or re-mortgaged, to safeguard the Group's assets in the event of default by a customer. No second charges are permitted. Valuation of the property is assessed as part of the application process by a RICS (the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors) certified valuer from the Group's approved panel of valuers for a new Mortgage and when a customer decides to re-mortgage with the Group and the loan to value (LTV) is 70% or greater. Where the LTV for new re-mortgage customers is less than 70% and additional criteria are met, valuation of the property is undertaken by an automated valuation model, as are all valuations for existing re-mortgage customers, provided additional criteria are met.

The Group revalues its collateral on a quarterly basis using a regional house price valuation index. It is normal practice not to obtain additional third party revaluation of collateral unless further lending is being considered or the property has been repossessed.

The table below details the value of property collateral held against the Group's Mortgage portfolio.

Collateral held against Mortgage portfolio	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Exposure*	3,000.7	2,155.3
Collateral	5,940.1	4,374.7
Cover	198.0%	203.0%

^{*} The Mortgage balance above represents the credit risk inherent in the Mortgage products and excludes accrued interest and fair value adjustments.

• Credit risk: Concentration risk

Concentration risk is the risk of losses arising as a result of concentrations of exposures to a specific counterparty, economic sector, segment or geographical region.

The Group is potentially exposed to this risk were it to become concentrated in certain geographic areas or product profiles e.g. a disproportionate level of high LTV Mortgages. Such concentrations could produce unacceptable bad debts in some adverse but plausible situations.

Controls and risk mitigants

The Group mitigates these potential concentration risks by establishing appropriate limits and trigger thresholds that are regularly monitored and reported to the appropriate Senior Management team and risk committees.

Concentration profiles

The following tables provide concentration profiles in terms of the LTV profile for the Mortgage portfolio; geographic distribution of the Group's exposures; analysis of material asset class by industry type and credit exposure by impairment status across the different exposure class.

• Credit risk: Mortgage portfolio - LTV distribution profile

Loans are originated on an income verified basis over a range of fixed rate and tracker products. All loans are repaid on a capital and interest basis, where the loan is repaid over the agreed term of the loan.

The table below provides the LTV distribution profile for the Group's Mortgage portfolio by weighted average balance. The overall average LTV for the portfolio is 50.5% (2017: 49.3%) which is well within agreed Risk Appetite parameters.

35. Risk Management (continued)

	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Less than 50%	927.8	671.7
50% to 60%	561.6	405.3
60% to 70%	436.8	404.9
70% to 80%	478.4	311.6
80% to 90%	418.8	266.9
90% to 100%	176.4	92.8
Greater than 100%	0.9	2.1
Total*	3,000.7	2,155.3

^{*} The Mortgage balance above represents the credit risk inherent in the Mortgage products and excludes accrued interest or fair value adjustments.

• Credit risk: Asset class geographical distribution profile

The Group is primarily focused on providing financial services and products to UK personal customers.

The table below provides the geographical distribution of the Group's total credit risk exposures. For on balance sheet assets, the balances set out below are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

	2018	2017
	£m	£m
11 to 110 1	26.262.4	24.425.0
United Kingdom	26,262.4	24,125.8
Europe (excluding United Kingdom)	205.1	299.4
Other	44.8	68.8
Total	26,512.3	24,494.0

^{*} On a Company basis, total credit risk exposures, being cash and balances with central banks of £3.4m (2017: £3.6m) and loans and advances to subsidiary companies of £235.0m (2017: £235.0m), are all in the UK.

Credit risk: Analysis by industry type

The table below represents the distribution of exposures by industry type. The Group is primarily focused on providing financial services and products to personal customers in the UK, although it also has exposure to wholesale counterparties as detailed below. For on balance sheet assets, the balances set out below are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Financial institutions	983.3	809.2
Government	1,524.2	1,492.6
Individuals	23,955.0	22,113.6
Wholesale and retail trade	49.8	78.6
Total	26,512.3	24,494.0

^{*} On a Company basis, total credit risk exposures, being cash and balances with central banks of £3.4m (2017: £3.6m) and loans and advances to subsidiary companies of £235.0m (2017: £235.0m), are all with Financial institutions.

35. Risk Management (continued)

Credit risk: Asset quality

Ineffective management and controls over the emerging asset quality of the Group's lending portfolios could expose the Group to unacceptable levels of bad debt.

Controls and risk mitigants

The Group's asset quality is reflected through the level of its impairment by lending type. Asset quality is maintained through credit and affordability assessments at asset origination, combined with regular monitoring and reporting of asset quality to the appropriate senior management team and risk committees.

The table below presents an analysis of credit exposure by impairment status across the different exposure classes. The table predominantly relates to Banking assets; the retail instalment lending applies to credit agreements in the Insurance business. The balances set out below are based on gross loans and advances, excluding fair value hedge adjustments, as provided in note 14.

Credit quality of gross loans and advances	Retail	Retail	Retail	
2018	unsecured	mortgage	instalment	
	lending	lending	lending	Total
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Past due and impaired				
Less than 90 days past due	44.1	0.2	_	44.3
90–179 days past due	59.3	_	-	59.3
180 days plus past due	109.5	0.1	-	109.6
Past due but not impaired				
0–29 days past due	54.7	0.7	0.5	55.9
30–59 days past due	19.8	_	-	19.8
60–89 days past due	12.5	-	-	12.5
Neither past due nor impaired				
Low risk *	8,010.0	2,983.1	129.4	11,122.5
High risk **	326.9	26.1	_	353.0
	8,636.8	3,010.2	129.9	11,776.9

Gross loans and advances to customers of £17.2m (2017: £14.8m) are subject to active forbearance arrangements and are considered to be not impaired on the basis that the Group does not anticipate that the future expected cash flows of the gross loans and advances will be impacted. Of this total, £5.0m (2017: £4.9m) is included in 'neither past due or impaired' and £12.2m (2017: £9.9m) in 'past due but not impaired'.

35. Risk Management (continued)

Credit quality of gross loans and advances	Retail	Retail	Retail	
2017	unsecured	mortgage	instalment	
	lending	lending	lending	Total
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Past due and impaired				
Less than 90 days past due	32.4	_	_	32.4
90-179 days past due	47.8	_	_	47.8
180 days plus past due	99.2	_	_	99.2
Past due but not impaired				
0–29 days past due	47.8	0.6	0.2	48.6
30–59 days past due	15.5	_	_	15.5
60–89 days past due	9.9	-	-	9.9
Neither past due nor impaired				
Low risk *	7,426.1	2,144.4	140.1	9,710.6
High risk **	151.9	15.7	_	167.6
	7,830.6	2,160.7	140.3	10,131.6

^{*} Low risk is defined as an asset with a probability of default of less than 10%.

All other financial assets are deemed to be at low risk of default.

Credit risk: Forbearance

The Group could be exposed to unacceptable levels of bad debt and also suffer reputational damage if it did not provide adequate support to customers who are experiencing financial difficulties. Forbearance is relief granted by a lender to assist customers in financial difficulty, through arrangements which temporarily allow the customer to pay an amount other than the contractual amounts due. These temporary arrangements may be initiated by the customer or the Group where financial distress would prevent repayment within the original terms and conditions of the contract. The main aim of forbearance is to support customers in returning to a position where they are able to meet their contractual obligations.

The Group has adopted the definition of forbearance in the European Banking Authority's (EBA) final draft Implementing Technical Standards (ITS) of July 2014. The Group reports all accounts meeting this definition, providing for them appropriately.

Controls and risk mitigants

The Group has well defined forbearance policies and processes. A number of forbearance options are made available to customers by the Group. These routinely, but not exclusively, include the following:

- Arrangements to repay arrears over a period of time, by making payments above the contractual amount, that ensure the loan is repaid within the original repayment term.
- Short term concessions, where the borrower is allowed to make reduced repayments (or in exceptional circumstances, no repayments) on a temporary basis to assist with short term financial hardship.
- For secured products, it may also be acceptable to allow the customer to clear the arrears over an extended period of time, provided the payments remain affordable.

^{**} High risk is defined as an asset with a probability of default of 10% or more.

35. Risk Management (continued)

The table below details the values of secured and unsecured advances that are subject to forbearance programmes, in accordance with the EBA definition.

	Gross Loans and Advances subject to Forbearance Programmes		Forbearance programmes as a proportion of total Loans and Advances by category		Proportion of Forbearance Programmes covered by impairment provision	
	2018	2017	2018	2017	2018	2017
	£m	£m	%	%	%	%
Credit Cards UK	69.6	70.4	1.5	1.8	72.3	60.0
Credit Cards Europe	0.9	1.1	2.7	2.9	40.9	40.0
Credit Cards commercial	0.1	0.1	4.7	4.3	95.0	84.7
Loans	42.4	38.2	1.0	1.0	68.2	62.9
Mortgages	5.9	4.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of potential error, loss, harm, or failure caused by ineffective or inadequately defined processes, system failures, improper conduct, human error, fraud or from external events. The Group is subject to the Standardised Approach (SA) method to calculate Pillar 1 operational risk capital, as outlined in the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR).

Financial crime and fraud are significant drivers of operational risk and the external threat continues to grow across the Financial Services industry. The industry remains under significant threat from cyber attacks. This includes various organised groups targeting institutions through phishing, malware, denial of service and other sophisticated methods. The Group has a robust risk framework and continually monitors emerging risks and threats.

Controls and risk mitigants

The Group's risks are assessed utilising a risk management framework methodology which is aligned to the three lines of defence model.

The Chief Risk Officer and the Operational Risk Director, together with a dedicated Operational Risk team, are responsible for:

- developing and maintaining the operational risk framework;
- working with relevant business areas to make sure that first line responsibilities are understood and that those responsibilities should be executed within the framework;
- supporting relevant business areas to embed policies and frameworks and instil a positive risk management culture; and
- independently monitoring, assessing and reporting on operational risk profiles and losses.

The Operational Risk function maintains policies defining the minimum requirements for the management of Operational Risk and Financial Crime.

35. Risk Management (continued)

Business units and functions assess their operational risks on an ongoing basis via a prescribed Risk and Control Self Assessment (RCSA) process and Operational Risk Scenario Analysis (ORSA). The RCSA analysis is reviewed and updated quarterly by first line business areas to reflect changes to the risk and control environment arising from changes in products, processes and systems. The RCSA outputs are reported to relevant governance bodies. This is supplemented further by an Event Management process and regular reporting of the Operational Risk profile to the ERC. The ORSA builds on RCSA and Event Management to identify the forward-looking risk profile and the results are used to inform the Board's decision on any additional requirement for Operational Risk Capital under Pillar II.

The ERC provides oversight of the Group's operational risk profile and provides regular reports and recommendations to the Board Risk Committee (BRC).

Liquidity and funding risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is not able to meet its obligations as they fall due. This includes the risk that a given security cannot be traded quickly enough in the market to prevent a loss if a credit rating falls. Funding risk is the risk that the Group does not have sufficiently stable and diverse sources of funding.

The Group operates within a Liquidity Risk Management Policy Framework (LRMP) to ensure that sufficient funds are available at all times to meet demands from depositors; to fund agreed advances; to meet other commitments as and when they fall due; and to ensure the Board's Risk Appetite is met.

Controls and risk mitigants

Liquidity and funding risk is assessed through the Individual Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) on at least an annual basis. The ILAAP process involves detailed consideration of the following:

- identification of sources of liquidity risk;
- quantification of those risks through stress testing;
- consideration of management processes and controls to minimise the risk;
- assessment of the type and quality of liquid asset holdings to mitigate the risk; and
- consideration of the levels of contingent funding required to mitigate the risk.

The Group sets formal limits within the LRMP to maintain liquidity risk exposures within the liquidity Risk Appetite set by the Board. The key liquidity and funding measures monitored on a regular basis are:

- the internal liquidity requirement, which seeks to ensure that the Group maintains adequate liquid assets to survive a defined stress scenario for a sufficient period as defined by Risk Appetite;
- the regulatory liquidity coverage ratio, which requires the Group to maintain a sufficient portfolio of high quality liquid assets to meet liquidity requirements during periods of market dislocation and stress over a 30 day period;
- the net stable funding ratio, which is calculated under the Capital Requirements Directive IV methodology;
- the loan to deposit ratio, which is calculated by dividing loans and advances to customers by deposits from customers;
- the encumbrance ratio, which is calculated as (total encumbered assets + total collateral received which has been
 re-used for refinancing transactions) divided by (total assets + total collateral received which is available for
 encumbrance);
- the wholesale funding ratio, which is calculated by dividing total wholesale funding by total funding;
- the annual wholesale re-financing amount, which is the value of funds requiring to be refinanced in a rolling 12 month period; and
- the minimum unencumbered assets, which is the surplus of unencumbered assets relative to the total amount of retail liabilities.

35. Risk Management (continued)

The Group measures and manages liquidity adequacy in line with the above metrics on a regular basis and maintains a conservative liquidity and funding profile to confirm that it is able to meet its financial obligations under normal, and stressed, market conditions.

The Group monitors and reports on the composition of its funding base against defined thresholds to avoid funding source and maturity concentration risks.

The Group prepares both short term and long term forecasts to assess liquidity requirements and takes into account factors such as Credit Card payment cycles, expected utilisation of undrawn credit card limits, customer deposit patterns, and wholesale funding (including TFS) maturities. These reports support daily liquidity management and are reviewed daily by Senior Management along with early warning indicators.

Stress testing of current and forecast financial positions is conducted to inform the Group of required liquidity resources. Reverse stress testing is conducted to inform the Group of the circumstances that would result in liquidity resources being exhausted. Liquidity stress tests are presented to the Liquidity Management Forum and Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCo) on a regular basis to provide evidence that sufficient liquidity is held to meet financial obligations in a stress.

The Treasury Director is responsible for formulating, and obtaining Board approval for, an annual funding plan as part of the overall business planning process. The Group is predominantly funded by its retail deposit base which reduces reliance on wholesale funding and, in particular, results in minimal short-term wholesale funding.

A significant part of these retail deposits are repayable on demand on a contractual basis. The Group continuously monitors retail deposit activity so that it can reasonably predict expected maturity flows. These instruments form a stable funding base for the Group's operations because of the broad customer base and the historical behaviours exhibited.

During the year the Group accessed the Bank of England's (BoE) TFS, repaying borrowing previously drawn under the BoE's Funding for Lending Scheme.

The table below shows the Group's primary funding sources.

Primary funding sources	2018	2017
	£m	£m
On balance sheet		
Deposits from banks	1,539.0	499.8
Deposits from customers	9,244.6	8,463.2
Subordinated liabilities and notes	235.0	235.0
Debt securities in issue	1,347.6	1,204.3
Total on balance sheet funding	12,366.2	10,402.3
Off balance sheet		
Treasury bills drawn under FLS (net of repurchase agreements)*		170.0
Total off balance sheet funding	-	170.0

^{*}FLS drawdowns of £nil (2017: £270.0m) are shown net of Treasury bills used as collateral in repurchase agreements of £nil (2017: £100.0m).

35. Risk Management (continued)

The tables below show cash flows payable up to a period of 20 years on an undiscounted basis. These differ from the Statement of Financial Position values due to the effects of discounting on certain Statement of Financial Position items and due to the inclusion of contractual future interest flows.

Derivatives designated in a hedging relationship are included according to their contractual maturity.

Liquidity and funding risk on financial assets and liabilities

Elquidity and funding risk on in							
Group			Between 2			Beyond 5	
2018	-	-	and 3 years	=	-	years	Total
On balance sheet	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Financial assets:							
Cash and balances at							
central banks	1,318.8	-	-	-	_	-	1,318.8
Loans and advances to							
customers	6,614.4	1,395.6	929.8	598.3	385.0	3,036.1	12,959.2
Investment securities							
- Available-for-sale	90.9	97.0	49.7	114.7	138.9	496.7	987.9
- Loans and receivables	1.5	1.7	1.7	1.8	1.8	62.1	70.6
Other assets	265.7	-	-	-	-	-	265.7
Total financial assets	8,291.3	1,494.3	981.2	714.8	525.7	3,594.9	15,602.2
_							
Financial liabilities:							
Deposits from banks	208.7	12.0	412.1	946.8	_	-	1,579.6
Deposits from customers	7,654.9	873.5	500.4	178.6	105.4	0.1	9,312.9
Debt securities in issue	448.3	441.4	513.7	-	_	-	1,403.4
Derivatives settled							
on a net basis							
- Derivatives in economic							
but not accounting hedges	(0.6)	_	_	_	_	_	(0.6)
- Derivatives in accounting							
hedge relationships	22.3	(8.2)	1.3	3.4	3.9	22.6	45.3
Other liabilities	144.3	_	_	_	_	_	144.3
Subordinated liabilities	4.9	5.9	6.4	7.6	12.7	293.9	331.4
Total financial liabilities	8,482.8	1,324.6	1,433.9	1,136.4	122.0	316.6	12,816.3
_							
Off balance sheet							
Contractual lending							
commitments	12,400.0	_	_	_	_	_	12,400.0
Total off balance sheet	12,400.0	_	_	_	_	_	12,400.0

^{*} On a Company basis, liquidity and funding risk arises only on cash and balances with central banks of £3.4m (2017: £3.6m), which are due within 1 year, and loans and advances to subsidiary companies of £235.0m (2017: £235.0m), which have the same profile as the subordinated liabilities in the Group table above.

35. Risk Management (continued)

Total off balance sheet

12,132.0

Liquidity and funding risk on	Liquidity and funding risk on financial assets and liabilities						
Group	Within 1	Between 1	Between 2	Between 3	Between 4	Beyond 5	
2017	year	and 2 years	and 3 years	and 4 years	and 5 years	years	Total
On balance sheet	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Financial assets:							
Cash and balances at							
central banks	803.0	_	-	-	_	_	803.0
Loans and advances to							
customers	5,486.5	1,143.9	934.0	709.4	482.7	2,476.0	11,232.5
Investment securities							
- Available-for-sale	176.4	86.5	93.5	26.2	131.0	490.9	1,004.5
- Loans and receivables	1.4	1.4	1.5	1.5	1.6	61.4	68.8
Other assets	299.0	_	-	-	-	_	299.0
Total financial assets	6,766.3	1,231.8	1,029.0	737.1	615.3	3,028.3	13,407.8
-							
Financial liabilities:							
Deposits from banks	100.0	301.3	0.5	100.0	-	_	501.8
Deposits from customers	6,658.5	1,147.1	422.5	167.5	173.5	0.3	8,569.4
Debt securities in issue	173.5	443.0	435.8	210.0	-	_	1,262.3
Derivatives settled							
on a net basis							
- Derivatives in economic							
but not accounting hedges	(2.1)	(3.4)	(2.9)	(2.5)	-	_	(10.9)
- Derivatives in accounting							
hedge relationships	34.4	25.2	4.1	11.7	10.0	23.4	108.8
Derivatives settled on							
a gross basis							
- Outflows	71.5	-	_	-	-	_	71.5
- Inflows	(63.3)	_	_	-	-	_	(63.3)
Other liabilities	148.4	_	-	-	-	-	148.4
Subordinated liabilities	4.0	4.2	4.5	4.9	5.3	302.7	325.6
Total financial liabilities	7,124.9	1,917.4	864.5	491.6	188.8	326.4	10,913.6
-							
Off balance sheet							
Contractual lending							
commitments	12,132.0						12,132.0
							40 400 0

12,132.0

35. Risk Management (continued)

The table below summarises the Group's assets which are available to support future funding and collateral needs and shows the extent to which these assets are currently pledged for this purpose.

The Group has adopted the definition of encumbered and unencumbered in the EBA's final guidelines on disclosure of June 2014. Asset encumbrance represents a claim to an asset by another party usually in the form of a security interest such as a pledge. Encumbrance reduces the assets available in the event of default by a bank and therefore, the recovery rate of its depositors and other unsecured bank creditors.

Group 2018	Encumbered £m	Unencumbered £m	Total £m
Encumbered asset summary			
Loans and advances to customers	3,654.0	7,868.4	11,522.4
Other assets	111.1	154.6	265.7
	3,765.1	8,023.0	11,788.1
Encumbered loans and advances to customers			
Securitisation – Delamare Master Trust	1,628.7		
Personal loans	989.6		
Mortgages	1,035.7		
	3,654.0	-	
Encumbered other assets		-	
Initial margin held at Clearing Houses	56.5		
Variation margin held at Clearing Houses	54.0		
Collateral held at counterparties	0.6	_	
	111.1		
Group	Encumbered	Unencumbered	Total
2017	£m	£m	£m
Encumbered asset summary			
Loans and advances to customers	2,309.9	7,651.3	9,961.2
Other assets	156.9	142.1	299.0
	2,466.8	7,793.4	10,260.2
Encumbered loans and advances to customers			
Securitisation – Delamare Master Trust	1,853.5		
Mortgages	456.4		
	2,309.9	-	
Encumbered other assets		-	
Initial margin held at Clearing Houses	42.4		
Variation margin held at Clearing Houses	104.5		
Collateral held at counterparties	10.0	_	
	156.9	- .	

35. Risk Management (continued)

Loans and advances assigned for use as collateral in securitisation transactions.

At 28 February 2018, £3,490.5m (2017: £2,529.3m) of the Credit Card portfolio had its beneficial interest assigned to a securitisation structured entity, Delamare Cards Receivables Trustee Limited, for use as collateral in securitisation transactions. The total encumbered portion of this portfolio is £1,628.7m (2017: £1,853.5m).

At 28 February 2018, Delamare Cards MTN Issuer plc had £2,362.2m (2017: £1,800.0m) notes in issue in relation to securitisation transactions, of which £950.0m (2017: £800.0m) related to externally issued notes (refer to note 27). At 28 February 2018 the Group owned £1,412.2m (2017: £1,000.0m) of class A and class D Credit Card backed notes issued by Delamare Cards MTN Issuer plc.

Of the total £1,150.0m (2017: £800.0m) class A retained Credit Card backed notes, £300.0m (2017: £630.0m) is held in a distinct pool for the purposes of collateralising the TFS drawings. All other prepositioned assets with the Bank of England are held within their single collateral pool.

Loans and advances prepositioned with Bank of England

Group	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Credit Card backed notes*	1,150.0	780.0
Mortgages	1,035.7	456.4
Unsecured personal loans	2,438.0	1,037.7
Total assets prepositioned as collateral with Bank of England	4,623.7	2,274.1
		'
Collateralised FLS Drawings		270.0
C.H. L. LTTCD	4 222 2	400.0
Collateralised TFS Drawings	1,339.0	400.0
*Issued by Delamare Cards MTN Issuer plc		

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the value of earnings or capital is altered through the movement of market rates. This includes interest rates, foreign exchange rates, credit spreads and equities. The Group has no trading book exposures. Market risk arises in the following ways in the Group:

- Interest rate risk in the Group's retail portfolios, certain income streams and in its funding activities arises from the different repricing characteristics of non-trading assets and liabilities, hereafter referred to as Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB);
- Foreign exchange exposures that arise from foreign currency investments, foreign currency loans, deposits, income and other foreign currency contracts;
- Interest rate risk associated with TU's investment portfolio; and
- Investment risk relating to the Group's pension obligations.

Control and risk mitigants

Control of market risk exposure is managed by ALCo and the Market Risk Forum. These bodies provide oversight of the Group's market risk position at a detailed level, providing regular reports and recommendations to the BRC.

35. Risk Management (continued)

Interest rate risk in the Banking Book

IRRBB is the risk of value changes to both earnings and capital arising from timing differences in the re-pricing of the Group's loans and deposits and unexpected changes to the level and/or shape of the yield curve.

The Group offers lending and savings products with varying interest rate features and maturities which create re-pricing mismatches and therefore potential interest rate risk exposures. The Group is therefore exposed to interest rate risk through its dealings with retail banking products as well as through its limited wholesale market activities.

IRRBB is the main market risk that could affect the Group's net interest income.

Control and risk mitigants

The Group has established limits for its Risk Appetite in this area and stress tests are performed using sensitivity to fluctuations in underlying interest rates in order to monitor this risk.

The Group has established a specific Risk Appetite for IRRBB which is implemented via a robust Market Risk Policy, a range of specific risk limits and a Market Risk control framework. The Treasury function is responsible for regular stress testing of risk positions against multiple interest rate scenarios to determine the sensitivity of earnings and capital valuations to ensure compliance with Board Risk Appetite and limits.

IRRBB management information is produced by the Asset and Liability Management (ALM) team and is reviewed by ALCo at each of its monthly meetings. IRRBB primarily arises from the retail lending portfolios (including the Mortgage pipeline) and retail deposits. The ALM team is responsible for ensuring hedging strategies are implemented as required to ensure that the Group remains within its stated Risk Appetite and limits.

The main hedging instruments used are interest rate swaps and the residual exposure against the two Board Risk Appetite metrics is reported monthly to the ALCo and Board.

Capital at Risk (CaR): The CaR approach assesses the value sensitivity of the Bank's capital to movements in interest rates. The scenarios considered include both parallel and non-parallel movements of the yield curve and have been designed to assess impacts across a suitable range of severe but plausible movements in interest rates. The CaR measure is an aggregate measure of four separate risk components, each being a distinct form of interest rate risk (Repricing Risk, Basis Risk, Pipeline Risk and Prepayment Risk).

The table below shows the Group's CaR. At 28 February 2018 the Group was exposed to net residual risk via an upward rate scenario (2017: upward rate scenario).

	2018	2017
	Upward rate scenario	Upward rate scenario
Capital at Risk Sensitivity	£m	£m
Repricing risk	12.1	(6.7)
Basis risk ¹	-	4.5
Pipeline risk	(4.3)	(5.1)
Prepayment risk	(22.2)	(18.4)
Total	(14.4)	(25.7)

Net Interest Income (NII) Sensitivity: This measures the effect of a +1.0%; -0.75% (2017: +1.0%; -0.75%) parallel interest rate shock on the next 12 months NII, based on the re-pricing gaps in the existing portfolio.

	2018		2017		
	Upward Rate Dow	nward Rate	Upward Rate Downward Rate		
	Shock	Shock	Shock	Shock	
NII Sensitivity	(1.03)%	0.77%	(0.07)%	0.05%	

The sensitivity analyses presented represent, in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 7, 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures', Management's assessment of a reasonably possible sensitivity, rather than worst case scenario positions.

¹ The reported value for re-pricing risk as at 2018 includes the basis risk component which was previously modelled and reported separately. Basis risk will be modelled in combination with all other re-pricing risks going forward.

35. Risk Management (continued)

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of transactions in currencies other than Sterling is altered by the movement of exchange rates.

The Group's Risk Appetite permits investment in non-GBP denominated bonds and the Group may raise funding from the wholesale markets in currencies other than GBP. Foreign exchange exposure arises if these are not hedged. Foreign exchange exposure may also arise through the Group's 'Click and Collect' Travel money provision and invoices received which are denominated in foreign currencies.

Control and risk mitigants

Substantially all foreign currency exposure is hedged to reduce exposure to a minimum level, within Board-approved limits. The residual exposure is not material and, as such, no sensitivity analysis is disclosed.

The Group's maximum exposure to foreign exchange risk at 28 February 2018 was £45.5m (2017: £119.5m), representing the Group's net assets denominated in foreign currencies.

Tesco Underwriting Limited investment portfolio

The TU insurance portfolio assets are invested with a number of counterparties. These investments are predominantly comprised of government securities, corporate bonds and short term cash investments.

The main risks relate to changes in:

- interest rates affecting fair value arising as a proportion of the bonds are fixed rate in nature; and
- credit quality, as the range of assets held are issued by a variety of institutions with different credit characteristics.

Controls and risk mitigants

Portfolio management is undertaken by the TU investment committee. The Group's Finance function provides oversight and challenge.

Investment risk relating to pension obligations

Pension risk may be defined as the risk to a company caused by its contractual or other liabilities to or with respect to a pension scheme (whether established for its employees or those of a related company or otherwise). The Group is a participating employer in the Tesco PLC Pension Scheme. TSL has recognised the appropriate net liability of the Tesco PLC pension scheme in accordance with IAS 19, 'Employee Benefits' (refer to note 34).

Insurance risk

The Group is exposed to insurance risk through its 49.9% ownership of TU, an authorised insurance company.

The Group defines insurance risk as the risks accepted through the provision of insurance products in return for a premium. These risks may or may not occur as expected and the amount and timing of these risks are uncertain and determined by events outside of the Group's control (e.g. flood or vehicular accident). The Group's aim is to actively manage insurance risk exposure, with particular focus on those risks that impact profit volatility.

Insurance risk is typically categorised in the following way:

- Underwriting risk Related to the selection and pricing (or quantification) of the risk currently being transferred from customers to an insurer; and
- Reserving risk Related to valuation and management of financial resources sufficient to pay claims for the risk already transferred from customers to an insurer.

35. Risk Management (continued)

Controls and risk mitigants

The Group's oversight of TU is primarily provided by its representation on the TU Board. TU operates a separate risk framework with dedicated risk and compliance teams and a suite of TU risk policies to ensure that the TU insurance portfolio is operating within agreed Risk Appetite. Performance of the portfolio is monitored and reported to the ERC on a monthly basis against specific key performance indicator thresholds and limits.

Residual price risk

Residual price risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument and its associated hedge will fluctuate because of changes in market prices, for reasons other than interest rate or credit risk. The Group has available-for-sale investment securities that are held at fair value in the Company and Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.

Controls and risk mitigants

The Group has established appropriate hedging strategies to mitigate the interest rate and foreign exchange risks. Residual price risk remains.

The table below demonstrates the Group's exposure to residual price risk at the year end. Included in the table is the expected impact of a 10% shock in market prices on the Group's available-for-sale investment securities. The figures shown are prior to hedging activities which mitigate the interest rate and foreign exchange risks.

Impact of 10 % shock in market prices		Fair value	Impact of 1	0% shock	Value after 1	0% shock
	2018	2017	2018	2017	2018	2017
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Available-for-sale:						
Government-backed investment securities	101.1	117.4	(10.1)	(11.7)	91.0	105.7
Gilts	581.5	572.5	(58.2)	(57.2)	523.3	515.3
Supranational investment securities	85.1	176.1	(8.5)	(17.6)	76.6	158.5
Other investment securities	155.7	98.4	(15.6)	(9.8)	140.1	88.6
Equity securities	2.0	1.7	(0.2)	(0.2)	1.8	1.5
	925.4	966.1	(92.6)	(96.5)	832.8	869.6

Regulatory risk

Regulatory risk is the risk of reputational damage, liability or material loss from failure to comply with the requirements of the financial services regulators or related codes of best practice applicable to the business areas within which the Group operates. The risk of business conduct leading to poor outcomes can arise as a result of an over-aggressive sales strategy; poor management of sales processes, credit assessments and credit processes; or failure to comply with other regulatory requirements. The Group has no appetite for breaches of rules and regulations. Where breaches occur, the Group will take appropriate rectifying action. The group has no appetite for inappropriate or unfair outcomes for customers.

Controls and risk mitigants

As part of the Group's Policy Framework, a dedicated Compliance Advisory (CA) team is responsible for the Compliance policy which is approved by the Group's Board, as well as for monitoring, challenge and oversight of regulatory risk and compliance across the Group's business. Guidance and advice to enable the business to operate in a compliant manner is provided by the CA team and the Legal team.

During the year, the Group established the Prudential Regulatory Forum which is responsible for the oversight of Prudential Regulatory Authority (PRA) communications including information requests; upstream regulatory change including impact analysis, action tracking, regulatory responses; Prudential regulatory compliance and reporting; and Prudential regulatory deliverables compliance with prudential regulation.

35. Risk Management (continued)

The CA team is also responsible for the detailed regulatory policies which underpin the Compliance policy. These are further supported by Operational and Product Guides that provide relevant practical guidance to business and operational areas to enable them to comply with the regulatory policies.

The Group's Legal function has responsibility for commercial legal work, regulatory legal compliance, litigation/dispute resolution matters, advising on competition law and supporting the Group's Treasury activity. The Legal team also comprises the Company Secretarial function which, in addition to its role supporting the Board and maintaining statutory books, ensures the Company complies with all applicable governance codes.

Business areas manage conduct risk and use a range of management information to monitor the fair treatment of customers. A framework of product-led conduct management information has been developed and is reviewed by senior management in the business lines. Customer outcomes are also assessed as part of the development and design of new products and through annual product reviews of existing products. The ERC and the Board review and challenge delivery of fair outcomes for customers and are provided with management information.

36. Financial Instruments

Classification of financial assets and liabilities

The following tables analyse the financial assets and financial liabilities in accordance with the categories of financial instruments in IAS 39.

Group 2018	Loans and receivables £m	Other (amortised cost) £m	Derivatives held for hedging £m	Available- for-sale £m	Total £m
Financial assets					
Cash and balances with central banks	1,318.6	_	-	_	1,318.6
Loans and advances to customers	11,522.4	-	_	-	11,522.4
Derivative financial instruments	_	_	46.1	_	46.1
Investment securities:					
- Available-for-sale	_	_	_	925.4	925.4
- Loans and receivables	34.1	_	_	_	34.1
Other assets	265.7	_	_	_	265.7
Total financial assets	13,140.8	_	46.1	925.4	14,112.3
Financial liabilities					
Deposits from banks	_	1,539.0	_	_	1,539.0
Deposits from customers	_	9,244.6	_	_	9,244.6
Debt securities in issue	_	1,347.6	_	_	1,347.6
Derivative financial instruments	_	_	88.4	_	88.4
Other liabilities	_	144.3	_	_	144.3
Subordinated liabilities		235.0			235.0
Total financial liabilities	_	12,510.5	88.4	_	12,598.9

^{*} On a Company basis, cash and balances with central banks is £3.4m (2017: £3.6m) and loans and advances to subsidiary companies is £235.0m (2017: £235.0m), both of which are categorised as loans and receivables.

All derivative financial instruments are held for economic hedging purposes, although not all derivatives are designated as hedging instruments under the terms of IAS 39.

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

Group 2017	Loans and receivables	Other (amortised cost) £m	Derivatives held for hedging £m	Available- for-sale £m	Total £m
Financial assets					
Cash and balances with central banks	802.9	_	_	_	802.9
Loans and advances to customers	9,961.2	_	_	_	9,961.2
Derivative financial instruments	_	_	28.7	_	28.7
Investment securities:					
- Available-for-sale	_	_	_	966.1	966.1
- Loans and receivables	34.1	_	_	_	34.1
Other assets	299.0	_	_	_	299.0
Total financial assets	11,097.2	-	28.7	966.1	12,092.0
Financial liabilities					
Deposits from banks	_	499.8	_	_	499.8
Deposits from customers	_	8,463.2	_	_	8,463.2
Debt securities in issue	_	1,204.3	_	_	1,204.3
Derivative financial instruments	_	_	133.3	_	133.3
Other liabilities	_	148.4	_	_	148.4
Subordinated liabilities		235.0	_		235.0
Total financial liabilities	_	10,550.7	133.3	_	10,684.0

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

Offsetting

The following tables show those financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements.

Group		Related a		
2040		not of	fset	••
2018	Gross and net amounts presented in Statement		Collateral	Net
	of Financial Position	instruments	pledged	amounts
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Financial assets				
Derivative financial instruments	46.1	(37.5)	(17.5)	(8.9)
Total financial assets	46.1	(37.5)	(17.5)	(8.9)
Financial liabilities				
Derivative financial instruments	(88.4)	37.5	54.6	3.7
Repurchases, securities lending and similar agreements*	(200.0)	380.0	_	180.0
Total financial liabilities	(288.4)	417.5	54.6	183.7
Group		Related a		
•		Related a		.
Group 2017	Gross and net amounts			Net
•	presented in Statement	not of	fset	Net amounts
•	presented in Statement of Financial Position	not of Financial instruments	fset Collateral pledged	amounts
2017	presented in Statement	not of	fset Collateral	
2017 Financial assets	presented in Statement of Financial Position £m	not of Financial instruments £m	Collateral pledged £m	amounts £m
2017 Financial assets Derivative financial instruments	presented in Statement of Financial Position £m	not of Financial instruments £m (17.5)	Collateral pledged £m (11.0)	amounts £m
2017 Financial assets	presented in Statement of Financial Position £m	not of Financial instruments £m	Collateral pledged £m	amounts £m
Financial assets Derivative financial instruments Total financial assets	presented in Statement of Financial Position £m	not of Financial instruments £m (17.5)	Collateral pledged £m (11.0)	amounts £m
Financial assets Derivative financial instruments Total financial assets Financial liabilities	presented in Statement of Financial Position £m 28.7	not of Financial instruments £m (17.5) (17.5)	Collateral pledged £m (11.0) (11.0)	amounts £m 0.2 0.2
Financial assets Derivative financial instruments Total financial assets Financial liabilities Derivative financial instruments	presented in Statement of Financial Position £m 28.7 28.7 (133.3)	not of Financial instruments £m (17.5) (17.5)	Collateral pledged £m (11.0)	amounts £m 0.2 0.2 (1.3)
Financial assets Derivative financial instruments Total financial assets Financial liabilities	presented in Statement of Financial Position £m 28.7	not of Financial instruments £m (17.5) (17.5)	Collateral pledged £m (11.0) (11.0)	amounts £m 0.2 0.2

^{*}Repurchases, securities lending and similar agreements are included within the Deposits from Banks balance of £1,539.0m (2017: £499.8m) in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

For the financial assets and financial liabilities subject to enforceable master netting arrangements above, each agreement between the Group and the counterparty allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and financial liabilities when both elect to settle on a net basis. In the absence of such an election, financial assets and financial liabilities will be settled on a gross basis. However, each party to the master netting agreement or similar agreement will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party.

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

Except as detailed in the following table, the Directors consider that the carrying value amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the Statement of Financial Position are approximately equal to their fair values.

Group	2018		2017	7
	Carrying value	Fair Value	Carrying value	Fair value
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Financial assets				
Loans and advances to customers	11,522.4	11,658.8	9,961.2	10,178.2
Investment securities - loans and receivables	34.1	34.7	34.1	36.8
	11,556.5	11,693.5	9,995.3	10,215.0
Financial liabilities				
Deposits from customers	9,244.6	9,223.5	8,463.2	8,485.5
Debt securities in issue	1,347.6	1,354.9	1,204.3	1,210.0
Subordinated liabilities	235.0	182.9	235.0	185.0
	10,827.2	10,761.3	9,902.5	9,880.5

^{*} On a Company basis, loans and advances to subsidiary companies is £235.0m (2017: £235.0m), with a fair value of £182.9m (2017: £185.0m). On a Company basis, subordinated liabilities have the same carrying value and fair value as set out in the Group table above.

The only financial assets and financial liabilities which are carried at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position are available-for-sale investment securities and derivative financial instruments. The valuation techniques and inputs used to derive fair values at the year end are described below.

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Where an active market is considered to exist, fair values are based on quoted prices. For instruments which do not have active markets, fair value is calculated using present value models, which take individual cash flows together with assumptions based on market conditions and credit spreads, and are consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments.

In each case the fair value is calculated by discounting future cash flows using benchmark, observable market interest rates.

The table below categorises all financial instruments held at fair value (recurring measurement) and the fair value of financial instruments held at amortised cost according to the method used to establish the fair value disclosed.

Group	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
2018	£m	£m	£m	£m
Financial assets carried at fair value				
Financial assets classified as available-for-sale	923.4	_	2.0	925.4
Derivative financial instruments:				
- Interest rate swaps	_	45.9	_	45.9
- Forward foreign currency contracts	_	0.2	_	0.2
Financial assets carried at amortised cost				
Loans and advances to customers	_	_	11,658.8	11,658.8
Investment securities – loans and receivables	_	34.7	_	34.7
Total	923.4	80.8	11,660.8	12,665.0
			·	
Financial liabilities carried at fair value				
Derivative financial instruments:				
- Interest rate swaps	_	88.3	_	88.3
- Forward foreign currency contracts	_	0.1	_	0.1
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost				
Deposits from customers	_	-	9,223.5	9,223.5
Debt securities in issue	1,354.9	_	_	1,354.9
Subordinated liabilities	_	182.9	_	182.9
Total	1,354.9	271.3	9,223.5	10,849.7

^{*} On a Company basis, loans and advances to subsidiary companies of £182.9m (2017: £185.0m) are categorised as level 2. On a Company basis, subordinated liabilities have the same fair value and categorisation as set out in the Group table above.

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

Group	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
2017	£m	£m	£m	£m
Financial assets carried at fair value				
Financial assets classified as available-for-sale	964.4	_	1.7	966.1
Derivative financial instruments:				
- Interest rate swaps	_	27.6	_	27.6
- Forward foreign currency contracts	_	0.1	_	0.1
- Cross currency swaps	_	1.0	_	1.0
Financial assets carried at amortised cost				
Loans and advances to customers	_	_	10,178.2	10,178.2
Investment securities – loans and receivables	_	36.8	_	36.8
Total	964.4	65.5	10,179.9	11,209.8
Financial liabilities carried at fair value				
Derivative financial instruments:				
- Interest rate swaps	_	123.9	_	123.9
- Forward foreign currency contracts	_	0.2	_	0.2
- Cross currency swaps	_	9.2	_	9.2
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost				
Deposits from customers	_	_	8,485.5	8,485.5
Debt securities in issue	1,210.0	_	_	1,210.0
Subordinated liabilities	_	185.0	_	185.0
Total	1,210.0	318.3	8,485.5	10,013.8

There are three levels to the hierarchy as follows:

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (for example, as prices) or indirectly (for example, derived from prices).

Derivative financial instruments which are categorised as Level 2 are those which either:

- Have future cash flows which are on known dates and for which the cash flow amounts are known or calculable by reference to observable interest and foreign exchange rates; or
- Have future cash flows which are not pre-defined, but for which the fair value of the instrument has very low sensitivity to changes in estimate of future cash flows.

In each case the fair value is calculated by discounting future cash flows using benchmark, observable market interest rates

Available-for-sale investment securities which are categorised as Level 2 are those where no active market exists or where there are quoted prices available for similar instruments in active markets.

Fair values of investment securities classified as loans and receivables are based on quoted prices, where available, or by using discounted cash flows applying market rates.

The estimated fair value of subordinated liabilities is calculated using a discounted cash flow model based on a current yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity.

36. Financial Instruments (continued)

Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Loans and advances to customers are net of charges for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and advances represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.

The estimated fair value of deposits from customers represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be paid. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.

The estimated fair value of financial assets classified as available-for-sale, being the Group's interest in VISA Inc., is described in note 17.

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and Level 2 in the year to 28 February 2018 (2017: no transfers).

There were no transfers between Level 2 and Level 3 in the year to 28 February 2018 (2017: no transfers).

37. Cash Outflow from Operating Activities

	Group		Company	
	2018	2017	2018	2017
Non cash and other items included in operating profit before taxation	£m	£m	£m	£m
		Restated ¹		
Loan impairment charges (refer note 9)	134.2	102.8	_	_
Depreciation and amortisation (refer notes 23 & 24)	83.0	110.3	_	_
Gain on disposal of investment securities	(0.1)	(4.2)	_	_
Disposal of non-current assets (refer notes 23 & 24)	1.1	6.5	_	_
Provision for liabilities and charges (refer note 28)	49.7	59.6	_	_
Impairment loss on insurance premiums (refer note 9)	3.2	3.6	_	_
Share of profit/loss of joint venture (refer note 21)	(10.0)	15.6	_	_
Equity settled share based payments (refer note 11)	3.6	0.9	_	_
Interest paid on debt securities in issue	24.7	25.2	-	-
Interest received on assets held to hedge debt securities				
in issue	(3.6)	(3.1)	-	-
Interest on subordinated liabilities (refer note 4)	4.0	4.3	3.9	4.3
Fair value movements	7.6	(12.7)	-	_
Total ¹	297.4	308.8	3.9	4.3
Changes in operating assets and liabilities				
Net movement in mandatory balances with central banks	(0.8)	(1.2)	_	_
Net movement in loans and advances to customers	(1,738.5)	(1,528.8)	_	_
Net movement in prepayments and accrued income	(7.1)	0.9	(0.1)	0.1
Net movement in other assets	33.3	(21.9)	-	_
Net movement in deposits from banks	1,039.2	417.8	-	_
Net movement in deposits from customers	781.4	1,066.0	-	_
Net movement in accruals and deferred income	(2.4)	(12.5)	0.1	(0.1)
Provisions utilised	(54.1)	(36.1)	-	_
Net movement in other liabilities	(4.1)	5.5	(0.2)	_
Total	46.9	(110.3)	(0.2)	

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ Refer to note 1 for further details of prior year restatement.

38. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities

	Non-cash movements					
Group	At 1 March	Financing	Fair value	Accrued	Other	At 28
	2017	Cash flows	change	Interest		February 2018
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Debt securities in issue	(1,204.3)	(150.0)	9.1	(2.6)	0.2	(1,347.6)
Subordinated liabilities and notes	(235.0)	-	_	_	_	(235.0)
Interest payable	(3.7)	28.5	_	(28.7)	_	(3.9)
Assets held to hedge fixed rate bonds	23.8	(3.6)	(5.9)	3.6	_	17.9
Total liabilities from financing activities	(1,419.2)	(125.1)	3.2	(27.7)	0.2	(1,568.6)

^{*} Assets held to hedge fixed rate bonds are included within derivative financial instruments in the Statement of Financial Position on page 27.

		Non-cash movements				
Company	At 1 March	Financing	Fair value	Accrued	Other	At 28
	2017	Cash flows	change	Interest		February 2018
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Subordinated liabilities and notes	(235.0)	_	_	_	_	(235.0)
Interest payable	(0.6)	3.9	_	(4.0)	_	(0.7)
Total liabilities from financing activities	(235.6)	3.9	-	(4.0)	-	(235.7)

39. Capital Resources

On 27 June 2013 the final Capital Requirements Directive IV (CRD IV) rules were published in the Official Journal of the European Union. Following the publication of the CRD IV rules, the PRA issued a policy statement on 19 December 2013 detailing how the rules will be enacted within the UK with corresponding time frames for implementation. The transitioning period came to an end in December 2017. The following tables analyse the regulatory capital resources of the regulated group as defined in Pillar 3 Disclosure Statements of Tesco Personal Finance Group Limited applicable as at the year end on an 'end point' position:

	End Point	Transitional
	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Movement in common equity tier 1 capital:		
At the beginning of the year (on a transitional basis)	1,383.5	1,219.7
Profit attributable to shareholders	131.0	152.9
Gains and losses on liabilities arising from own credit	0.1	0.8
Other reserves	6.0	5.7
Ordinary dividends	(50.0)	(50.0)
Movement in intangible assets	28.9	63.9
Movement in material holdings	3.4	3.4
Deferred tax liabilities related to intangible assets	(8.3)	(12.9)
At the end of the year	1,494.6	1,383.5

39. Capital Resources (continued)

	End Point 2018 £m	Transitional 2017 £m
Common equity tier 1		
Shareholders' equity (accounting capital)	1,761.3	1,673.9
Regulatory adjustments		
Unrealised gains on cash flow hedge reserve	0.3	0.5
Adjustment to own credit/Additional Value Adjustments	(1.1)	(1.1)
Intangible assets	(271.1)	(300.0)
Deferred tax liabilities related to intangible assets	5.2	13.6
Material holdings in financial sector entities	_	(3.4)
Common equity tier 1 capital	1,494.6	1,383.5
Tier 2 capital (instruments and provisions)		
Undated subordinated notes	45.0	45.0
Dated subordinated notes net of regulatory amortisation	190.0	190.0
Credit risk adjustment	99.1	63.1
Tier 2 capital (instruments and provisions) before regulatory adjustments	334.1	298.1
Regulatory adjustments		
Material holdings in financial sector entities	(34.1)	(30.7)
Total regulatory adjustments to tier 2 capital (instruments and provisions)	(34.1)	(30.7)
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	. ,	
Total tier 2 capital		
(instruments and provisions)	300.0	267.4
Total capital	1,794.6	1,650.9
Total risk weighted assets (unaudited)	9,267.6	8,276.3
Common equity tier 1 ratio (unaudited)	16.1%	16.7%
Tier 1 ratio (unaudited)	16.1%	16.7%
Total capital ratio (unaudited)	19.4%	19.9%

Total Capital Requirement (TCR) refers to the amount and quality of capital the Bank must maintain to comply with the Capital Requirements Regulation Pillar 1 and the Pillar 2A capital requirements. The TCR for Tesco Personal Finance Group Limited as at 28 February 2018 is 11.87% plus £39m as a static add-on for pension risk.

39. Capital Resources (continued)

The table below reconciles shareholders' equity of the Group to shareholders' equity of the regulated group as defined in the Pillar 3 disclosures as at 28 February 2018:

	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Tesco Personal Finance plc (Group) shareholders' equity	1,764.8	1,673.9
Share of joint venture's retained earnings	0.2	10.2
Share of joint venture's available-for-sale reserve	(3.7)	(10.2)
Group shareholders' equity (Pillar 3 disclosures)	1,761.3	1,673.9

It is the Group's policy to maintain a strong capital base, to expand it as appropriate and to utilise it efficiently throughout its activities to optimise the return to shareholders while maintaining a prudent relationship between the capital base and the underlying risks of the business. In carrying out this policy, the Group has regard to the supervisory requirements of the PRA.

The Group is required to submit Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) reports which set out future business plans, the impact on capital availability, capital requirements and the risks to capital adequacy under stress scenarios, to the PRA.

The Group also maintains a Recovery Plan that provides the framework and a series of recovery options which could be deployed in a severe stress event impacting capital or liquidity positions. The Recovery Plan is reviewed and approved by the Board on at least an annual basis.

The Group has met all relevant capital requirements throughout the year.

Leverage ratio (unaudited)

The Basel III reforms include the introduction of a capital leverage measure as defined as the ratio of tier 1 capital to total exposure. This is intended to reinforce the risk based capital requirements with a simple, non-risk based 'backstop' measure.

The Group has published the leverage ratio on a CRD IV basis using the existing exposure approach:

Exposures for leverage ratio (unaudited)	End point
2018	£m
Total balance sheet exposures	14,590.7
Adjustments for entities which are consolidated for accounting purposes but outside scope of	
regulatory consolidation	(3.5)
Removal of accounting value of derivatives and Securities Financing Transactions (SFTs)	(46.1)
Exposure value for derivatives and SFTs	12.7
Off balance sheet: unconditionally cancellable (10%)	1,219.4
Off balance sheet: other (20%)	41.2
Regulatory adjustment – intangible assets	(225.8)
Regulatory adjustment – other	
	1F F00 C
Total	15,588.6
Common equity tier 1	1,494.6
Common equity der 1	
Leverage ratio	9.6%

The Company's estimated end point leverage ratio is 9.6%.

39. Capital Resources (continued)

Capital Management

The Group operates an integrated risk management process to identify, quantify and manage risk in the Group. The quantification of risk includes the use of both stress and scenario testing. Where capital is considered to be an appropriate mitigant for a given risk, this is identified and reflected in the Group's internal capital assessment. The capital resources of the Group are regularly monitored against the higher of this internal assessment and regulatory requirements. Capital adequacy and performance against the Group's Capital plan is monitored daily, with monthly reporting provided to the Board, ALCo and Capital Management Forum.

During the year capital and leverage regulations continued to evolve.

Pillar 2 capital methodologies

The PRA updated its Pillar 2 capital methodologies in July 2016 following the publication of prudential requirements for implementation of ring-fencing and in February 2017 issued a policy statement in October 2017 refining the Pillar 2A framework.

These proposals are aimed at promoting the safety and soundness of PRA-regulated firms, to facilitate a more effective banking sector and to make the PRA's Pillar 2A capital assessment more robust and more proportionate by addressing some of the concerns over the differences between SA and IRB risk weights. This will continue to be managed as part of the Bank's ICAAP in line with the PRA policy statement issued in October 2017. The PRA general safety and soundness objectives in relation to continuity of core services in the UK and ring-fencing of Bank activities where core deposits are in excess of £25bn are due to be implemented from 1 January 2019.

Management forecasts indicate that the Group will not exceed this threshold and will not automatically be required to ring-fence the Group's core activities by the 2019 implementation date.

Credit Risk

In December 2017, the BCBS finalised Basel III reforms for credit risk, including revisions to the calculation of risk weighted assets and enhancements to the robustness and risk sensitivity of the standardised approaches to credit risk, constraining the use of internal model approaches by placing limits on certain inputs and replacing the existing Basel II output floors with a more robust risk sensitive floor based on the Committees Basel III standardised approaches. The final Basel III reforms will be implemented from January 2022.

Operational risk

In December 2017, the BCBS finalised Basel III reforms for operational risk by replacing all existing approaches in the Basel II framework with a single risk-sensitive standardised approach to be used by all banks. The new standardised approach increases the sensitivity by combining a refined measure of gross income with the banks internal historical losses. The final Basel III reforms will be implemented in January 2022.

Leverage

At present the Group has no minimum UK leverage requirement as it is currently exempt from the UK Leverage Framework regime, which only applies to institutions with retail deposits over £50 billion or more. In December 2017, the BCBS finalised Basel III reforms for leverage ratio. The final Basel III reforms will be implemented in January 2022.

The initial assessment indicate that these reforms will have a minor impact on the Group's leverage ratio.

The Group is subject to reporting and disclosure requirements under the CRR and is not currently subject to temporary modifications of the UK leverage ratio framework.

39. Capital Resources (continued)

The European Commission's minimum requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL)

MREL requires banks to maintain at all times a sufficient aggregate amount of own funds and eligible liabilities (that may be bailed-in if required). MREL will, on full implementation, be set on a firm-specific basis and calculated as the sum of two components: a loss absorption amount, being the amount needed to absorb losses up to and in resolution; and a recapitalisation amount which reflects the capital that a firm is likely to need post resolution.

MREL is expected to be set annually over the transitional period until 1 January 2022. Prior to 31 December 2019, MREL will be equal to an institution's minimum regulatory capital requirements. An Interim MREL requirement of 18% of risk-weighted assets from 1 January 2020 until 31 December 2021 has been set. The Group is working towards implementation of these requirements and has reflected requirements in its strategic plan.

IFRS 9

The Group will implement IFRS 9 from 1 March 2018 and does not expect a negative capital impact (unaudited) on common equity tier 1 in the first year of adoption under the transitional provisions. Common equity tier 1 is expected to reduce by approximately 164 bps (unaudited) on an end point basis.

40. Related Party Transactions

During the year the Group had the following transactions with related parties:

Transactions involving Directors and other key connected persons

For the purposes of IAS 24, 'Related Party Disclosures', the Group's key Management personnel comprise Directors of the Group. The captions in the Group's primary Financial Statements include the following amounts attributable, in aggregate, to key connected persons of both the Group and Tesco PLC, the Company's ultimate parent undertaking.

Group	2018	2017
	£m	£m
Loans and advances to customers ¹		
At the beginning of the year	0.4	1.0
Loans issued during the year	_	0.1
Loan repayments during the year	(0.1)	(0.1)
Loans outstanding at the end of the year	0.3	1.0
Interest income earned	-	-
Deposits from customers ¹		
Deposits at the beginning of the year	0.8	0.8
Deposits received during the year	0.6	1.6
Deposits repaid during the year	(0.7)	(0.7)
Deposits at the end of the year	0.7	1.7
Interest expense on deposits	_	_

No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans and advances to related parties (2017: £nil).

¹ The opening and closing balances reported are in respect of related parties of the Group at the reporting date in each year.

40. Related Party Transactions (continued)

Remuneration of key Management personnel

The amount of remuneration incurred by the Group in relation to the Directors is set out below in aggregate. Further information about the remuneration of Directors is provided in note 10.

Group					2018	2017
					£m	£m
Short-term employee benefits					6.0	5.2
Termination benefits					0.3	0.6
Post employment benefits					_	_
Other long term benefits					2.6	2.1
Share based payments					0.9	1.2
Total emoluments					9.8	9.1
Trading transactions						
Group	2018	2018	2018	2017	2017	2017
	Tesco PLC	Tesco PLC	Tesco	Tesco PLC	Tesco PLC	Tesco
		subsidiaries	Underwriting		subsidiaries	Underwriting
			Limited			Limited
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Interest received and other income	_	24.3	71.2	_	35.6	78.5
Interest paid	(4.0)	-	_	(4.3)	_	_
Provision of services	_	(83.4)	(1.1)	-	(73.4)	(1.3)
Company	2018	2018	2018	2017	2017	2017
	Tesco PLC	Tesco PLC	Tesco	Tesco PLC	Tesco PLC	Tesco
		subsidiaries	Underwriting		subsidiaries	Underwriting
			Limited			Limited
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Interest received and other income	-	4.0	_	_	4.3	_
Interest paid	(4.0)	-	-	(4.3)	-	_
Provision of services	-	_	-	_	_	_

Balances owing to/from related parties are identified in notes 17, 19, 26, 27, 29, 30, and 31.

For the year ended 28 February 2018 the Group generated 58% (2017: 58%) of its insurance commission from the sale and service of Motor and Home insurance policies underwritten by TU, a joint venture company and therefore a related party. Customer premiums on such sales are collected directly by the Group and the net premium is remitted to TU. Investment transactions with TU are identified in note 21.

Ultimate parent undertaking

The Company's ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party is Tesco PLC which is incorporated in England. The Financial Statements for Tesco PLC can be obtained from its registered office at Tesco House, Shire Park, Kestrel Way, Welwyn Garden City, AL7 1GA.

41. Contingent Liabilities and Commitments

Contingent liability

In November 2016, Tesco Bank's debit cards were the subject of an online fraudulent attack. The Group undertook immediate remedial action and an independent review of the issue and continues to work closely with the authorities and regulators on this incident.

There is a possibility of a financial penalty in relation to this incident, which may or may not be material. It is not practicable to reliably estimate any impact of this at the date of these Financial Statements.

Lending commitments

Mortgage offers made are legally binding commitments made by the Group to provide secured funding to customers. Undrawn Mortgage commitments relate to formal offers made to customers during the application process whereby the customer has successfully passed eligibility and affordability checks but has not yet received the funds.

Under an undrawn Credit Card commitment the Group agrees to make funds available to a customer in the future. Undrawn Credit Card commitments may be unconditionally cancelled or may continue, providing all facility conditions are satisfied or waived.

Under a Personal Current Account overdraft commitment the Group agrees to make funds available to a customer in the future. Personal Current Account overdraft commitments are usually for a specified term and may be unconditionally cancelled or may continue, providing all facility conditions are satisfied or waived.

Further detail on undrawn lending commitments is included in the liquidity and funding risk disclosure in note 35.

The contractual amounts do not represent the amounts at risk at the reporting date but the amounts that would be at risk should the available facilities be fully drawn upon.

Capital commitments

At 28 February 2018 the Group had capital commitments related to property, plant and equipment of £nil (2017: £3.9m) and intangible assets of £1.1m (2017: £1.2m). This is in respect of IT software development and IT hardware. The Group's Management are confident that future net revenues and funding will be sufficient to cover this commitment.

Operating lease commitments

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Group	2018 £m	2017 £m
No later than one year	4.9	5.2
Later than one year and no later than five years	20.8	20.1
Later than five years	27.4	33.0
	53.1	58.3

42. Share Based Payments

The Group charge for the year recognised in respect of share based payments is £10.7m (2017: £10.4m), which is made up of share option schemes and share bonus payments. Of this amount, £7.8m (2017: £4.5m) will be equity-settled and £2.9m (2017: £5.9m) cash-settled.

Share option schemes

The Group had three share option schemes in operation during the year, all of which are equity-settled schemes using Tesco PLC shares:

- The Savings-related Share Option Scheme (1981) permits the grant to colleagues of options in respect of ordinary shares linked to a building society/bank save-as-you-earn contract for a term of three or five years with contributions from colleagues of an amount between £5 and £500 per four-weekly period. Options are capable of being exercised at the end of the three or five-year period at a subscription price of not less than 80% of the average of the middle-market quotations of an ordinary share over the three dealing days immediately preceding the offer date.
- The Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004) permitted the grant of approved, unapproved and international options in respect of ordinary shares to selected executives. Options are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant at a price not less than the middle-market quotation or average middle-market quotations of an ordinary share for the dealing day or three dealing days preceding the date of grant. The vesting of options will normally be conditional upon the achievement of a specified performance target related to the annual percentage growth in earnings per share over a three-year period. There were no discounted options granted under this scheme.
- The Performance Share Plan (2011) permits the grant of options in respect of ordinary shares to selected executives. Options are normally exercisable between the vesting date(s) set at grant and ten years from the date of grant for nil consideration. The exercise of options will normally be conditional upon the achievement of specified performance targets over a three-year period and/or continuous employment.

42. Share Based Payments (continued)

The following table reconciles the total number of share options outstanding under each share option scheme and the weighted average exercise price (WAEP):

	Savings- related share option scheme Options	Savings- related share option scheme WAEP (pence)	Approved share option scheme Options	Approved share option scheme WAEP (pence)	Unapproved share options scheme Options	Unapproved share options scheme WAEP (pence)
Outstanding at 28						
February 2017	3,522,224	162.20	183,586	341.79	221,617	354.32
Granted	1,184,513	168.00	_	_	_	_
Forfeited	(573,424)	188.26	(88,650)	338.40	(99,157)	338.40
Exercised	(75,222)	150.09				
Outstanding at 28	4 059 001	160.42	04.026	244.06	122.460	267.20
February 2018	4,058,091	160.43	94,936	344.96	122,460	367.20
Exercisable at 28						
February 2018	19,559	282.00	94,936	344.96	122,640	367.20
Exercise price range (pence)	_	282.00	_	338.40 to 427.00	_	338.40 to 427.00
Weighted average remaining contractual life (years)		0.43	-	1.58		0.88
Outstanding at 29 February 2016	3,584,756	159.63	210,181	341.36	237,426	353.26
Granted	539,072	190.00	_	_	_	_
Forfeited	(579,345)	172.66	(26,595)	338.40	(15,809)	338.40
Exercised	(22,259)	150.18		_	_	
Outstanding at 28						
February 2017	3,522,224	162.20	183,586	341.79	221,617	354.32
Exercisable at 28						
February 2017	64,114	335.50	183,586	341.79	221,617	354.32
Exercise price range (pence)	_	322.00 to 364.00		338.40 to 427.00		338.40 to 427.00
Weighted average remaining contractual life (years)	_	0.43	_	2.64	-	2.02

Share options were exercised on a regular basis throughout the financial year. The average Tesco PLC share price during the year ended 28 February 2018 was 187.90p (2017: 184.31p).

42. Share Based Payments (continued)

The fair value of share options is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following table gives the assumptions applied to the options granted in the respective periods shown. No assumption has been made to incorporate the effects of expected early exercise.

Group	2018	2017
	Savings -	Savings -
	related share	related share
	options	options
	schemes	schemes
Expected Dividend Yield (%)	2.2% - 3.6%	1.4%
Expected Volatility (%)	29 - 32%	29 - 32%
Risk free interest rate (%)	0.9 - 1.0%	0.4 - 0.7%
Expected life of option (years)	3 or 5	3 or 5
Weighted average fair value of options granted (pence)	42.42	52.83
Probability of forfeiture (%)	10 - 11%	10 - 11%
Share price (pence)	187.00	211.00
Weighted average exercise price (pence)	168.00	190.00

Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a price is expected to fluctuate in the period. The measure of volatility used in Tesco PLC's option pricing models is the annualised standard deviation of the continuously compounded rates of return on the share over a period of time. In estimating the future volatility of Tesco PLC's share price, the Tesco PLC Board considers the historical volatility of the share price over the most recent period that is generally commensurate with the expected term of the option, taking into account the remaining contractual life of the option.

Share Bonus Schemes

Selected executives participate in the Group Bonus Plan, a performance-related bonus scheme. The amount paid to colleagues is based on a percentage of salary and is paid partly in cash and partly in shares. Bonuses are awarded to selected executives who have completed a required service period and depend on the achievement of corporate and individual performance targets.

Selected executives participate in the Performance Share Plan (2011). Awards made under this plan will normally vest on the vesting date(s) set on the date of the award for nil consideration. Vesting will normally be conditional on the achievement of specified performance targets over a three-year performance period and/or continuous employment.

The fair value of shares awarded under these schemes is their market value on the date of the award. Expected dividends are not incorporated into the fair value.

The number of Tesco PLC shares and weighted average fair value (WAFV) of share bonuses awarded during the year were:

	2018 Shares (number)	2018 WAFV (pence)	2017 Shares (number)	2017 WAFV (pence)
Group Bonus Plan	1,305,466	180.35	2,407,464	159.04
Performance Share Plan	2,494,746	181.12	3,404,300	160.15

43. Adoption of New and Amended International Financial Reporting Standards

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued which became effective in the current year

During the year to 28 February 2018, the Group has adopted the following new amendments to accounting standards which became effective with relevant EU endorsement for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017:

Amendments to IFRS 12 'Disclosure of interests in other entities'

These amendments are part of the Annual Improvements 2014-2016 process and are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. These amendments clarify the scope of the disclosure requirements in relation to interests that are classified in accordance with IFRS 5 'Non-current Assets Held for Sale or Discontinued Operations'. There has been no impact on the Group of the adoption of these amendments.

Amendments to IAS 7 'Statement of cash flows: Disclosure initiative'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. They extend the disclosures required by IAS 7 about an entity's liquidity and aim to improve disclosures about an entity's debt. These amendments have resulted in additional disclosures relating to movements in liabilities arising from financing activities for the Group. These additional disclosures are included in note 38.

Amendments to IAS 12 'Income taxes: Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. They clarify the accounting for deferred tax assets for unrealised losses on debt instruments measured at fair value. There has been no impact on the Group of the adoption of these amendments.

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective

IFRS 9 'Financial instruments'

IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. It is a replacement for IAS 39 'Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement', excluding the part of IAS 39 related to macro hedge accounting. Macro hedge accounting requirements are out of the scope of IFRS 9 and instead the IASB is developing a separate model. Entities are therefore permitted to continue accounting for macro hedge portfolios in line with IAS 39.

The principle features of IFRS 9 are as follows:

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities:

IFRS 9 will require the Group's financial assets to be classified as either held at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit or loss, dependent on the business model and cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. From a review of the Group's balance sheet at 28 February 2018, the Group expects the following classification changes to take place:

- Cash and balances with central banks, loans and advances to customers, loans to joint ventures and other assets
 that are all classified as loans and receivables under IAS 39 will be classified and measured at amortised cost under
 IFRS 9; and
- Debt and equity investment securities classified as available-for-sale under IAS 39 will classified and measured at FVOCI under IFRS 9.

There is no change in the measurement basis of these balances as a result of the adoption of IFRS 9.

43. Adoption of New and Amended International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Recognition of impairment:

IFRS 9 requires the Group to recognise expected credit losses (ECL) on all financial assets, and to update the amount of ECL recognised at each reporting date to reflect changes in the credit risk of financial instruments. The ECL is measured under a three stage approach:

- 1. Upon origination of an asset, a loss allowance is established that is equal to the 12-month ECL, being the portion of lifetime expected losses resulting from default events that are possible within the next 12 months. Financial assets where 12-month ECL is recognised are considered to be 'stage 1'.
- 2. Where a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is identified, a loss allowance equal to the lifetime ECL is established. This is considered to be 'stage 2'.
- 3. Where there is objective evidence that leads to an asset being considered credit impaired, a full impairment loss equal to the lifetime expected credit loss is established. This is considered to be 'stage 3' and it is not expected to change significantly from IAS 39.

The assessment of credit risk and the estimation of ECL are required to be unbiased, forward-looking and probability-weighted, determined by evaluating at the reporting date for each financial asset a range of possible outcomes using reasonable and supportable information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future events and economic conditions. The estimation of ECL also takes into account the time value of money.

The ECL is determined by multiplying together the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD) for the relevant time period and for each collective segment and by discounting back to the balance sheet date. Each of these inputs is explained further below.

- Probability of Default (PD): Represents the likelihood a customer will default over the relevant period, being either 12 months or the expected lifetime (refer below).
- Exposure at Default: Represents the expected amount due by the customer at the point of default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes allowed under the contract.
- Loss Given Default: Represents the Group's expectation of the extent of the loss if there is a default. The LGD
 assumes that once an account has defaulted, the portion of the defaulted balance will be recovered over a
 maximum period of 60 months from the point of default. LGD models take into account, when relevant, the
 valuation of collateral, collection strategies and contracted debt sales.
- Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR): At each reporting date, the change in credit risk of the financial asset will be observed using a set of quantitative and qualitative criteria, together with a backstop based on arrears status. Quantitative criteria compare the lifetime PD at the reporting date with the lifetime PD that was expected at the reporting date at initial recognition. The Group has established a threshold for each account to conclude whether there has been a SICR. Qualitative criteria include forbearance offered to distressed borrowers and information received on credit limit decreases or pre-delinquency information. The Group has adopted a backstop measure where an account is more than 30 days past due on its contractual payments, in line with the rebuttable presumption in IFRS 9.
- Expected lifetime: The expected lifetime of a financial asset is the contractual term. In the case of revolving products, the Group will measure credit losses over the period that it will be exposed to credit risk.
- Forward-looking information: The expected credit loss calculation and the measurement of significant deterioration in credit risk both incorporate forward-looking information using a range of macro-economic scenarios.
- Definition of default: An account is deemed to have defaulted when it meets one or more of the established quantitative or qualitative criteria. Quantitative criteria are met when an account is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments. Qualitative criteria are indications that a customer is in significant financial difficulty, such as forbearance or insolvency. An instrument is considered to no longer be in default when it no longer meets any of the default criteria and has remained up to date on its contractual payments for a period of at least 3 months.

43. Adoption of New and Amended International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Hedging

The IFRS 9 hedge accounting requirements are designed to allow hedge accounting to be more closely aligned with financial risk management. The Group will implement IFRS 9 hedge accounting requirements to its fair value hedges of the Group's existing available-for-sale portfolio and its cash flow hedges on transition to IFRS 9.

In line with Tesco PLC policy, the Group will adopt IFRS 9 in respect of its micro hedge accounting from 1 March 2018. As permitted under IFRS 9, the Group will elect to continue to apply the existing hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39 for its portfolio hedge accounting until the new macro hedge accounting standard is implemented.

Transition

The mandatory application date for IFRS 9 for the Group is 1 March 2018. The classification and measurement and impairment requirements will be applied retrospectively at this date by adjusting the opening balance sheet, with no requirement to restate comparative periods. Hedge accounting relationships within the scope of IFRS 9 will transition prospectively.

The adoption of IFRS 9 at 1 March 2018 is expected to result in a decrease in the Group's total assets of £223m, with a related deferred tax asset of £57m. The overall impact on equity is therefore expected to be a reduction in equity of approximately £166m. The impact on the Company will be a decrease in total assets and equity of approximately £1m.

The expected increase in impairment provisions will reduce the Group's common equity tier 1 capital ratio by 164 bps (unaudited) on a fully loaded basis. The adoption of the regulatory capital transition arrangements will allow the Group to spread the expected increase in provision over a 5 year period from 1 March 2018. As a result of this, the Group does not expect a negative capital impact in the first year of adoption of IFRS 9 (unaudited). The Group's common equity tier 1 capital is disclosed in note 39.

These estimates remain subject to change as the Group continues to fully implement IFRS 9 throughout the financial year to 28 February 2019.

IFRS 15 'Revenue from contracts with customers'

IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted.

IFRS 15 introduces a five step approach to revenue recognition and will be applicable to all contracts with customers, with certain exceptions. Both the Group's interest income and fee income integral to financial instruments fall outside the scope of IFRS 15 and will be accounted for in line with the other applicable standards, predominantly IFRS 9, 'Financial Instruments' from 1 March 2018 (refer above). All other fees and commissions income falls within the scope of IFRS 15.

Under IFRS 15, the Group will recognise revenue when performance obligations are satisfied, to the extent that the Group expects entitlement to consideration. The standard also specifies a comprehensive set of disclosure requirements regarding the nature, extent and timing, as well as any uncertainty, of revenue and corresponding cash flows with customers.

The Group continues to assess the impact of IFRS 15. Additional revenue disclosures in line with the new IFRS 15 requirements will be included for the first time in the Financial Statements for the year ended 28 February 2019.

Amendments to IFRS 15 'Clarifications to IFRS 15, 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers"

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. They clarify how the principles of IFRS 15 should be applied in determining recognition of contract revenue and provide transitional relief on modified and completed contracts for entities implementing the standard.

The Group continues to assess the impact of IFRS 15.

43. Adoption of New and Amended International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 4 'Applying IFRS 9, 'Financial Instruments', with IFRS 4, 'Insurance Contracts''

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. They permit insurance entities to adopt certain transitional arrangements to address the temporary accounting consequences of the different effective dates of IFRS 9, 'Financial Instruments', and IFRS 17, 'Insurance Contracts'. These amendments are expected to impact the Group's share of results from its joint venture, TU, as TU will defer the adoption of IFRS 9 until 2021 as permitted by these amendments.

Amendments to IAS 28 'Measuring an associate or joint venture at fair value'

These amendments are part of the Annual Improvements 2014-2016 process and are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. They clarify that the option for a venture capital organisation and other similar entities to measure investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value through profit and loss is available separately for each associate or joint venture, and that election should be made at initial recognition. These amendments will not impact the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 2 'Classification and measurement of share-based payment transactions'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. They clarify how to account for certain types of share-based payment transactions. These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

IFRIC 22 'Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration'

This IFRIC is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. It clarifies the accounting for advance consideration in a transaction that is denominated in a foreign currency. This IFRIC is not expected to impact the Group.

IFRS 16 'Leases'

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early adoption is permitted provided IFRS 15 is applied on or before the same date.

IFRS 16 is a replacement for IAS 17 'Leases'. IFRS 16 removes the distinction between finance and operating leases and instead provides a single lessee accounting model. The Group, as a lessee, will be required to recognise lease liabilities and corresponding right-of-use assets for all applicable leases. The new standard also provides the option not to recognise 'short-term' leases and leases of 'low-value' assets. Where this exemption is taken, such leases will continue to be expensed to the income statement over the term of the lease.

The income statement recognition pattern for the Group's leases will differ from the current pattern for operating leases, with interest on the liabilities and depreciation expense on the right-of-use assets recognised separately. In the cash flow statement, lease payments will be categorised within financing activities rather than operating activities.

IFRS 16 does not significantly change the accounting for leases by lessors.

The Group continues to evaluate the full impact of IFRS 16, but expects to recognise right-of-use assets on its balance sheet at the adoption date in respect of property assets currently accounted for as operating leases. A corresponding lease liability will also be recognised, representing the future payments to be made under these leases, discounted at the rate implicitly defined in the lease or, where no rate is defined in the lease, the Group's incremental borrowing rate at lease inception.

The Group expects to apply the requirements of IFRS 16 retrospectively, therefore restating prior year comparatives.

Amendments to IAS 28 'Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, subject to EU endorsement. They clarify that long-term interests in an associate or joint venture to which the equity method is not applied should be accounted for using IFRS 9. These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

43. Adoption of New and Amended International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9 'Prepayment features with negative compensation'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. They allow companies to measure particular prepayable financial assets with so-called negative compensation at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income if a specified condition is met, instead of at fair value through profit or loss. These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

Amendments to IAS 23 'Borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, subject to EU endorsement. They clarify that if a specific borrowing remains outstanding after the related qualifying asset is ready for intended use or sale, it becomes part of general borrowings. These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

Amendments to IAS 12 'Income tax consequences of payments on financial instruments classified as equity'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, subject to EU endorsement. They clarify that the income tax consequences of dividends on financial instruments classified as equity should be recognised according to where the past transactions or events that generated distributable profits were recognised. These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 3 and IFRS 11 'Measurement of previously held interest in obtaining control over a joint operation'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, subject to EU endorsement. The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify that obtaining control of a business that is a joint operation is a business combination achieved in stages. The acquirer should remeasure its previously held interest in the joint operation at fair value at of the acquisition date.

The amendments to IFRS 11 clarify that the party obtaining joint control of a business that is a joint operation should not remeasure its previously held interest in the joint operation.

The impact of these amendments on the Group is dependent on any future change in ownership of a joint operation.

Amendments to IAS 19 'Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, subject to EU endorsement. When a plan event (i.e. a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement) occurs, IAS 19 requires a company to update its assumptions and remeasure its net defined benefit liability or asset. These amendments clarify that after a plan event companies should use these updated assumptions to measure current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the reporting period. These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

IFRIC 23 'Uncertainty over income tax treatments'

This IFRIC is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, subject to EU endorsement. It clarifies how the recognition and measurement requirements of IAS 12 'Income taxes' are applied where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The impact of this IFRIC on the Group is still being assessed.

IFRS 17 'Insurance contracts'

IFRS 17 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, subject to EU endorsement. Early adoption is permitted provided IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 are also applied.

IFRS 17 is a replacement for IFRS 4 'Insurance Contracts'. IFRS 17 requires insurance liabilities to be measured at a current fulfilment value and provides a more uniform measurement and presentation approach for all insurance contracts.

IFRS 17 is relevant to the Group's joint venture, TU, which provides the insurance underwriting service for a number of the Group's general insurance products. The full impact on the Group is still being assessed.

43. Adoption of New and Amended International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Early Adoption of New Standards

The Group did not early adopt any new or amended standards in the year ended 28 February 2018.

44. Events After the Reporting Date

The Group redeemed £300.0m of AAA (A1) Notes issued by MTN Issuer plc on their scheduled redemption date in April 2018. The process of accumulating funds in advance of the scheduled redemption commenced in October 2017. At the reporting date, £200.0m of cash had been accumulated in Delamare Cards Funding 1 Limited (Funding 1) in advance of the redemption. An additional £100.0m was accumulated after the reporting date.

TU completed a share capital reduction of £20.6m and also repaid loan capital of £10.4m in March 2018. Following the share capital reduction, TU distributed capital of £20.6m. The Group has recognised its share of this distribution, being £10.3m, through a reduction in the carrying value of its investment in TU. The Group's investment in subordinated debt issued by TU has decreased by £5.2m, reflecting the Group's share of loan capital repaid.

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP LIMITED INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP LIMITED

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

In our opinion:

- the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent Company's affairs as at 28 February 2018 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;
- the Group Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB);
- the parent Company Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and
- the Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the Financial Statements of Tesco Personal Finance Group Limited (the 'parent Company') and its subsidiaries (the 'Group') which comprise:

- the Consolidated Income Statement;
- the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income;
- the Consolidated and Company Statements of Financial Position;
- the Consolidated and Company Statements of Changes in Equity;
- the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements; and
- the related Notes 1 to 44 of the Financial Statements.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the parent Company Financial Statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council's (FRC) Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We are required by ISAs (UK) to report in respect of the following matters where:

- the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparation of the Financial Statements is not appropriate; or
- the directors have not disclosed in the Financial Statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast
 significant doubt about the Group's or the parent Company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis
 of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the Financial Statements are authorised
 for issue.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP LIMITED INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP LIMITED (continued)

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the Financial Statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the Financial Statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the Financial Statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial Statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Financial Statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the parent Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Financial Statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP LIMITED INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP LIMITED (continued)

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on the other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

- the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the Financial Statements are prepared is consistent with the Financial Statements; and
- the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and of the parent Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors' Report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
- the parent Company Financial Statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
- certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Stephen Williams ACA (Senior Statutory Auditor) for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP Statutory Auditor Edinburgh, United Kingdom

26 April 2018

	Note	2019 £m	2018 £m Restated ¹
Interest and similar income	5	728.6	640.3
Interest expense and similar charges	5	(179.7)	(147.2)
Net interest income		548.9	493.1
Fees and commissions income	6	365.8	383.4
Fees and commissions expense	6	(32.6)	(31.6)
Net fees and commissions income		333.2	351.8
Net (loss)/gain on financial instruments at FVPL	7	(4.2)	11.0
Net gain on investment securities	8	8.4	0.1
Net other income		4.2	11.1
Total income	<u> </u>	886.3	856.0
Administrative expenses	9	(415.6)	(422.7)
Depreciation and amortisation	25, 26	(83.2)	(83.0)
Provision for customer redress	30	(16.0)	(23.8)
Regulatory charge	30	(16.4)	_
Operating expenses		(531.2)	(529.5)
Impairment loss on financial assets	10	(164.1)	(137.4)
Operating profit		191.0	189.1
Share of profit of joint venture	23	7.9	10.0
Profit before tax		198.9	199.1
Income tax charge	12	(55.6)	(60.6)
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent		143.3	138.5

¹ The prior period has been restated following the retrospective adoption of International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 15 'Revenue from contracts with customers' in the current period (refer to note 2 for further details) and a reclassification between interest and similar income and interest expense and similar charges (refer to note 1 for further details).

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the Year Ended 28 February 2019

	Note	2019 £m	2018 £m Restated ¹
Profit for the year		143.3	138.5
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement			
Available-for-sale (AFS) investment securities			
Net gains on AFS investment securities	12	n/a	1.8
Taxation	12	n/a	(0.3)
		n/a	1.5
Debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)			
Net losses on debt securities at FVOCI	12	(1.7)	n/a
Net gains on debt securities reclassified to the income statement on		(= /	11, 0
disposal	12	(8.4)	n/a
Unwind of expected credit loss (ECL) allowance on disposals		0.4	n/a
Taxation	12	2.6	n/a
		(7.1)	n/a
Cash flow hedges			
Net losses arising on cash flow hedges	12	(0.8)	0.4
Taxation	12	0.1	(0.1)
		(0.7)	0.3
Currency basis reserve		()	
Net foreign currency losses arising on cross currency interest rate swaps	12	(0.3)	
		(0.3)	
Share of other comprehensive expense of joint venture	23	(1.2)	(6.5)
,		(1.2)	(6.5)
		. , ,	
Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement			
Equity securities at FVOCI			
Net gains on equity securities designated at FVOCI	12	0.5	n/a
Taxation	12	(0.1)	n/a
		0.4	n/a
Other comprehensive expense for the year, net of tax		(8.9)	(4.7)
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to our are	_		
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners of the parent		134.4	133.8
of the parent		134.4	133.8

¹The prior year restatement relates to the adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC
CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
For the Year Ended 28 February 2019

,			Com	pany number SO	C173198	
		Gro	oup	Company		
		2019	2018	2019	2018	
	Note	£m	£m	£m	£m	
Assets			Restated ¹		Restated ¹	
Cash and balances with central banks	14	1,072.1	1,318.6	13.4	3.4	
Loans and advances to banks	15	324.2	_	-	_	
Loans and advances to customers	16	12,425.7	11,522.4	_	_	
Loans and advances to subsidiary	/ 17					
companies	17	_	_	233.7	235.0	
Derivative financial instruments	18	31.3	46.1	_	_	
Investment securities	19	1,071.5	959.5	_	_	
Prepayments and accrued income	20	49.4	49.3	0.8	0.7	
Other assets	21	236.6	280.6	_	_	
Deferred income tax asset	24	57.9	_	0.3	_	
Investment in Group undertakings	22	_	_	1,219.9	1,219.9	
Investment in joint venture	23	86.4	90.0	_	_	
Intangible assets	25	224.2	271.1	_	_	
Property, plant and equipment	26	61.6	68.0	_	_	
Total assets		15,640.9	14,605.6	1,468.1	1,459.0	
Liabilities						
Deposits from banks	27	1,663.2	1,539.0	_	_	
Deposits from customers	28	10,465.2	9,244.6	_	_	
Debt securities in issue	29	1,185.5	1,347.6	_	_	
Derivative financial instruments	18	60.2	88.4	_	_	
Provisions for liabilities and charges	30	55.0	76.0	_	_	
Accruals and deferred income	31	108.0	109.0	0.8	0.7	
Current income tax liability		31.1	34.9	_	_	
Other liabilities	32	151.2	147.7	_	_	
Deferred income tax liability	24	_	7.7	_	_	
Subordinated liabilities and notes	33	235.0	235.0	235.0	235.0	
Total liabilities		13,954.4	12,829.9	235.8	235.7	
Equity and reserves attributable to)					
owners of parent						
Share capital	34	122.0	122.0	122.0	122.0	
Share premium account	34	1,098.2	1,098.2	1,098.2	1,098.2	
Retained earnings		438.9	511.3	12.1	3.1	
Other reserves	35	27.4	44.2		_	
Total equity		1,686.5	1,775.7	1,232.3	1,223.3	
Total liabilities and equity		15,640.9	14,605.6	1,468.1	1,459.0	

Profit for the year of £59.8m (2018: £50.0m)¹ is attributable to the Company.

The Consolidated and Company Financial Statements on pages 26 to 132 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 8 April 2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

Declan Hourican

Director

¹The prior year restatement relates to the adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY For the Year Ended 28 February 2019

					(Cash flow	Currency S	Share based	
		Share	Share	Retained	FV/AFS	hedge	Basis	payment	Total
		capital	premium	earnings	reserve	reserve	Reserve	reserve	equity
	Note	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
	-			Restated ¹					Restated ¹
Balance at 1 March 2018 Impact of initial application of		122.0	1,098.2	511.3	13.0	(0.3)	-	31.5	1,775.7
IFRS 9 'Financial instruments' Balance at 1 March 2018 after		-	-	(165.7)	(0.5)	-	_	-	(166.2)
adopting IFRS 9		122.0	1,098.2	345.6	12.5	(0.3)	_	31.5	1,609.5
Comprehensive income									
Profit for the year		_	_	143.3	_	_	_	_	143.3
Net fair value movement on									
investment securities at FVOCI	12	_	_	_	(6.7)	_	_	_	(6.7)
Net movement on cash flow									
hedges	12	_	_	_	_	(0.7)	(0.3)	_	(1.0)
Share of other comprehensive									
expense of joint venture	23	_	_	_	(1.2)	_	_	_	(1.2)
Total comprehensive income	-	_	_	143.3	(7.9)	(0.7)	(0.3)	_	134.4
Transactions with owners									
Dividends to ordinary									
shareholders	13	_	_	(50.0)	_	_	_	_	(50.0)
Share based payments	35	_	-	_	-	-	_	(7.4)	(7.4)
Total transactions with owners	- -		_	(50.0)		_	_	(7.4)	(57.4)
Balance at 28 February 2019	-	122.0	1,098.2	438.9	4.6	(1.0)	(0.3)	24.1	1,686.5

¹The prior year restatement relates to the adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY For the Year Ended 28 February 2019

					(Cash flow	Share based	
		Share	Share	Retained	AFS	hedge	payment	Total
		capital	premium	earnings	reserve	reserve	reserve	equity
	Note	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
	_			Restated ¹				Restated ¹
Balance at 1 March 2017		122.0	1,098.2	422.8	18.0	(0.6)	27.0	1,687.4
Comprehensive income Profit for the year		_	_	138.5	_	_	_	138.5
Net gains on AFS investment								
securities	12	_	_	_	1.5	_	_	1.5
Net gains on cash flow hedges	12	_	_	_		0.3	_	0.3
Share of other comprehensive								
expense of joint venture	23	-	-	-	(6.5)	-	-	(6.5)
Total comprehensive income	-	_	-	138.5	(5.0)	0.3	_	133.8
Transactions with owners								
Dividends to ordinary								
shareholders	13	_	-	(50.0)	_	_	_	(50.0)
Share based payments	35	_	-	-	_	_	4.5	4.5
Total transactions with owners	<u>-</u>	-	-	(50.0)	_	_	4.5	(45.5)
Balance at 28 February 2018	_	122.0	1,098.2	511.3	13.0	(0.3)	31.5	1,775.7

¹The prior year restatement relates to the adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the Year Ended 28 February 2019

		Share capital	Share premium	Retained earnings	Total equity
	Note	£m	£m	£m	£m
	-				
Balance at 1 March 2018		122.0	1,098.2	3.1	1,223.3
Impact of initial application of					
IFRS 9 'Financial instruments'		_	_	(8.0)	(0.8)
Balance at 1 March 2018 after					
adopting IFRS 9		122.0	1,098.2	2.3	1,222.5
Comprehensive income					
Profit for the year		_	_	59.8	59.8
Total comprehensive income		-	_	59.8	59.8
			-		
Transactions with owners					
Dividends to ordinary					
shareholders	13	_	_	(50.0)	(50.0)
Total transactions with owners		_	_	(50.0)	(50.0)
Balance at 28 February 2019		122.0	1,098.2	12.1	1,232.3

¹ The prior year restatement relates to the adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY For the Year Ended 28 February 2019

		Share capital	Share premium	Retained earnings	Total equity
	Note _	£m	£m	£m	£m
Balance at 1 March 2017 Comprehensive income		122.0	1,098.2	3.1	1,223.3
Profit for the year		_	_	50.0	50.0
Total comprehensive income		-	-	50.0	50.0
Transactions with owners Dividends to ordinary					
shareholders	13	_	_	(50.0)	(50.0)
Total transactions with owners	_	_	-	(50.0)	(50.0)
Balance at 28 February 2018	_	122.0	1,098.2	3.1	1,223.3

¹The prior year restatement relates to the adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENTS For the Year Ended 28 February 2019

		Grou	up	Compa	ny
		2019	2018	2019	2018
	Note	£m	£m	£m	£m
Operating Activities			Restated ¹		
Profit before tax		198.9	199.1	59.8	50.0
Adjusted for:					
Non-cash items included in operating					
profit before taxation and other adjustments	39	266.9	284.7	4.9	3.9
Changes in operating assets and liabilities	39	(287.7)	63.2	_	(0.2)
Income taxes paid		(68.2)	(44.5)	_	_
Cash flows generated from operating activities	•	109.9	502.5	64.7	53.7
	•		-		
Investing Activities					
Purchase and disposal of intangible assets and					
property, plant and equipment		(30.2)	(53.5)	_	_
Purchase of investment securities classified as					
FVOCI/AFS		(713.0)	(179.1)	_	_
Sale of investment securities classified as FVOCI/AFS		590.5	185.4	_	_
Redemption of subordinated debt issued by joint					
venture	37	5.2	_	_	_
Investment in joint venture	23	_	(15.5)	_	_
Dividends received from joint venture	23	10.3	` <u>_</u>	_	_
Cash flows (used in) investing activities		(137.2)	(62.7)	_	_
	•				
Financing Activities					
Net proceeds received in association with issuance of					
debt securities	29	270.7	300.0	_	_
Principal repayments on debt securities in issue	29	(425.0)	(150.0)	_	_
Dividends paid to ordinary shareholders	13	(50.0)	(50.0)	(50.0)	(50.0)
Interest paid on debt securities in issue		(23.4)	(24.6)	_	-
Interest (paid)/received on assets held to hedge debt					
securities in issue		(0.4)	3.6	_	_
Interest paid on subordinated liabilities and notes		(4.7)	(3.9)	(4.7)	(3.9)
Cash flows (used in)/generated from financing activitie	s	(232.8)	75.1	(54.7)	(53.9)
			-		
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents		(260.1)	514.9	10.0	(0.2)
Cash and cash equivalents ² at beginning of year		1,303.5	788.6	3.4	3.6
Cash and cash equivalents ² at end of year	14	1,043.4	1,303.5	13.4	3.4
•	•	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		

¹ The prior year restatement relates to the adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

² Consolidated Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and balances with central banks, excluding mandatory reserve deposits of £28.7m (2018: £15.1m) refer to note 14).

1. Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

The Company and Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as endorsed by the European Union (EU), and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRSs.

In these Financial Statements the 'Company' means Tesco Personal Finance Group PLC (TPFG) and the 'Group' means the Company and its subsidiaries and joint venture. Details of these subsidiaries and joint venture are provided in notes 22 and 23. These Consolidated Financial Statements comprise the Financial Statements of the Group. The Company has elected to take the exemption under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to present the Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income of the Company.

The Company and Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of derivative financial instruments and investment securities held at fair value.

The Company and Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Sterling, which is the functional currency of the Group. The figures shown in the Financial Statements are rounded to the nearest £0.1 million unless otherwise stated.

New and amended accounting standards adopted by the Group in the year are detailed in notes 2 and 45.

Going concern

The Directors have completed an assessment of the Group's going concern status, taking into account both current and projected performance, including projections for the Group's capital and funding position and having regard to the Group's risk profile. As a result of this assessment, the Directors consider the Group to be in a satisfactory financial position and have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Financial Statements.

Change in Presentation

During the year, the group reclassified interest expense and similar charges relating to derivative financial instruments to interest and similar income. This reclassification more appropriately reflects within the Consolidated Income Statement the net impact of hedging activity on the interest income or expense of the hedged item. Prior period comparatives have been restated to align to the current period approach. The impact on the Consolidated Income Statement is as follows:

Line Item	Total as previously stated	Adjusted	Restated Total
	£m	£m	£m
Interest and similar income	673.2	(32.9)	640.3
Interest expense and similar charges	(180.1)	32.9	(147.2)
	493.1	_	493.1

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Principal accounting policies

A summary of the Group's accounting policies is set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all of the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group comprise the Financial Statements of the Company and all consolidated subsidiaries, including certain securitisation structured entities, and the Group's share of its interest in a joint venture, as at 28 February 2019.

Investment in Group undertakings

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The results of subsidiaries are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The Company's investments in its subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment.

Intragroup balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are eliminated in preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Securitisation structured entities

The Group enters into securitisation transactions in which it assigns Credit Card receivables to a securitisation structured entity which supports the issuance of securities backed by the cash flows from the securitised Credit Card receivables. Although none of the equity of the securitisation structured entities is owned by the Company, the nature of these entities means that the Group has the rights to variable returns from its involvement with these securitisation structured entities and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over them. As such they are effectively controlled by the Group and are consolidated on a line by line basis in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Investment in joint venture

A joint arrangement is an arrangement over which the Group has joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the Group has rights to a share of the net assets of the joint arrangement.

The Group's share of the results of a joint venture is included in the Consolidated Income Statement using the equity method of accounting. The Group's investment in a joint venture is carried in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of the net assets of the entity, less any impairment.

If the Group's share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its investment in the joint venture, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations to do so or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

(b) Revenue recognition

Net interest income recognition

Interest income and expense for all financial instruments measured at amortised cost are recognised using the effective interest rate (EIR) method.

The EIR method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability (or group of financial assets or financial liabilities) and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows to the instrument's initial carrying amount. Calculation of the EIR takes into account fees receivable that are an integral part of the instrument's yield, premiums or discounts on acquisition or issue, early redemption fees and transaction costs. All contractual and behavioural terms of a financial instrument are considered when estimating future cash flows.

Interest income is calculated on the gross carrying amount of a financial asset unless the financial asset is impaired, in which case interest income is calculated on the amortised cost.

Net fees and commissions income recognition

The Group generates fees from banking services, primarily Credit Card interchange fees. Fees in respect of banking services are recognised in line with the satisfaction of performance obligations. This can be either at a point in time or over time, in line with the provision of the service to the customer.

The majority of banking services are performed at a point in time and payment is due from a customer at the time a transaction takes place. For services performed over time, payment is generally due monthly in line with the satisfaction of performance obligations.

The costs of providing these banking services are incurred as the services are rendered. The price is usually fixed and always determinable.

The Group also generates commission from the sale and service of Motor and Home insurance policies underwritten by Tesco Underwriting Limited (TU) or, in a minority of cases, by a third party underwriter. This is based on commission rates which are independent of the profitability of underlying insurance policies. Similar commission income is also generated from the sale of white label insurance products underwritten by other third party providers. This commission income is recognised on a net basis as such policies are sold, in line with the satisfaction of performance obligations to customers.

In the case of certain commission income on insurance policies managed and underwritten by a third party, the Group recognises commission income from policy renewals as such policies are sold. This is when the Group has satisfied all of its performance obligations in relation to the policy sold and it is considered highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of revenue recognised will not occur in future periods. This calculation takes into account both estimates of future renewal volumes and renewal commission rates. A contract asset is recognised in relation to this revenue. This is unwound over the remainder of the contract with the customer, the customer in this case being the third party insurance provider.

The end policyholders have the right to cancel an insurance policy at any time. Therefore, a contract liability is recognised for the amount of any expected refunds due and the revenue recognised in relation to these sales is reduced accordingly. This contract refund liability is estimated using prior experience of customer refunds. The appropriateness of the assumptions used in this calculation is reassessed at each reporting date.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Customer loyalty programmes

The Group participates in the customer loyalty programme operated by Tesco Stores Limited (TSL). The programme operates by allowing customers to accumulate Clubcard points on purchases for future redemption against a range of Tesco products. Revenue in respect of these points is recognised at the time of the customer transaction as the Group has no obligation to customers in respect of Clubcard points once the points are allocated to a customer account. The revenue is recognised net of the cost of providing Clubcard points to customers, which is recharged by TSL to the Group.

Dividend income

Dividends are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement when the entity's right to receive payment is established.

(c) Taxation

The tax charge or credit included in the Consolidated Income Statement consists of current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Company and Consolidated Financial Statements. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset against each other when there is a legally enforceable right to set-off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and it is the intention to settle these on a net basis.

(d) Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction.

Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated at the closing rate as at the reporting date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement, except when deferred in equity as gains or losses from qualifying cash flow hedging instruments. All foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement are presented net in the Consolidated Income Statement within the corresponding item. Foreign exchange gains and losses on other comprehensive income items are presented in other comprehensive income within the corresponding item.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

In the case of changes in the fair value of monetary assets denominated in foreign currency classified as AFS (before 1 March 2018) or at FVOCI (from 1 March 2018), a distinction is made between translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related to the changes in the amortised cost are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement, and other changes in the carrying amount, except impairment, are recognised in equity.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and demand deposits with banks together with short-term highly liquid investments with short-term maturities.

(f) Financial instruments - Policy applicable from 1 March 2018

The Group classifies a financial instrument as a financial asset, financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. An instrument is classified as a liability if it creates a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset, or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities on potentially unfavourable terms. An instrument is classified as equity if it evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after the deduction of liabilities.

Financial assets

Classification and measurement

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories:

- Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL);
- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and
- Amortised cost.

Management determines the classification of the Group's financial assets at initial recognition. Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date – the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

All financial assets are measured at initial recognition at fair value, plus transaction costs for those classified as FVOCI and amortised cost. Transaction costs on financial assets classified as FVPL are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement at the time of initial recognition.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets depend on:

- The Group's business model for managing the financial asset; and
- The cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

The business model reflects how the Group manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows and is determined by whether the Group's objective is solely to collect contractual cash flows from the assets or to collect both contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these models applies, the financial assets are classified at FVPL.

In determining the business model, the Group considers past experience in collecting cash flows, how the performance of these financial assets is evaluated and reported to Management and how risks are assessed.

Where the business model is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and sell the assets, the Group assesses whether the financial asset's cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the SPPI test). When making this assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated as FVPL, are classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost. The carrying value of these financial assets is adjusted by any impairment loss allowance recognised and measured as described below.

Financial assets at FVOCI

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are classified and subsequently measured at FVOCI. The Group holds investments in debt securities which are classified as FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount of debt securities classified at FVOCI are taken through other comprehensive income, except the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue using the EIR method and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are recognised through the Consolidated Income Statement.

The Group also holds an investment in equity securities which has been irrevocably designated by Management at FVOCI at original recognition. Movements in the carrying amount of these equity securities are taken through other comprehensive income and are not subsequently reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement, including on disposal. Impairment losses on these securities are not recognised separately from other changes in fair value.

For financial assets at FVOCI which are in fair value hedge relationships, the element of the fair value movement which relates to the hedged risk is recycled to the Consolidated Income Statement.

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for recognition at amortised cost or at FVOCI are measured at FVPL.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECLs associated with its financial assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI, and with the exposure arising from loan commitments. The Group recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECLs reflects:

- An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
- The time value of money; and
- Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Refer to note 37 for further details on the calculation of the allowance for ECLs.

Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement

All of the financial liabilities held by the Group, other than derivative financial liabilities, are classified and measured at amortised cost using the EIR method, after initial recognition at fair value. Fair value is calculated as the issue proceeds, net of premiums, discounts and transaction costs incurred. For financial liabilities in fair value hedge relationships, the carrying value is adjusted by the hedged item (the fair value of the underlying hedged risk) through the Consolidated Income Statement.

Derivative financial liabilities are classified and measured at FVPL. Further information on the classification and measurement of derivative financial instruments is set out at policy 1(g).

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows have expired or where substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred and the transfer qualifies for derecognition. Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have been redeemed or otherwise extinguished.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Collateral furnished by the Group under standard repurchase agreements is not derecognised because the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership on the basis of the predetermined repurchase price, therefore the criteria for derecognition are not met. Credit Card receivables assigned by the Group to a securitisation structured entity do not qualify for derecognition, as the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the securitised Credit Card receivables.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Company and Consolidated Statements of Financial Position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise an asset and settle a liability simultaneously.

Loan commitments

All loan commitments provided by the Group are as part of contracts that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment. As the Group cannot separately identify the ECLs on the undrawn commitment component from those on the loan component, the ECLs on the undrawn commitment are recognised together with the loss allowance for the loan. Any excess of the ECLs over the gross carrying amount of the loan is recognised as a separate provision within provisions for liabilities and charges.

Financial instruments - Policy applicable prior to 1 March 2018

The Group classified a financial instrument that it issued as a financial asset, financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. An instrument was classified as a liability if it created a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset, or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities on potentially unfavourable terms. An instrument was classified as equity if it evidenced a residual interest in the assets of the Group after the deduction of liabilities.

Financial assets

The Group classified its financial assets in the following categories: at FVPL, loans and receivables, and AFS. Management determined the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. Purchases and sales of financial assets were recognised on the trade date – the date on which the Group committed to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets at FVPL included financial assets held for trading and those designated at FVPL at inception. Financial assets held at FVPL were recognised at fair value, with any gains or losses included in the Consolidated Income Statement in the period in which they arose. Transaction costs were expensed at the time of initial recognition. Derivative financial assets were classified as held for trading unless they were accounted for as an effective hedging instrument, but were not separately categorised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Loans and receivables were non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that were not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs, these assets were carried at amortised cost using the EIR method and adjusted for any impairment losses or adjustments made as part of fair value hedging arrangements.

AFS financial assets were non-derivative financial assets that were either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. Subsequent to initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs, these financial assets were recorded at fair value, with the movements in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income until the financial asset was derecognised or impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income was recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. For AFS financial assets in fair value hedge relationships, the element of the fair value movement which related to the hedged risk was recycled to the Consolidated Income Statement.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial liabilities

All of the financial liabilities held by the Group, other than derivative financial liabilities, were measured at amortised cost using the EIR method, after initial recognition at fair value. Fair value was calculated as the issue proceeds, net of premiums, discounts and transaction costs incurred. The Group did not hold any financial liabilities classified as held for trading. For financial liabilities in fair value hedge relationships, the carrying value was adjusted by the hedged item (the fair value of the underlying hedged risk) through the Consolidated Income Statement.

Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets were derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows had expired or where substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership had been transferred and the transfer qualified for derecognition. Financial liabilities were derecognised when they had been redeemed or otherwise extinguished.

Collateral provided by the Group under standard repurchase agreements was not derecognised because the Group retained substantially all the risks and rewards on the basis of the predetermined repurchase price, therefore the criteria for derecognition were not met. Credit Card receivables assigned by the Group to a securitisation structured entity did not qualify for derecognition as the Group retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the securitised Credit Card receivables.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities were offset and the net amount reported in the Company and Consolidated Statements of Financial Position when there was a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there was an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise an asset and settle a liability simultaneously.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assessed at each reporting date whether there was objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets was impaired. A financial asset or portfolio of financial assets was impaired and an impairment loss incurred if there was objective evidence that an event or events since initial recognition of the financial asset or group of financial assets had adversely affected the amount or timing of future cash flows expected from the financial asset or group of financial assets.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

If there was objective evidence that an impairment loss on a financial asset or group of financial assets classified as loans and receivables had been incurred, the Group measured the amount of the loss as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset or group of financial assets and the present value of estimated future cash flows from the financial asset or group of financial assets discounted at the EIR of the instrument(s) at initial recognition. Impairment losses were assessed individually for financial assets that were individually significant and collectively for financial assets that were not individually significant. In making the collective assessment of impairment, financial assets were grouped into portfolios on the basis of similar risk characteristics. Future cash flows from these portfolios were estimated on the basis of the estimated cash recoveries and historical loss experience for financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics.

Impairment losses were recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement and the carrying amount of the financial asset or group of financial assets was reduced by establishing an allowance for impairment losses. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the impairment loss reduced and the reduction could be related objectively to an event after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised loss was reversed by adjusting the allowance.

When a loan was deemed uncollectable it was written off against the related provision after all of the necessary procedures had been completed and the amount of the loss had been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off received from customers or other third parties were recognised directly in the Consolidated Income Statement as a reduction in the loan impairment charge for the year.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial assets classified as AFS

In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS, the recognition of an impairment loss occurred if there was objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset (a loss event), and that had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset and which could be reliably measured. If any such evidence existed for AFS financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement – was removed from equity and recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as AFS increased, and the increase could be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was reported in the Consolidated Income Statement, the impairment loss was reversed through the Consolidated Income Statement.

(g) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative financial instruments for the purpose of providing an economic hedge to its exposures to interest rate and foreign exchange risks as they arise from operating, financing and investing activities. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the contract date and are remeasured at fair value at subsequent reporting dates.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain hedging instruments as either fair value hedges or cash flow hedges, where it is efficient to do so and the relevant criteria are met. From 1 March 2018, the Group has implemented IFRS 9 hedge accounting requirements in respect of its fair value hedges of the Group's investment securities and its cash flow hedges. As permitted under IFRS 9, the Group has elected to continue to apply the existing hedge accounting requirements of International Accounting Standard (IAS) 39 'Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement' for its portfolio hedge accounting until the new macro hedge accounting standard is implemented.

The Group applies hedge accounting as follows:

- Hedge relationships are classified as fair value hedges where the derivative financial instruments hedge the change in the fair value of fixed rate financial assets or financial liabilities due to movements in interest rates.
- Hedge relationships are classified as cash flow hedges where the derivative financial instruments hedge the cash
 flows associated with inflation risk on an index linked issued bond, the interest rate risk and foreign currency risk
 on US Dollar notes issued by one of the Group's securitisation entities or the foreign currency risk on certain
 foreign currency invoices.

To qualify for hedge accounting, the Group documents, at the inception of the hedge: the hedging risk management strategy; the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item or transaction; and the nature of the risks being hedged. The Group also documents the assessment of the effectiveness of the hedging relationship, to show that the hedge has been and will be highly effective on an ongoing basis.

Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated as fair value hedges are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. The hedged item is also adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to the hedged risk, with the corresponding adjustment made in the Consolidated Income Statement.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item is amortised to the Consolidated Income Statement over the remaining period to maturity.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash flow hedges

Changes in the fair value of the derivative financial instruments that are designated as hedges of future cash flows are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement. Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income are recycled to the Consolidated Income Statement when equivalent amounts of the hedged item are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

When the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, hedge accounting is discontinued. Any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains until the forecast transaction occurs or the original hedged item affects the Consolidated Income Statement. At that point, the cumulative gain or loss is also recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

(h) Derivative financial instruments not in hedge accounting relationships

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement as they arise.

(i) Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment when there are indications that the carrying value may not be recoverable. In the event that an asset's carrying amount is determined to be greater than its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement and the carrying value of the asset is written down by the amount of the loss. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets for which an impairment loss has been recognised are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

(j) Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent expenditure is included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is charged to the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis so as to allocate the costs less residual values over the lower of the useful life of the related asset and, for leasehold improvements, the expected lease term. Depreciation commences on the date that the assets are brought into use. Work-in-progress assets are not depreciated until they are brought into use and transferred to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment. Estimated useful lives are:

Plant and equipment 2 to 8 years
 Fixtures and fittings 4 to 14 years
 Computer hardware 3 to 10 years
 Freehold buildings 40 years
 Leasehold improvements 15 to 20 years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in administrative expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

(k) Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives. The Group's intangible assets are computer software, for which the estimated useful lives are 3 to 10 years.

Internally generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure

Research costs are expensed in the Consolidated Income Statement as incurred.

Development expenditure incurred on an individual project is capitalised only if all of the following criteria are demonstrated:

- an asset is created that can be identified (such as software);
- it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits; and
- the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Following the initial recognition of development expenditure, the cost is amortised over the estimated useful life of the asset created. Amortisation commences on the date that the asset is brought into use. Work-in-progress assets are not amortised until they are brought into use and transferred to the appropriate category of intangible assets.

(I) Leases

If a lease agreement, in which the Group is a lessee, does not transfer the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, the lease is recorded as an operating lease.

Operating lease payments are charged to the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. Where an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor as compensation is charged to the Consolidated Income Statement in the period in which the termination takes place.

The Group has entered into operating leases for office buildings.

(m) Employee benefits

The Group accounts for pension costs on a contributions basis in line with the requirements of IAS 19 'Employee Benefits'. The Group made contributions in the year to a funded defined benefit scheme and a funded defined contribution scheme. Both of these schemes are operated by TSL.

IAS 19 requires that, where there is no policy or agreement for sharing the cost of a defined benefit scheme across the subsidiaries, the Sponsoring employer recognises the net defined benefit cost of a defined benefit scheme. The Sponsoring employer of the funded defined benefit scheme is TSL and the principal pension plan is the Tesco PLC (Tesco) pension scheme.

(n) Share based payments

Employees of the Group receive part of their remuneration in the form of share based payment transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for Tesco shares or rights over shares (equity-settled transactions) or in exchange for entitlements to cash based payments based on the value of the shares (cash-settled transactions).

The fair value of employee share option plans is calculated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes model. The resulting cost is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement over the vesting period. The value of the charge is adjusted to reflect expected and actual levels of vesting.

The grant by Tesco of options over its equity instruments to the employees of the Group is treated as a capital contribution in equity. The social security contribution payable in connection with the grant of the share options is considered an integral part of the grant itself, and the charge is treated as a cash-settled transaction.

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

(o) Provisions for liabilities and charges and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; it is more likely than not that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation which is dependent on the outcome of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group, or a present obligation where an outflow of economic resources is not likely or the amount cannot be reliably measured.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Company or Consolidated Statement of Financial Position but are disclosed in the notes to the Financial Statements unless the possibility of an outflow of economic resources is remote.

(p) Dividends paid

Dividends are recognised in equity in the period they are approved by the Group's Board.

(q) Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker is the person or group that allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. The Group has determined the Board of Directors as its chief operating decision-maker.

(r) Sale and repurchase agreements

Investment securities sold subject to a commitment to repurchase them at a predetermined price are retained on the Company and Consolidated Statements of Financial Position when substantially all of the risk and rewards of ownership remain with the Group. The counterparty liability is included in deposits from banks. Conversely, securities purchased under agreements to resell (reverse repos), where the Group does not acquire substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership, are recorded as loans and advances from banks.

(s) Encumbered assets

The Group's methodology used to identify encumbered assets is aligned to definitions used in calculating the Group's Pillar 3 encumbrance disclosures.

2. Transition to IFRS 9 and IFRS 15

On 1 March 2018 the Group adopted both IFRS 9 and IFRS 15. Full transition disclosures are set out below. Further details of the new accounting policies applied are set out in note 1.

(a) IFRS 9 'Financial instruments'

IFRS 9 is a replacement for IAS 39, excluding the part of IAS 39 related to macro hedge accounting. Macro hedge accounting requirements are out of the scope of IFRS 9 and instead the IASB is developing a separate model. Entities are therefore permitted to continue accounting for macro hedge portfolios in line with IAS 39. In line with Tesco policy, the Group has adopted IFRS 9 in respect of its micro hedge accounting from 1 March 2018. The Group continues to apply the existing hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39 for its portfolio hedge accounting until the new macro hedge accounting standard is implemented.

The classification and measurement and impairment requirements of IFRS 9 have been applied retrospectively at 1 March 2018 by adjusting the opening balance sheet, with no requirement to restate comparative periods. Hedge accounting relationships within the scope of IFRS 9 have transitioned prospectively.

Classification and measurement of financial instruments

The measurement category and the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities in accordance with IAS 39 and IFRS 9 at 1 March 2018 are as follows:

	IAS 39		IFRS 9	
Group	Classification and	Carrying	Classification and	Carrying
	measurement category		measurement category	amount
Financial assets:		£m		£m
Cash and balances with central banks	Loans and receivables (amortised cost)	1,318.6	Amortised cost	1,296.7
			FVPL (a)	21.9
Loans and advances to customers	Loans and receivables (amortised cost)	11,522.4	Amortised cost	11,308.4
Derivative financial instruments	Derivatives held for hedging	46.1	FVPL	46.1
Investment securities:				
AFS	AFS	925.4	FVOCI - mandatory (b)	923.4
			FVOCI - designated (c)	2.0
Loans and receivables	Loans and receivables (amortised cost)	34.1	Amortised cost	33.9
Other assets	Loans and receivables (amortised cost)	280.6	Amortised cost	280.6
Total financial assets		14,127.2	•	13,913.0
Financial liabilities				
Deposits from banks	Amortised cost	1,539.0	Amortised cost	1,539.0
Deposits from customers	Amortised cost	9,244.6	Amortised cost	9,244.6
Debt securities in issue	Amortised cost	1,347.6	Amortised cost	1,347.6
Derivative financial	Derivatives held for hedging	88.4	FVPL	88.4
instruments Other liabilities	Amortised cost	1477	Amortised cost	147.7
		147.7		
Subordinated liabilities Total financial liabilities	Amortised cost	12,602.3	Amortised cost	235.0 12,602.3
iotai iinanciai iiabiiities		12,002.3	•	12,002.3

2. Transition to IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 (continued)

Company	IAS 39 Classification and measurement category		IFRS 9 Classification and measurement category	Carrying amount
Financial assets:		£m		£m
Cash and balances with central banks	Loans and receivables (amortised cost)	3.4	Amortised cost	3.4
Loans and advances to subsidiary companies	Loans and receivables (amortised cost)	235.0	Amortised cost	233.9
Total financial assets		238.4	•	237.3
Financial liabilities				
Subordinated liabilities	Amortised cost	235.0	Amortised cost	235.0
Total financial liabilities		235.0		235.0

The following explains how applying the new classification requirements of IFRS 9 led to changes in classification of certain financial assets held by the Group as shown in the tables above.

- (a) Reclassification of cash balances from amortised cost to FVPL
 Cash balances relating to the Group's Travel Money offering have been reclassified at FVPL under IFRS 9 as these are held to earn fee and commission income and not solely to collect payments of principal and interest.
- (b) Mandatory reclassification of debt investment securities from AFS to FVOCI

 Debt instruments previously classified as AFS under IAS 39 have been reclassified to the FVOCI category under

 IFRS 9 as the IAS 39 category has been removed. There has been no change in the measurement basis as a result of this reclassification.
- (c) Designation of equity investment securities from AFS to FVOCI
 - The Group has elected to designate equity instruments held in VISA Inc. at FVOCI as permitted by IFRS 9. These securities were previously classified as AFS. There has been no change in the measurement basis as a result of this reclassification. The changes in fair value of these securities will no longer be reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement on disposal.

2. Transition to IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 (continued)

Reconciliation of Statement of Financial Position balances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9

The following table reconciles the carrying amount of financial assets from their previous measurement category in accordance with IAS 39 to their new measurement categories upon transition to IFRS 9 on 1 March 2018. There were no changes to the classification and measurement of financial liabilities.

	IAS 39 carrying amount 28 February 2018	Reclassification	Remeasurement	IFRS 9 carrying amount 1 March 2018
Group Financial Assets	£m	£m	£m	£m
Amortised cost Cash and balances with central banks Opening balance under IAS 39 Reclassification to FVPL Closing balance under IFRS 9	1,318.6	(21.9)		1,296.7
Loans and advances to customers Opening balance under IAS 39 Remeasurement: ECL allowance Remeasurement: Recoverable asset balance Transfer to provisions for liabilities and charges ¹ Closing balance under IFRS 9	11,522.4		(228.1) 4.8 9.3	11,308.4
Investment securities - amortised cost Opening balance under IAS 39 Remeasurement: ECL allowance Closing balance under IFRS 9	34.1		(0.2)	33.9
Other assets Opening balance under IAS 39 and closing balance under IFRS 9	280.6			280.6
Total financial assets measured at amortised cost	13,155.7	(21.9)	(214.2)	12,919.6
FVPL				
Derivative financial instruments Opening balance under IAS 39 and closing balance under IFRS 9	46.1			46.1
Cash and balances with central banks Opening balance under IAS 39 Reclassification from amortised cost Closing balance under IFRS 9	-	21.9		21.9
Total financial assets measured at FVPL	46.1	21.9		68.0

¹ Credit loss provision in excess of gross carrying amount of financial assets transferred to provisions for liabilities and charges (refer note 30).

2. Transition to IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 (continued)

Reconciliation of Statement of Financial Position balances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 (continued)

	IAS 39 carrying amount 28 February 2018	Reclassification	Remeasurement	IFRS 9 carrying amount 1 March 2018
FVOCI	£m	£m	£m	£m
rvoci				
Investment securities - AFS	925.4			
Opening balance under IAS 39 Reclassification to FVOCI (debt)		(923.4)		
Reclassification to FVOCI (debt)		(923.4)		
Closing balance under IFRS 9		(2.0)		-
Investment securities - FVOCI				
Opening balance under IAS 39 Reclassification to FVOCI from AFS (debt)	_	923.4		
Reclassification to FVOCI from AFS (debt)		2.0		
Closing balance under IFRS 9		2.0		925.4
Total financial assets measured at FVOCI	925.4		_	925.4
Total financial assets	14,127.2		(214.2)	13,913.0
	IAS 39 carrying amount 28 February 2018	Reclassification	Remeasurement	IFRS 9 carrying amount 1 March 2018
Company	2018 £m	£m	£m	£m
Financial Assets				
Amortised cost				
Cash and balances with central banks Opening balance under IAS 39 and closing				
balance under IFRS 9	3.4			3.4
Loans and advances to subsidiary companies	225.0			
Opening balance under IAS 39 Remeasurement: ECL allowance	235.0			
Closing balance under IFRS 9			(1 1)	
Closing balance under irns 5			(1.1)	233.9

The Group recognised a deferred tax asset of £57.3m on 1 March 2018 in relation to the transitional measurement adjustments set out in the above tables. This asset relates to both the additional ECL allowance recognised within loans and advances to customers of £214.2m, ECLs in excess of the gross carrying amount of the related financial assets, amounting to £9.3m, recognised within provisions for liabilities and charges (refer note 30) and the additional ECL allowance recognised within loans and advances to subsidiary companies. On a Company basis, a deferred tax asset of £0.3m was recognised in respect of the additional ECL allowance recognised within loans and advances to subsidiary companies.

2. Transition to IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 (continued)

Reconciliation of impairment allowance balance from IAS 39 to IFRS 9

The following table reconciles the prior period's closing impairment allowance measured in accordance with the IAS 39 incurred loss model to the new impairment allowance measured in accordance with the IFRS 9 expected loss model at 1 March 2018:

	28 February 2018			1 March 2018
Group	Loan loss allowance	Reclassification	Remeasurement	Loan loss allowance
	under IAS 39	Com	C	under IFRS 9
Measurement category	£m	£m	£m	£m
Loans and receivables (IAS 39)/Financial assets at amortised cost (IFRS 9)				
Loans and advances to customers ¹	238.1	_	218.8	456.9
Investment securities	-	_	0.2	0.2
Total	238.1		219.0	457.1
AFS financial assets (IAS 39)/Financial assets at FVOCI (IFRS 9)				
Investment securities ²	_	_	(0.5)	(0.5)
Total	_	_	(0.5)	(0.5)

¹Credit loss provision in excess of gross carrying amount of financial assets transferred to provisions for liabilities and charges (refer note 30).

²The above loss allowance is not recognised in the carrying amount of investment securities as the carrying amount is their fair value.

	28 February 2018			1 March 2018
Company	Loan loss	Reclassification	Remeasurement	Loan loss
	allowance under			allowance
	IAS 39			under IFRS 9
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Measurement category				
Loans and receivables (IAS 39)/Financial				
assets at amortised cost (IFRS 9)				
Loans and advances to subsidiary				
companies		_	1.1	1.1
Total	-	_	1.1	1.1

2. Transition to IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 (continued)

The following table reconciles in further detail the prior period's closing impairment allowance for loans and advances to customers in accordance with IAS 39 to the IFRS 9 allowance at 1 March 2018:

Group	£m
IAS 39 loss allowance at 28 February 2018	238.1
12 month ECL	72.7
Lifetime ECL	100.6
Undrawn balances	8.6
Macro-economic scenarios	39.2
Transfer to provisions for liabilities and charges	(9.3)
Other changes	7.0
IFRS 9 loss allowance at 1 March 2018	456.9

On a Company basis, the total additional loss allowance recognised on transition relates to 12m ECL.

(b) IFRS 15 'Revenue from contracts with customers'

IFRS 15 introduces a performance-based approach to revenue recognition and is applicable to all contracts with customers, with certain exceptions. The Group's interest income and fee income integral to financial instruments fall outside the scope of IFRS 15 and are accounted for in line with the other applicable standards, predominantly IFRS 9 from 1 March 2018 (refer above). All other fees and commissions income falls within the scope of IFRS 15.

In accordance with the transitional provisions in IFRS 15, the new rules have been applied retrospectively and comparatives for the 2018 financial year have been restated.

There are two changes for the Group as a result of the adoption of IFRS 15.

(i) Accounting for insurance renewal commission income

Prior to the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group recognised all insurance commission income on policy renewals at the time of the renewal. Under IFRS 15, the Group recognises commission income as policies are sold for a minority of insurance policies managed and underwritten by a third party. This is the point in time at which the Group has satisfied all of its performance obligations in relation to the policies sold and it is considered highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of revenue recognised will not occur in future periods. A contract asset has been recognised in relation to this revenue and is included within other assets.

(ii) Presentation of insurance refund liability

Contract liabilities in relation to expected refunds to insurance customers were previously presented as current provisions for liabilities and charges. These are now included within other liabilities to reflect the terminology and requirements of IFRS 15.

2. Transition to IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 (continued)

The impact of these changes on the relevant financial statements lines is as follows:

Group	As previously reported	IFRS 15 adjustments	Restated
At 1 March 2017	£m	£m	£m
Statement of Financial Position			
Other assets	299.1	18.5	317.6
Provision for liabilities and charges	(83.5)	4.2	(79.3)
Other liabilities	(148.3)	(4.2)	(152.5)
Deferred income tax liability	(13.7)	(5.0)	(18.7)
Retained earnings	(406.2)	(13.5)	(419.7)
At 28 February 2018			
Statement of Financial Position			
Other assets	265.7	14.9	280.6
Provisions for liabilities and charges	(79.4)	3.4	(76.0)
Other liabilities	(144.3)	(3.4)	(147.7)
Deferred income tax liability	(3.7)	(4.0)	(7.7)
Retained earnings	(497.3)	(10.9)	(508.2)
Income Statement			
Fee and commission charge	387.0	(3.6)	383.4
Income tax charge	(61.6)	1.0	(60.6)
Statement of Cash Flows			
Non-cash items included in operating profit before taxation and other adjustments	297.4	(12.7)	284.7
Changes in operating assets and liabilities	46.9	16.3	63.2

There is no impact on a Company basis of the adoption of IFRS 15.

IFRS 15 also specifies a comprehensive set of disclosure requirements regarding the nature, extent and timing, as well as any uncertainty, of revenue and corresponding cash flows with customers. These applicable disclosures are included throughout these financial statements, primarily in note 1.

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

In the course of preparing the Financial Statements, no judgements have been made in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, other than those using estimations (which are presented separately below), that have had a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Financial Statements.

The reported results of the Group are sensitive to the accounting policies, assumptions and estimates that underlie the preparation of its Financial Statements. The Group's principal accounting policies are set out in note 1. United Kingdom (UK) company law and IFRSs require the Directors, in preparing the Group's Financial Statements, to select suitable accounting policies, apply them consistently and make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent. Where accounting standards are not specific and Management has to choose a policy, IAS 8, 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors', requires them to adopt policies that will result in relevant and reliable information in the light of the requirements and guidance in IFRSs dealing with similar and related issues and the IASB Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements.

The judgements and estimates involved in the Group's accounting policies that are considered to be the most important to the portrayal of its financial condition are discussed below. The use of estimates, assumptions or models that differ from those adopted by the Group would affect its reported results.

Impairment of financial assets (applicable from 1 March 2018)

The measurement of ECLs for financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behaviour, such as the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses. Further explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring ECLs, as well as the key sensitivities of ECLs to change in these elements, are set out at note 37.

Effective interest rate (EIR)

IFRS 9 requires the Group to measure the interest earned on its Credit Cards portfolio by applying the EIR methodology. The main area of estimation uncertainty in measuring the EIR on the Group's Credit Card portfolio is the expected attrition of the balances drawn at the reporting date.

Management uses a pay rates assumption to determine the expected repayment profile of the balances drawn as at the reporting date to the expected remaining term (capped at a maximum of 5 years from origination).

An increase of the pay rates assumption by 10% will reduce the asset value by £5.3m and a corresponding reduction of the pay rates assumption will increase the asset value by £6.2m.

Provision for customer redress

The Group has a provision for potential customer redress in relation to payment protection insurance (PPI). For further details, including the key assumptions made in arriving at each element of this provision and a sensitivity analysis of key assumptions in the PPI model, refer to note 30.

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies (continued)

Investment in joint venture

The Group holds an investment in a joint venture, TU, an authorised insurance company, and recognises the carrying value of its investment and the Group's share of TU's results using the equity method of accounting (see notes 1 and 23 for further details).

TU's results are sensitive to changes in the insurance reserves it recognises in respect of insurance policies written, net of reinsurance. Consequently, material increases in these reserves could have an impact on the carrying value of the investment in the Company and Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

The impact of any increase in reserves is determined by TU's ability to amend its pricing to reflect the increased costs of providing cover under the policies written.

A key element of the reserving calculation is the application of the Ogden tables, which are used to calculate the cost of any claim that involves compensation for loss of future benefits. The tables provide an estimate of the return to be expected from the investment of a lump sum damages award.

A decrease in the Ogden rate for 2019 from -0.75% to -1.0% would decrease the carrying value of the Group's investment in TU by £1.2m. An increase in the Ogden rate for 2019 from -0.75% to +1.0% would increase the carrying value of the Group's investment in TU by £10.0m.

4. Segmental Reporting

Following the measurement approach of IFRS 8, 'Operating Segments', the Group's operating segments are reported in accordance with the internal reporting provided to the Board of Directors, which is responsible for allocating resources to the operating segments and assessing their performance.

The Group has one operating segment covering all of the Group's activities, the results of which are set out in the Consolidated Income Statement and Group and Company Statements of Financial Position. The Group is primarily focused on providing financial services and products to personal customers in the UK therefore no geographic analysis is presented.

5. Net Interest Income

	2019 £m	2018 £m
	žiii	Restated ¹
Interest and similar income		
On financial assets measured at amortised cost		
Loans and advances to customers	710.8	628.0
Cash and balances with central banks	7.5	2.8
Investment securities	1.3	1.4
	719.6	632.2
On financial assets measured at fair value		
Investment securities	7.2	5.1
Derivative financial instruments	1.8	3.0
	9.0	8.1
Total interest and similar income	728.6	640.3
Interest expense and similar charges		
On financial liabilities measured at amortised cost		
Deposits from customers	(139.6)	(114.1)
Deposits from banks	(11.7)	(4.1)
Debt securities in issue	(23.5)	(25.0)
Subordinated liabilities and notes	(4.9)	(4.0)
	(179.7)	(147.2)
Total interest expense and similar charges	(179.7)	(147.2)
	(=====)	ζ=/
Net interest income	548.9	493.1

¹ The prior year restatement relates to the reclassification of amounts from interest expense to interest income. Refer to note 1 for further details.

6. Net Fees and Commissions Income

	2019	2018
	£m	£m
		Restated ¹
Fees and commissions income		
Banking revenue from contracts with customers	243.8	252.2
Insurance revenue from contracts with customers	98.6	109.6
Other revenue from contracts with customers	23.4	21.6
Total fees and commissions income	365.8	383.4
Fees and commissions expense		
Banking expense	(32.6)	(31.6)
Total fees and commissions expense	(32.6)	(31.6)
Net fees and commissions income	333.2	351.8

With the exception of other revenue from contracts with customers, all of the above fees and commissions relate to financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. These figures exclude amounts incorporated in determining the EIR on such financial assets and financial liabilities.

7. Net (Loss)/Gain on Financial Instruments at FVPL

	2019 £m	2018 £m
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain on financial assets	(0.2)	1.9
Net (loss)/gain arising on derivatives not designated as hedging		
instruments	(4.1)	8.0
Fair value hedge ineffectiveness (refer note 18)	0.4	1.1
Cash flow hedge ineffectiveness (refer note 18)	(0.3)	_
Net (loss)/gain on financial instruments at FVPL	(4.2)	11.0
8. Net Gain on Investment Securities		
	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Net gain on disposal of AFS investment securities	n/a	0.1
Net gain on disposal of investment securities at FVOCI	8.4	n/a
Net gain on investment securities	8.4	0.1

¹ The prior period has been restated following the retrospective adoption of IFRS 15 in the current period. Refer to note 2 for further details.

9. **Administrative Expenses**

•		
	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Staff costs		
Wages and salaries	111.2	114.2
Social security costs	11.0	11.8
Other pension costs	5.3	5.4
Share based payments	4.4	9.2
Other costs including temporary staff	38.9	33.6
Total staff costs	170.8	174.2
Non-staff costs		
Premises and equipment	76.8	74.8
Operating leases	3.6	3.6
Marketing	49.3	63.8
Auditor's remuneration (refer below)	0.8	0.8
Outsourcing and professional fees	61.1	62.1
Other administrative expenses	54.8	44.6
Restructuring costs ¹	(1.6)	(1.2)
Total non-staff costs	244.8	248.5
Total administrative expenses	415.6	422.7
¹ During the year, the Group recognised organisational restructuring credits within administrative expenrelated to property operating lease exit costs.	ses amounting to £(1.6)m	(2018: £(1.2m))
	2019	2018

	2019	2018
	£'000	£'000
Audit services		
Audit of the Company and Consolidated Financial Statements	87	51
Audit of the Company's subsidiaries	633	702
Total audit services	720	753
Non-audit services		
Audit related assurance services	92	83
Other non-audit services not covered above	26	52
Total non-audit services	118	135
Total auditor's remuneration	838	888

The average monthly number of persons (including Executive Directors) employed by the Group split by employee function during the year, was:

	2019	2018
	Number	Number
Head office and administration	1,340	1,323
Operations	2,344	2,625
Total average employees	3,684	3,948

10. Impairment Loss on Financial Assets

	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Impairment loss on loans and advances to customers ¹	163.5	137.4
Impairment loss on investment securities at FVOCI	0.7	n/a
Reversal of impairment loss on investment securities at amortised cost	(0.1)	n/a
Total impairment loss on financial assets	164.1	137.4

¹Included within the impairment loss on loans and advances to customers is an amount of £32.7m (2018: £34.6m) received through the sale of non-performing debt to third parties.

11. Directors' Emoluments

The remuneration of the Directors paid by the Group during the year was as follows:

	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Aggregate emoluments	4.5	5.9
Aggregate amounts receivable under long-term incentive schemes	3.0	2.6
Loss of office	_	0.3
Share based payments	0.8	0.9
Total Directors' emoluments	8.3	9.7

	2019	2018
	Number	Number
Number of Directors to whom retirement benefits are accruing under defined		
benefit or contribution schemes	3	3
Number of Directors in respect of whose qualifying services shares were received		
or receivable under long-term incentive schemes	6	5
Number of Directors who exercised share options in the year	_	_

The total emoluments of the highest paid Director were £1.6m (2018: £2.3m). During the year the highest paid Director did not exercise any share options (2018: £nil).

At 28 February 2019 the accrued pension and lump sum under a defined benefit scheme for the highest paid Director was £nil (2018: £nil).

During the year to 28 February 2019 one Director (2018: two Directors) left the company. During the prior year, one Director was paid a sum of £0.3m upon leaving, in line with contractual terms and conditions. There were no such payments in the current year.

12. Income Tax

Income tax charge

	2019	2018
	£m	£m
		Restated ¹
Current tax charge for the year	65.1	70.4
Adjustments in respect of prior years	(0.8)	0.8
Total current tax charge for the year	64.3	71.2
Deferred tax credit for the year	(9.3)	(9.7)
Tax rate change	0.8	0.6
Adjustments in respect of prior years	(0.2)	(1.5)
Total deferred tax credit for the year	(8.7)	(10.6)
Total income tax charge	55.6	60.6

The standard rate of corporation tax in the UK was changed from 20% to 19% with effect from 1 April 2017. This gives a blended corporation tax rate for the Group for the full year of 19.0% (2018: 19.1%). In addition, a banking surcharge of 8% is applied to the Group's results.

The tax assessed for the full year is higher (2018: higher) than that calculated using the overall blended corporation tax rate for the Group. The differences are explained below:

	2019	2018
	£m	£m
		Restated ¹
Profit before taxation	198.9	199.1
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by blended rate in the UK of 19.0% (2018: 19.1%)	37.8	38.0
13.078 (2010. 13.178)	37.0	30.0
Factors affecting charge for the year:		
Impact of banking surcharge	13.3	13.2
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes ²	9.0	10.0
Adjustment in respect of prior years - current tax	(0.8)	0.8
Adjustment in respect of prior years - deferred tax	(0.2)	(1.5)
Share based payments	(2.9)	1.5
Other tax adjustments	0.1	_
Tax rate change	0.8	0.6
Share of profit of joint venture	(1.5)	(2.0)
Total income tax charge	55.6	60.6

¹ The prior year restatement relates to the adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

² The majority of the adjustment relates to the tax impact of the non-deductibility of an additional PPI provision of £16.0m recognised in the year (2018: £35.0m) and a regulatory charge of £16.4m (2018: £nil).

12. Income Tax (continued)

The March 2016 Budget Statement included an announcement that the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK would be reduced to 17% from 1 April 2020. This rate reduction was enacted during the year ended 28 February 2017 and is therefore incorporated in these Financial Statements. The rate change is expected to reduce the Group's effective tax rate in the medium term.

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income

2019	Before tax amount £m	Tax (charge)/credit £m	Net of tax amount £m
Items that may be reclassified to the income statement			
Net losses on debt securities at FVOCI	(1.7)	0.4	(1.3)
Net gains on debt securities reclassified to the income statement on			
disposal	(8.0)	2.2	(5.8)
Net losses on cash flow hedges	(0.8)	0.1	(0.7)
Net losses on cross currency interest rate swaps	(0.3)	-	(0.3)
Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement			
Net gains on equity securities designated at FVOCI	0.5	(0.1)	0.4
Total income tax relating to components of other comprehensive			
income	(10.3)	2.6	(7.7)
	Before tax		Net of tax
	amount	Tax charge	amount
2018	£m	£m	£m
Items that may be reclassified to the income statement			
Unrealised net gains on AFS investment securities	1.8	(0.3)	1.5
Net gains on cash flow hedges reclassified to the income statement	0.4	(0.1)	0.3
Total items that may be reclassified to the income statement	2.2	(0.4)	1.8

Deferred tax charged directly to the Statement of Changes in Equity

	Before tax		Net of tax
	amount	Tax charge	amount
2019	£m	£m	£m
Net losses on share based payments reserve	(4.8)	(2.6)	(7.4)
	(4.8)	(2.6)	(7.4)
	Before tax		Net of tax
	amount	Tax credit	amount
2018	£m	£m	£m
Net gains on share based payments reserve	3.6	0.9	4.5
	3.6	0.9	4.5

13. Distributions to Equity Holders

	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Ordinary dividend paid	50.0	50.0
	50.0	50.0

On 21 February 2019 an interim dividend of £50.0m (£0.0410 per ordinary share) was paid. In the prior year, an interim dividend of £50.0m (£0.0410 per ordinary share) was paid on 22 February 2018.

14. Cash and Balances with Central Banks

	Group		Company	
	2019 2018		2019	2018
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Cash at bank	374.1	376.9	_	_
Cash deposits held with Tesco Personal Finance Plc (TPF)	_	_	13.4	3.4
Balances held with the Bank of England (BoE) other than				
mandatory reserve deposits	669.3	926.6	_	_
Included in cash and cash equivalents	1,043.4	1,303.5	13.4	3.4
Mandatory reserves deposits held with the BoE	28.7	15.1	-	_
Total cash and balances with central banks	1,072.1	1,318.6	13.4	13.4

Mandatory reserve deposits held with the BoE of £28.7m (2018: £15.1m) are not included within cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cash flow statement as these do not have short-term maturities. These balances are not available in the Group's day-to-day operations and are non-interest bearing. Other balances are subject to variable interest rates based on the BoE base rate.

15. Loans and Advances to Banks

Group	2019 £m	2018 £m
Loans and advances to banks	324.2	
	324.2	_

All of the above balances are current.

Loans and advances to banks include balances of £324.2m (2018: £nil) which have been purchased under sale and repurchase agreements.

16. Loans and Advances to Customers

Group	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Secured Mortgage lending	3,767.4	3,010.2
Unsecured lending	9,146.2	8,766.7
Total secured and unsecured lending	12,913.6	11,776.9
Fair value hedge adjustment	(2.7)	(16.4)
Gross loans and advances to customers	12,910.9	11,760.5
Less: allowance for impairment (refer to note 37)	(485.2)	(238.1)
Net loans and advances to customers	12,425.7	11,522.4
Current	4,557.5	4,636.6
Non-current	7,868.2	6,885.8

At 28 February 2019, the Group had contractual lending commitments of £12,226.2m (2018: £12,225.0m). An additional ECL provision of £8.5m was also recognised at 28 February 2019 (2018: £nil). This represents the excess of total ECLs for both drawn and undrawn balances over the gross carrying balances as above. Refer to note 30 for further details.

Fair value hedge adjustments

Fair value hedge adjustments amounting to $\pounds(2.7)$ m (2018: $\pounds(16.4)$ m) are in respect of fixed rate Loans and Mortgages. These adjustments are largely offset by derivatives, which are used to manage interest rate risk and are designated as fair value hedges within loans and advances to customers.

17. Loans and Advances to Subsidiary Companies

Company	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Floating rate subordinated note maturing 2030	190.0	190.0
Undated floating rate note	45.0	45.0
	235.0	235.0
Less: Allowance for impairment (refer to note 37)	(1.3)	_
Net loans and advances to subsidiary companies	233.7	235.0
Current	_	_
Non-current	233.7	235.0
Non-current	255.7	255.0

18. Derivative Financial Instruments

Strategy in using derivative financial instruments

The objective when using a derivative financial instrument is to ensure that the risk to reward profile of a transaction is optimised, allowing the Group to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk. The intention is to only use derivatives to create economically effective hedges. There are specific requirements stipulated under IFRS 9/IAS 39 which must be met for a derivative to qualify for hedge accounting. As a result, not all derivatives can be designated as being in an accounting hedge relationship, either because natural accounting offsets are expected or because obtaining hedge accounting would be especially onerous.

For those derivatives where hedge accounting is applied, gains and losses are offset by hedge adjustments in the Consolidated Income Statement. For those derivatives held for economic hedging purposes which cannot be designated as being in an accounting hedge relationship, the gains and losses are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. In the Statement of Financial Positions there is no distinction between derivatives where hedge accounting is applied and derivatives which cannot be designated as being in an accounting hedge relationship.

The following table analyses derivatives held for risk management purposes by type of instrument and splits derivatives between those classified in hedge accounting relationships and those not in hedge accounting relationships.

Group	2019		2018	
	Assets	Liabilities	Assets	Liabilities
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Derivatives in hedge accounting relationships				
Derivatives designated as fair value hedges				
Interest rate swaps	17.8	(49.5)	30.5	(86.8)
Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges				
Interest rate swaps	_	(0.3)	_	(0.7)
RPI basis swaps	12.5	_	11.5	_
Forward foreign exchange contracts	_	(0.2)	0.1	_
Cross currency interest rate swaps	_	(9.1)	_	_
Total derivatives in hedge accounting relationships	30.3	(59.1)	42.1	(87.5)
Derivatives not in hedge accounting relationships Interest rate derivatives				
Interest rate swaps	1.0	(1.1)	3.9	(0.8)
Currency derivatives				
Forward foreign exchange contracts	_	_	0.1	(0.1)
Total derivatives not in hedge accounting relationships	1.0	(1.1)	4.0	(0.9)
Total	31.3	(60.2)	46.1	(88.4)

18. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

Derivatives, whether designated in hedge accounting relationships or not, are regarded as current where they are expected to mature within one year. All other derivatives are regarded as non-current.

Group	2019	2018		
	Assets	Liabilities	Assets	Liabilities
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Current	13.8	(2.8)	1.5	(3.1)
Non-current	17.5	(57.4)	44.6	(85.3)

Hedge accounting

The Group applies hedge accounting in the following hedging strategies:

Fair value hedges of interest rate risk

The Group's risk management objective of creating economically effective hedges is achieved by the use of interest rate contracts to swap fixed rate exposures back to a benchmark floating rate where no existing offset is available. This includes the hedging of fixed rate investment securities and issuances of fixed rate debt, which protects the Group against the fair value volatility of these financial assets and financial liabilities due to movements in interest rates. Each swap is defined as hedging one or more fixed rate assets or liabilities. The Group applies IFRS 9 hedge accounting in respect of these hedging instruments.

Sources of hedge ineffectiveness relate to differences in timing and repricing between execution of the hedging instrument and hedge item.

Portfolio fair value hedges of interest rate risk

The Group's risk management objective of creating economically effective hedges is achieved by the use of interest rate contracts to swap fixed rate exposures back to a benchmark floating rate where no existing offset is available. This includes the hedging of portfolios of fixed rate Loans, Mortgages and Savings products, which protects the Group against the fair value volatility of these financial assets and financial liabilities due to movements in interest rates. The Group applies IAS 39 portfolio hedge accounting in respect of these hedging instruments.

Sources of hedge ineffectiveness include, but are not limited to, differences in timing and repricing between execution of the hedging instrument and hedge item, differences between actual and expected prepayment rates of the underlying hedge item and repricing differences between the portfolio of hedge items and the associated hedging instruments.

Cash flow hedges of debt securities issued

The Group holds inflation and interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges to mitigate the variability in cash flows associated with an inflation-linked debt security issued by the Bank. The cash flows are expected to occur over the term to maturity in December 2019. The Group applies IFRS 9 hedge accounting in respect of these hedging instruments.

Sources of hedge ineffectiveness primarily relate to differences in timing and repricing between execution of the hedging instrument and hedge item.

The Group also holds cross currency interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges to mitigate the variability in cash flows associated with the foreign currency notes in issue. The cash flows are expected to occur over the term to maturity in 2020. The Group applies IFRS 9 hedge accounting in respect of these hedging instruments.

Sources of hedge ineffectiveness are primarily due to differences in timing and repricing between execution of the hedging instrument and hedge item.

18. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

Cash flow hedges of expected foreign currency payments

The Group holds forward foreign currency contracts as cash flow hedges to mitigate the variability in cash flows associated with expected (and highly probable) foreign currency payments. The payments, associated cash flows and the forward contracts are expected to occur and mature over the following 15 months. The Group applies IFRS 9 hedge accounting in respect of these hedging instruments.

Sources of hedge ineffectiveness relate to differences between expected and actual cash flows.

The following tables set out the maturity profile and average interest rate of the hedging instruments used in the Group's hedging strategies¹:

Group	Maturity				
	Up to one	One to three	Three months to one	One year to	More than five
2019	month	months	year	five years	years
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Fair value hedges					
Interest rate					
Interest rate swaps					
- Nominal amount	70.2	122.3	1,191.3	4,285.7	159.7
- Average interest rate	1.16%	0.92%	1.03%	1.21%	4.12%
Cash flow hedges					
Interest rate					
RPI basis swaps					
- Nominal amount	_	_	60.0	_	-
			LIBOR + 2.17% /		
- Average interest rate	_	_	1.00% + UKRPI	-	-
Interest rate swaps					
- Nominal amount	_	_	60.0	_	_
- Average interest rate	_	-	1.57%	-	-
Foreign currency					
Forward foreign exchange					
contracts					
- Nominal amount	0.6	1.7	5.9	_	-
- Average exchange rate	1.30	1.30	1.31	-	-
Interest rate/Foreign currency					
Cross currency interest rate					
swaps (GBP:USD)					
- Nominal amount (£m)	_	-	-	272.2	_
- Average exchange rate	_	_	_	1.29	_
- Average interest rate: pay leg	_	_	_	LIBOR + 0.84%	_
- Average interest rate: receive				USD LIBOR +	
leg	-	-	-	0.70%	_

 $^{^{\}rm 1}\,{\rm Disclosures}$ relate to derivatives in hedge accounting relationships only.

18. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

The following tables set out details of the hedging instruments used in the Group's hedging strategies¹:

Group		Carrying a	amount		Changes in fair value
2040				Balance sheet line	Changes in fair value used for calculating
2019	Notional	Assets	Liabilities	item	hedge ineffectiveness
	£m	£m	£m		£m
Fair value hedges					
Interest rate					
				Derivative financial	
Interest rate swaps	5,829.2	17.8	(49.5)	instruments	(10.4)
Cash flow hedges					
Interest rate					
				Derivative financial	
RPI basis swaps	60.0	12.5	_	instruments	1.1
				Derivative financial	
Interest rate swaps	60.0	_	(0.3)	instruments	0.4
Foreign currency				Danimati na financial	
Forward foreign exchange	0.2		(0.2)	Derivative financial	(0.4)
contracts	8.2	_	(0.2)	instruments	(0.1)
Interest rate/foreign currency					
Cross currency interest rate				Derivative financial	
swaps (GBP:USD)	272.2	_	(9.1)	instruments	8.6
Total	6,229.6	30.3	(59.1)		(0.4)
-			(00.2)	_	(0,

 $^{^{\}rm 1}\textsc{Disclosures}$ relate to derivatives in hedge accounting relationships only.

18. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

The following tables set out details of the hedged exposures covered by the Group's hedging strategies¹:

			Accumulated fair value adj		
Group	Carryin	g amount	the hedg	ged item	
2019	Assets	Liabilities	Assets	Liabilities	Balance sheet line item
	£m	£m	£m	£m	
Fair value hedges					
Interest rate					
- Fixed rate Loans and					
Mortgages	7,973.8	_	(2.7)	_	Loans and advances to customers
- Fixed rate Savings	-	(3,691.2)	_	0.2	Deposits from customers
- Fixed rate investment					
securities	472.8	_	(5.1)	_	Investment securities
- Fixed rate retail bond	_	(202.9)	_	(3.2)	Debt securities in issue
Total fair value hedges	8,446.6	(3,894.1)	(7.8)	(3.0)	

	Changes in value for	Accumulated amount of fair value hedge adjustments remaining in the Statement of Financial Position for any hedged items that have ceased
	calculating hedge	to be adjusted for hedging gains and
2019	ineffectiveness	losses
	£m	£m
Interest rate		
- Fixed rate loans and		
mortgages	13.7	0.2
- Fixed rate savings	(0.8)	_
- Fixed rate investment		
securities	(3.2)	0.2
- Fixed rate retail bond	1.1	0.5
Total fair value hedges	10.8	0.9

¹ Disclosures relate to derivatives in hedge accounting relationships only.

18. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

The following tables set out information regarding the effectiveness of the hedging relationships designated by the Group, as well as the impacts on profit or loss and other comprehensive income¹:

		Line item in income
	Hedge ineffectiveness	statement that
	recognised in profit or	includes hedge
Group	loss	ineffectiveness
2019	£m	
Fair value hedges		
Interest rate		
		Net gain/(loss) on
		financial instruments
- Interest rate swaps	0.4	at FVPL
Total fair values hedges	0.4	

¹ Disclosures relate to derivatives in hedge accounting relationships only.

Group		Change in value of hedged	Cash flow hedge reserve
	Balance sheet	item used for calculating	
2019	line item	hedge ineffectiveness	Continued hedges
		£m	£m
Cash flow hedges			
Interest rate			
	Debt securities in		
- RPI bond	issue	(1.4)	(0.4)
Foreign currency			
- Accounts payable	Other liabilities	(0.3)	(0.1)
Interest rate/foreign		,	,
currency			
·	Debt securities in		
 Securitisation bond 	issue	(8.6)	(0.5)
Total cash flow hedges		(10.3)	(1.0)

 $^{^{\}rm 1}\,{\rm Disclosures}$ relate to derivatives in hedge accounting relationships only.

There are no amounts remaining in the cash flow hedge reserve for which hedge accounting is no longer applied.

18. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

	Cumulative			Cumulative	
Group	hedging gains			amount	
	and (losses)		Line item in	reclassified	
	recognised in	Hedge	income	from cash	Line item in
	other	ineffectiveness	statement that	flow hedge	profit or loss
	comprehensive	recognised in	includes hedge	reserve to	that includes
2019	income	profit or loss	ineffectiveness	profit or loss	reclassification
	£m	£m		£m	
Cash flow hedges Interest rate					
			Net gain/(loss) on financial		Interest
- RPI basis and interest rate			instruments at		expense and
swaps	12.5	_	FVPL	(12.9)	similar charges
Foreign currency					
			Net gain/(loss)		
- 16			on financial		
 Forward foreign exchange contracts 	(0.2)	_	instruments at FVPL	_	
contracts	(0.2)		IVFL		
Interest rate/foreign currency					
			Net gain/(loss)		Net gain/(loss)
			on financial		on financial
- Cross currency interest	(0.6)	(0.2)	instruments at	0.1	instruments at
rate swaps (GBP:USD) Total cash flow hedges	(8.6) 3.7	(0.3)	. FVPL	8.1	FVPL
iotai casii iiow iieuges		(0.3)	п	(4.8)	•

 $^{^{\}rm 1}{\rm Disclosures}$ relate to derivatives in hedge accounting relationships only.

Group	£m
Hedging gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income	3.7
Amount reclassified from cash flow hedge reserve to profit or loss	(4.8)
Tax	0.1
Cash flow hedge reserve	(1.0)

18. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

The following table presents a reconciliation by risk category of the cash flow hedge reserve and an analysis of other comprehensive income in relation to hedge accounting¹:

	Cash flow hedge reserve
Group	£m
Balance at 1 March 2018	(0.3)
Interest rate swaps	
- Effective portion of changes in fair value	1.4
- Amount reclassified to profit or loss in the year	(1.4)
- Tax	0.1
Cashflow hedge - foreign exchange risk - Effective portion of changes in fair value	(0.3)
Cross currency interest rate swaps	
- Effective portion of changes in fair value	(8.6)
- Amount reclassified to profit or loss in the year	8.1
Balance at 28 February 2019	(1.0)

¹Disclosures relate to derivatives in hedge accounting relationships only.

Comparative information under IAS 39

Fair value hedge

The analysis below details the ineffectiveness in the fair value hedge relationships included in the Consolidated Income Statement¹:

2010

	2018
	£m
Fair value gains on interest rate swaps in designated fair value hedges	67.0
Losses on fair value hedge adjustments	(65.9)
Net gains in Consolidated Income Statement (refer to note 7)	1.1

 $^{^{\}rm 1}\,{\rm Disclosures}$ relate to derivatives in hedge accounting relationships only.

Cash flow hedge

Ineffectiveness recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement in respect of cash flow hedges for the 12 months to 28 February 2018 was £nil. Amounts are recycled from the cash flow hedge reserve when the underlying hedge item affects the Consolidated Income Statement. Therefore as the carrying value of the asset or liability is adjusted in respect of movements in the hedged risk, recycled amounts directly offset this adjustment within net interest income. Recycled amounts for the 12 months to 28 February 2018 were £1.4m.

19. Investment Securities

Group	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Investment securities measured at FVOCI - debt	1,040.2	n/a
Investment securities designated at FVOCI - equity	2.5	n/a
Investment securities measured at amortised cost	28.8	n/a
AFS investment securities	n/a	925.4
Loans and receivables	n/a	34.1
Total investment securities	1,071.5	959.5

Debt investment securities measured at FVOCI

Group	2019
	£m
Government backed investment securities	185.5
Gilts	55.1
Supranational investment securities	406.1
Other investment securities	393.5
Total debt securities measured at FVOCI	1,040.2

Included in investment securities are fixed-interest investment securities totalling £472.8m (2018: £801.5m presented within the AFS investment securities table on page 72), and variable-interest investment securities amounting to £567.4m (2018: £121.9m presented within the AFS investment securities table on page 72).

Equity investment securities designated at FVOCI

The Group has elected to designate equity instruments held in VISA Inc. at FVOCI as permitted by IFRS 9. These securities were previously classified as AFS. There has been no change in the measurement basis as a result of this reclassification and these instruments continue to be held at fair value.

The preferred stock may be convertible into Class A Common Stock of VISA Inc. at certain future dates, the earliest point being June 2020. Conversion is contingent upon future events, principally related to the outcome of interchange litigation against VISA Europe Limited. As such, the valuation of £2.5m (2018: £2.0m presented within the AFS investment securities table on page 72) reflects both an illiquidity discount and the risk of a reduction in the conversion rate to VISA Inc. common stock. The reduction in the conversion rate is the most significant unobservable input to the valuation.

19. Investment Securities (continued)

Investment securities measured at amortised cost

	2019 £m
Investment in subordinated debt issued by TU	28.9
Gross investment securities measured at amortised cost	28.9
Less: allowance for impairment (refer note 37)	(0.1)
Net investment securities measured at amortised cost	28.8

The investment in subordinated notes issued by TU relates to subordinated notes with a gross carrying value of £28.9m (2018: £34.1m), classified as loans and receivables in the prior year. Interest receivable on these notes is based on a rate of three month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus a spread ranging from 350 - 450 basis points.

AFS investment securities

Group	2018
	£m
Government backed investment securities	101.1
Gilts	581.5
Supranational investment securities	85.1
Other investment securities	155.7
Equity securities	2.0
Total AFS investment securities	925.4

Loans and receivables

This balance represents the investment in subordinated debt issued by TU of £34.1m which was classified as loans and receivables under IAS 39. Interest receivable on these notes in the year to 28 February 2018 was based on a rate of three month LIBOR plus a spread ranging from 350 - 450 basis points. No impairment charges were recognised in respect of this investment under IAS 39.

20. Prepayments and Accrued Income

	Group		Company	
	2019	2018	2019	2018
	£m	£m		
Prepayments	10.8	10.2	_	_
Accrued income	38.6	39.1	_	_
Amounts accrued from Tesco Personal Finance Plc	_	_	0.8	0.7
Total prepayments and accrued income	49.4	49.3	0.8	0.7

All amounts are classified as current at the year end.

21. Other Assets

	Group		
	2019	2018	
	£m	£m	
		Restated ¹	
Amount due from insurance commissions receivable	16.6	19.6	
Contract asset - insurance renewal income	28.1	14.9	
Accounts receivable and sundry debtors	191.5	236.6	
Amounts due from Tesco Group subsidiaries	0.4	9.5	
Total other assets	236.6	280.6	

All amounts are classified as current at the year end, with the exception of £17.7m (2018: £5.6m) of the contract asset, which is expected to be received after more than one year.

Contract asset - insurance renewal income

Of the prior year contract asset balance, £9.3m has been reclassified in the year as commissions receivable (2018 restated: £3.6m has been reclassified in the prior year relating to the contract asset balance at 28 February 2017) as insurance policies have been renewed and commission due to the Group has become payable. In addition, an amount of £5.6m was unwound on renewal of the contract to which the insurance renewal income relates. Following contract renewal in respect of certain insurance policies, the remainder of the movement in the balance relates to accelerated income of £28.1m in respect of certain insurance renewal commission income where the Group has satisfied all of its performance obligations in relation to the policies sold and it is considered highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of revenue recognised will not occur in future periods.

¹The prior year restatement relates to the adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

22. Investment in Group Undertakings

The company's investment in Group undertakings in the year was as follows:

Name of company	Nature of business	Place of	Ownership interest	Registered address
		incorporation		
Tesco Personal	Banking and general	UK	100%	2 South Gyle
Finance Plc	insurance services			Crescent, Edinburgh,
				EH12 9FQ

The Company's investment in Group undertakings amounted to £1,219.9m (2018: 1,219.9m).

The following companies are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group. These are securitisation structured entities established in connection with the Group's Credit Card securitisation transactions. Although none of the equity of the securitisation structured entities is owned by the Company, the nature of these entities means that the Group has the rights to variable returns from its involvement with these securitisation structured entities and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over them. As such they are effectively controlled by the Group. The Company does not hold any investments in Group undertakings.

		Place of	
Name of company	Nature of business	incorporation	Registered address
Delevere Condettelder Livethad	Cititi	1117	Asticus Building, 2nd floor,
Delamare Cards Holdco Limited	Securitisation entity	UK	21 Palmer Street, London, SW1H 0AD
Delamare Cards MTN Issuer plc	Cocuritication ontity	UK	Asticus Building, 2nd floor,
Defamate Carus With Issuer pic	Securitisation entity	UK	21 Palmer Street, London, SW1H 0AD
Delamare Cards Receivables Trustee Limited	Cocuritication ontity	UK	Asticus Building, 2nd floor,
Defamate Cards Receivables Trustee Limited	Securitisation entity	UK	21 Palmer Street, London, SW1H 0AD
Delamara Carda Funding 1 Limited	Cocuritication antity	LIIZ	Asticus Building, 2nd floor,
Delamare Cards Funding 1 Limited	Securitisation entity	UK	21 Palmer Street, London, SW1H 0AD
Delamara Carda Funding 2 Limited	Cocuritication antity	LIIZ	Asticus Building, 2nd floor,
Delamare Cards Funding 2 Limited Securitisation entity UK		UK	21 Palmer Street, London, SW1H 0AD

All of the above companies have a financial year end of 31 December. The management accounts of these entities are used to consolidate the results to 28 February 2019 within these Consolidated Financial Statements.

23. Investment in Joint Venture

The following table shows the aggregate movement in the Group's investment in its joint venture in the year:

Group	2019	2018
	£m	£m
At beginning of year	90.0	71.0
Acquisition of ordinary share capital	_	15.5
Dividends received	(10.3)	_
Share of profit of joint venture	7.9	10.0
Share of other comprehensive expense of joint venture	(1.2)	(6.5)
At end of year	86.4	90.0

Details of the Group's joint venture

				Ownership interest	
		Nature of	Place of		
Name of company	Registered address	business	Incorporation	2019	2018
Tesco Underwriting	Ageas House, Hampshire	Insurance	England	49.9% of	49.9% of
Limited	Corporate Park, Templars Way,			Ordinary	Ordinary
	Eastleigh, Hampshire, SO53 3YA			Share Capital	Share Capital

TU is an authorised insurance company which provides the insurance underwriting service for a number of the Group's general insurance products. TU is a private company and there is no quoted market price available for its shares.

The Group uses the equity method of accounting for its investment in TU, which has a financial year end of 31 December. The accounting year end date for TU differs from that of the Group as it is in line with the other joint venture partner. The management accounts of TU are used to consolidate the results to 28 February 2019 within these Consolidated Financial Statements.

TU has taken advantage of the optional temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 for entities whose predominant activity is issuing contracts within the scope of IFRS 4 'Insurance Contracts' (the 'deferral approach'). This will remove the impact of potential temporary volatility in reported results for TU until the date of adoption of the new insurance standard IFRS 17 'Insurance Contracts' on 1 January 2021.

The Group has similarly elected to take a temporary exemption available from the requirements of IAS 28 'Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures' regarding the use of uniform accounting policies in equity accounting for a joint venture. This exemption allows the Group to equity account for the results of TU without any adjustments to reflect the impact of IFRS 9 within these Consolidated Financial Statements. The additional disclosures required as a result of taking this temporary exemption are included within the following sections.

23. Investment in Joint Venture (continued)

Summarised financial information for the joint venture

This information reflects the amounts presented in the management accounts of the joint venture (and not the Group's share of those amounts):

Group	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Non-current assets	768.2	876.7
Current assets	198.4	157.5
Current liabilities	(741.1)	(791.1)
Non-current liabilities	(58.0)	(68.3)
Net assets	167.5	174.8
Cash and cash equivalents	72.9	63.3
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions)	(15.0)	(10.7)
Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade and other payables and provisions)	(58.0)	(68.3)
	, ,	, ,
	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Income Statement		
Revenue	297.7	366.6
Expenses including claims costs	(281.9)	(346.6)
Profit for the year	15.8	20.0
Other comprehensive expense	(2.5)	(13.0)
	(=.5)	(2010)
Total comprehensive income	13.3	7.0
The above profit includes the following:		
Depreciation and amortisation	(2.5)	(2.9)
Interest income	13.5	13.9
Interest expense	(2.7)	(2.8)
Income tax charge	(4.2)	(1.6)
	(=/	(=:0)

23. Investment in Joint Venture (continued)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial position

A reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the carrying amount of the investment in joint venture is as follows.

Group	2019 £m	2018 £m
Net assets of the joint venture	167.5	174.8
Group share at 49.9%	83.6	87.2
Capitalised legal costs included in investment carrying value	2.8	2.8
Carrying value of investment in joint venture at end of year	86.4	90.0

Fair value disclosures

The following table provides information on the fair value of TU's financial assets at 28 February 2019:

2019		Change in fair
	Fair value	value during year
	£m	£m
Financial assets that give rise to solely payments of principal and interest	741.4	(72.7)
Other financial assets	18.2	18.2
	759.6	(54.5)

Credit risk disclosures

The following table provides information regarding the credit risk exposures of TU at 28 February 2019 by classifying financial assets according to the credit ratings of counterparties:

2019	AAA	AA	Α	BBB	Other	Total
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Investments	123.8	132.9	276.2	135.5	18.2	686.6
Cash and cash equivalents	25.1	47.8	_	-	_	72.9
Insurance and other receivables	1.1	1.2	3.7	3.6	13.7	23.3
	150.0	181.9	279.9	139.1	31.9	782.8

Other information

The Group has no contingent liabilities or commitments in respect of the joint venture. The investment in the joint venture is classified as non-current.

24. Deferred Income Tax Asset/(Liability)

The deferred income tax liability can be analysed as follows:

2010	Accelerated		
2019	capital allowances	Other	Total
Group	£m	£m	£m
At beginning of year (restated) ¹	(7.0)	(0.7)	(7.7)
Credited to the Consolidated Income Statement in the current year	9.6	(0.3)	9.3
Credited to the Consolidated Income Statement for prior years	(0.2)	0.4	0.2
Credited to equity	_	56.9	56.9
Change in tax rate	(0.7)	(0.1)	(0.8)
At end of year	1.7	56.2	57.9
Deferred tax asset to be recovered within one year			8.0
Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more than one year			50.6
Total deferred income tax asset		_	58.6
		_	
Deferred tax liability to be recovered within one year			-
Deferred tax liability to be recovered after more than one year			(0.7)
Total deferred income tax liability		_	(0.7)
		_	
Deferred tax assets (net)		_	57.9

On a Company basis, deferred tax of £0.3m was credited to equity during the year. The deferred tax asset of £0.3m at 28 February 2019 is to be recovered after more than one year. There was no deferred tax in the prior year.

2010	Accelerated capital		
2018	allowances	Other	Total (restated) ¹
Group	£m	£m	£m
At beginning of year	(15.0)	(3.7)	(18.7)
Credited to the Consolidated Income Statement in the current year	8.5	1.2	9.7
Credited to the Consolidated Income Statement for prior years	0.4	1.1	1.5
Credited to equity	_	0.4	0.4
Change in tax rate	(0.6)	_	(0.6)
At end of year	(6.7)	(1.0)	(7.7)
Deferred tax asset to be recovered within one year			4.3
Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more than one year			2.2
Total deferred income tax asset			6.5
Deferred tax liability to be recovered within one year			(6.0)
Deferred tax liability to be recovered after more than one year			(8.2)
Total deferred income tax liability			(14.2)
Deferred tax liabilities (net)			(7.7)
¹ The prior year restatement relates to the adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Ref	fer to note 2 for further details	i.	

25. Intangible Assets

Constru	Mank in Dunance	Computer	Takal
Group	Work-in-Progress	Software	Total
Cost	£m	£m	£m
At 1 March 2018	27.5	656.7	684.2
Additions	24.8	2.6	27.4
Transfers	(27.1)	27.1	_
Disposals	(0.6)	(1.0)	(1.6)
At 28 February 2019	24.6	685.4	710.0
Accumulated amortisation			
At 1 March 2018	_	(413.1)	(413.1)
Charge for the year	_	(73.5)	(73.5)
Disposals	_	0.8	0.8
At 28 February 2019	_	(485.8)	(485.8)
Net carrying value			
At 28 February 2019	24.6	199.6	224.2
Cost			
At 1 March 2017	34.3	608.3	642.6
Additions	37.3	5.5	42.8
Transfers	(43.8)	43.4	(0.4)
Disposals	(0.3)	(0.5)	(0.8)
At 28 February 2018	27.5	656.7	684.2
Accumulated amortisation			
At 1 March 2017	_	(342.6)	(342.6)
Charge for the year	_	(70.7)	(70.7)
Disposals		0.2	0.2
At 28 February 2018	_	(413.1)	(413.1)
Net carrying value			
At 28 February 2018	27.5	243.6	271.1

Work-in-progress relates primarily to the internal development of IT software assets. Intangible asset balances are non-current.

26. Property, Plant and Equipment

Group	Work-in- Progress £m	Plant and Equipment £m	Fixtures and Fittings £m	Computer Hardware £m	Freehold Buildings £m	Leasehold Improvements £m	Total £m
Cost							
At 1 March 2018	2.8	3.0	16.8	124.7	32.3	24.8	204.4
Additions	2.0	-	1.4	0.5	-	-	3.9
Transfers	(0.1)	_	_	0.1	-	_	-
Disposals	(0.6)	_	_	(1.8)	_	(4.8)	(7.2)
At 28 February 2019	4.1	3.0	18.2	123.5	32.3	20.0	201.1
Accumulated depreciation							
At 1 March 2018	_	(3.0)	(11.0)	(102.0)	(5.7)	(14.7)	(136.4)
Charge for the year	_	_	(1.2)	(6.4)	(0.8)	(1.3)	(9.7)
Disposals	_	-	_	1.8	_	4.8	6.6
At 28 February 2019	_	(3.0)	(12.2)	(106.6)	(6.5)	(11.2)	(139.5)
Net carrying value At 28 February 2019	4.1	_	6.0	16.9	25.8	8.8	61.6
Cost							
At 1 March 2017	5.5	3.0	14.5	128.9	28.2	24.5	204.6
Additions	3.1	_	1.6	1.7	0.4	0.3	7.1
Transfers	(5.8)	_	0.7	1.6	3.9	_	0.4
Disposals	_	_	_	(7.5)	(0.2)	_	(7.7)
At 28 February 2018	2.8	3.0	16.8	124.7	32.3	24.8	204.4
Accumulated depreciation							
At 1 March 2017	_	(3.0)	(9.0)	(101.3)	(4.9)	(13.1)	(131.3)
Charge for the year	_	_	(2.0)	(7.9)	(0.8)	(1.6)	(12.3)
Disposals	_	_	_	7.2	_	_	7.2
At 28 February 2018	_	(3.0)	(11.0)	(102.0)	(5.7)	(14.7)	(136.4)
Net carrying value At 28 February 2018	2.8	_	5.8	22.7	26.6	10.1	68.0

Work-in-progress at 28 February 2019 relates predominantly to the development of IT assets. Property, plant and equipment balances are non-current.

27. Deposits from Banks

Group	2019	2018
	£m	£m
	4.660.0	4 500 0
Deposits from banks	1,663.2	1,539.0
	1,663.2	1,539.0
Current	324.2	200.0
Non-current	1,339.0	1,339.0

Deposits from banks include balances of £324.2m (2018: £200.0m) which have been sold under sale and repurchase agreements and balances of £1,339.0m (2018: £1,339.0m) drawn under the BoE's Term Funding Scheme (TFS).

28. Deposits from Customers

Group	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Retail deposits	10,465.4	9,245.6
Fair value hedge adjustment	(0.2)	(1.0)
	10,465.2	9,244.6
		·
Current	8,508.7	7,611.2
Non-current	1,956.5	1,633.4

Fair value hedge adjustments

Fair value hedge adjustments amounting to $\pounds(0.2)m$ (2018: $(\pounds1.0)m$) are in respect of fixed rate Savings products. These adjustments are largely offset by derivatives, which are used to manage interest rate risk and are designated as fair value hedges within deposits from customers.

29. Debt Securities in Issue

Group	Interest rate	Par value £m	Term (years)	Maturity date	2019 £m	2018 £m
Fixed rate retail bond ¹	5.2%	125.0	7.5	2018	_	126.1
RPI bond ²	1.0%	72.3	8	2019	72.3	69.9
Fixed rate retail bond ³	5.0%	200.0	8.5	2020	202.9	203.9
Floating rate AAA bond (A2) ⁴	1M LIBOR + 0.65%	350.0	7	2021	349.9	349.6
Floating rate AAA bond (A1) ⁵	1M LIBOR + 0.65%	300.0	5	2020	-	299.9
Floating rate AAA bond (A1) ⁶	1M LIBOR + 0.53%	300.0	5	2022	298.7	298.2
Floating rate AAA Bond (A1) ⁷	1M USD LIBOR + 0.70%	272.2	7	2020	261.7	-
Total debt securities in issue				-	1,185.5	1,347.6

¹This bond was issued on 24 February 2011 and was redeemed on its maturity date in August 2019.

All Floating Rate Bonds were issued by Delamare Cards MTN Issuer plc and are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange. All retail bonds are listed on the London Stock Exchange. All balances are classified as non-current at the year end with the exception of £350.0m of the floating rate AAA bond, which is expected to be redeemed on its scheduled redemption date in May 2019 and the RPI bond issued in December 2011 (£72.3m), which is expected to be redeemed on its scheduled redemption date in December 2019.

In the prior year, all balances were classified as non-current at the year end with the exception of £300.0m of the floating rate AAA bond, which was redeemed on its scheduled redemption date in April 2018 and the fixed rate retail bond issued in February 2011 (£125.0m), which was redeemed on its scheduled redemption date in August 2018.

²This bond was issued on 16 December 2011.

³This bond was issued on 21 May 2012.

 $^{^4}$ This Bond was issued on 6 June 2014. The scheduled redemption date of this Bond is May 2019.

⁵This Bond was issued on 13 May 2015 and redeemed on its scheduled redemption date in April 2018.

⁶This Bond was issued on 7 November 2017. The scheduled redemption date of this Bond is October 2020.

⁷This Bond was issued on 27 November 2018. The scheduled redemption date of this Bond is November 2020.

30. Provisions for Liabilities and Charges

	Customer	Dogulaton.	Do otuvi otvivi o o	Francisco de Cue dit	Other	
_	Redress	Regulatory		Expected Credit	Other	
Group	Provision	Provision	Provision		Provisions	Total
2019	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
At beginning of year						
(restated) ¹	67.7	_	1.1	_	7.2	76.0
Impact of initial application						
of IFRS 9	_	_	_	9.3	_	9.3
Balance at beginning of						
year after adopting IFRS 9	67.7	_	1.1	9.3	7.2	85.3
Provided during the year	16.0	16.4	_	_	10.5	42.9
Utilised during the year	(49.0)	(16.4)	(1.1)	_	(4.7)	(71.2)
Transfer to loans and						
advances ECL allowance	_	_	_	(0.8)	_	(0.8)
Released during the year	_	_	_	_	(1.2)	(1.2)
At end of year	34.7	-	-	8.5	11.8	55.0

Customer redress provision - Payment protection insurance (PPI)

Of the total customer redress provision balance at 28 February 2019, £34.2m (2018: £66.8m) has been provided for customer redress in respect of potential customer complaints arising from historic sales of PPI.

In March 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) issued a Policy Statement (PS17/3, 'Payment protection insurance complaints: feedback on CP16/20 and final rules and guidance') which confirmed a deadline for PPI claims of August 2019, supported by an FCA led communications campaign.

The policy statement also set out rules and guidance on the handling of PPI claims in light of the Supreme Court's decision in Plevin v Paragon Personal Finance Limited (Plevin), confirming that both up-front commission arrangements and profit share arrangements should also be considered in the calculation of total commission for Plevin claims.

The Group increased its PPI provision by £16.0m (2018: £35.0m) during the year to reflect an updated assessment of the current claim rate and average redress.

Although a significant degree of uncertainty remains with regard to the ultimate cost of settling PPI claims, in particular the volume of complaints arising from customers ahead of the FCA confirmed time bar date of August 2019 and bankruptcy claims, the provision balance represents Management's best estimate at the reporting date of that cost. The PPI provision and the impact of regulatory changes will continue to be monitored as trends in claims volumes and levels of redress develop.

The table below details for each key assumption, actual data to 28 February 2019, forecast assumptions used in assessing the PPI provision adequacy and a sensitivity assessment demonstrating the impact on the provision of a variation in the future experience.

			Sensitivity		
	Cumulative	Future	Change in	Consequential	
Assumption	actual	expected	assumption	change in provision	
				£m	
Valid claims settled	146,351	17,108	+/- 5,000 complaints	+/- 8.2	
Average redress per valid claim	£1,730	£1,642	+/- £100	+/- 1.7	

¹The prior year restatement relates to the adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

30. Provisions for Liabilities and Charges (continued)

Customer redress provision - Consumer credit act (CCA)

The Group holds a provision of £0.5m (2018: £0.9m) in respect of customer redress relating to instances where certain requirements of the CCA for post-contract documentation were not fully complied with.

In arriving at the provision required, the Group has considered the legal and regulatory position with respect to these matters and has sought legal advice which it took into account when making its judgement. The provision represents Management's best estimate at the reporting date of the cost of concluding the redress programme for Loan and Credit Card customers, and in making the estimate Management has exercised judgement as to both the timescale for completing the redress campaign and the final scope of any amounts payable.

Insurance provision

The insurance provision previously disclosed within this note has been reclassified to other liabilities on adoption of IFRS 15. Refer to note 2 for further details.

Regulatory provision

In November 2016, Tesco Bank's debit cards were the subject of an online fraudulent attack. The Group undertook immediate remedial action and an independent review of the issue and worked closely with the authorities and regulators on this incident. On 1 October 2018, the FCA issued a warning notice to the Group in relation to the incident and the Group accepted this and agreed to a settlement payment of £16.4m. The regulatory provision recognised during the year in respect of this settlement was fully utilised during the year ended 28 February 2019.

Restructuring provision

The restructuring provision relates to restructuring costs. The restructuring provision was reduced to £nil during the period following finalisation of the Group's early exit from its premises in Central Edinburgh.

Expected credit loss (ECL) provision

The ECL provision represents the amount of ECL allowance recognised under IFRS 9 which exceeds the gross carrying amount of the financial asset as set out at note 16.

Other provisions

Other provisions predominantly reflect:

- a dilapidations provision related to the anticipated costs of restoring leased assets to their original condition.
 Management expects that the provision will be utilised at the end of the lease terms, the longest of which is due to end in 2029;
- a warranty provision in respect of debt sales. This represents post-determination date customer receipts payable to debt purchasers and provision for any accounts which may need to be bought back under the terms of the debt sale agreements. This balance is classified as current at the year end; and
- a provision in respect of the potential cost of refunding fees to customers. This balance is classified as current at the year end.

31. Accruals and Deferred Income

Group		Company	
2019	2018	2019	2018
£m	£m	£m	£m
11.7	11.6	_	_
0.8	0.7	0.8	0.7
86.9	87.5	_	_
8.6	9.2	_	_
108.0	109.0	0.8	0.7
	2019 £m 11.7 0.8 86.9 8.6	2019 2018 £m £m 11.7 11.6 0.8 0.7 86.9 87.5 8.6 9.2	2019 2018 2019 £m £m £m 11.7 11.6 - 0.8 0.7 0.8 86.9 87.5 - 8.6 9.2 -

All amounts are classified as current at the year end.

32. Other Liabilities

	2019	2018
Group	£m	£m
		Restated ¹
Accounts payable and sundry creditors	118.0	117.9
Insurance creditor	12.8	10.8
Taxation and social security payable	6.3	6.8
Contract liabilities - insurance refunds ¹	2.0	3.4
Amounts owed to Tesco Group subsidiaries	11.2	8.0
Amounts due to TPFG subsidiaries	0.9	0.8
Total other liabilities	151.2	147.7

¹The prior year restatement relates to the adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

All amounts are classified as current at the year end.

Contract liabilities – insurance refunds

The contract liability for insurance refunds has been reclassified from provisions for liabilities and charges on adoption of IFRS 15. Revenue recognised in the period in respect of the opening contract liability balance was £0.1m (2018 restated: £0.1m).

33. Subordinated Liabilities and Notes

Group and Company	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Floating rate subordinated loans maturing 2030	190.0	190.0
Undated floating rate notes	45.0	45.0
Total subordinated liabilities and notes	235.0	235.0

Subordinated liabilities and notes comprise loan capital issued to Tesco. This includes £190.0m (2018: £190.0m) of subordinated loans maturing in 2030 and £45.0m (2018: £45.0m) of undated notes with no fixed maturity date. All balances are classified as non-current at the year end.

Interest payable on the subordinated liabilities and notes is based on three month LIBOR plus a spread ranging from 60 to 220 basis points (2018: three month LIBOR plus a spread ranging from 60 to 220 basis points).

34. Share Capital and Share Premium Account

Group and Company	2019	2019	2018	2018
	Number	£m	Number	£m
Authorised				
A Ordinary shares of 10p each	Unlimited		Unlimited	
B Ordinary shares of 10p each	Unlimited		Unlimited	
C Ordinary shares of 10p each	1		1	
Allotted, called up and fully paid				
A Ordinary shares of 10p each	991,090,000	99.1	991,090,000	99.1
B Ordinary shares of 10p each	229,089,000	22.9	229,089,000	22.9
C Ordinary shares of 10p each	1	_	1	_
	1,220,179,001	122.0	1,220,179,001	122.0
				_
		2019		2018
		£m		£m
Share premium reserve	_	1,098.2	_	1,098.2
		1,098.2	_	1,098.2

35. Other Reserves

Group

	2019	2018
	£m	£m
AFS - company	n/a	9.3
AFS - share of joint venture	2.5	3.7
Fair value reserve	2.1	n/a
Total AFS/FV reserves	4.6	13.0
Cash flow hedge reserve	(1.0)	(0.3)
Currency basis reserve	(0.3)	_
Share based payment reserve	24.1	31.5
Total reserves	27.4	44.2

AFS reserve

Before 1 March 2018, the AFS reserve included the cumulative fair value movements on AFS financial assets. These were transferred to the fair value reserve on transition to IFRS 9.

The consolidated AFS reserve also includes the Group's share of the AFS reserve of its joint venture, TU. As described in note 23, TU has taken an exemption to defer the adoption of IFRS 9 until the financial year beginning on 1 January 2021.

Fair value reserve

From 1 March 2018, the cumulative net change in the fair value of investment securities measured at FVOCI is included in the fair value reserve, less the impairment allowance recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Cash flow hedge reserve

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are included in the cash flow hedge reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Currency basis reserve

Cash flow hedge accounting allows all fair value movements on the hedging instrument (the derivative) to be charged or credited to the cash flow hedge reserve in respect of the designated risk. The non-designated portion of the hedging instrument, being the element related to the foreign currency basis, is recognised separately in the currency basis reserve.

Share based payment reserve

The fair value of Tesco equity-settled share options granted to employees of the Group is included in the share based payment reserve.

36. Employee Benefit Liability

Defined benefit plans

The Group made contributions in the year to a closed funded defined benefit scheme operated by TSL. The principal pension plan is the Tesco pension scheme, a funded defined benefit pension scheme in the UK, the assets of which are held as a segregated fund and administered by the Trustee. TSL has recognised the appropriate net liability of the Tesco pension scheme in accordance with IAS 19.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution scheme operated by TSL is open to all Group employees in the UK.

Detailed disclosures, in line with the requirements of IAS 19, are included in the Tesco 2019 Financial Statements.

37. Risk Management

There are no differences in the manner in which risks are managed and measured between the Group and the Company. Therefore, the explanations of the management, the control responsibilities and the measurement of risk described in this section are those for the Group. The amounts included in this note are those for the Group unless otherwise stated.

Through its normal operations, the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are credit risk, operational risk, liquidity and funding risk, market risk, insurance risk, residual price risk and legal and regulatory compliance risk. The key risk management processes and tools are described in detail on pages 7 to 18 within the Strategic Report.

(a) Credit Risk

• Types of credit risk

Retail credit risk

Retail credit risk is the risk that a borrower, who is a personal customer, will default on a debt or obligation by failing to make contractually obligated payments. Regular management reports are submitted to the Board and appropriate Committees.

Controls and risk mitigants

To minimise the potential for the Group to be exposed to levels of bad debt that are outside Risk Appetite, an infrastructure of processes and systems has been established that cover the end to end retail credit risk customer life cycle, the key components of which are outlined below:

Credit scoring: The quality of new lending is tightly controlled using appropriate credit scoring and associated rules. Judgemental analysis is used for more complex cases.

Affordability: The Group aims to be a responsible lender and accordingly employs affordability models, including minimum free income thresholds based on customers' income and outgoings, to confirm that they have the ability to repay the advances they are seeking.

Valuations: Independent property valuations are undertaken at Mortgage inception. The Group's Mortgage assets are revalued quarterly using a regional house price valuation index model.

Credit policies and guides: A suite of retail credit risk policies and supporting guides are maintained by the Credit Risk function. These policies define the minimum requirements for the management of credit activities across the credit life cycle. The guides also comprise specific product and customer related thresholds that in turn seek to ensure that the Group is operating within agreed retail credit Risk Appetite parameters.

37. Risk Management (continued)

Controls and risk mitigants (continued)

Monitoring and reporting: Management information is produced covering all lending portfolios which is tailored to meet the requirements of different audiences within the overall governance framework. Risk Appetite Measures (RAMs) with supporting limits and tolerances allow the Group to track performance against Risk Appetite and identify any emerging trends that could act as an early warning that performance could move outside approved Risk Appetite thresholds, thereby allowing mitigating actions to be taken to address such trends.

Wholesale credit risk

Wholesale credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a transaction will default before the final settlement of the transaction's cash flows. Such transactions relate to contracts for derivative financial instruments, securities financing transactions (SFTs) and long-dated settlement transactions.

The Group does not operate in the mainstream commercial or corporate lending market. However, the Group is exposed to wholesale credit risk primarily through Treasury activities, as a result of cash management, liquidity and market risk management, with the inherent risk that these counterparties could fail to meet their obligations.

Controls and risk mitigants

Daily monitoring of exposures is undertaken, with oversight from the Market and Liquidity Risk (MLR) team. Monthly reporting of RAMs is provided to the Executive Risk Committee (ERC). Escalation processes are in place for the reporting of any breached limits directly to the ERC.

The RAM limits are set out in the Wholesale Credit Risk policy which is approved by the ERC. The limits contained in the policy are approved by the ERC or Board as appropriate. The Treasury Director is responsible for ensuring that Treasury complies with counterparty credit risk limits. The MLR team reports to the Financial and Credit Risk Director, providing independent oversight that these limits are adhered to.

The Group's approach to investing funds focuses on counterparties with strong capacity to meet financial commitments and requires approved counterparties to have investment grade ratings. Counterparty types include financial institutions, sovereigns and supranationals, with approved instrument types including cash, certificates of deposit, bonds, treasury bills, gilts, repurchase agreements and interest rate and foreign exchange derivatives. Ratings issued by external credit assessment institutions are taken into account as part of the process to set limits.

The Wholesale Credit Risk Limit framework sets limits on the amounts that can be invested based on counterparty credit-worthiness by country, instrument type and remaining tenor. As part of the credit assessment process for wholesale credit risk exposures, the Group uses the external credit ratings issued by Fitch (as the nominated external credit assessment institution) to help determine the appropriate risk-weighting to apply under the Standardised Approach (SA) to credit risk exposures. The Group has a Wholesale Credit Risk Forum where current ratings and exposures are discussed on a monthly basis by colleagues from Treasury and the MLR team. Counterparty credit reviews and proposals for new limits are also discussed at the Wholesale Credit Risk Forum as well as current market events and their possible impact on the Group. The limit framework is set by the Board and any exceptions or overrides to the policy must follow agreed delegated authorities that require, as a minimum, explicit sign-off by the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Risk Officer (CRO).

The Wholesale Credit Risk policy also provides that credit risk mitigation techniques are applied to reduce wholesale credit risk exposures. International Swaps Derivatives Association (ISDA) master agreements are in place with all derivative counterparties, Global Master Repurchase Agreements are in place for all repurchase counterparties and ISDA Credit Support Annexes have been executed with all of the Group's derivative counterparties. The Group uses central counterparties in order to clear specified derivative transactions (predominantly interest rate swaps) thereby mitigating counterparty risk. Positions are continuously marked-to-market and margin in the form of collateral is exchanged on at least a daily basis. As at 28 February 2019, no additional credit risk mitigation was deemed necessary.

37. Risk Management (continued)

Credit risk: ECL measurement

Approach from 1 March 2018

The Group assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the ECLs associated with its financial assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI, and with the exposure arising from loan commitments. The Group has not recognised an ECL allowance for cash or other financial assets balances at 28 February 2019 due to the short-term nature of these balances, the frequency of origination and settlement of balances and taking account of collateral held.

ECLs are calculated in line with the requirements of IFRS 9 using the three stage model for impairment:

- Stage 1 Financial asset is not credit impaired and has not had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
- Stage 2 Financial asset is not credit impaired but has had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
- Stage 3 Financial asset is credit impaired

The measurement of ECLs is dependent on the classification stage of the financial asset. For financial assets in Stage 1, loss allowances are calculated based on ECLs arising from default events that are possible within 12 months from the reporting date. For financial assets in Stages 2 and 3, loss allowances are calculated based on lifetime ECLs.

The measurement of ECLs for financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behaviour. A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECLs.

The sections below provide further explanations of the factors taken into account in the measurement of ECLs.

Significant increase in credit risk

At each reporting date, the change in credit risk of the financial asset is observed using a set of quantitative and qualitative criteria, together with a backstop based on arrears status.

Quantitative criteria:

For each financial asset, the Group compares the lifetime PD at the reporting date with the lifetime PD that was expected at the reporting date at initial recognition (PD thresholds). The Group has established PD thresholds for each type of product which vary depending on initial term and term remaining.

Qualitative criteria:

A number of qualitative criteria are in place such as:

- Forbearance offered to customers in financial difficulty;
- Risk-based pricing post-origination;
- Credit indebtedness;
- Credit limit decrease; and
- Pre-delinquency information.

Backstop

As a backstop, the Group considers that if an account's contractual payments are more than 30 days past due then a significant increase in credit risk has taken place.

The Group has used the low credit risk exemption in respect of its portfolio of investment securities in the year ended 28 February 2019 and, on a Company basis, its loans and advances to subsidiary companies.

Definition of default

An account is deemed to have defaulted when the Group considers that a customer is in significant financial difficulty and that the customer meets certain quantitative and qualitative criteria regarding their ability to make contractual payments when due.

37. Risk Management (continued)

This includes instances where:

- the customer makes a declaration of significant financial difficulty;
- the customer or third party agency communicates that it is probable that the customer will enter bankruptcy
 or another form of financial restructure such as insolvency or repossession;
- the account has been transferred to recoveries and the relationship is terminated;
- an account's contractual payments are more than 90 days past due; or
- where the customer is deceased.

An account is considered to no longer be in default when it no longer meets any of the default criteria and has remained up-to-date on its contractual payments for a period of at least three months.

Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment

The ECL is determined by multiplying together the PD, exposure at default (EAD) and LGD for the relevant time period and for each collective segment and by discounting back to the balance sheet date. Each of these inputs is explained further below.

Probability of default: Represents the likelihood a customer will default over the relevant period, being either 12 months or the expected lifetime.

Exposure at default: Represents the expected amount due from the customer at the point of default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to the counterparty and future changes to that exposure to the point of default.

Loss given default: Represents the Group's expectation of the extent of the loss if there is a default. The LGD assumes that once an account has defaulted, the portion of the defaulted balance will be recovered over a maximum period of 60 months from the point of default. LGD models take into account, when relevant, the valuation of collateral, collection strategies and receipts from contracted debt sales.

These inputs are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as described below.

Expected lifetime

The expected lifetime of a financial asset is the contractual term. In the case of revolving products, the Group measures credit losses over the period that it will be exposed to credit risk. This is estimated using historic customer data. The current expected lifetime of the Group's credit card portfolio is 7 years.

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The ECL calculation and the measurement of significant deterioration in credit risk both incorporate forward-looking information using a range of macro-economic scenarios. The key economic variables are based on historical patterns observed over a range of economic cycles.

The Group has engaged a third party supplier to provide relevant economic data for this purpose which, prior to incorporation into the ECL calculation, is subject to internal review and challenge with reference to other publicly available market data and benchmarks. From this data, a base case scenario has been developed, together with two additional scenarios, each of which have been assigned a relative probability. The base case represents an estimate of the most-likely outcome whilst the other scenarios represent more optimistic (upside) and more pessimistic (downside) outcomes. The downside scenario represents, at the reporting date, the Group's view of the economy if the UK exits the EU without both a withdrawal agreement and framework for a future relationship with the EU. These have been assigned weightings of 40%, 25% and 35% respectively which is considered to be appropriate for the calculation of unbiased ECLs.

37. Risk Management (continued)

The economic scenarios used at 28 February 2019 include the following ranges of key indicators:

		2019	2020	2021-23
BoE base rate ¹	Base	0.80%	0.91%	1.06%
	Upside	0.73%	0.69%	0.70%
	Downside	1.20%	2.31%	2.25%
Unemployment rate ¹	Base	4.11%	4.18%	4.08%
	Upside	4.03%	4.13%	4.03%
	Downside	4.55%	5.36%	6.33%
House price index ²	Base	3.70%	3.31%	3.98%
	Upside	5.04%	4.63%	5.72%
	Downside	-0.90%	-3.37%	2.92%
Gross domestic product ²	Base	1.25%	1.58%	1.78%
	Upside	1.62%	1.96%	2.18%
	Downside	-0.17%	0.15%	1.62%

¹ Simple average

² Annual growth rates

37. Risk Management (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL calculation are as follows:

- PD;
- LGD;
- Macro-economic scenarios;
- PD threshold (staging); and
- Expected lifetime of revolving credit facilities

Set out below are changes in the ECL allowance that would arise from reasonably possible changes in these assumptions from those used in the Group's calculations at 28 February 2019:

		Impact on loss allowance
		(£m)
PD	Increase of 2.5%	9.4
	Decrease of 2.5%	(9.4)
LGD	Increase of 2.5%	12.0
	Decrease of 2.5%	(12.2)
Macro-economic scenarios (100% weighted)	Upside scenario	(32.9)
	Base scenario	(20.9)
	Downside scenario	67.1
Staging	Increase of 20%	(14.3)
	Decrease of 20%	10.4
Expected lifetime	Increase of 1 year	3.1
	Decrease of 1 year	(3.0)

Grouping of instruments for losses measured on a collective basis

For ECL provisions modelled on a collective basis, a grouping of exposures is performed on the basis of shared credit risk characteristics that include instrument type and credit risk gradings. The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that these remain appropriate.

Approach prior to 1 March 2018

The Group established impairment provisions to recognise incurred impairment losses in its portfolio of customer loans classified as loans and receivables and carried at amortised cost. A loan was impaired when there was objective evidence that events since the loan was granted had affected expected cash flows from the loan. The impairment loss was the difference between the carrying value of the loan and the present value of estimated future cash flows at the loan's original EIR.

The Group's loan impairment provisions were established on a portfolio basis using a statistical methodology taking into account the level of arrears, collateral, past loss experience and defaults based on portfolio trends. The most significant factors in establishing these provisions were the expected loss rates. These portfolios included Mortgages, Credit Card receivables, Personal Loans and Personal Current Accounts. The future credit quality of these portfolios was subject to estimation uncertainties that could have caused actual credit losses to differ materially from reported loan impairment provisions.

37. Risk Management (continued)

The key assumptions used in the statistical models were the PD; the expected cash recoveries included in the LGD; and the loss emergence period. These key assumptions were monitored throughout the year to ensure the impairment provision took into account the most recent trends observed in each portfolio.

Individual impairment losses on secured Mortgages were estimated using an individual valuation of the underlying asset. Although the portfolio was growing, sensitivity to movement in the House Price Index remained relatively low.

• Credit risk: Credit risk exposure

Maximum exposure to credit risk

The table below represents the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk, by IFRS 9 stages at the reporting date, in respect of financial assets held.

For financial assets, the balances are based on gross carrying amounts as reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. For loan commitments, the amounts in the table represent the amounts for which the Group is contractually committed.

	2019			
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
Group	£m	£m	£m	£m
Gross Exposure				
Loans and advances to customers	11,463.6	1,179.1	270.9	12,913.6
Investment securities at FVOCI	1,042.7	_	_	1,042.7
Investment securities at amortised cost	28.9	_	_	28.9
Loan commitments ¹	12,115.1	109.6	1.5	12,226.2
Total gross exposure	24,650.3	1,288.7	272.4	26,211.4
Loss allowance				
Loans and advances to customers	84.6	228.7	171.9	485.2
Investment securities at FVOCI ²	0.2	_	_	0.2
Investment securities at amortised cost	0.1	_	_	0.1
Total loss allowance	84.9	228.7	171.9	485.5

On a Company basis, loans and advances to subsidiary companies of £235.0m are considered to be low risk and stage 1. The related loss allowance of £1.3m is also considered to be stage 1.

¹The loss allowance in respect of loan commitments is included within the total loss allowance for loans and advances to customers as above to the extent that it is below the gross carrying amount of loans and advances to customers. Where the loss allowance exceeds the gross carrying amount, any excess is included within provisions as set out at note 30.

²The loss allowance for investment securities at FVOCI is not recognised in the carrying amount of investment securities as the carrying amount is their fair value.

37. Risk Management (continued)

The table below provides details of the credit quality of financial assets held at FVPL which are not subject to impairment.

Group	Maximum exposure to credit risk
	£m
Derivative financial assets	31.3
Cash and balances with central banks	30.5
Total	61.8

Credit quality of loans and advances to customers

The table below provides details of the credit quality of loans and advances to customers and loan commitments for which an ECL allowance is recognised.

The Group defines four classifications of credit quality for all credit exposures; High, Satisfactory, Low and below standard, and Credit impaired. Credit exposures are segmented according to IFRS 9 12 month PD, with credit impaired reflecting a PD of 100%.

IFRS 9
12 Month PD (%)
High quality <=3.02%
Satisfactory quality >3.03% - 11.10%
Low quality and below standard => 11.11%

Group	2019					
	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total		
	£m	£m	£m	£m		
Loans and advances to customers						
High quality	10,537.8	201.6	_	10,739.4		
Satisfactory quality	893.8	563.1	_	1,456.9		
Low quality and below standard	32.0	414.4	_	446.4		
Credit impaired	_	_	270.9	270.9		
Total	11,463.6	1,179.1	270.9	12,913.6		
Loan Commitments						
High quality	11,938.1	3.4	_	11,941.5		
Satisfactory quality	173.9	78.1	_	252.0		
Low quality and below standard	3.1	28.1	_	31.2		
Credit impaired	_	_	1.5	1.5		
Total	12,115.1	109.6	1.5	12,226.2		
Total exposure	23,578.7	1,288.7	272.4	25,139.8		

On a Company basis, loans and advances to subsidiary companies of £235.0m are considered to be low risk, high quality and stage 1.

37. Risk Management (continued)

Concentration risk

Concentration risk is the risk of losses arising as a result of concentrations of exposures to a specific counterparty, economic sector, segment or geographical region.

The Group is potentially exposed to this risk were it to become concentrated in certain geographic areas or product profiles e.g. a disproportionate level of high loan-to-value (LTV) Mortgages. Such concentrations could produce unacceptable bad debts in some adverse but plausible situations.

Controls and risk mitigants

The Group mitigates these potential concentration risks by establishing appropriate limits and trigger thresholds that are regularly monitored and reported to the appropriate Senior Management team and risk committees. The Group does not consider itself to be overly concentrated.

Concentration profiles

The following tables provide concentration profiles in terms of the LTV profile for the Mortgage portfolio; geographic distribution of the Group's exposures; and analysis of material asset class by industry type.

Mortgage portfolio - LTV distribution profile

Loans are originated on an income verified basis over a range of fixed rate and tracker products. All loans are repaid on a capital and interest basis, where the loan is repaid over the agreed term of the loan.

The table below provides the LTV distribution profile for the Group's Mortgage portfolio by weighted average balance. The overall average LTV for the portfolio is 53.7% (2018: 50.5%) which is well within agreed Risk Appetite parameters.

	2019 £m	2018 £m
Less than 50%	1,062.8	927.8
50% to 60%	495.0	561.6
60% to 70%	479.1	436.8
70% to 80%	741.2	478.4
80% to 90%	688.5	418.8
90% to 100%	281.0	176.4
Greater than 100%	5.6	0.9
Total ¹	3,753.2	3,000.7

¹ The Mortgage balance above represents the credit risk inherent in the Mortgage products and excludes accrued interest or fair value adjustments.

Geographical distribution profile

The Group is primarily focused on providing financial services and products to UK personal customers.

The table below provides the geographical distribution of the Group's total credit risk exposures. For on balance sheet assets, the balances set out below are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

	2019	2018
	£m	£m
UK	26,790.7	26,262.4
Europe (excluding UK)	333.2	205.1
Other	264.0	44.8
Total	27,387.9	26,512.3

37. Risk Management (continued)

Industry type profile

The table below represents the distribution of exposures by industry type. The Group is primarily focused on providing financial services and products to personal customers in the UK, although it also has exposure to wholesale counterparties as detailed below. For on balance sheet assets, the balances set out below are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Financial institutions	1,750.7	983.3
Government	958.9	1,524.2
Individuals	24,661.6	23,955.0
Wholesale and retail trade	16.7	49.8
Total	27,387.9	26,512.3

• Credit risk: Collateral held

The Group is exposed to potential bad debts as a result of Mortgage lending, with the inherent risk that customers default on their obligations.

Controls and risk mitigants

To mitigate this risk, all Mortgages are secured by a first charge over the property being purchased or re-mortgaged, to safeguard the Group's assets in the event of default by a customer. No second charges are permitted. Valuation of the property is assessed as part of the application process by a RICS (the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors) certified valuer from the Group's approved panel of valuers for a new Mortgage and when a customer decides to re-mortgage or request additional borrowing with the Group and the LTV is 70% or greater. Where the LTV for new re-mortgage customers is less than 70% and additional criteria are met, valuation of the property is undertaken by an automated valuation model, as are all valuations for existing re-mortgage customers, provided additional criteria are met.

The Group revalues its collateral on a quarterly basis using a regional house price valuation index. It is normal practice not to obtain additional third party revaluation of collateral unless further lending is being considered or the property has been repossessed.

The table below details the value of property collateral held against the Group's Mortgage portfolio.

	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Exposure ¹	3,753.2	3,000.7
Collateral	6,984.0	5,940.1
Cover	186.1%	198.0%

¹ The Mortgage balance above represents the credit risk inherent in the Mortgage products and excludes accrued interest and fair value adjustments.

During the year there was no change in the Group's collateral policies.

During the year the Group received financial instruments as collateral for reverse repurchase agreements. In addition, the Group pledged collateral in respect of repurchase liabilities.

37. Risk Management (continued)

Credit risk: Loss allowance

The following table provides a reconciliation of the movements in the loss allowance in the year:

	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
Group	£m	£m	£m	£m
Loans and advances to customers				
At 1 March 2018	94.9	210.9	151.1	456.9
Transfers ^{1,3}				
Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2	(11.1)	11.1	_	_
Transfers from stage 2 to stage 1	46.3	(46.3)	-	_
Transfers to stage 3	(2.9)	(41.0)	43.9	_
Transfers from stage 3	1.5	1.5	(3.0)	_
Income statement charge				
Net remeasurement ² following transfer of stage ³	(25.5)	18.8	89.7	83.0
New financial assets originated ⁴	27.6	35.6	11.4	74.6
Changes in risk parameters and other				
movements ^{3,5}	(45.7)	40.3	36.2	30.8
Other movements				
Write-offs and asset disposals ⁶	(2.3)	(1.2)	(157.4)	(160.9)
Transfer from provisions for liabilities and				
charges ⁷	1.8	(1.0)	-	0.8
At 28 February 2019	84.6	228.7	171.9	485.2
Investment securities at FVOCI				
At 1 March 2018	(0.5)	-	-	(0.5)
Income statement charge				
New financial assets purchased ⁴	0.1	-	-	0.1
- Financial assets derecognised during the period	0.4	-	-	0.4
- Changes in risk parameters and other				
movements ⁵	0.2	-	-	0.2
At 28 February 2019	0.2	-	-	0.2
Investment securities at amortised cost				
At 1 March 2018	0.2	-	-	0.2
Income statement release				
Changes in risk parameters and other movements ⁵	(0.1)	-	-	(0.1)
At 28 February 2019	0.1	-	-	0.1
Reconciliation to income statement		·		
Net expected credit loss (release)/charge	(43.0)	94.7	137.3	189.0
Recoveries and write offs			(24.9)	(24.9)
Total income statement (release)/charge	(43.0)	94.7	112.4	164.1
On a Company basis, the movement in the loss allo	wance for the ve	ar ended 28 Febru	jary 2019 of £0.2	m relating to

On a Company basis, the movement in the loss allowance for the year ended 28 February 2019 of £0.2m relating to loans and advances to subsidiary companies arises entirely due to changes in risk parameters and other movements⁵ and is considered to be stage 1.

¹Transfers - The opening loss allowance on financial assets which transferred stage during the year.

²Net remeasurement - The increase/(decrease) in the opening loss allowance as a result of a stage transfer.

³Includes a release in stages 1 and 2 ECL of £21.0m due to a change in the macro-economic scenarios assumptions.

⁴New financial assets originated or purchased - The loss allowance on new financial assets originated or purchased during the year, representing their stage as at 28 February 2019.

⁵Changes in risk parameters and other movements - The change in loss allowance due to changes in macro-economic scenarios, PD, LGD and EAD during the year.

⁶Write-offs and asset disposals - The release of the loss allowance following the write off and/or disposal of a financial asset during the year.

⁷Transfer from provisions for liabilities and charges - The movement in loss allowance which exceeds the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

37. Risk Management (continued)

The following table provides a reconciliation of the movements in the gross carrying amounts of financial instruments to help explain their significance to the changes in the loss allowance during the year as set out in the above table:

2019	Stage 1	Stage 2	Stage 3	Total
Group	£m	£m	£m	£m
Loans and advances to customers				
Gross carrying amount				
At 1 March 2018 ¹	10,619.1	932.2	230.4	11,781.7
Transfers ²				
Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2	(592.6)	592.6	-	-
Transfers from stage 2 to stage 1	411.5	(411.5)	-	-
Transfers to stage 3	(113.1)	(131.7)	244.8	-
Transfers from stage 3	4.7	4.0	(8.7)	-
New financial assets originated ³	3,704.4	237.8	17.2	3,959.4
Net decrease in lending ⁴	(2,545.4)	(39.4)	(2.7)	(2,587.5)
Write-offs and asset disposals ⁵	(33.6)	(5.1)	(211.7)	(250.4)
Changes in interest accrual and other				
movements	8.6	0.2	1.6	10.4
At 28 February 2019	11,463.6	1,179.1	270.9	12,913.6
Investment securities at FVOCI				
Gross carrying amount				
At 1 March 2018	925.4			925.4
		_	_	
New financial assets purchased	713.0	_	_	713.0
Financial assets derecognised during the period	(582.1)	_	-	(582.1)
Other movements	(13.6)	_	-	(13.6)
At 28 February 2019	1,042.7		_	1,042.7
	,-			
Investment securities at amortised cost				
Gross carrying amount				
At 1 March 2018	34.1	_	-	34.1
Financial assets derecognised during the period	(5.2)	-	-	(5.2)
At 28 February 2019	28.9			28.9
				

On a Company basis, loans and advances to subsidiary companies of £235.0m are considered to be low risk and stage 1. There was no movement in the gross carrying amount during the year.

¹The gross carrying amount as at 1 March 2018 includes the remeasurement of the recoverable asset balance of £4.8m on transition to IFRS 9. Refer to note 2 for further details.

²Transfers - The opening gross carrying amount of financial assets held which transferred stage as at year end.

³New financial assets originated or purchased - The gross carrying amount of financial assets originated or purchased during the year, representing their stage as at 28 February 2019.

⁴Net increase/(decrease) in lending - The changes in gross carrying amount of financial assets after taking account of additional borrowing and/or payments received from customers.

⁵Write-offs and asset disposals - The write-off of the gross carrying amount when a financial asset is deemed uncollectible and/or has been disposed of.

37. Risk Management (continued)

• Credit risk: Write off policy

When a loan is deemed uncollectable it is written off against the related provision after all of the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.

The Group may write off loans that are still subject to enforcement activity. The outstanding contractual amount of such assets written off during the year ended 28 February 2019 was £100.5m (2018: £95.4m). Expected recoveries from written off financial assets subject to enforcement activity are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Credit risk: Forbearance

The Group provides support to customers who are experiencing financial difficulties. Forbearance is relief granted by a lender to assist customers in financial difficulty, through arrangements which temporarily allow the customer to pay an amount other than the contractual amounts due. These temporary arrangements may be initiated by the customer or the Group where financial difficulty would prevent repayment within the original terms and conditions of the contract. The main aim of forbearance is to support customers in returning to a position where they are able to meet their contractual obligations.

The Group has adopted the definition of forbearance in the European Banking Authority's (EBA) final draft Implementing Technical Standards of July 2014. The Group reports all accounts meeting this definition, providing for them appropriately.

Controls and risk mitigants

The Group has well defined forbearance policies and processes. A number of forbearance options are made available to customers by the Group. These routinely, but not exclusively, include the following:

- Arrangements to repay arrears over a period of time, by making payments above the contractual amount, that ensure the loan is repaid within the original repayment term.
- Short-term concessions, where the borrower is allowed to make reduced repayments (or in exceptional circumstances, no repayments) on a temporary basis to assist with short-term financial hardship.
- For secured products, it may also be acceptable to allow the customer to clear the arrears over an extended period of time, provided the payments remain affordable.

The table below details the values of secured and unsecured advances that are subject to forbearance programmes, in accordance with the EBA definition.

	Gross loans and advances subject to forbearance programmes		Forbearance programmes as a proportion of total loans and advances by category		Proportion of forbearance programmes covered by impairment provision	
	2019	2018	2019	2018	2019	2018
	£m	£m	%	%	%	%
Credit Cards UK	92.8	69.6	2.0	1.5	53.3	51.4
Credit Cards Europe	_	0.9	_	2.7	_	40.9
Credit Cards commercial	0.1	0.1	4.8	4.7	90.8	95.0
Loans	48.4	42.4	1.1	1.0	48.0	56.5
Mortgages	6.0	5.9	0.2	0.2	1.2	0.2

37. Risk Management (continued)

Credit risk: Additional disclosures for the prior year under IAS 39

As set out at note 2, amended disclosures in line with IFRS 9 requirements have been applied to the current period only. The comparative period note disclosures repeat those disclosures made in the prior year. Below are the areas of disclosure in relation to the prior year which have been replaced in the current year by amended IFRS 9 disclosures as above.

Asset quality

Ineffective management and controls over the emerging asset quality of the Group's lending portfolios could expose the Group to unacceptable levels of bad debt.

Controls and risk mitigants

Asset quality is maintained through credit and affordability assessments at asset origination, combined with regular monitoring and reporting of asset quality to the appropriate Senior Management team and risk committees.

The table below presents an analysis of credit exposure by impairment status across the different exposure classes. The table predominantly relates to Banking assets; the retail instalment lending applies to credit agreements in the Insurance business. The balances set out below are based on gross loans and advances, excluding fair value hedge adjustments, as provided in note 16.

2018	Retail unsecured lending £m	Retail mortgage lending £m	Retail instalment lending £m	Total £m
Past due and impaired				
Less than 90 days past due	44.1	0.2	_	44.3
90–179 days past due	59.3	-	_	59.3
180 days plus past due	109.5	0.1	_	109.6
Past due but not impaired 0–29 days past due 30–59 days past due	54.7 19.8	0.7	0.5	55.9 19.8
60–89 days past due	12.5	-	-	12.5
Neither past due nor impaired				
Low risk ¹	8,010.0	2,983.1	129.4	11,122.5
High risk ²	326.9	26.1	_	353.0
	8,636.8	3,010.2	129.9	11,776.9

¹ Low risk is defined as an asset with a probability of default of less than 10%.

 $^{^{\}rm 2}$ High risk is defined as an asset with a probability of default of 10% or more.

37. Risk Management (continued)

Gross loans and advances to customers of £17.2m were subject to active forbearance arrangements and were considered not to be impaired on the basis that the Group did not anticipate that the future expected cash flows of the gross loans and advances would be impacted. Of this total, £5.0m was included in 'neither past due nor impaired' and £12.2m in 'past due but not impaired'.

(b) Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of potential error, loss, harm, or failure caused by ineffective or inadequately defined processes, system failures, improper conduct, human error, fraud or from external events. The Group is subject to the SA method to calculate Pillar 1 operational risk capital, as outlined in the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR).

Financial crime and fraud are significant drivers of operational risk and the external threat continues to grow across the Financial Services industry. The industry remains under significant threat from cyber attacks. This includes various organised groups targeting institutions through phishing, malware, denial of service and other sophisticated methods. The Group has an appropriate risk framework and continually monitors emerging risks and threats.

Controls and risk mitigants

The Bank's risks are assessed utilising a risk management framework methodology which is aligned to the three lines of defence model.

The CRO and the Operational Risk Director, together with a dedicated Operational Risk team, are responsible for:

- developing and maintaining the operational risk framework;
- working with relevant business areas to make sure that first line responsibilities are understood and that those responsibilities should be executed within the framework;
- supporting relevant business areas to embed policies and frameworks and instil a positive risk management culture; and
- independently monitoring, assessing and reporting on operational risk profiles and losses.

The Operational Risk function maintains policies defining the minimum requirements for the management of Operational Risk and Financial Crime.

Business units and functions assess their operational risks on an ongoing basis via a prescribed Risk and Control Self-Assessment (RCSA) process and Operational Risk Scenario Analysis (ORSA). The RCSA analysis is reviewed and updated on a timely basis by first line business areas to reflect changes to the risk and control environment arising from changes in products, processes and systems. The RCSA outputs are reported to relevant governance bodies. This is supplemented further by an Event Management process and regular reporting of the Operational Risk profile to the ERC. The ORSA builds on RCSA and Event Management to identify the forward-looking risk profile and the results are used to inform the Board's decision on any additional requirement for Operational Risk Capital under Pillar II.

The ERC provides oversight of the Group's operational risk profile and provides regular reports and recommendations to the Board Risk Committee (BRC).

(c) Liquidity and funding risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is not able to meet its obligations as they fall due. This includes the risk that a given security cannot be traded quickly enough in the market to prevent a loss if a credit rating falls. Funding risk is the risk that the Group does not have sufficiently stable and diverse sources of funding.

The Group operates within a Liquidity Risk Management Framework (LRMF) to ensure that sufficient funds are available at all times to meet demands from depositors; to fund agreed advances; to meet other commitments as they fall due; and to ensure the Board's Risk Appetite is met.

37. Risk Management (continued)

Controls and risk mitigants

Liquidity and funding risk is assessed through the Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) on at least an annual basis. The ILAAP process involves detailed internal consideration of the following:

- identification of sources of liquidity risk;
- quantification of those risks through stress testing;
- consideration of management processes and controls to minimise the risk;
- assessment of the type and quality of liquid asset holdings to mitigate the risk; and
- consideration of the levels of contingent funding required to mitigate the risk.

The Group sets formal limits within the LRMF to maintain liquidity risk exposures within the liquidity Risk Appetite set by the Board. The key liquidity and funding measures monitored on a regular basis are:

- the internal liquidity requirement;
- the liquidity coverage ratio;
- the net stable funding ratio;
- the loan to deposit ratio;
- the encumbrance ratio;
- the wholesale funding ratio;
- the annual wholesale refinancing amount; and
- the unencumbered assets to retail liabilities ratio.

The Group measures and manages liquidity adequacy in line with the above metrics and maintains a liquidity and funding profile to enable it to meet its financial obligations under normal, and stressed, market conditions.

The Group monitors and reports on the composition of its funding base against defined thresholds to avoid funding source and maturity concentration risks.

The Group prepares both short-term and long-term forecasts to assess liquidity requirements and takes into account factors such as Credit Card payment cycles, expected utilisation of undrawn credit limits, investment maturities, customer deposit patterns, and wholesale funding (including TFS) maturities. These reports support daily liquidity management and are reviewed daily by Senior Management along with early warning indicators.

Stress testing of current and forecast financial positions is conducted to inform the Group of required liquidity resources. Reverse stress testing is conducted to inform the Group of the circumstances that would result in liquidity resources being exhausted. Liquidity stress tests are presented to the Liquidity Management Forum and Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCo) on a regular basis to provide evidence that sufficient liquidity is held to meet financial obligations in a stress.

37. Risk Management (continued)

The Treasury Director is responsible for formulating, and obtaining Board approval for, an annual funding plan as part of the overall business planning process. The Group is predominantly funded by its retail deposit base which reduces reliance on wholesale funding and, in particular, results in minimal short-term wholesale funding.

A significant part of these retail deposits are repayable on demand on a contractual basis. The Group continuously monitors retail deposit activity so that it can reasonably predict expected maturity flows. These instruments form a stable funding base for the Group's operations because of the broad customer base and the historical behaviours exhibited.

The table below shows the Group's primary funding sources.

	2019	2018
	£m	£m
On balance sheet		
Deposits from banks	1,663.2	1,539.0
Deposits from customers	10,465.2	9,244.6
Subordinated liabilities and notes	235.0	235.0
Debt securities in issue	1,185.5	1,347.6
Total on balance sheet funding	13,548.9	12,366.2

37. Risk Management (continued)

The tables below show cash flows payable up to a period of 20 years on an undiscounted basis. These differ from the Statement of Financial Position values due to the effects of discounting on certain SOFP items and due to the inclusion of contractual future interest flows.

Derivatives designated in a hedging relationship are included according to their contractual maturity.

Group			Between 2			Beyond 5	
2019	' -	=	and 3 years	=	-	years	Total
On balance sheet	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Financial assets:							
Cash and balances at							
central banks	1,072.4	-	-	-	_	-	1,072.4
Loans and advances to							
banks	324.2	-	-	-	_	-	324.2
Loans and advances to							
customers	6,361.3	1,429.4	1,191.5	919.6	628.3	3,893.2	14,423.3
Investment securities							
- FVOCI	96.6	60.9	279.2	167.5	382.0	111.6	1,097.8
- Loans and receivables	1.4	1.4	1.4	1.5	1.5	53.8	61.0
Other assets	208.5	_	_	_	_	-	208.5
Total financial assets	8,064.4	1,491.7	1,472.1	1,088.6	1,011.8	4,058.6	17,187.2
_							
Financial liabilities:							
Deposits from banks	337.1	409.7	945.0	-	_	-	1,691.8
Deposits from customers	8,569.0	1,348.3	335.6	107.8	185.7	0.5	10,546.9
Debt securities in issue	448.8	783.4	-	-	_	-	1,232.2
Derivatives settled							
on a net basis							
- Derivatives in economic							
but not accounting hedges	0.1	_	_	_	_	_	0.1
- Derivatives in accounting							
hedge relationships	(2.7)	3.2	2.3	2.9	3.9	10.9	20.5
Derivatives settled on a	, ,						
gross basis							
- outflows	4.5	276.0	_	_	_	_	280.5
- inflows	(8.5)	(270.0)	_	_	_	_	(278.5)
Other liabilities	149.2	(=: 5::5) -	_	_	_	_	149.2
Subordinated liabilities	5.2	5.7	6.1	6.3	6.5	295.0	324.8
Total financial liabilities	9,502.7			117.0	196.1	306.4	13,967.5
_	3,302.17	2,330.3	1,203.0	117.0		300.4	13,307.3
Off balance sheet							
Contractual lending							
commitments	12,226.2	_	_	_	_	_	12,226.2
Total off balance sheet	12,226.2						12,226.2
- Local Oil Dalaille Sileet	12,220.2				-		12,220.2

On a Company basis, liquidity and funding risk arises only on cash and balances with central banks of £13.4m (2018: £3.4m), which are due within 1 year, and loans and advances to subsidiary companies of £235.0m (2018: £235.0m), which have the same profile as the subordinated liabilities in the Group table above.

37. Risk Management (continued)

Group	Within 1	Between 1	Between 2	Between 3	Between 4	Beyond 5	
2018	year	and 2 years	and 3 years	and 4 years	and 5 years	years	Total
On balance sheet	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Financial assets:							
Cash and balances at							
central banks	1,318.8	_	-	-	_	_	1,318.8
Loans and advances to							
customers	6,614.4	1,395.6	929.8	598.3	385.0	3,036.1	12,959.2
Investment securities							
- AFS	90.9	97.0	49.7	114.7	138.9	496.7	987.9
- Loans and receivables	1.5	1.7	1.7	1.8	1.8	62.1	70.6
Other assets	265.7	_	-	-	-	_	265.7
Total financial assets	8,291.3	1,494.3	981.2	714.8	525.7	3,594.9	15,602.2
-							
Financial liabilities:							
Deposits from banks	208.7	12.0	412.1	946.8	_	_	1,579.6
Deposits from customers	7,654.9	873.5	500.4	178.6	105.4	0.1	9,312.9
Debt securities in issue	448.3	441.4	513.7	_	_	_	1,403.4
Derivatives settled							
on a net basis							
- Derivatives in economic							
but not accounting hedges	(0.6)	-	-	-	_	_	(0.6)
- Derivatives in accounting							
hedge relationships	22.3	(8.2)	1.3	3.4	3.9	22.6	45.3
Other liabilities	144.3	_	-	-	-	_	144.3
Subordinated liabilities	4.9	5.9	6.4	7.6	12.7	293.9	331.4
Total financial liabilities	8,482.8	1,324.6	1,433.9	1,136.4	122.0	316.6	12,816.3
_							
Off balance sheet							
Contractual lending							
commitments	12,400.0	_	_	_	-	_	12,400.0
Total off balance sheet	12,400.0	_	_	_	-	_	12,400.0

37. Risk Management (continued)

The table below summarises the Group's assets which are available to support future funding and collateral needs and shows the extent to which these assets are currently pledged for this purpose.

The Group has adopted the definition of encumbered and unencumbered in the EBA's final guidelines on disclosure of June 2014. Asset encumbrance represents a claim to an asset by another party usually in the form of a security interest such as a pledge. Encumbrance reduces the assets available in the event of default by a bank and therefore, the recovery rate of its depositors and other unsecured bank creditors.

Group	Encumbered	Unencumbered	Total
2019	£m	£m	£m
Encumbered asset summary			
Investment securities - FVOCI	59.7	983.0	1,042.7
Loans and advances to customers	3,730.0	8,695.7	12,425.7
Other assets	82.7	153.9	236.6
	3,872.4	9,832.6	13,705.0
Encumbered investment securities - FVOCI			
Debt securities at FVOCI	59.7	_	
		-	
Encumbered loans and advances to customers			
Securitisation – Delamare Master Trust	2,269.1		
Personal loans	667.2		
Mortgages	793.7		
	3,730.0	-	
Encumbered other assets		-	
Initial margin held at Clearing Houses	46.8		
Variation margin held at Clearing Houses	32.4		
Collateral held at counterparties	3.5		
	82.7	-	
Group	Encumbered	Unencumbered	Total
2018	£m	£m	£m
			Restated ¹
Encumbered asset summary			
Loans and advances to customers	3,654.0	7,868.4	11,522.4
Other assets	111.1	169.5	280.6
	3,765.1	8,037.9	11,803.0
Encumbered loans and advances to customers			_
Securitisation – Delamare Master Trust	1,628.7		
Personal loans	989.6		
Mortgages	1,035.7	_	
	3,654.0	_	
Encumbered other assets	•	•	
Initial margin held at Clearing Houses	56.5		
Variation margin held at Clearing Houses	54.0		
Collateral held at counterparties	0.6	-	
	111.1	_	

¹ The prior year restatement relates to the adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

37. Risk Management (continued)

Loans and advances assigned for use as collateral in securitisation transactions

At 28 February 2019, £3,182.2m (2018: £3,490.5m) of the Credit Card portfolio had its beneficial interest assigned to a securitisation structured entity, Delamare Cards Receivables Trustee Limited, for use as collateral in securitisation transactions. The total encumbered portion of this portfolio is £2,269.1m (2018: £1,628.7m).

At 28 February 2019, Delamare Cards MTN Issuer plc had £2,362.2m (2018: £2,362.2m) notes in issue in relation to securitisation transactions, of which £922.2m (2018: £950.0m) related to the par value of externally issued notes (refer to note 28). At 28 February 2019 the Group owned £1,440.0m (2018: £1,412.2m) of class A and class D Credit Card backed notes issued by Delamare Cards MTN Issuer plc.

Of the total £1,150.0m (2018: £1,150.0m) class A retained Credit Card backed notes, £450.0m (2018: £300.0m) is held in a distinct pool for the purposes of collateralising the TFS drawings. All other prepositioned assets with the BoE are held within their single collateral pool.

Loans and advances prepositioned with the BoE

Group	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Credit Card backed notes ¹	786.0	1,150.0
Mortgages	793.7	1,035.7
Unsecured personal loans	2,365.1	2,438.0
Total assets prepositioned as collateral with the BoE	3,944.8	4,623.7
Collateralised TFS Drawings	1,339.0	1,339.0
¹ Issued by Delamare Cards MTN Issuer nlc		

¹Issued by Delamare Cards MTN Issuer plo

(d) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the value of earnings or capital is altered through the movement of market rates. This includes interest rates, foreign exchange rates, credit spreads and equities. The Group has no trading book exposures.

Market risk arises in the following ways in the Group:

- Interest rate risk in the Group's retail portfolios, certain income streams and in its funding activities arises from the
 different repricing characteristics of non-trading assets and liabilities, hereafter referred to as Interest Rate Risk in
 the Banking Book (IRRBB);
- Foreign exchange exposures that arise from foreign currency investments, foreign currency loans, deposits, income and other foreign currency contracts;
- Interest rate risk associated with TU's investment portfolio; and
- Pension obligation risk.

Control and risk mitigants

Control of market risk exposure is managed by ALCo and the Market Risk Forum. These bodies provide oversight of the Group's market risk position at a detailed level, providing regular reports and recommendations to the BRC.

37. Risk Management (continued)

• Interest rate risk in the Banking Book

IRRBB is the risk of value changes to both earnings and capital arising from timing differences in the re-pricing of the Group's balance sheet and unexpected changes to the level and/or shape of the yield curve.

The Group offers lending and savings products with varying interest rate features and maturities which create re-pricing mismatches and therefore potential interest rate risk exposures. The Group is therefore exposed to interest rate risk through its dealings with retail banking products as well as through its limited wholesale market activities.

IRRBB is the main market risk that could affect the Group's net interest income.

Control and risk mitigants

The Group has established limits for its Risk Appetite in this area and stress tests are performed using sensitivity to fluctuations in underlying interest rates in order to monitor this risk.

The Group has established a specific Risk Appetite for IRRBB which is implemented via the Market Risk Policy, a range of specific risk limits and a Market Risk control framework. The Treasury function is responsible for regular stress testing of risk positions against multiple interest rate scenarios to determine the sensitivity of earnings and capital valuations to ensure compliance with Board Risk Appetite and limits.

IRRBB management information is produced by the Asset and Liability Management (ALM) team and is reviewed by ALCo at each of its monthly meetings. IRRBB primarily arises from the retail lending portfolios (including the Mortgage pipeline) and retail deposits. The ALM team is responsible for ensuring hedging strategies are implemented as required to ensure that the Group remains within its stated Risk Appetite and limits.

The main hedging instruments used are interest rate swaps and the residual exposure against the two Board Risk Appetite metrics is reported monthly to the ALCo and Board.

Capital at Risk (CaR): The CaR approach assesses the value sensitivity of the Bank's capital to movements in interest rates. The scenarios considered include both parallel and non-parallel movements of the yield curve and have been designed to assess impacts across a suitable range of severe but plausible movements in interest rates. The CaR measure is an aggregate measure of three separate risk components, each being a distinct form of interest rate risk - Repricing Risk (including Basis Risk), Pipeline Risk and Prepayment Risk. A fourth risk component, Credit Spread Risk in the Banking Book (CSRBB), has been added to the CaR measure in preparation for the EBA guidelines on the management of interest rate risk arising from non-trading book activities.

The table below shows the Group's CaR. At 28 February 2019 the Group was exposed to net residual risk via a downward rate scenario (2018: upward rate scenario).

	2019	2018
	Downward rate	
	scenario	Upward rate scenario
Capital at Risk Sensitivity	£m	£m
Repricing risk	(9.8)	12.1
Pipeline risk	(0.2)	(4.3)
Prepayment risk	0.4	(22.2)
CSRBB	(9.3)	_
Total	(18.9)	(14.4)

Annual Earnings at Risk (AEaR) Sensitivity: This measures the sensitivity of the Bank's earnings to movements in interest rates over the next 12 months based on expected cash flows. This approach has replaced the Net Interest Income sensitivity disclosed in prior years and provides a more granular analysis of product interest rate sensitivity. The Bank assesses the impact of a +/- 0.25%, 0.50%, 0.75%, 1% shock in rates versus the base case scenario (2018: +1.0%; -0.75%). The most adverse scenario is measured against Risk Appetite. At 28 February 2019, the most adverse scenario was a downward rate shock, with an impact of (1.10%).

37. Risk Management (continued)

(e) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of transactions in currencies other than Sterling is altered by the movement of exchange rates.

The Group's Risk Appetite permits investment in non-GBP denominated bonds and the Group may raise funding from the wholesale markets in currencies other than GBP. Foreign exchange exposure arises if these are not hedged. Foreign exchange exposure may also arise through the Group's 'Click and Collect' Travel Money provision and invoices received which are denominated in foreign currencies.

Control and risk mitigants

Substantially all foreign currency exposure is hedged to reduce exposure to a minimum level, within Board-approved limits. The residual exposure is not material and, as such, no sensitivity analysis is disclosed.

The Group's maximum exposure to foreign exchange risk at 28 February 2019 was £(241.0)m (2018: £45.5m), representing the Group's net assets denominated in foreign currencies.

(f) TU investment portfolio

The TU insurance portfolio assets are invested with a number of counterparties. These investments are predominantly comprised of government securities, corporate bonds and short-term cash investments.

The main risks relate to changes in:

- interest rates affecting fair values as a proportion of the bonds are fixed rate in nature; and
- credit quality, as the range of assets held are issued by a variety of institutions with different credit characteristics.

Controls and risk mitigants

Portfolio management is undertaken by the TU investment committee. The Group's Finance function provides oversight and challenge.

(g) Pension obligation risk

Pension obligation risk is the risk to a company caused by its contractual or other liabilities to or with respect to a pension scheme (whether established for its employees or those of a related company or otherwise). The Group is a participating employer in the Tesco Pension Scheme. TSL has recognised the appropriate net liability of the Tesco pension scheme in accordance with IAS 19 (refer to note 36).

Controls and risk mitigants

The Group undertakes an assessment of the impact of its share of the pension scheme under a stress as part of its annual Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP).

(h) Insurance risk

The Group is exposed to insurance risk through its 49.9% ownership of TU, an authorised insurance company.

The Group defines insurance risk as the risks accepted through the provision of insurance products in return for a premium. These risks may or may not occur as expected and the amount and timing of these risks are uncertain and determined by events outside of the Group's control (e.g. flood or vehicular accident). The Group's aim is to actively manage insurance risk exposure, with particular focus on those risks that impact profit volatility.

Insurance risk is typically categorised in the following way:

- Underwriting risk Related to the selection and pricing (or quantification) of the risk currently being transferred from customers to an insurer; and
- Reserving risk Related to valuation and management of financial resources sufficient to pay claims for the risk already transferred from customers to an insurer.

37. Risk Management (continued)

Controls and risk mitigants

The Group's oversight of TU is primarily provided by its representation on the TU Board. TU operates a separate risk framework with dedicated risk and compliance teams and a suite of TU risk policies to ensure that the TU insurance portfolio is operating within agreed Risk Appetite. Performance of the portfolio is monitored and reported to the ERC on a monthly basis against specific key performance indicator thresholds and limits.

(i) Residual price risk

Residual price risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument and its associated hedge will fluctuate because of changes in market prices, for reasons other than interest rate or credit risk. The Group has debt and equity investment securities that are held at fair value in the Company and Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.

Controls and risk mitigants

The Group has established appropriate hedging strategies to mitigate the interest rate and foreign exchange risks. Residual price risk remains.

The table below demonstrates the Group's exposure to residual price risk at the year end. Included in the table is the expected impact of a 10% shock in market prices on the Group's FVOCI investment securities. The figures shown are prior to hedging activities which mitigate the interest rate and foreign exchange risks.

		Fair value Impact of 10% shock		Value after 10% shoc		
	2019	2018	2019	2018	2019	2018
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Government-backed investment securities	185.5	101.1	(18.6)	(10.1)	166.9	91.0
Gilts	55.1	581.5	(5.5)	(58.2)	49.6	523.3
Supranational investment securities	406.1	85.1	(40.6)	(8.5)	365.5	76.6
Other investment securities	393.5	155.7	(39.4)	(15.6)	354.1	140.1
Equity securities	2.5	2.0	(0.3)	(0.2)	2.2	1.8
_	1,042.7	925.4	(104.4)	(92.6)	938.3	832.8

(j) Legal and regulatory compliance

Regulatory risk is the risk of reputational damage, liability or material loss from failure to comply with the requirements of the financial services regulators or related codes of best practice applicable to the business areas within which the Group operates. The risk of business conduct leading to poor outcomes can arise as a result of an over-aggressive sales strategy; poor management of sales processes, credit assessments and credit processes; or failure to comply with other regulatory requirements. The Group's risk appetite is to comply with the relevant rules, regulations and data protection legislation. Where breaches occur, the Group will take appropriate rectifying action. The Group seeks to deliver fair outcomes for customers.

Controls and risk mitigants

As part of the Group's Policy Framework, a dedicated Compliance Advisory (CA) team is responsible for the Compliance policy which is approved by the Group's Board, as well as for monitoring, challenge and oversight of regulatory risk and compliance across the Group's business. Guidance and advice to enable the business to operate in a compliant manner is provided by the CA team and the Legal team.

The CA team is also responsible for the detailed regulatory policies which underpin the Compliance policy. These are further supported by Operational and Product Guides that provide relevant practical guidance to business and operational areas to enable them to comply with the regulatory policies.

The Group has also established the Prudential Regulatory Forum which is responsible for the oversight of Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) communications including information requests; upstream regulatory change including impact analysis, action tracking and regulatory responses; Prudential regulatory compliance and reporting; and Prudential regulatory deliverables compliance with Prudential regulation.

37. Risk Management (continued)

In addition, the Regulatory Change Forum is responsible for the oversight of communications from all external regulators (excluding the PRA), including information requests and Consultations papers; and upstream regulatory change including impact analysis, action tracking and regulatory responses.

The Group's Legal function has responsibility for commercial legal work, regulatory legal compliance, litigation/dispute resolution matters, advising on competition law and supporting the Group's Treasury activity. The Legal team also comprises the Company Secretarial function which, in addition to its role supporting the Board and maintaining statutory books, ensures the Company complies with all applicable governance codes.

Business areas manage conduct risk and use a range of management information to monitor the fair treatment of customers. A framework of product-led conduct management information has been developed and is reviewed by Senior Management in the business lines. Customer outcomes are also assessed as part of the development and design of new products and through annual product reviews of existing products. The ERC and the Board review and challenge delivery of fair outcomes for customers.

38. Financial Instruments

Classification of financial assets and liabilities

The following tables analyse the financial assets and financial liabilities in accordance with the categories of financial instruments in IFRS 9.

_	Amortised	Designated as		FVOCI - equity	
Group	cost	at FVPL ¹	instruments	instruments	Total
2019	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Financial assets					
Cash and balances with central banks	1,041.6	30.5	_	_	1,072.1
Loans and advances to banks	324.2	_	_	_	324.2
Loans and advances to customers	12,425.7	_	_	_	12,425.7
Derivative financial instruments	_	31.3	_	_	31.3
Investment securities:					
- FVOCI	_	_	1,040.2	2.5	1,042.7
- Amortised cost	28.7	_	_	_	28.7
Other assets	236.6	_	_	_	236.6
Total financial assets	14,056.8	61.8	1,040.2	2.5	15,161.3
Financial liabilities					
Deposits from banks	1,663.2	_	-	_	1,663.2
Deposits from customers	10,465.2	_	_	_	10,465.2
Debt securities in issue	1,185.5	_	_	_	1,185.5
Derivative financial instruments	_	60.2	_	_	60.2
Other liabilities	151.2	_	_	_	151.2
Subordinated liabilities	235.0	_	_	_	235.0
Total financial liabilities	13,700.1	60.2	-		13,760.3

All derivative financial instruments are held for economic hedging purposes, although not all derivatives are designated as hedging instruments under the terms of IFRS 9.

On a Company basis, cash and balances with central banks is £13.4m (2018: £3.4m) and loans and advances to subsidiary companies is £235.0m (2018: £235.0m), both of which are categorised as amortised cost (2018: as loans and receivables).

¹ All of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities designated at FVPL were designated as such on the later of 1 March 2018 or origination.

38. Financial Instruments (continued)

The following tables analyse the financial assets and financial liabilities in accordance with the categories of financial instruments in IAS 39.

		Other	Derivatives		
	Loans and	(amortised	held for		
Group	receivables	cost)	hedging	AFS	Total
2018	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
					Restated ¹
Financial assets					
Cash and balances with central banks	1,318.6	_	_	_	1,318.6
Loans and advances to customers	11,522.4	_	_	_	11,522.4
Derivative financial instruments	_	_	46.1	_	46.1
Investment securities:					
- AFS	_	_	_	925.4	925.4
- Loans and receivables	34.1	_	_	_	34.1
Other assets	280.6	_	_	_	280.6
Total financial assets	13,155.7	-	46.1	925.4	14,127.2
Financial liabilities					
Deposits from banks	_	1,539.0	_	_	1,539.0
Deposits from customers	_	9,244.6	_	_	9,244.6
Debt securities in issue	_	1,347.6	_	_	1,347.6
Derivative financial instruments	_	_	88.4	_	88.4
Other liabilities	_	147.7	-	_	147.7
Subordinated liabilities	_	235.0		_	235.0
Total financial liabilities		12,513.9	88.4		12,602.3

¹The prior year restatement relates to the adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

38. Financial Instruments (continued)

Offsetting

The following tables show those financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements.

Group		Related a		
2019	Gross and net amounts presented in Statement of Financial Position	Financial instruments	pledged	Net amounts
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Financial assets Derivative financial instruments	21.2	(22.0)	/12 F\	(2.2)
Reverse repurchase agreements	31.3 324.2	(22.0) (324.2)	(12.5) 3.0	(3.2) 3.0
neverse reputchase agreements	324.2	(324.2)	3.0	3.0
Total financial assets	355.5	(346.2)	(9.5)	(0.2)
Financial liabilities Derivative financial instruments	(60.2)	22.0	22.0	(F.2)
Repurchases, securities lending and similar agreements ¹	(60.2) (324.2)	22.0 324.2	32.9	(5.3)
Total financial liabilities	(384.4)	346.2	32.9	(5.3)
	(66 11.1)			(5.5)
Group		Related a	mounts	
•		not of	fset	
2018	Gross and net amounts	Financial	Collateral	Net
	presented in Statement	instruments	pledged	amounts
	of Financial Position			
Financial conta	£m	£m	£m	£m
Financial assets Derivative financial instruments	46.1	(37.5)	/17 E\	(o n)
Total financial assets	46.1	(37.5)	(17.5) (17.5)	(8.9) (8.9)
iotai ililalitiai assets	40.1	(37.3)	(17.5)	(6.3)
Financial liabilities				
Derivative financial instruments	(88.4)	37.5	54.6	3.7
Repurchases, securities lending and similar agreements ¹	(200.0)	380.0		180.0
Total financial liabilities	(288.4)	417.5	54.6	183.7

¹Repurchases, securities lending and similar agreements are included within the Deposits from Banks balance of £1,663.2m (2018: £1,539.0m) in the Company and Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

38. Financial Instruments (continued)

For the financial assets and financial liabilities subject to enforceable master netting arrangements above, each agreement between the Group and the counterparty allows for net settlement of the relevant financial assets and financial liabilities when both elect to settle on a net basis. In the absence of such an election, financial assets and financial liabilities will be settled on a gross basis. However, each party to the master netting agreement or similar agreement will have the option to settle all such amounts on a net basis in the event of default of the other party.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

Except as detailed in the following table, the Directors consider that the carrying value amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the Statement of Financial Position are approximately equal to their fair values.

Group	201	9	2018		
	Carrying value	Fair Value	Carrying value	Fair value	
	£m	£m	£m	£m	
Financial assets					
Loans and advances to customers	12,425.7	12,607.3	11,522.4	11,658.8	
Investment securities - amortised cost	28.8	28.2	34.1	34.7	
	12,454.5	12,635.5	11,556.5	11,693.5	
Financial liabilities					
Deposits from customers	10,465.2	10,427.1	9,244.6	9,223.5	
Debt securities in issue	1,185.5	1,189.5	1,347.6	1,354.9	
Subordinated liabilities	235.0	182.2	235.0	182.9	
	11,885.7	11,798.8	10,827.2	10,761.3	

On a Company basis, loans and advances to subsidiary companies is £233.7m (2018: £235.0m), with a fair value of £182.2m (2018: £182.9m). On a Company basis, subordinated liabilities have the same carrying value and fair value as set out in the Group table above.

The only financial assets and financial liabilities which are carried at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position at year end are cash balances relating to the Group's Travel Money offering, FVOCI investment securities and derivative financial instruments. The valuation techniques and inputs used to derive fair values at the year end are described below.

38. Financial Instruments (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Where an active market is considered to exist, fair values are based on quoted prices. For instruments which do not have active markets, fair value is calculated using present value models, which take individual cash flows together with assumptions based on market conditions and credit spreads, and are consistent with accepted economic methodologies for pricing financial instruments.

In each case the fair value is calculated by discounting future cash flows using benchmark, observable market interest rates.

The table below categorises all financial instruments held at fair value (recurring measurement) and the fair value of financial instruments held at amortised cost according to the method used to establish the fair value disclosed.

Group 2019	Level 1 £m	Level 2 £m	Level 3 £m	Total £m
Financial assets carried at fair value				
Cash and balances with central banks ¹	-	30.5	_	30.5
Investment securities - FVOCI	1,040.2	_	2.5	1,042.7
Derivative financial instruments:				
- Interest rate swaps	_	31.3	_	31.3
- Forward foreign currency contracts	_	_	_	_
Financial assets carried at amortised cost				
Loans and advances to customers	_	_	12,607.3	12,607.3
Investment securities – amortised cost	_	28.2	_	28.2
Total	1,040.2	90.0	12,609.8	13,740.0
Financial liabilities carried at fair value				
Derivative financial instruments:				
- Interest rate swaps	_	50.9	_	50.9
- Forward foreign currency contracts	_	0.2	_	0.2
- Cross currency interest rate swaps	_	9.1	_	9.1
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost				
Deposits from customers	_	-	10,427.1	10,427.1
Debt securities in issue	1,189.5	-	-	1,189.5
Subordinated liabilities	_	182.2	-	182.2
Total	1,189.5	242.4	10,427.1	11,859.0

On a Company basis, loans and advances to subsidiaries of £182.2m (2018: £182.9m) are categorised as level 2. On a Company basis, subordinated liabilities have the same fair value and categorisations as set out in the Group table above.

 $^{^{}m 1}$ Cash balances relating to the Group's Travel Money offering are carried at fair value under IFRS 9.

38. Financial Instruments (continued)

Group	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total
2018	£m	£m	£m	£m
Financial assets carried at fair value				
Financial assets classified as AFS	923.4	_	1.7	925.4
Derivative financial instruments:				
- Interest rate swaps	-	45.9	_	45.9
- Forward foreign currency contracts	-	0.2	_	0.2
Financial assets carried at amortised cost				
Loans and advances to customers	_	_	11,658.8	11,658.8
Investment securities – loans and receivables	-	34.7	_	34.7
Total	923.4	80.8	11,660.8	12,665.0
Financial liabilities carried at fair value		-		
Derivative financial instruments:				
- Interest rate swaps	_	88.3	_	88.3
- Forward foreign currency contracts	_	0.1	-	0.1
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost				
Deposits from customers	_	_	9,223.5	9,223.5
Debt securities in issue	1,354.9	_	_	1,354.9
Subordinated liabilities	_	182.9	_	182.9
Total	1,354.9	271.3	9,223.5	10,849.7

38. Financial Instruments (continued)

There are three levels to the hierarchy as follows:

Level 1

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2

Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (for example, as prices) or indirectly (for example, derived from prices).

Fair values of cash balances relating to the Group's Travel Money offering are considered to equate to their carrying value as they are short-term in nature.

Derivative financial instruments which are categorised as Level 2 are those which either:

- Have future cash flows which are on known dates and for which the cash flow amounts are known or calculable by reference to observable interest and foreign exchange rates; or
- Have future cash flows which are not pre-defined, but for which the fair value of the instrument has very low sensitivity to changes in estimate of future cash flows.

In each case the fair value is calculated by discounting future cash flows using benchmark, observable market interest rates.

FVOCI/AFS investment securities which are categorised as Level 2 are those where no active market exists or where there are quoted prices available for similar instruments in active markets.

Fair values of investment securities classified as amortised cost/loans and receivables are based on quoted prices, where available, or calculated using discounted cash flows applying market rates.

The estimated fair value of subordinated liabilities is calculated using a discounted cash flow model based on a current yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity.

38. Financial Instruments (continued)

Level 3

Inputs for the asset or liability are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Loans and advances to customers are net of charges for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and advances represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.

The estimated fair value of deposits from customers represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be paid. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.

The estimated fair value of financial assets classified as FVOCI/AFS, being the Group's interest in VISA Inc., is described in note 19

Transfers

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and Level 2 in the year to 28 February 2019 (2018: no transfers).

There were no transfers between Level 2 and Level 3 in the year to 28 February 2019 (2018: no transfers).

39. Cash Flows from Operating Activities

	Group		Company	
	2019	2018	2019	2018
	£m	£m	£m	£m
Non cash and other items included in operating		Restated ¹		
profit before taxation				
Impairment loss on loans and advances (refer note 10)	163.5	137.4	_	_
Reversal of impairment loss on investment securities (refer				
note 10)	(0.1)	_	_	_
Depreciation and amortisation (refer notes 25 & 26)	83.2	83.0	_	_
Gain on disposal of investment securities (refer note 8)	(8.4)	(0.1)	_	_
Disposal of non-current assets (refer notes 25 & 26)	1.4	1.1	_	_
Provision for liabilities and charges (refer note 30)	41.7	37.0	_	_
Share of profit of joint venture (refer note 23)	(7.9)	(10.0)	_	_
Equity settled share based payments (refer note 12)	(4.8)	3.6	_	_
Interest paid on debt securities in issue	23.4	24.7	_	_
Interest received on assets held to hedge debt securities in				
issue	0.4	(3.6)	_	_
Interest on subordinated liabilities (refer note 5)	4.9	4.0	4.9	3.9
Fair value movements	(30.4)	7.6	_	_
Total	266.9	284.7	4.9	3.9
Changes in operating assets and liabilities				
Net movement in mandatory balances with central banks	(13.6)	(0.8)	_	_
Net movement in loans and advances to banks	(324.2)	_	_	_
Net movement in loans and advances to customers	(1,268.0)	(1,738.5)	_	_
Net movement in prepayments and accrued income	(0.1)	(7.1)	(0.1)	0.1
Net movement in other assets	44.0	37.0	_	_
Net movement in deposits from banks	124.2	1,039.2	_	_
Net movement in deposits from customers	1,219.7	781.2	_	_
Net movement in accruals and deferred income	(2.2)	(2.4)	0.1	(0.1)
Provisions utilised	(71.2)	(40.6)	_	_
Net movement in other liabilities	3.7	(4.8)	_	(0.2)
Total	(287.7)	63.2	_	(0.2)

¹ The prior year restatement relates to the adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

40. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities

		Non-cash movements				
Group	At 1 March	Financing	Fair value	Accrued	Other	At 28
	2018	Cash flows	change	Interest		February 2019
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Debt securities in issue	(1,347.6)	154.1	2.4	(2.3)	7.9	(1,185.5)
Subordinated liabilities and notes	(235.0)	_	_	_	_	(235.0)
Interest payable	(3.9)	28.2	_	(28.3)	_	(4.0)
Assets held to hedge fixed rate bonds ¹	17.9	(0.8)	(0.7)	_	_	16.4
Total liabilities from financing activities	(1,568.6)	181.5	1.7	(30.6)	7.9	(1,408.1)

Non-cas	h mov	ements
---------	-------	--------

Company	At 1 March 2018	Financing Cash flows	Fair value change	Accrued Interest	Other	At 28 February 2019
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Subordinated liabilities and notes	(235.0)	-	-	-	_	(235.0)
Interest payable	(0.7)	4.7	-	(4.8)	_	(0.8)
Total liabilities from financing activities	(235.7)	4.7	_	(4.8)	-	(235.8)

Nc	n-d	casl	n m	OVE	eme	ent	S

	11011 00011 1110 10111010					
Group	At 1 March	Financing	Fair value	Accrued	Other	At 28
	2017	Cash flows	change	Interest		February 2018
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Debt securities in issue	(1,204.3)	(150.0)	9.1	(2.6)	0.2	(1,347.6)
Subordinated liabilities and notes	(235.0)	-	-	-	-	(235.0)
Interest payable	(3.7)	28.5	-	(28.7)	-	(3.9)
Assets held to hedge fixed rate bonds ¹	23.8	(3.6)	(5.9)	3.6	-	17.9
Total liabilities from financing activities	(1,419.2)	(125.1)	3.2	(27.7)	0.2	(1,568.6)

Non-cash movements

Company	At 1 March	Financing	Fair value	Accrued	Other	At 28
	2017	Cash flows	change	Interest		February 2018
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Subordinated liabilities and notes	(235.0)	-	-	-	-	(235.0)
Interest payable	(0.6)	3.9	-	(4.0)	-	(0.7)
Total liabilities from financing activities	(235.6)	3.9	-	(4.0)	-	(235.7)

¹ Assets held to hedge fixed rate bonds and securitisation bonds are included within derivative financial instruments in the Statement of Financial Position on page 28.

41. Capital Resources

On 27 June 2013 the final Capital Requirements Directive IV (CRD IV) rules were published in the Official Journal of the EU. Following the publication of the CRD IV rules, the PRA issued a policy statement on 19 December 2013 detailing how the rules will be enacted within the UK with corresponding time frames for implementation. The transitioning period came to an end in December 2017 and is reflected in prior period comparatives. On the introduction of IFRS 9 a further transitional period was introduced, allowing the Company (being the regulated entity) to phase in the IFRS 9 impact on capital over a period of five years.

The group implemented IFRS 9 from 1 March 2018. Under the transitional provisions, the impact as at 28 February 2019 on common equity tier 1 is £1.6m. Common equity tier 1 is expected to reduce by approximately 161 basis points (£164.4m) (unaudited) on an end point basis, reflecting the full impact of adoption of IFRS 9.

The following tables analyse the regulatory capital resources of the Company applicable as at the year end on a 'transitional' and 'end point' position:

	Transitional	End Point	
	2019	2019	2018
	IFRS 9	IFRS 9	IAS 39
	£m	£m	£m
			Restated ¹
Movement in common equity tier 1 capital:			
At the beginning of the year	1,505.5	1,505.5	1,397.0
Impact of initial application of IFRS 9	(166.0)	(166.0)	_
Balance at beginning of the year after adopting IFRS 9	1,339.5	1,339.5	1,397.0
Profit attributable to shareholders	135.5	135.5	128.4
Gains and losses on liabilities arising from own credit	_	_	0.1
Other reserves	(14.9)	(14.9)	6.0
Ordinary dividends	(50.0)	(50.0)	(50.0)
IFRS 9 transitional add back	164.4	_	_
Movement in intangible assets	46.9	46.9	28.9
Movement in material holdings	_	_	3.4
Deferred tax liabilities related to intangible assets	(5.0)	(5.0)	(8.3)
At the end of the year	1,616.4	1,452.0	1,505.5

¹ The prior year has been restated following the retrospective adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

41. Capital Resources (continued)

	Transitional 2019 IFRS 9 £m	End Point 2019 IFRS 9 £m	2018 IAS 39 £m Restated ¹
Common equity tier 1			nestated
Shareholders' equity (accounting capital)	1,676.3	1,676.3	1,772.3
Regulatory adjustments			
Unrealised losses on cash flow hedge reserve	1.0	1.0	0.3
Adjustment to own credit/additional value adjustments	(1.1)	(1.1)	(1.1)
Intangible assets	(224.2)	(224.2)	(271.1)
Deferred tax liabilities related to intangible assets	_	_	5.2
IFRS 9 transitional add back	164.4		
Common equity tier 1 capital	1,616.4	1,452.0	1,505.5
The 2 control (to the control of the			
Tier 2 capital (instruments and provisions) Undated subordinated notes	45.0	45.0	45.0
	45.0 190.0	45.0 100.0	45.0 190.0
Dated subordinated notes net of regulatory amortisation	190.0	190.0	99.1
Credit risk adjustment			99.1
Tier 2 capital (instruments and provisions) before regulatory adjustments	235.0	235.0	334.1
Regulatory adjustments			
Material holdings in financial sector entities	(28.8)	(28.8)	(34.1)
Material Holdings III Illiancial Sector entities	(20.0)	(20.0)	(34.1)
Total regulatory adjustments to tier 2 capital (instruments and provisions)	(28.8)	(28.8)	(34.1)
Total tier 2 capital			
(instruments and provisions)	206.2	206.2	300.0
Total capital	1,822.6	1,658.2	1,805.5
Total risk-weighted assets (unaudited)	9,840.6	9,797.3	9,283.0
Common equity tier 1 ratio (unaudited)	16.4%	14.8%	16.2%
Tier 1 ratio (unaudited)	16.4%	14.8%	16.2%
Total capital ratio (unaudited)	18.5%	16.9%	19.4%

Total capital requirement (TCR) refers to the amount and quality of capital the Bank must maintain to comply with the CRR Pillar 1 and 2A capital requirements. The TCR for TPFG as at 28 February 2019 is 11.74% plus £52.0m as a static add-on for pension obligation risk.

¹ The prior year has been restated following the retrospective adoption of IFRS 15 in the current year. Refer to note 2 for further details.

41. Capital Resources (continued)

The table below reconciles shareholders' equity of the Group to regulatory equity of the Group:

	2019 £m	2018 £m Restated ¹
Tesco Personal Finance Group PLC (Group) shareholders' equity	1,686.5	1,775.7
Share of joint venture's retained earnings	(7.7)	0.2
Share of joint venture's AFS reserve	(2.5)	(3.7)
Tesco Personal Finance Group PLC regulatory equity	1,676.3	1,772.3

It is the Group's policy to maintain a strong capital base, to expand it as appropriate and to utilise it efficiently throughout its activities to optimise the return to shareholders while maintaining a prudent relationship between the capital base and the underlying risks of the business. In carrying out this policy, the Group has regard to the supervisory requirements of the PRA.

The Group is required to submit ICAAP reports which set out future business plans, the impact on capital availability, capital requirements and the risks to capital adequacy under stress scenarios, to the PRA.

The Group also maintains a Recovery Plan that provides the framework and a series of recovery options which could be deployed in a severe stress event impacting capital or liquidity positions. The Recovery Plan is reviewed and approved by the Board on at least an annual basis.

The Group has met all relevant capital requirements throughout the year.

Leverage ratio (unaudited)

The Basel III reforms include the introduction of a capital leverage measure as defined as the ratio of tier 1 capital to total exposure. This is intended to reinforce the risk-based capital requirements with a simple, non-risk based 'backstop' measure.

The Group has published the leverage ratio on a CRD IV basis using the existing exposure approach:

Exposures for leverage ratio (unaudited)	Transitional	End point
2019	£m	£m
Total balance sheet exposures	15,640.9	15,640.9
Adjustments for entities which are consolidated for accounting purposes but outside scope of		
regulatory consolidation	(10.2)	(10.2)
Removal of accounting value of derivatives and SFTs	(355.5)	(355.5)
Exposure value for derivatives and SFTs	45.5	45.5
Off balance sheet: unconditionally cancellable (10%)	1,208.6	1,208.6
Off balance sheet: other (20%)	28.3	28.3
Regulatory adjustment – intangible assets	(224.2)	(224.2)
Regulatory adjustment – other, including IFRS 9	124.5	(39.9)
Total	16,457.9	16,293.5
Common equity tier 1	1,616.4	1,452.0
Leverage ratio	9.8%	8.9%

41. Capital Resources (continued)

Capital Management

The Group operates an integrated risk management process to identify, quantify and manage risk in the Group. The quantification of risk includes the use of both stress and scenario testing. Where capital is considered to be an appropriate mitigant for a given risk, this is identified and reflected in the Group's internal capital assessment. The capital resources of the Group are regularly monitored against the higher of this internal assessment and regulatory requirements. Capital adequacy and performance against the Group's Capital Plan is monitored daily, with monthly reporting provided to the Board, ALCo and Capital Management Forum.

Pillar 2 capital methodologies

The PRA updated its Pillar 2 capital methodologies in July 2016 following the publication of prudential requirements for implementation of ring-fencing and issued a policy statement in October 2017 refining the Pillar 2A framework.

These proposals are aimed at promoting the safety and soundness of PRA-regulated firms, to facilitate a more effective banking sector and to make the PRA's Pillar 2A capital assessment more proportionate by addressing some of the concerns over the differences between SA and internal ratings-based risk-weights. This will continue to be managed as part of the Bank's ICAAP in line with the PRA policy statement issued in October 2017. The PRA general safety and soundness objectives in relation to continuity of core services in the UK and ring-fencing of Bank activities where core deposits are in excess of £25bn came into effect from 1 January 2019. The Group has not exceeded this threshold and has not therefore automatically been required to ring-fence the Group's core activities by the 2019 implementation date.

Credit Risk

In December 2017, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) finalised Basel III reforms for credit risk, including revisions to the calculation of risk-weighted assets and enhancements to the risk sensitivity of the standardised approaches to credit risk, constraining the use of internal model approaches by placing limits on certain inputs and replacing the existing Basel II output floors with a risk-sensitive floor based on the Committee's Basel III standardised approaches. The final Basel III reforms will be implemented from January 2022.

Operational risk

In December 2017, the BCBS finalised Basel III reforms for operational risk by replacing all existing approaches in the Basel II framework with a single risk-sensitive SA to be used by all banks. The new SA increases the sensitivity by combining a refined measure of gross income with the bank's internal historical losses. The final Basel III reforms will be implemented in January 2022.

Leverage

At present the Group has no minimum UK leverage requirement as it is currently exempt from the UK Leverage Framework regime, which only applies to institutions with retail deposits of £50 billion or more. In December 2017, the BCBS finalised Basel III reforms for leverage ratio. The final Basel III reforms will be implemented in January 2022.

The initial assessment indicates that these reforms are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group's leverage ratio.

The Group is subject to reporting and disclosure requirements under the CRR and is not currently subject to temporary modifications of the UK leverage ratio framework.

41. Capital Resources (continued)

The European Commission's minimum requirements for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL)

MREL requires banks to maintain at all times a sufficient aggregate amount of own funds and eligible liabilities (that may be bailed-in if required). MREL will, on full implementation, be set on a firm-specific basis and calculated as the sum of two components: a loss absorption amount, being the amount needed to absorb losses up to and in resolution; and a recapitalisation amount, which reflects the capital that a firm is likely to need post-resolution.

MREL is expected to be set annually over the transitional period until 1 January 2022. Prior to 31 December 2019, MREL will be equal to an institution's minimum regulatory capital requirements. An interim MREL requirement of 18% of risk-weighted assets from 1 January 2020 until 31 December 2021 has been set. The Group is working towards implementation of these requirements and has reflected them in its funding plan.

42. Related Party Transactions

During the year the Group had the following transactions with related parties:

Transactions involving Directors and other key connected persons

For the purposes of IAS 24, 'Related Party Disclosures', the Group's key Management personnel comprise Directors of the Group. The captions in the Group's primary Financial Statements include the following amounts attributable, in aggregate, to key connected persons of both the Group and Tesco, the Company's ultimate parent undertaking.

Group	2019	2018
	£m	£m
Loans and advances to customers ¹		
At the beginning of the year	0.6	0.4
Loans issued during the year	0.6	_
Loan repayments during the year	(0.6)	(0.1)
Loans outstanding at the end of the year	0.6	0.3
Interest income earned	_	-
Deposits from customers ¹		
Deposits at the beginning of the year	0.2	0.8
Deposits received during the year	0.6	0.6
Deposits repaid during the year	(0.7)	(0.7)
Deposits at the end of the year	0.1	0.7
Interest expense on deposits	_	_

Following the adoption of IFRS 9 during the current year, ECLs amounting to 0.3% of the loans outstanding at the end of the year have been recognised (2018: £nil under IAS 39 methodology).

¹ The opening and closing balances reported are in respect of related parties of the Group at the reporting date in each year.

42. Related Party Transactions (continued)

Remuneration of key Management personnel

The amount of remuneration incurred by the Group in relation to the Directors is set out below in aggregate. Further information about the remuneration of Directors is provided in note 11.

Group					2019	2018
					£m	£m
Short-term employee benefits					4.5	5.9
Termination benefits					_	0.3
Post-employment benefits					_	_
Other long-term benefits					3.0	2.6
Share based payments					0.8	0.9
Total emoluments					8.3	9.7
Trading transactions						
Group	2019	2019	2019	2018	2018	2018
	Tesco	Tesco	Tesco	Tesco	Tesco	Tesco
		subsidiaries	Underwriting		subsidiaries	Underwriting
			Limited			Limited
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Interest received and other income	_	20.9	47.1	_	24.3	71.2
Dividend income	_	-	10.3	_	_	_
Interest paid	(4.8)	-	-	_	(4.0)	-
Provision of services	-	(82.0)	(0.7)	-	(83.4)	(0.4)
Company	2019	2019	2019	2018	2018	2018
Company	Tesco	Tesco	Tesco	Tesco	Tesco	Tesco
	10300		Underwriting	10300		Underwriting
		Substatuties	Limited		343314141163	Limited
	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m	£m
Interest received and other income	_	4.8	_	_	4.3	_
Interest paid	(4.8)	-	_	(4.3)	_	_
Provision of services	_	_	_	_	_	_

Balances owing to/from related parties are identified in notes 19, 21, 28, 29, 31, 32, and 33.

For the year ended 28 February 2019 the Group and Company generated 52% (2018: 58%) of its insurance commission from the sale and service of Motor and Home insurance policies underwritten by TU, a joint venture company and therefore a related party. Customer premiums on such sales are collected directly by the Group and the net premium is remitted to TU. Investment transactions with TU are identified in note 23.

Ultimate parent undertaking

The Company's ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party is Tesco PLC which is incorporated in England. The Financial Statements for Tesco PLC can be obtained from its registered office at Tesco House, Shire Park, Kestrel Way, Welwyn Garden City, AL7 1GA.

43. Contingent Liabilities and Commitments

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by uncertain future events, or present obligations arising from past events that are not recognised because either it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be reliably estimated.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised but information about them is disclosed unless the possibility of any outflow of economic benefits is remote. There are a number of contingent liabilities that arise in the normal course of business which, if realised, are not expected to result in a material liability to the Group.

Lending commitments

Mortgage offers made are legally binding commitments made by the Group to provide secured funding to customers. Undrawn Mortgage commitments relate to formal offers made to customers during the application process whereby the customer has successfully passed eligibility and affordability checks but has not yet received the funds.

Under an undrawn Credit Card commitment, the Group agrees to make funds available to a customer in the future. Undrawn Credit Card commitments may be unconditionally cancelled or may continue, providing all facility conditions are satisfied or waived.

Under a Personal Current Account overdraft commitment, the Group agrees to make funds available to a customer in the future. Personal Current Account overdraft commitments are usually for a specified term and may be unconditionally cancelled or may continue, providing all facility conditions are satisfied or waived.

Further detail on undrawn lending commitments is included in the liquidity and funding risk disclosure in note 37.

The contractual amounts do not represent the amounts at risk at the reporting date but the amounts that would be at risk should the available facilities be fully drawn upon.

Capital commitments

At 28 February 2019 the Group had capital commitments related to property, plant and equipment of £nil (2018: £nil) and intangible assets of £0.8m (2018: £1.1m). This is in respect of IT software development and IT hardware. In addition, TU has a commitment of £1.2m (2018: £nil) to subscribe to the Tritax Property Income Fund Unit Trust as part of its investment portfolio. The Group's Management is confident that future net revenues and funding will be sufficient to cover this commitment.

Operating lease commitments

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Group	2019 £m	2018 £m
No later than one year	4.2	4.9
Later than one year and no later than five years	22.1	20.8
Later than five years	21.9	27.4
	48.2	53.1

44. Share Based Payments

The Group charge for the year recognised in respect of share based payments is £4.5m (2018: £10.7m), which is made up of share option schemes and share bonus payments. Of this amount, £3.8m (2018: £7.8m) will be equity-settled and £0.7m (2018: £2.9m) cash-settled.

Share option schemes

The Group had three share option schemes in operation during the year, all of which are equity-settled schemes using Tesco shares:

- The Savings-related Share Option Scheme (1981) permits the grant to colleagues of options in respect of ordinary shares linked to a building society/bank save-as-you-earn contract for a term of three or five years with contributions from colleagues of an amount between £5 and £500 per four-weekly period. Options are capable of being exercised at the end of the three or five-year period at a subscription price of not less than 80% of the average of the middle-market quotations of an ordinary share over the three dealing days immediately preceding the offer date.
- The Discretionary Share Option Plan (2004) permitted the grant of approved, unapproved and international options in respect of ordinary shares to selected executives. Options are normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant at a price not less than the middle-market quotation or average middle-market quotations of an ordinary share for the dealing day or three dealing days preceding the date of grant. The vesting of options will normally be conditional upon the achievement of a specified performance target related to the annual percentage growth in earnings per share over a three-year period. There were no discounted options granted under this scheme.
- The Performance Share Plan (2011) permits the grant of options in respect of ordinary shares to selected
 executives. Options are normally exercisable between the vesting date(s) set at grant and ten years from the date
 of grant for nil consideration. The exercise of options will normally be conditional upon the achievement of
 specified performance targets over a three-year period and/or continuous employment.

44. Share Based Payments (continued)

The following table reconciles the total number of share options outstanding under each share option scheme and the weighted average exercise price (WAEP):

	Savings- related share option scheme Options	Savings- related share option scheme WAEP (pence)	Approved share option scheme Options	Approved share option scheme WAEP (pence)	Unapproved share options scheme Options	Unapproved share options scheme WAEP (pence)
Outstanding at 28						
February 2018	4,058,091	160.43	94,336	344.96	122,460	367.20
Granted	1,219,261	188.00	_	_	_	_
Forfeited	(328,524)	177.46	(7,025)	427.00	(39,813)	427.00
Exercised	(1,365,136)	150.31			_	
Outstanding at 28						
February 2019	3,583,692	172.10	87,911	338.40	82,647	338.40
Exercisable at 28						
February 2019	124.802	179.37	87,911	338.40	82,467	338.40
Exercise price range (pence)	_	179.37	_	338.40	_	338.40
Weighted average remaining contractual life (years)		0.42		0.68	_	0.18
Outstanding at 28						
February 2017	3,522,224	162.20	183,586	341.79	221,617	354.32
Granted	1,184,513	168.00	_	_	_	_
Forfeited	(573,424)	188.26	(88,650)	338.40	(99,157)	338.40
Exercised	(75,222)	150.09	_	_	_	
Outstanding at 28						
February 2018	4,058,091	160.43	94,936	344.96	122,460	367.20
Exercisable at 28						
February 2018	19,559	282.00	94,936	344.96	122,460	367.20
Exercise price range (pence)		282.00	_	338.40 to 427.00	_	338.40 to 427.00
Weighted average remaining contractual life (years)	_	0.43	_	1.58	_	0.88
(100.0)	•	00	·			

Share options were exercised on a regular basis throughout the financial year. The average Tesco share price during the year ended 28 February 2019 was 228.55p (2018: 187.90p).

44. Share Based Payments (continued)

The fair value of share options is estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following table gives the assumptions applied to the options granted in the respective periods shown. No assumption has been made to incorporate the effects of expected early exercise.

Group	2019	2018	
	Savings -	Savings -	
	related share	related share	
	options	options	
	schemes	schemes	
Expected dividend yield (%)	3.3 - 4.2%	2.2% - 3.6%	
Expected volatility (%)	29%	29 - 32%	
Risk free interest rate (%)	0.78 - 1.10%	0.9 - 1.0%	
Expected life of option (years)	3 or 5	3 or 5	
Weighted average fair value (WAFV) of options granted (pence)	41.58 to	42.42	
weighted average rail value (wat v) of options granted (pence)	42.24	42.42	
Probability of forfeiture (%)	7 - 11%	10 - 11%	
Share price (pence)	212.40	187.00	
WAEP (pence)	188.00	168.00	

Volatility is a measure of the amount by which a price is expected to fluctuate in the period. The measure of volatility used in Tesco's option pricing models is the annualised standard deviation of the continuously compounded rates of return on the share over a period of time. In estimating the future volatility of Tesco's share price, the Tesco Board considers the historical volatility of the share price over the most recent period that is generally commensurate with the expected term of the option, taking into account the remaining contractual life of the option.

Share Bonus Schemes

Selected executives participate in the Group Bonus Plan, a performance-related bonus scheme. The amount paid to colleagues is based on a percentage of salary and is paid partly in cash and partly in shares. Bonuses are awarded to selected executives who have completed a required service period and depend on the achievement of corporate and individual performance targets.

Selected executives participate in the Performance Share Plan (2011). Awards made under this plan will normally vest on the vesting date(s) set on the date of the award for nil consideration. Vesting will normally be conditional on the achievement of specified performance targets over a three-year performance period and/or continuous employment.

The fair value of shares awarded under these schemes is their market value on the date of the award. Expected dividends are not incorporated into the fair value.

The number of Tesco shares and WAFV of share bonuses awarded during the year were:

	2019	2019	2018	2018
	Shares	WAFV	Shares	WAFV
	(number)	(pence)	(number)	(pence)
Group Bonus Plan	1,547,112	241.80	1,305,466	180.35
Performance Share Plan	2,746,888	256.49	2,494,746	181.12

45. Adoption of New and Amended International Financial Reporting Standards

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued which became effective in the current year

The impact on the Group adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 during the year to 28 February 2019 is included in note 2.

During the year the Group has adopted the following new amendments to standards which became effective with relevant EU endorsement for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018:

Amendments to IFRS 15 'Clarifications to IFRS 15, 'Revenue from contracts with customers"

These amendments clarify how the principles of IFRS 15 should be applied in determining recognition of contract revenue and provide transitional relief on modified and completed contracts for entities implementing the standard.

The impact of these amendments is included in the details on the full adoption of IFRS 15 in note 2.

Amendments to IFRS 4 'Applying IFRS 9, 'Financial Instruments', with IFRS 4, 'Insurance Contracts"

These amendments permit insurance entities to adopt certain transitional arrangements to address the temporary accounting consequences of the different effective dates of IFRS 9 and IFRS 17. These amendments have impacted the Group's share of results from its joint venture, TU. As permitted by these amendments, TU has deferred the adoption of IFRS 9 until 2021. Additional disclosures for TU required as a result of this are included in note 22.

Amendments to IAS 28 'Measuring an associate or joint venture at fair value'

These amendments are part of the Annual Improvements 2014-2016 process and are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. They clarify that the option for a venture capital organisation and other similar entities to measure investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value through profit and loss is available separately for each associate or joint venture, and that election should be made at initial recognition. There has been no impact on the Group of the adoption of these amendments.

Amendments to IFRS 2 'Classification and measurement of share-based payment transactions'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. They clarify how to account for certain types of share based payment transactions. There has been no impact on the Group of the adoption of these amendments.

IFRIC 22 'Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration'

This IFRIC clarifies the accounting for advance consideration in a transaction that is denominated in a foreign currency. There has been no impact on the Group of the adoption of this IFRIC.

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective

IFRS 16 'Leases'

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early adoption is permitted provided IFRS 15 is applied on or before the same date. The mandatory application date for IFRS 16 for the Group is 1 March 2019. The Group will apply the requirements of IFRS 16 fully retrospectively, therefore including the restatement of prior year comparatives in the Financial Statements for the year ended 29 February 2020.

IFRS 16 is a replacement for IAS 17 'Leases'. IFRS 16 removes the distinction between finance and operating leases and instead provides a single lessee accounting model. The Group, as a lessee, will be required to recognise lease liabilities and corresponding right-of-use assets for all applicable leases. At commencement of a lease the lease liability equals the present value of future lease payments, and the right-of-use asset equals the lease liability, adjusted for payments already made, lease incentives, and initial direct costs. The new standard also provides the option not to recognise 'short-term' leases and leases of 'low-value' assets. Where this exemption is taken, such leases will continue to be expensed to the income statement over the term of the lease.

The income statement recognition pattern for the Group's leases will differ from the current pattern for operating leases, with interest on the liabilities and depreciation expense on the right-of-use assets recognised separately. In the cash flow statement, lease payments will be categorised within financing activities rather than operating activities.

IFRS 16 does not significantly change the accounting for leases by lessors.

45. Adoption of New and Amended International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

On adoption, the Group expects to recognise right-of-use assets with a net book value of £15m on its balance sheet in respect of property assets currently accounted for as operating leases. A corresponding lease liability will also be recognised which represents the future payments to be made under these leases, discounted at the Group's incremental borrowing rate at lease inception. The net impact on lease liabilities after the release of the current operating lease accrual balance under IAS 17 is expected to be £22m. The overall impact on equity, net of deferred tax, is expected to be £5m. The most significant judgement included in the IFRS 16 lease calculations is the selection of an appropriate discount rate.

Amendments to IAS 28 'Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, subject to endorsement. They clarify that long-term interests in an associate or joint venture to which the equity method is not applied should be accounted for using IFRS 9. These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 9 'Prepayment features with negative compensation'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. They allow companies to measure particular prepayable financial assets with so-called negative compensation at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income if a specified condition is met, instead of at fair value through profit or loss. These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

Amendments to IAS 23 'Borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, subject to endorsement. They clarify that if a specific borrowing remains outstanding after the related qualifying asset is ready for intended use or sale, it becomes part of general borrowings. These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

Amendments to IAS 12 'Income tax consequences of payments on financial instruments classified as equity'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, subject to endorsement. They clarify that the income tax consequences of dividends on financial instruments classified as equity should be recognised according to where the past transactions or events that generated distributable profits were recognised. These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 3 and IFRS 11 'Measurement of previously held interest in obtaining control over a joint operation'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, subject to endorsement. The amendments to IFRS 3 clarify that obtaining control of a business that is a joint operation is a business combination achieved in stages. The acquirer should remeasure its previously held interest in the joint operation at fair value at of the acquisition date.

The amendments to IFRS 11 clarify that the party obtaining joint control of a business that is a joint operation should not remeasure its previously held interest in the joint operation.

These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

Amendments to IAS 19 'Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, subject to endorsement. When a plan event (i.e. a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement) occurs, IAS 19 requires a company to update its assumptions and remeasure its net defined benefit liability or asset. These amendments clarify that after a plan event companies should use these updated assumptions to measure current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the reporting period. These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

IFRIC 23 'Uncertainty over income tax treatments'

This IFRIC is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. It clarifies how the recognition and measurement requirements of IAS 12 'Income taxes' are applied where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

45. Adoption of New and Amended International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 3 'Definition of a business'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, subject to endorsement. They amend the definition of a business to emphasise that the output of a business is to provide goods and services to customers, and add clarity to help differentiate between a business and an asset (or group of assets). These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 'Definition of materiality'

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, subject to endorsement. They clarify the definition of materiality, ensure this is consistent across all standards, and add additional guidance and explanations. These amendments are not expected to impact the Group.

IFRS 17 'Insurance contracts'

IFRS 17 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, subject to endorsement, however the IASB is currently considering a deferral of this effective date by one year. Early adoption is permitted provided IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 are also applied.

IFRS 17 is a replacement for IFRS 4. IFRS 17 requires insurance liabilities to be measured at a current fulfilment value and provides a more uniform measurement and presentation approach for all insurance contracts.

IFRS 17 is relevant to the Group's joint venture, TU, which provides the insurance underwriting service for a number of the Group's general insurance products. The full impact on the Group is still being assessed.

Early adoption of new standards

The Group did not early adopt any new or amended standards in the year ended 28 February 2019.

46. Events After the Reporting Date

TU completed a share capital reduction of £16.0m and also repaid loan capital of £15.7m in March 2019. Following the share capital reduction, TU distributed capital of £31.3m. The Group has recognised its share of this distribution, being £15.6m, through a reduction in the carrying value of its investment in TU. The Group's investment in subordinated debt issued by TU has decreased by £7.8m, reflecting the Group's share of loan capital repaid.

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC

Report on the audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

In our opinion:

- the Financial Statements of Tesco Personal Finance Group PLC (the 'Company') and its subsidiaries (the 'Group') give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent Company's affairs as at 28 February 2019 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;
- the Group Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union;
- the Company Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union (EU) and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and
- the Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

- the Consolidated Income Statement;
- the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income;
- the Consolidated and Company Statements of Financial Position;
- the Consolidated and Company Statements of Changes in Equity;
- the Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements; and
- the related notes 1 to 46.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the EU and, as regards the parent Company Financial Statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council's (the 'FRC's') Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We are required by ISAs (UK) to report in respect of the following matters where:

- the Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparation of the Financial Statements is not appropriate; or
- the Directors have not disclosed in the Financial Statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Group's or the Company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the Financial Statements are authorised for issue.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC (continued)

Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the Financial Statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinion on the Financial Statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors' responsibilities statement, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the Financial Statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Financial Statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Financial Statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Statements is located on the FRC's website at: http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's report.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

- the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the Financial Statements are prepared is consistent with the Financial Statements; and
- the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and of the Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Directors' Report.

TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF TESCO PERSONAL FINANCE GROUP PLC (continued)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
- the Company Financial Statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
- certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Stephen Williams ACA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
Edinburgh, United Kingdom

8 April 2019

REGISTERED HEAD OFFICES OF THE ISSUER

Tesco Personal Finance Group PLC

2 South Gyle Crescent Edinburgh EH12 9FQ

THE TRUSTEE

Apex Corporate Trustees (UK) Limited

125 Wood Street London EC2V 7AN

PRINCIPAL PAYING AGENT

HSBC Bank plc

8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ

PAYING AGENT

Banque Internationale à Luxembourg, société anonyme

69 route d'Esch L-2953 Luxembourg

LEGAL ADVISERS

To the Issuer as to English law

To the Issuer as to Scots law

Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP 65 Fleet Street

London EC4Y 1HS

CMS Cameron McKenna Nabarro Olswang LLP

Cannon Place 78 Cannon Street London EC4N 6AF

To the Dealers and the Trustee as to English law

Allen & Overy LLP

One Bishops Square London E1 6AD

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR OF THE ISSUER

Deloitte LLP

Saltire Court 20 Castle Terrace Edinburgh EH1 2DB

DEALERS

Banco Santander, S.A.

Ciudad Grupo Santander Avenida de Cantabria s/n Edificio Encinar, planta baja 28660, Boadilla del Monte Madrid Spain

BNP Paribas

10 Harewood Avenue London NW1 6AA United Kingdom **Barclays Bank PLC**

5 The North Colonnade Canary Wharf London E14 4BB United Kingdom

Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets plc

10 Gresham Street London EC2V 7AE United Kingdom